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 1      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: George, would you call
 2  the roll, please.
 3      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Commissioner Allen.
 4      COMMISSIONER ALLEN: Here.
 5      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Commissioner Horton.
 6      COMMISSIONER HORTON: Here.
 7      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: Chairman Noble.
 8      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: I am here.
 9      DIRECTOR MEHNERT: We have a quorum.
10      Jim Henness will not be here today.  And
11  our attorney, Fred Breedlove, is here, and I am here
12  also.
13      CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Ms. Campbell, please
14  proceed.
15      MS. CAMPBELL: Thank you.
16  
17      CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION
18      BY MS. CAMPBELL: 
19  Q.   Dr. August, yesterday, when we left off, we
20    were talking about Father Kino.  Do you recall that?
21  A.   I believe I do.  Yes, I do.
22  Q.   Did Father Kino have any particular skills as
23    a cartographer?
24  A.   Yes, he did.
25  Q.   That being a mapmaker, correct?
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 1  A.   A mapmaker, yes.
 2  Q.   And where did he acquire skills as a
 3    mapmaker?
 4  A.   In Italy and Germany, in his education when
 5    he was a younger man, so roughly from 15 to age 20,
 6    when he was in Europe.
 7  Q.   And during his exploration for the Spanish in
 8    the Southwest borderlands, was it common or customary
 9    for him to map where he had been?
10  A.   Yes, it was common, and it became kind of a
11    routine.  And it was important that Spanish, whether
12    they're Jesuit priests or civilian explorers or the
13    military, like, say, Juan Bautista de Anza, who comes
14    on the scene a little bit later, that they noted where
15    ojos or parajes, they call them.  Ojos is O-J-O-S and
16    parajes is P-A-R-A-J-E-S.  Ojos literally means eyes
17    and parajes means stops.  But that implied where small
18    watercourses or water spots or tanks were, and that was
19    important in the mapping process.
20  Q.   Why is that?
21  A.   Well, because of the aridity and hospital
22    environment that was the arid north of New Spain and
23    what is now the arid Southwest.
24  Q.   So they would map those areas to show where
25    they could water animals?
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 1  A.   Water animals, men, women, when they were
 2    colonizing.  It was important to know if it was a day
 3    away, a half day away.  That's why water was important,
 4    and it was important to locate watercourses and rivers.
 5    And Kino wasn't the only one that did that, of course.
 6    I mean it was throughout the Spanish colonial effort.
 7  Q.   Now, tell me again, because my Spanish is
 8    very poor, what was the term you just used?
 9  A.   Ojos, like eyes of water, ojos or eyes; and
10    then parajes means stop.  But that was also a place
11    they could stop, and it implied that there would be
12    water there.  So that was a common practice and useful
13    for getting the record.  They were always -- they were,
14    you know, acquiring knowledge of La Tierra Incógnita,
15    the unknown land.
16  Q.   Would a cartographer like Father Kino
17    differentiate between one of the stopping points that
18    you just described and a river that was usable by boat?
19  A.   He would.  He would do that.
20  Q.   Did Father Kino actually map the Verde River?
21  A.   No, he did not.
22  Q.   Did he rely on other people's maps regarding
23    the Verde River?
24  A.   No, he didn't.  He really did not approach
25    it.  The rim of settlement, the Gila seemed to have
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 1    been where the rim of Christendom kind of halted, and
 2    they would travel north, and there was a concerted
 3    effort after Kino's time to send missionaries to the
 4    Hopi.  That was where they first tried in 1629 from
 5    Santa Fe, and they had missions there from 1630 to
 6    about 1680, when the great Pueblo Revolt took place.
 7        And if you ever go to Hopi and go to First
 8    Mesa, Awatobi is where the missionaries were martyred,
 9    I'll put it that way, and that's when the Spanish were
10    kicked out of New Mexico for about 12 years.
11  Q.   If Kino didn't map the Verde, how do you know
12    that he actually ever saw it?
13  A.   Allegedly, and I think I cited here and other
14    places that I've written, I think -- well, I don't know
15    what page here.
16  Q.   Maybe Page 6?
17  A.   Maybe Page 6.
18        Yes.  Manje noted that they, from -- it looks
19    as though they were in the Estrella Mountains out by
20    Buckeye, and from that vantage point they looked out
21    and they saw the confluence of the Gila and -- or the
22    Salt and the Verde and then subsequently flowing into
23    the Gila and what is now, I guess, 38 miles of drainage
24    through that reach of the Salt and -- yeah, Salt into
25    the Gila.
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 1  Q.   So this quotation which you have on Page 6 of
 2    your report, he actually calls out the Verde
 3    specifically?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   Does he mention anywhere in his reports that
 6    the Verde is suitable for travel or trade?
 7  A.   He does not.
 8  Q.   Does he mention any reference to boating the
 9    Verde?
10  A.   No.  No, he did not.
11  Q.   But does he mention a usefulness of the
12    river?
13  A.   Well, I think it's implied from Manje's
14    report here and that there was potential.  I mean they
15    saw that there were rivers and there was water, and the
16    larger goal was to establish a missionary outpost north
17    of the Gila into other territories that would advance
18    Christianity and save souls.
19        Ultimately, another practical matter of this
20    was that once the detribalized Indian, let's say, they
21    called then Genízaros, G-E-N-I-Z-A-R-O-S, which roughly
22    meant a person of reason, they could become like a
23    taxpaying citizens of the Spanish empire.  So there was
24    an economic value to Christianizing, missionizing, and
25    trying to acculturate these people.  And some groups


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Page 2358


 1    were much more willing than others.
 2  Q.   When you say that he noted there was a
 3    potential to the river, was it a potential to travel
 4    the river?
 5  A.   No, just the fact that there was water, and
 6    perhaps it could sustain Spanish towns and a colonial
 7    effort and a missionary effort; but that's as far as it
 8    got with Kino.
 9  Q.   How did Kino travel; what mode of
10    transportation did he use?
11  A.   Horse.  He was an incredible horseman,
12    sometimes 30 miles a day.  He would go from what was
13    called the doctrina, D-O-C-T-R-I-N-A, was the major
14    church, and then there would be visitas maybe about a
15    day's visit and smaller outposts where Indians in the
16    outlying areas would come and congregate and he would
17    baptize and convert and teach and a lot of agriculture,
18    agricultural essence.
19  Q.   Okay.  And who was the first person to call
20    the Verde River Verde?
21  A.   It looks as though -- I think I have it here.
22    Was it Father Velarde or --
23  Q.   It appears on Page 7 that way, yes.
24  A.   7?  Yeah.
25        Green, yes, and it appears that it was Father
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 1    Luis Velarde, who was Kino's successor.
 2  Q.   And what time frame was that?
 3  A.   About 1716, when he wrote what was called a
 4    relacionará, kind of a report on the area, and it had
 5    been known by a variety of names and continued to shift
 6    even later; but he called it the Verde for the first
 7    time.
 8  Q.   And was that time frame of 1716, was that
 9    prior to modern or white man diversions of the Verde
10    River?
11  A.   Yes.  Yes, it was.
12  Q.   How did Velarde travel?
13  A.   By horseback.
14  Q.   Was Velarde looking for mineral deposits?
15  A.   That was always on, whether a priest or
16    military or civilian, that was always a consideration
17    by the Spanish Empire and for the King, because the
18    King would get a fifth of any minerals that were
19    discovered, and if it was a treasure, he would get
20    half, according to the rules.
21  Q.   And, in fact, yesterday we talk about Espejo.
22    Didn't he make it all the way to Jerome?
23  A.   Yes, he did.  And among other things he
24    brought back were rugs, and he called the Yavapais that
25    he met there, he called them the Querechos,
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 1    Q-U-E-R-E-C-H-O-S.  They went through a -- Spaniards
 2    called them different names over time, and ultimately
 3    the first person that called them Yabipai --
 4    Y-A-B-I-P-A-I, I think that's how it's spelled. -- was
 5    Father Garcés in 1776.  That's an easy one to remember,
 6    1776, when he got up there.  We'll double back and talk
 7    about that.  But they had contact and made me think of
 8    Mr. Randall's testimony.
 9  Q.   So did Espejo get those rugs from the
10    Yavapai?
11  A.   Yes.  Yeah, he was commonly known as a rug
12    trader, kind of -- it was just kind of a joking what he
13    came back with, because he did note, though, that there
14    were mines there and that the natives did, in fact,
15    mine and have some -- adapted them for adornment and
16    things like that.
17  Q.   So, actually, Espejo did travel or trade
18    along the Verde, didn't he?
19  A.   Yes, along the Verde, yes.
20  Q.   Did he travel on the Verde?
21  A.   He crossed the Verde.
22  Q.   What do you mean by --
23  A.   Forded.
24  Q.   -- crossed?
25  A.   I think he forded the Verde.  It appears that
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 1    he did, if you get to Jerome.
 2  Q.   Just crossing from one side to the other?
 3  A.   One side to the other, or roughly the Jerome
 4    area.
 5  Q.   And if Espejo or any of his subsequent
 6    explorers would have been able to move ore down the
 7    Verde, would they have moved ore down the Verde?
 8  A.   Yes, they would.  I would assume so, yes.  It
 9    would be easier.
10  Q.   Would that be because -- well, no, I'm
11    actually asking the question of would they, would they
12    acquire the ore and want to take it back to a more
13    populated area, a Spanish stronghold?
14  A.   Sure.  That would be something they would
15    want to do, yes, at that point in history.
16  Q.   Who was the first person to publish a map
17    that used the name Verde to describe the Verde River?
18  A.   That would be Father Juan Bautista Nentvig.
19  Q.   What year was that?
20  A.   1764.
21  Q.   And in making his observations about the
22    Verde River, did he rely on the observations of other
23    explorers?
24  A.   Yes, that was common practice to accumulate
25    knowledge from their predecessors, update, insert their
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 1    observations and explorations, and advance
 2    understanding the geology, topography, and
 3    characteristics of the areas that they were exploring.
 4  Q.   And was Father Nentvig also well-educated?
 5  A.   He was well-educated as well, and he was a
 6    Jesuit.
 7  Q.   And would he have had cartography skills?
 8  A.   Yes, he would have had cartography skills.
 9  Q.   In fact, didn't he map, draw a map of the
10    Verde River?
11  A.   Yes, a map, he drew a map, and its
12    surrounding area.
13  Q.   And what kind of written record did Nentvig
14    leave?
15  A.   He left a very widely known and celebrated
16    record called the Rudo Ensayo.  And, in fact, back in
17    the day it was hard to get ahold of it.  Now I think
18    you can get it online and translated.
19        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Dr. Jack.
20        THE WITNESS: Yes.
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Could you spell Rudo
22    Ensayo?
23        THE WITNESS: I'm sorry.  Yes.  R-U-D-O,
24    E-N-S-A-Y-O.
25        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: What does Rudo mean?
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 1    Is it route?
 2        THE WITNESS: Could mean a couple
 3    things.  I will have to double-check on that one, yeah.
 4        BY MS. CAMPBELL: 
 5  Q.   What was the purpose of Nentvig's book or
 6    publication?
 7  A.   It was really to gather and kind of
 8    consolidate the knowledge of the region, the Gila, the
 9    Pimería Alta area, and even then, I guess, ethnobotany.
10    I don't know if that term was invented yet, but the
11    flora, the fauna, where things were located; things
12    meaning mountain ranges, rivers, plateaus, all of that,
13    so that there could be a knowledge base for further
14    exploration.  And, in fact, they wanted to colonize or
15    move forward with a mission frontier as well.
16  Q.   Now, I think you've already said that Nentvig
17    drew a map of the Verde within that book.
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   Did he also map out or describe the Salt
20    River?
21  A.   Yes, he did.
22  Q.   Did he describe the Gila River?
23  A.   Yes, he did.
24  Q.   Did he describe any of those rivers as usable
25    for boating or travel or trade?
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 1  A.   No, he did not use those terms or refer to
 2    that in any way.
 3  Q.   What mode of transportation did Father
 4    Nentvig use?
 5  A.   Like his predecessors, horse, equine.
 6  Q.   So, so far all the Spanish explorers that
 7    you've described traveled overland instead of using the
 8    various Arizona rivers, including the Verde; is that
 9    correct?
10  A.   That is correct.
11  Q.   But did the explorers follow the course of
12    the Verde River?
13  A.   They could have.
14  Q.   Would Espejo have followed it getting to
15    Jerome?
16  A.   Yes, he would have.
17  Q.   Why would they follow the course of the Verde
18    River if they weren't going to travel on it?
19  A.   Well, one, to water their horses and
20    themselves.  It was also obvious that many of the
21    Indian or Native American villages or settlements, if
22    you want call them that, were nearby, and they were
23    interested in acquiring that knowledge and seeing if
24    they were hostile or friendly or could provide them
25    with information.
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 1  Q.   In all of their accounts, did the Spanish
 2    explorers describe, in any general sense or specific
 3    sense, their travel conditions?
 4  A.   Yes.  Yeah.
 5  Q.   They described the landscape?
 6  A.   They described the landscape, yes.
 7  Q.   Did any of them mention the existence of an
 8    established road?
 9  A.   Indian trails, and oftentimes, just as they
10    used some of the Native American housing, they
11    oftentimes would use well-worn, I wouldn't call them
12    roads, but trails.
13  Q.   Did the Spanish build roads in the vicinity
14    of the Verde River?
15  A.   No, they didn't.
16  Q.   If you could take a look at Page 8 of your
17    report.
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   And the first sentence of the only full
20    paragraph on that page says "In spite of the Spaniards
21    traversing what is now central Arizona, they largely
22    ignored the Verde."
23        What do you mean by ignore?
24  A.   They didn't utilize it, really, for any other
25    purpose than crossing it.
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 1  Q.   So who produced the first American map of the
 2    Verde River?
 3  A.   Well, it looks as though it was plagiarized,
 4    and it was Zebulon Pike and that expedition, which came
 5    across, I think, 1804 to 1806, and I guess it was
 6    published in 1810.  But it was surprising, because he
 7    had never visited the Verde watershed, by the way.  He
 8    was north of this area.  And it looks as though from
 9    accounts that Alexander Von Humboldt, who was kind of
10    a -- was a geologist and kind of well-connected in
11    Europe, received permission from the King of Spain to
12    come over and do things, look at Latin America, because
13    the King was interested in, again, minerals,
14    bullionism, gold, silver, the precious metals, that he
15    thought maybe allowing him some access would further
16    his aims.
17  Q.   And was Alexander Von Humboldt a geologist
18    and naturalist?
19  A.   Yes, he was.
20  Q.   Did he take any time to describe the features
21    of the area, the rivers, the landscape?
22  A.   Not really.  You know, he just drew a map,
23    and he based that on, really, secondary sources as well
24    too, from knowledge in the Spanish Empire.
25  Q.   So in your report you identify by name ten
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 1    Spanish explorers, including Von Humboldt, who actually
 2    was German, correct?
 3  A.   Yes, correct.
 4  Q.   Was this an exhaustive list of every Spanish
 5    explorer who traveled within Central Arizona, including
 6    the area of the Verde River?
 7  A.   As far as the historical record from the
 8    works of Bannon, Bolton, Farish, Thomas Sheridan and
 9    others, these are the vanguard.  But there could have
10    been others that went off exploring on their own, but
11    they were illegal, and that did happen on occasion in
12    the Spanish period.
13  Q.   And if they were illegal, they wouldn't have
14    any official reports that they would have reported back
15    to Mexico or to Spain?
16  A.   Yes.  They would be in jail.
17  Q.   But the ones that we talked about, they all
18    issued official reports or maps or other documentation
19    of exactly where they went, when they went, and what
20    they saw?
21  A.   That's correct.
22  Q.   And were they expected to map important
23    features like a navigable river?
24  A.   They would.  Well, whether they call it
25    navigable or not, they would note rivers, and that was
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 1    an important part of their job, if you will.
 2  Q.   If they noted the river, would they note its
 3    ability to be boated?
 4  A.   I think they would, and certainly what became
 5    the Colorado River was duly noted as what would be
 6    navigable.
 7  Q.   But none of the other rivers in Arizona were
 8    noted as --
 9  A.   No.
10  Q.   -- useful for boating or otherwise navigable?
11  A.   No.
12  Q.   So in all the accounts that you've looked at
13    of Spanish explorers from the period of -- what would
14    be the total period?
15  A.   Boy.  Well, if we want to use Espejo as a
16    jumping off place, from 1583 to the Mexican Revolution
17    of 1821, when this region becomes part of Mexico.  How
18    long is that?  It's quite a while.
19  Q.   That's over 200 years.
20  A.   200 years.
21  Q.   No one ever mentioned anything about
22    traveling on the Verde?
23  A.   No.
24  Q.   Nobody ever mentioned the susceptibility of
25    use of the Verde for travel or trade?
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 1  A.   There's no language like that that I've come
 2    across.
 3  Q.   When did the first Anglos encounter the Verde
 4    River?
 5  A.   Well, it's pretty well-documented throughout
 6    these hearings.  The early 1820s.
 7  Q.   And who were those people?
 8  A.   They were -- a lot of them had southern
 9    roots, strangely enough, but they were Anglo-Americans,
10    James Ohio Pattie and his father.  His mother died and
11    then they left Kentucky, and I think a way to solve
12    their grief for a while, and they made it to the
13    rendezvous area, the one in Taos, New Mexico, and so
14    many people like them were there and they came out as
15    part of the fur trade.
16  Q.   And was Kit Carson another one of those
17    people?
18  A.   Kit Carson, yes.  And what happens with Kit
19    Carson and others is after the fur trade mania, as it
20    were, they became guides for military expeditions
21    subsequent to the fur trade period, because they knew
22    the lay of the land and they knew how to ford a river,
23    they knew where the places you could cross rivers in
24    the arid interior.
25  Q.   When you say they knew places where they
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 1    could ford the river in the arid interior, are you
 2    referring to the fact that rivers were really large and
 3    they had a difficult time fording them, or are you more
 4    referring to the fact that that's where, actually,
 5    water could be found?
 6  A.   That's where water could be found.
 7        But after 1848, particularly with the gold
 8    rush and with the invasion of Mexico with Stephen Watts
 9    Kearny, he kind of co-opted poor Kit Carson, who had
10    been away from his wife in Taos for two years and he's
11    heading home and he's heading home from California, and
12    he gets co-opted, I think around Socorro, and the
13    military takes him and he's going to guide them on the
14    best route, and he went south.  He took them south of
15    even the Salt River to get around.  That was the most
16    expeditious way to get to California and prosecute the
17    war.
18        So these fur traders, to get back to your
19    original question, these fur traders came to these
20    regions.  They had not been exploited yet, and so they
21    came down and throughout the 1820s, and there's a
22    couple very colorful characters.
23  Q.   Were these particular Anglos known generally
24    as mountain men?
25  A.   That's the common term, and historians still
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 1    use it.
 2  Q.   And why were they known as mountain men?
 3  A.   That's a good question.  I think because they
 4    made their living in the mountains, away from
 5    civilization.  And when you think of mountain men, I
 6    think of oftentimes those that trapped in the Rocky
 7    Mountains to the north; but these guys like Joaquin
 8    Jóven, Ewing Young, who married a woman from Santa Fe,
 9    and the Patties.
10        The Patties were going to be kicked out, but
11    what happened was Governor Narbona's daughter was
12    kidnapped by some Comanches, and they were heading
13    east, and James Pattie went out and saved her and
14    brought her back, and so Narbona let that particular
15    expedition go in, because the Mexican government was
16    not -- I'm not going to say overly happy with these
17    invading Americans coming into their sovereign
18    territory.  So it was problematic, but they
19    nevertheless prosecuted the expansion of American
20    influence into this region.
21  Q.   What was these people -- the mountain men,
22    what was their purpose of being in Arizona or on the
23    Verde River specifically?
24  A.   Well, I guess we can start with fashion in
25    both the states and in Europe and that beaver fur was
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 1    fashionable and desired and so there was a market, a
 2    significant market in the 1820s and '30s.  I think it
 3    really changed for the worse in 1848, when silk becomes
 4    the cloth of choice or the garb of choice, and so it
 5    kind of undermined that market, but that's a little bit
 6    later.
 7        But they ended up mining, I guess we can use
 8    the term mining, mining these beaver pelts throughout
 9    the Salt River watershed, up the Verde, and throughout
10    the region.
11  Q.   Didn't Pattie specifically go up the Verde?
12  A.   Yes, he went up the Verde.
13  Q.   So these guys, these mountain men, were
14    specifically following the Verde River?  They were in
15    and around, near, all over the Verde River?
16  A.   Yes, they were, they followed it up; and not
17    just Pattie, but others as well too.
18  Q.   Did they ever travel on the Verde River?
19  A.   Did they use it to travel --
20  Q.   Yes.
21  A.   -- on it?
22        Not from any account that I have discerned.
23    You know, I'm trying to look for accounts of where,
24    well, we did this and then sailed up or down the Verde
25    River, and particularly the reach, reaches or
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 1    Segments 4 and 5; but I have not discovered that.
 2        And even James Ohio Pattie's account, which
 3    he didn't write and he didn't take any notes.  He told
 4    it to an editor named Timothy Flint in Cincinnati, who
 5    previously had written the first great account of life
 6    in the Missouri -- or Mississippi Valley and the Ohio
 7    Valleys in 1826.  Pattie gets back about 1830, after
 8    being in jail in California.  His father died in jail,
 9    Sylvester, who was part of this mission.  But they get
10    arrested, finally, as trespassers, and he makes it back
11    and tells his story, and it's pretty exaggerated, very
12    colorful adjectives and animals that may or may not
13    have existed.  But it was entertainment and it was
14    great story, so he spun a tale.
15  Q.   So did the mountain -- but would -- I'm
16    sorry.  Back up for a second.
17  A.   Sure.
18  Q.   Would any commentary or details of any
19    account of mountain men have been spun a story or been
20    fanciful?
21  A.   In James Ohio Pattie's case, that's what
22    happened.  How much is true, you know, I think it was
23    based on fact, like a lot of literature and today
24    movies.
25  Q.   And I asked you the question about them


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Page 2374


 1    traveling the Verde.  Did they actually move their
 2    goods, that is, beaver pelts, on the river?
 3  A.   No.  They used, oftentimes, mules and other
 4    pack animals, but mules, and they were pretty sturdy,
 5    and that's what got them to market up to Santa Fe.  And
 6    then a couple of them, they had a market in Missouri,
 7    the Santa Fe Trail trade, and so that was the route
 8    they would get to Santa Fe or Taos and then head back
 9    on the Santa Fe Trail, which really was started about
10    1804, so its heyday is 1804 to 1848.
11  Q.   So you're saying that Pattie and other
12    mountain men would have gone back to Santa Fe or
13    St. Louis, but I think you've also said that Pattie
14    ended up in California?
15  A.   Yes, he was.  He went across the Colorado to
16    California, again, looking for riches, whether it was
17    more beaver pelt; but, also, you know, they were aware
18    of signs of precious metals.  And so they were arrested
19    and put in prison and Sylvester died.
20  Q.   Is there any record that they floated down
21    the Verde, Salt, or the Gila on their way to
22    California?
23  A.   There's no record of that.
24  Q.   But they did travel on the Colorado?
25  A.   They crossed the Colorado.
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 1  Q.   Prior to their arrival in Arizona, generally
 2    speaking, were these men, is there record of these men
 3    being trappers in other states in the Midwest?
 4  A.   Yes, they moved west and many of them had
 5    practiced that craft and others in the past, yes, in
 6    the riparian areas of the United States, yes.
 7  Q.   And, in fact, wasn't Kit Carson born in
 8    Missouri near the Mississippi River?
 9  A.   Yes, he was.
10  Q.   Did he travel up and down the Mississippi
11    River?
12  A.   He did, as a young man.
13  Q.   So would you describe the mountain men as
14    skilled boaters?
15  A.   They certainly could be.
16  Q.   Did they use boats to navigate rivers in
17    other parts of the country?
18  A.   I would say yes.
19  Q.   Did they have skills as boat builders?
20  A.   I'm certain that would be a skill set, given
21    the lifestyle they chose and the economic activity they
22    chose to undertake.
23  Q.   What do you mean when you say the lifestyle
24    they chose?
25  A.   Well, you're by yourself.  A lot of them were
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 1    by themselves most of the year and then they would meet
 2    at some predetermined point.  I think the great
 3    rendezvous of 1832 was just a madhouse, and they had
 4    not seen civilization, so there was three days of
 5    drinking.  Maybe they spent their entire year's,
 6    whatever they had made during that year, in a five-day
 7    period.  It was kind of a debauchery.  But I think the
 8    1832 rendezvous was well-known among western historians
 9    as the big one, and then after that they become less
10    vigorous.
11  Q.   So do you think they would have been familiar
12    with the various types of boats that could navigate
13    rivers where beaver were otherwise trapped?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   Last December one of the State's witnesses, I
16    believe it was Mr. Farmer, said that a good mountain
17    man would definitely use the Verde River for boating.
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   Were you actually here for that testimony?
20  A.   No.  As I said, I'm a latecomer to these
21    proceedings on the Verde.
22  Q.   So you take my word for it?
23  A.   If you say so, Cynthia, I accept that.
24  Q.   So if I'm wrong, then what you're about to
25    say might not be correct?
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 1  A.   Okay.  Yes.
 2  Q.   Okay.  Based on the historic record you've
 3    reviewed, is that an accurate opinion regarding what
 4    men known as mountain men in Arizona actually did in
 5    the 1800s, that is, navigated the Verde River?
 6  A.   I have seen no record of that in my work and
 7    evaluation of the material.
 8  Q.   In fact, how did the mountain men of the
 9    early 1800s travel?
10  A.   By foot, by pack mule, by horse.
11  Q.   And, in fact, it was a pretty big deal when
12    their horses would be stolen by the Indians, wasn't it?
13  A.   It was bad, and they even noted, yes, it was
14    a big deal when they were stolen by the Indians.  And
15    at some point they had to eat their dogs and their
16    horses, blah, you know, unfortunately, when things got
17    bad.  So that was not uncommon.
18  Q.   On Page 10 of your report, you discuss Ewing
19    Young and his expedition to the Salt River in 1828.  Do
20    you see that?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   And I think you also stated that he pioneered
23    a grueling overland trail up and down the Verde River
24    and west to California across the Mohave Desert?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   What do you mean by grueling overland trail?
 2  A.   Well, it was grueling meaning it was very
 3    difficult to travel, and in some places he followed
 4    Indian trails and other places he cut his own way; but
 5    he knew where he was going.  He was very skilled.  And
 6    he ended up spending a lot of time in California and
 7    the Pacific Northwest afterwards.
 8        So he was quite a roamer of all of them.  He
 9    really, during this period, traveled much of the
10    unknown West to many.  At that point many Americans
11    didn't really know what was out there.  It wasn't until
12    maybe Fremont, a few people later, in some of the
13    military surveys of the 1850s, we really started to get
14    a handle on that.  And I think that, you know, he was a
15    pioneer of sorts.
16  Q.   So would somebody who liked to travel around
17    as much as Young did, would he prefer to build a
18    grueling overland road along the Verde instead of
19    boating it?
20  A.   I think the answer would be yes.
21  Q.   And is there any record that he ever traveled
22    on the Verde River in any kind of craft?
23  A.   There's no record of Ewing Young doing that.
24  Q.   How, in fact, did they travel on this
25    overland road?
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 1  A.   By horse, and oftentimes walking their horse
 2    behind them and traversing mountains and whatever, but
 3    usually by horse.
 4  Q.   Okay.  We previously talked a little about
 5    Spanish mapmakers who mapped the Verde.  Were those
 6    maps consistent with maps of the Verde you might find
 7    today?
 8  A.   No, they weren't.
 9  Q.   Why not?
10  A.   They never really -- I think they saw the
11    Verde from where Camp Verde is today.  This is what
12    I've been able to discern from the mapmaking.  But they
13    never really saw where it -- where the headwaters were,
14    and so they were a little bit confused, the Spaniards
15    were.  And this confusion even lasts into the American
16    period and the Arizona territorial period, even with
17    Rand McNally, which back in the day was the standard.
18        So some of the early maps of at first what
19    was New Mexico territory from 1850 to 1863, after the
20    compromise of 1850, kind of creates -- organizes this
21    territory.  And then after 1863, for a variety of
22    reasons, Arizona Territory is separated and almost went
23    north/south instead of the way it is today.
24        And there were attempts to map the territory,
25    but it was surprisingly inaccurate sometimes.
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 1  Q.   But wasn't it possible, based upon what
 2    you've seen, that they could have walked up the Verde
 3    to its headwaters?
 4  A.   If they wanted to, I think they would.  I
 5    mean it's a bit of a mystery that they didn't follow up
 6    all the way to the headwaters.
 7  Q.   Is it possible that one of the reasons they
 8    didn't accurately map the Verde was because they had no
 9    reason to use it, to see it as a highway for commerce?
10  A.   I think that would be one reason, yes.
11  Q.   Are there others?
12  A.   I think the others would be a lack of
13    interest.  And then there's always the Indian
14    resistance issue.  You know, if you didn't know if they
15    were friend or foe or traders or hostiles, that played
16    a factor.  But if it were a highway of commerce or a
17    way to travel, certainly someone, Spanish, Mexican, or
18    later American, would have naturally, I think, gone to
19    the headwaters.
20  Q.   But of the maps that you've seen from the
21    Spanish explorers, specifically, did they generally
22    depict the area of the lower Verde, what we've
23    described as Segments 4 and 5?
24  A.   Yeah.  Yes.
25  Q.   And were the maps always consistent with
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 1    their use of the nomenclature or the names that they
 2    called the various waterways that they observed?
 3  A.   No.  It changed over time, you know, as we --
 4    I think it's pretty well-documented in previous
 5    proceedings and these that the names shifted.  I think
 6    the German one, Blau.  What's blue; what do they call
 7    it?
 8  Q.   Blau.
 9  A.   Blau, thank you.
10        So some of these, The Rio de la Asunción.  So
11    ultimately they settled on Verde and Salt and Gila, the
12    main three.
13  Q.   So after the Spanish explorers and after the
14    mountain men, what was the next group of people that
15    attempted to come into the Verde area and map it?
16  A.   It would be the Americans, I mean.  Yeah,
17    American.
18  Q.   Any particular group of Americans?
19  A.   Well, first the military, and then later, you
20    know, miners coming across and looking for precious
21    metals.
22  Q.   And were these maps, these original maps,
23    made by the military, say, for example, were they made
24    at a time before the Verde was being diverted by
25    settlement?
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   And, in fact, weren't all the Spanish maps
 3    and all the Spanish exploration and the mountain men
 4    and the military arrival, wasn't that all before the
 5    Verde was it diverted in any meaningful way?
 6  A.   Yes.  I was reading even on the upper
 7    segments, the brief from 2006, and it looks as though
 8    those from Perkinsville down to Camp Verde, even though
 9    this isn't really part of what I looked at, but they
10    diverted around 1865, I believe.  And the first
11    diversions in Segments 4 and 5 come with the
12    establishment of Fort McDowell, what became Fort
13    McDowell, and that's in 1866.
14  Q.   So if I were to tell you that the Court of
15    Appeals has called that era the time when the Verde was
16    in its natural condition, would you agree with me that
17    the records of the Spanish explorers, the maps they
18    produced, as well as the mountain men accounts and the
19    military accounts, were all observations of the Verde
20    River in its natural condition?
21  A.   I would say yes.
22  Q.   Why was it important for the military to draw
23    accurate maps of rivers?
24  A.   Well, one, for defense purposes; also, as
25    routes for transportation.  Transportation was a major
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 1    consideration for the military where they're
 2    prosecuting, whether General Crook, in both his
 3    iterations in Arizona, the first one in the early 1870s
 4    and then he has to come back in the 1880s with the
 5    Geronimo situation, but transportation was important;
 6    and so how do you get from Point A to Point B to secure
 7    the region for the increasing numbers of settlers.  And
 8    so transportation was a consideration.
 9        Also, in the 1850s, what's going on in the
10    country, there was a great deal of sectionalism North
11    and South, and both sides before the Civil War wanted
12    to get to the California gold fields, and what's the
13    best way; the southern route along the 34th parallel
14    or -- yeah, 35th and then the 32nd parallel along the
15    South.
16        And so you see Jefferson Davis was Secretary
17    of War at the time.  You even have camels, the camel
18    experiment, which I think suggests that it was kind of
19    hard to travel and maybe they could get along better
20    than horses and other types of transportation.
21        So getting across Arizona became important
22    because of the significance of the California strike in
23    1848 and the rapid population growth and bringing that
24    into the American system and way of government.
25    California becomes an immediate state, and New Mexico
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 1    and Arizona went through a very long territorial
 2    period.
 3  Q.   So are you saying that it would have been
 4    very important for the military to track down any river
 5    that could be used for transportation purposes?
 6  A.   Like the Spanish before them and the
 7    explorers, whether they were ecclesiastically oriented
 8    or militarily oriented or civilian, the American
 9    military also needed a transportation route.  So
10    nothing really changed other than political
11    sovereignty.
12  Q.   And during this period when the military was
13    making maps, was there a common misperception or
14    inaccuracy with the maps that they produced?
15  A.   Yes, and it had to do with the Verde and
16    really getting it right in Central Arizona, around
17    Sedona, Jerome, north and west of Camp Verde.
18  Q.   So what was the common mistake that they were
19    making?
20  A.   I'll start with the last one.  They thought
21    the river started up by the San Francisco Peaks, and
22    sometimes the river was called the San Francisco River
23    by a variety of people and sovereigns.  And so that was
24    one, and that was probably the most common.
25        And others, it started -- I forget which one,
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 1    but Little Beaver Creek.  There was some very
 2    mysterious watercourses on some of these maps.
 3        And, by the way, these maps, all of them
 4    except one was part of the Rumsey collection, which was
 5    the largest -- out of the largest collection of maps in
 6    the world, historic maps.  And he recently donated
 7    those to Stanford University's archives, I think in
 8    about 2009.  And they're available digitally and
 9    online, and it's actually pretty fascinating stuff to
10    take a look at.
11  Q.   So, actually, on Page 11 of your report, you
12    point out -- and my question is, is this accurate?  You
13    mention that there were maps in 1857, 1864, and 1866
14    that made the same mistake about the main stream of the
15    Verde butting up to the San Francisco Peaks; is that
16    correct?
17  A.   That's correct.
18  Q.   So, now, what was the first -- who produced
19    the first well-known military map of the Verde River?
20  A.   Well-known military, are you talking about
21    the New Mexico map, the Department of Military?  Is
22    that the one you're talking about?
23  Q.   Actually, I'm talking about 1861.
24  A.   Yes, the Ives and Whipple expedition, sure.
25    And it actually labels the area along the western
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 1    boundary of the Verde as unexplored, which, again, kind
 2    of defies logic, in hindsight.
 3  Q.   And who were Ives and Whipple?
 4  A.   They were military surveyors and trying to
 5    survey the route across Northern Arizona, which
 6    ultimately became the railroad built between 1880 --
 7    about 1881.  But then the Civil War gets in the way,
 8    and they're looking for a transportation route across
 9    that.  Later, after the war in the 1880s, we have that
10    built.
11  Q.   So in 1861, were they scouting for a railroad
12    route?
13  A.   No, not that early.  They were looking for a
14    way to get the military across and transportation
15    across Northern Arizona.
16  Q.   So it had nothing to do -- their expedition
17    had nothing to do with railroads?
18  A.   No, it didn't.  That kind of interest came
19    later.  But that was important because of the
20    acquisition of the new territory, and they were
21    exploring this new territory that had been taken after
22    the signing of the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo in 1848.
23  Q.   I'm going to back up for a second.
24  A.   Okay.
25  Q.   When we talk about the military, what kind of
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 1    materials or reference documents exist that cover the
 2    military in the period of -- in Arizona from 1861 up
 3    until, say, statehood?
 4  A.   There's a lot of records in the National
 5    Archives, and you see the lives of people like General
 6    Stoneman and other individuals, and they're all there.
 7    It's really quite fascinating.  I've been there a lot
 8    on another matter.  And so one of the major themes in
 9    those records is transportation.  Stoneman's Road and
10    then Stoneman's Grade east of the valley here up toward
11    where Miami and Globe are, those were major
12    preoccupations, and that's a snapshot of 1870, roughly.
13  Q.   So, generally speaking, what kinds of
14    information would be included in those military
15    records?
16  A.   Boy.  Similar to the Spaniards, in that they
17    observed who the people were, where things were, what
18    routes to take, who got paid, how much -- how many
19    munitions do we need, where are we going to get our
20    food, who is going to supply us, all these rather
21    mundane, seemingly mundane, issues, but critically
22    important.
23  Q.   And were there references to how all of their
24    goods and services were transported?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   When did the U.S. military first come to
 2    Arizona?
 3  A.   They first came through in the war with
 4    Mexico in 1846, '47, and 1848.
 5  Q.   And where did they come from?
 6  A.   The East.  They came from the East to
 7    Santa Fe and then Santa Fe across Arizona and hopefully
 8    to secure California from the Mexicans at that time.
 9  Q.   And later, when the military was interested
10    in setting up encampments or installations in Arizona,
11    where did they come from?
12  A.   They came -- many of them came from
13    California, and there's wonderful accounts in a couple
14    of fine books by Andrew Masich and Constance Altshuler.
15    She wrote four books on the military and military posts
16    in Arizona, and many of them come from California.
17        In fact, the first district, military
18    district, was headquartered at a place called Fort
19    Drum, which is near San Pedro today, if you want to
20    have a place for that, and they were responsible then.
21    Then military strategy shifted and we had more boots on
22    the ground, as it were, after 1870.
23  Q.   Did the military establish posts or
24    encampments along the Verde River?
25  A.   Yes.
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 1  Q.   Where?
 2  A.   One at Camp Verde and one down at Fort
 3    McDowell.
 4  Q.   And was Fort Whipple also somewhere in the
 5    vicinity of the river?
 6  A.   A little, yeah, a ways away, but, yeah, Fort
 7    Whipple, Prescott, where I live, yes.
 8  Q.   Did the military use the Verde River to move
 9    people or material in establishing the posts along the
10    Verde?
11  A.   They did not.
12  Q.   Yet they established the posts on the Verde,
13    correct?
14  A.   That's correct.
15  Q.   Why?
16  A.   I think strategic needs, water, diversion of
17    the water for use, growing crops.
18  Q.   Did the military do any large-scale diversion
19    for irrigation prior to 1860?
20  A.   They did not.
21  Q.   So if the military wasn't using the Verde to
22    move its supplies or its people, what mode of
23    transportation did they use?
24  A.   They used, at first, pretty cumbersome
25    wagons, horses, pack animals.  Later they used lighter
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 1    craft, ambulances they called them, and that was an
 2    innovation by General Crook to help facilitate
 3    efficiency in moving men and material to places where
 4    they were needed.
 5  Q.   You're mentioning that they changed some
 6    modes of transportation, their overland transportation,
 7    for efficiency sake.  Was efficiency in transportation,
 8    ease in transportation something that the military was
 9    concerned about?
10  A.   Constantly.  They were concerned about
11    transportation repeatedly, continuously during the
12    period that, say, 1865 to 1890, which effectively ends
13    the Native American issues in Arizona.
14  Q.   So from the point when they established Camp
15    Verde and Camp McDowell, which became Fort McDowell,
16    correct --
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   -- were they always -- were they having
19    difficulty moving materials and supplies specifically
20    to those locations?
21  A.   Yes.  There were many accounts and examples
22    of how difficult it was to traverse Central Arizona
23    from west to east and up to later Fort Apache.  It went
24    through several names.  And then they established Fort
25    Reno for a little while.  And they had trouble
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 1    fortifying and manning some of these posts.
 2  Q.   And in all of those accounts about their
 3    efforts to improve their transportation needs, is there
 4    any account where they attempted to use the Verde River
 5    for purposes of transportation?
 6  A.   There's not, in the military, no.
 7  Q.   I think you may have mentioned, but I'll
 8    follow back.  Did the military build roads to move
 9    their provisions?
10  A.   Yes, they did.
11  Q.   And was it easy to construct the roads?
12  A.   No, it was not easy to construct the roads.
13  Q.   How do you know that?
14  A.   Through various accounts in the National
15    Archives, and I think Bourke's work, John G. Bourke.
16    There are various histories.  I think Jay J. Wagoner,
17    W-A-G-O-N-E-R, his book on Territorial Arizona, Thomas
18    Sheridan's book, really covers the difficulties in
19    moving from Point A to Point B and carving out overland
20    roads.
21  Q.   Was there a road built between Fort McDowell
22    and Camp Verde?
23  A.   Was there a road built.
24  Q.   Was there a road they used?
25  A.   There was a road they used, yes, and that
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 1    would be maybe Crook's Trail.  They used a lot of
 2    different roads.  They cut the Stoneman Road in 1870,
 3    which went from Fort Whipple over to Fort McDowell.
 4  Q.   Yet doesn't the Verde River run right between
 5    Camp Verde and Fort McDowell?
 6  A.   Yes, it does.
 7  Q.   In fact, both installations are right on the
 8    Verde, correct?
 9  A.   They are.
10        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Cynthia.
11        MS. CAMPBELL: Yes.
12        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: May we take a break?
13        MS. CAMPBELL: Absolutely.  That would
14    be wonderful.
15        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you.
16        (A recess was taken from 1:30 p.m. to
17        1:46 p.m.)
18        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Let's reconvene,
19    Cynthia.
20        BY MS. CAMPBELL: 
21  Q.   All right.  So we're talking about the
22    military and their travels and their installations in
23    Arizona, correct?
24  A.   Right.  Correct.
25  Q.   And I think you've already testified about
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 1    the difficulties that transportation posed to the
 2    military throughout Arizona, but also on the Verde,
 3    correct?
 4  A.   Correct.
 5  Q.   Is it accurate to say that many of the
 6    installations throughout Arizona, including maybe one
 7    or two on the Verde, actually closed or ended because
 8    of transportation difficulties?
 9  A.   Well, are you speaking specifically about
10    Fort McDowell?
11  Q.   No.
12        Do you recall during this hearing seeing a
13    photograph of two guys in a boat that appeared to be in
14    military uniforms?
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   Can I show you?
17  A.   Yeah.
18        MS. CAMPBELL: And I don't have the
19    exhibit number on this.  It was part of Mr. Fuller's
20    PowerPoint presentation.
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: It shall be known as
22    the two guys in a boat in the military.
23        MS. CAMPBELL: The two guys in a boat.
24    Sorry about that.
25        THE WITNESS: Yes.
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 1        MS. CAMPBELL: It is part of Jon
 2    Fuller's PowerPoint presentation, which has been
 3    submitted by the State as evidence.
 4        THE WITNESS: Okay.
 5        MS. HERNBRODE: X030 -- oh, no, sorry.
 6        MS. CAMPBELL: It wasn't part of your
 7    initial.  It was a little later.
 8        THE WITNESS: I see.
 9        BY MS. CAMPBELL: 
10  Q.   So you see the photograph?
11  A.   I see them, yes.
12  Q.   Okay.
13  A.   Is one guy wearing sunglasses?  I mean --
14  Q.   I hope not.  I don't know.
15  A.   Must be my eyes.  I have to take a closer
16    look at him.  I mean, I'm not saying that to be funny,
17    but God.
18  Q.   And do you see up in, I think, it's the top
19    right portion -- I can't remember if it's the right or
20    left. -- where it says "Segment 2"?
21  A.   It says "Segment 2" on the top left side.
22  Q.   Is that actually part of the photograph that
23    was taken?
24  A.   No.  "Segment 2"?
25  Q.   Yes.
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 1  A.   It was not part of the photograph, no.
 2  Q.   Okay.  So it's actually been written on
 3    there?
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   All right.  And isn't your testimony
 6    primarily dealing with Segments 4 and 5?
 7  A.   Correct.
 8  Q.   But for a moment let's look at this picture.
 9  A.   Okay.
10  Q.   Okay?  Let's assume --
11        MS. HERNBRODE: For the --
12        MS. CAMPBELL: I'm sorry.
13        MS. HERNBRODE: For the record, it's
14    X035-167.
15        MS. CAMPBELL: Thank you.
16        MS. HERNBRODE: And I don't have a slide
17    number yet.
18        BY MS. CAMPBELL: 
19  Q.   What's the page on the bottom there, Jack?
20  A.   110, Page 110.
21        MS. HERNBRODE: Thank you.
22        BY MS. CAMPBELL: 
23  Q.   So Page 110 of that exhibit.
24  A.   That exhibit, okay.
25  Q.   Let's assume for a moment that the two men in
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 1    that boat in that photograph -- is there a date on that
 2    photograph?
 3  A.   It says "Fort Verde Soldiers in boat on
 4    Verde, circa 1885," and the source, Fort Verde Historic
 5    Park.
 6  Q.   But does it say anywhere on there where on
 7    the Verde that picture was taken?
 8  A.   It does not say anything like that.
 9  Q.   Other than --
10  A.   Other than the "Segment 2."
11  Q.   Okay.  So for a moment we'll say there's two
12    guys in military uniform in a boat on what's been
13    identified as the Verde River, correct?
14  A.   That's correct.
15  Q.   Okay.  Assuming that for a moment, then is it
16    safe to say that the military had access of some sort
17    to boats?
18  A.   They apparently -- well, one can infer, yes,
19    it looks as though they have access to boats.
20  Q.   Did they use boats on the Verde River to move
21    any type of supply or good or person?
22  A.   I have not seen any evidence of that.
23  Q.   Are there actual records exist that talk
24    about how they moved persons, munitions, material, or
25    any other supplies?
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 1  A.   Yes, there's a great deal of material
 2    describing how the military moved within Arizona during
 3    the period before 1870, yes, and in 1885 too.
 4  Q.   But even though they had access to boats and
 5    they had two installations directly on the Verde River,
 6    there's no record that they ever attempted or actually
 7    used the Verde River for travel or trade?
 8  A.   None that I have seen.
 9  Q.   Did the arrival of the military predate
10    modern settlement of the Verde Valley or lower Verde?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   So is it safe to say that the arrival and the
13    establishment of the military installations predated
14    diversions of the Verde by the settlers, who arrived
15    later?
16  A.   Yes, because the settlers followed the
17    military.  And, really, until -- and the military is
18    basically the biggest moneymaker for the residents of
19    the Territory of Arizona until the Thieving 13th
20    Legislature of 1885, when they had to replace federal
21    spending in the territory, and so the insane asylum,
22    the U of A, Arizona State college, those were the new
23    federal stipends to replace the military spending.  And
24    that was kind of -- they built a bridge over the Gila
25    to nowhere, and Yuma got to keep the territorial
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 1    prison, and Prescott held on to the Capitol for a few
 2    more years.
 3        But 1885 is kind of a signal event.  I just
 4    happened to notice that it says 1885.  But that's when
 5    the military starts really winding down, military
 6    spending in Arizona, in that earlier iteration.
 7  Q.   I think you just said that the settlers that
 8    did eventually come into the Verde Valley and down the
 9    Verde River followed the military, correct?
10  A.   Yeah, that's a generalization that I think is
11    accurate; that because there was a market for certain
12    supplies, whether it's pigs.  Pigs were big at Fort
13    McDowell, by the way, more than cattle.  And so there
14    was a need for food, for a variety of goods.  There
15    were women that had different kinds of needs than the
16    military men they were married to, you know, their
17    husbands.
18        So there were a variety of markets that
19    opened up because the military was there; and so,
20    therefore, people moved and tried to provide those
21    goods and services.
22  Q.   And in addition to the other records that
23    we've already talked about, including the military
24    records, did you locate a record of an early settler
25    who traveled to Arizona and settled in or around, I
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 1    believe it might have been, Camp Verde or Fort
 2    McDowell?
 3  A.   Well, there's many.  I mean I'm not sure.
 4  Q.   Martha Summerhaven?
 5  A.   Oh, Martha Summerhayes, yes.
 6  Q.   Summerhayes.
 7  A.   Oh, that's it, yes.
 8        She wrote a still-famous book.  It's called
 9    Vanished Arizona.  It was published in 1908.  It was a
10    reflection on her years as a military wife.  She bore a
11    child up at Fort Apache, and there's very touching
12    accounts of how the Apache women came and helped her
13    and made her a little board for the infant.
14        But, ultimately, her husband, Jack
15    Summerhayes, is stationed at Camp Verde, and so there's
16    some various accounts.  And it's really good reading.
17    In fact, Frederic Remington wrote her a letter after it
18    was published in 1908.  It was a national bestseller
19    after Owen Wister's.  It was a western-themed book, and
20    so Owen Wister made the bestseller in 1902 with The
21    Virginian, and this was the next piece of kind of
22    western literature about the American West that became
23    a bestseller.  And it was reissued in 1913, and it's
24    still a great read.  I recommend it to everybody, if
25    you have any interest in your history.
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 1        But she provided a very compelling account.
 2    Beautiful writer, probably a good editor, one that I
 3    need.  You know, I need a good editor.  Everyone does.
 4        And she describes, I selected a few -- I had
 5    to be selective. -- a few lines of what it might be
 6    like to travel across Arizona en route to Camp Verde.
 7  Q.   And, in fact, I believe in your report, on
 8    Page 14, you're saying she traveled from Fort Yuma to
 9    Fort Whipple to Camp Verde to Fort Apache and then Fort
10    McDowell, correct?
11  A.   Correct.  Yeah, all over.
12  Q.   And did she ever travel on river during --
13  A.   She did not.
14  Q.   And, in fact, she described her overland
15    travels, didn't she?
16  A.   She did.
17  Q.   And would she describe those as preferable to
18    river travel?
19  A.   No.  How she mentioned water is they had to
20    go from water source to water source and then they
21    would camp out.  It was really very, very tough, and
22    I'm sure Mrs. Summerhayes, her account's accurate.
23  Q.   And, in fact, her accounts state that
24    sometimes the travel was so difficult they would have
25    to get out and pick their way down rocky areas,
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 1    correct?
 2  A.   Correct, yeah.  Yes.
 3        I've been looking for a chance to use the
 4    word declivity, but I have not found it yet.  But yeah.
 5    So yeah.
 6  Q.   Sorry.  I just took it away.
 7        When the settlers did come, did they have a
 8    reason to use the Verde if it were a viable mode of
 9    transportation?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   Did people settle in and around Camp Verde?
12  A.   They did, yes.
13  Q.   And did they have any dealings with the
14    Indian Reservation at Fort McDowell or any other
15    settlers in the area of Rio Verde?
16  A.   Yes.
17        Did you mean, in your last question, was it
18    Camp Verde up on Segment 3, I'm assuming, or did you
19    mean Fort McDowell?
20  Q.   I meant from Camp Verde to Fort McDowell.
21  A.   Oh.  Yes.  Okay, yes.  Okay.
22  Q.   So would they have had a reason to float down
23    the river to move goods or move people?
24  A.   There would be -- that would be easier than
25    traveling overland.  My assumption is that, yes.
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 1  Q.   What transportation needs did the settlers
 2    have?
 3  A.   Needs?
 4  Q.   Yes.
 5  A.   They needed to get from -- depending on what
 6    year you hit on the map, they needed to get from
 7    Point A to Point B.  I mean, you know, Phoenix doesn't
 8    really come into existence until, you know, 1870, late
 9    1860s.  And so I think by 1875, I think Fort McDowell
10    and Phoenix may have had a lively exchange of goods and
11    services and people, thanks to the construction of the
12    Fort McDowell Road, which I've seen on one map in the
13    Verde study, the lower Verde study, on the map it's --
14    the only one I've seen, it says Hay Camp Road.
15  Q.   We'll get there.
16  A.   Yeah, okay.
17  Q.   All right.  So that's going to take us to who
18    was John Y.T. Smith?
19  A.   John Y.T. Smith is one of the earlier
20    settlers, if not the earliest settler, in what is now
21    Phoenix.  The Y.T. stands for he had a Territorial
22    Legislature, the Tenth, add Y.T. officially to his
23    name.  He had a legal action in the Territorial
24    Legislature because there were so many John Smiths, he
25    wanted to distinguish himself, so Y.T. means Yours
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 1    Truly.  And that's really what it means, and it's in
 2    the record.  It's kind of funny.
 3        And up in Prescott there's a guy named
 4    Yelling Terry that we call Y.T., but so I'm fond of
 5    Y.T.
 6        But he was really a very entrepreneurial guy,
 7    and even in Senator Hayden's early correspondence, when
 8    he's a kid, they were worried about competing with John
 9    Smith because he was such a good entrepreneur with the
10    Hayden Mill later on.  So he's a major figure in the
11    early Anglo-American history of this region.
12  Q.   When he first came to Arizona, did he come as
13    a member of the military?
14  A.   Yes, he did.
15  Q.   And where was he stationed?
16  A.   He was stationed at Camp McDowell, Fort
17    McDowell.
18  Q.   And what was his job?
19  A.   Well, he was kind of the transportation boss,
20    and then he became the camp sutler.  That word goes out
21    of existence about that time, and he became the trader,
22    the post trader.
23  Q.   What does sutler mean?
24  A.   I don't know.  I've never really -- but they
25    called him the sutler.  He was kind of responsible for
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 1    the inflow and outflow of goods and buying things, so
 2    maybe --
 3  Q.   Does sutler maybe mean trader?
 4  A.   Yeah, trader, yeah; and it went out of
 5    existence.  And then later he was -- when he mustered
 6    out, he began -- got a contract with the military, as
 7    many people did.
 8  Q.   So as a master of transportation, is it safe
 9    to say that he was well-acquainted with travel and
10    trade?
11  A.   Yes, he was.
12  Q.   And when did he come to Arizona?
13  A.   Looks like 1866, if I'm not mistaken.
14  Q.   I think in your report you say 1865, but --
15  A.   Right, okay, 1865, yes.  That makes sense,
16    one year earlier, a few months.  Yeah, with the
17    14th U.S. Regimen, yes.
18  Q.   And after he came to Arizona and served as
19    the master of transportation, camp sutler, camp trader,
20    did he leave the military?
21  A.   Yes, he did.
22  Q.   And what did he do?
23  A.   He went south and west and developed a hay
24    camp to supply the needs for Fort McDowell.
25  Q.   So he maintained a relationship with the
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 1    military even though he wasn't in the military?
 2  A.   Yes.  He was a good networker for his time.
 3  Q.   In fact, didn't he have a contract with the
 4    military to supply hay for their --
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   -- livestock?
 7  A.   Yes.  Yes, he did.
 8  Q.   And how did he go about supplying that hay?
 9  A.   Well, let's go back a little bit.
10    Originally, General McDowell wanted a diversion so that
11    the Camp, the Fort, the Camp/the Fort, could grow its
12    own crops, and they had a little garden.  Well, the
13    local citizenry protested.  They said they should be
14    out fighting Indians and not growing gardens, and so
15    very beginning quickly that went to the private sector.
16    That's, I think, not uncommon.
17        And so that was contracted out, and so he
18    became one of the first contractors.  And what he did
19    is he happened to know Jack Swilling and some of these
20    miners up in Wickenburg, some of whom were questionable
21    people.  Swilling was a drunkard and a morphine addict,
22    among other things, but nevertheless, a confederate
23    deserter, among other things, but he also had the
24    vision to divert waters from the Salt River.  And,
25    thus, we have the birth of -- the rebirth of Phoenix
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 1    from the Hohokam civilization, as we like to say.
 2  Q.   And where did -- so did Smith establish his
 3    own place for diversion?
 4  A.   Yes, he had, at first, yeah, and he diverted
 5    over at about 40th and, I would say, let's say,
 6    Van Buren, roughly, pretty close to here, near where
 7    the modern airport is.  Yeah, over there.
 8  Q.   Just east of here?
 9  A.   Just east of here.  And then there are a
10    couple of more straws are put into the river
11    downstream, but very quickly it gets going and the hay
12    camp, and then he and his partners really started the
13    Fort McDowell Road, and that's how they delivered the
14    hay to the camp and then it became a thoroughfare.
15  Q.   And just backing up a second, so he was able
16    to establish a hay camp here near the Salt River?
17  A.   Yes, he did, just north.
18  Q.   And you mentioned Jack Swilling.  Did that
19    involve diverting the Salt River for purposes of
20    growing hay at his hay camp?
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   But he didn't divert on the Verde, did he?
23  A.   No, he did not.
24  Q.   Did he use the Verde to come down to his hay
25    camp at the Salt?
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 1  A.   No.  No, he did not.
 2  Q.   Did he use the Salt and then the Verde to go
 3    up to Fort McDowell?
 4  A.   No, he did not go upstream.
 5  Q.   But, clearly, he was going between his hay
 6    camp here in what is now Phoenix --
 7  A.   Uh-huh.  Yes.
 8  Q.   -- and Fort McDowell?
 9  A.   Yes, he was.
10  Q.   And I think, did you say, he built a road for
11    that purpose?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   Did he build the road at his own cost?
14  A.   No, he had partners, and there are a group of
15    investors, some sweat equity, others put some money in,
16    Darrell Duppa.  Most of these people came from mining
17    adventurers, mining efforts in the Wickenburg area
18    after that strike.
19  Q.   But the military didn't build that road, did
20    they?
21  A.   The military did not build the road.
22  Q.   The territorial government didn't build that
23    road, did they?
24  A.   No.  No, counties early on built roads.
25  Q.   And did the county build that road?


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Page 2408


 1  A.   The county did not build that road.
 2  Q.   During this hearing, have you heard a
 3    description of the term lining?
 4  A.   Yes.  That's a new -- I'm learning, learning
 5    a lot of things.
 6  Q.   Well, based on what you've heard, do you have
 7    an understanding of what that term means?
 8  A.   Yes.  Yes, I do.
 9  Q.   And can you describe what your understanding
10    of that term is?
11  A.   My understanding is putting a rope or line to
12    a watercraft and pulling it from a land-based footing
13    from Point A to Point B.
14  Q.   So the craft stays in the water or in the
15    riverbed at least?
16  A.   That's my understanding.
17  Q.   And the person pulling it is on land?
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   Is that your understanding?
20  A.   That's my understanding.
21  Q.   Well, let's assume for a moment that that's
22    what we're talking about.
23        Based on your understanding of that term,
24    would it have been useful to John Y.T. Smith to line
25    his goods or supplies up and down the Salt and Verde
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 1    Rivers, because his hay camp was located right on the
 2    Salt, wasn't it?
 3  A.   Yes, it was.
 4  Q.   And Fort McDowell is right on the Verde,
 5    correct?
 6  A.   Yes.
 7  Q.   Would it have been useful for him to line a
 8    watercraft of any kind up and down the river for
 9    purposes of moving his hay?
10  A.   In my opinion, yes, it would be advantageous.
11    You could do it, if he thought of it.
12  Q.   Is there any historic record that Smith ever
13    lined either the Salt or Verde Rivers, whether that was
14    an attempt or an actual success?
15  A.   There's no record that I've been able to
16    uncover or discover.
17  Q.   I think you've referenced the Stoneman Road
18    before.  Is the Stoneman Road in the vicinity of the
19    Verde River?
20  A.   It goes to Fort McDowell.  It's in the
21    vicinity, and there's still, I think, a remnant of it
22    in the McDowell Mountains, and there's a little local
23    nonprofit organization that has preserved the last
24    remnant of the Stoneman Road around all the development
25    that's going on out there.  So it did go to Fort
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 1    McDowell.
 2  Q.   Who built that?
 3  A.   The military.
 4  Q.   And was it easy for them to build that road?
 5  A.   It was difficult to build that road, but it
 6    saved several miles from the way they formerly went,
 7    the trail that was previously used.  So it was, again,
 8    a matter of streamlining, efficiency, and to conduct
 9    the approach to fighting the recalcitrant Indians.
10  Q.   Was it expensive to build the road?
11  A.   It was expensive, yes.  I don't have the
12    figure in my head.  I used to.
13  Q.   You used to know how much it cost to build
14    the Stoneman Road?
15  A.   Yeah, I did.  I saw it.
16  Q.   And during your time in this hearing, have
17    you heard a conversation about the Day brothers?
18  A.   Yes, I have.
19  Q.   I'm going to show you what's previously been
20    marked as the State's Exhibit X001-18.
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   Which is --
23  A.   I have it here, with "German Syrup."  Is that
24    the one?  Yeah.
25  Q.   Oh, okay, that is.  That, in fact, is.
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 1        This is the Arizona Sentinel, dated
 2    April 2nd, 1892.  Is that consistent with what you're
 3    seeing?
 4  A.   That's what I see, yes.
 5  Q.   Okay.  And if anybody wants a copy, I have
 6    extra copies.
 7        But I'm going to say the copy you're
 8    holding -- actually, I do have some other copies.  I've
 9    taken the liberty of blowing it up a little better to
10    read, on the first page of this two-page, and then the
11    second page I left more to scale as to what the State
12    used so you can see the date at the top.  Is that --
13  A.   Yes.
14  Q.   -- what you're seeing?
15  A.   I see that, yes.
16        MS. HERNBRODE: Cynthia, for the rest of
17    us, our exhibit actually has a blown-up page as the
18    second page of it, so...
19        MS. CAMPBELL: Not this one, but...
20        MS. HERNBRODE: All right.
21        MS. CAMPBELL: I know I used the copier
22    this morning to do this, but okay.  All right.
23        BY MS. CAMPBELL: 
24  Q.   So have you heard testimony about this
25    account of the Day brothers?
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 1  A.   Yes, a couple times, and I've seen reference
 2    to it a couple of other times, yes.
 3  Q.   Okay.  And since this has been testified
 4    about so many times, I'm going to -- if you don't mind,
 5    I'm going to maybe summarize it, and you tell me if
 6    that's your understanding of what you've seen in this
 7    exhibit.
 8  A.   Oh, okay.
 9  Q.   That according to this, on September 1st,
10    1891, these two brothers left Camp Verde in a small
11    boat and they traveled to Yuma, arriving in Yuma on
12    March 27th of the following year, that being 1892.
13        Am I right so far?
14  A.   Yeah.  I reviewed it just before I walked in
15    here.
16  Q.   Okay.  And that they also mentioned that
17    they've been trapping and that they brought a large
18    quantity of fur, assuming to Yuma; that I think that's
19    what the reference is; and that they did it by
20    traveling on the Verde, through the Rio Salado or Salt
21    River, and then they came down the Gila and found
22    themselves at Yuma, their boat floating upon the waters
23    of the great Colorado of the west.
24        Is that also --
25  A.   That's in there, yes.  That's part of that.
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 1  Q.   And, actually, the original exhibit that the
 2    State has in the record is cut off, but --
 3        MS. HERNBRODE: Oh.
 4        BY MS. CAMPBELL: 
 5  Q.   Yeah, at the words "fifth one."
 6        But I did find the other original reference.
 7    But that -- well, the last sentence that you see on
 8    this --
 9  A.   "Fifth one," yeah.
10  Q.   Right, says "The distance traveled by the
11    Messrs. Day by river is a trip over 800 miles, and is
12    the fifth one," and I believe the rest of the sentence
13    goes on to say that it's the fifth one they've done, or
14    something to that effect.  Let me see.
15        "The fifth one made by J.K. Day."  And I
16    think you're going to have to take that very last four
17    words --
18  A.   Okay.
19  Q.   -- on me.
20  A.   J.K. Day.
21  Q.   Because I actually looked it up myself and
22    found it.
23  A.   Okay, J.K. Day.
24  Q.   Okay.
25        MR. BREEDLOVE: For the record, it is
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 1    correct in the --
 2        MS. CAMPBELL: Is it?
 3        MR. BREEDLOVE: It's in the file, so
 4    there must have been something wrong with the copy you
 5    were looking at.
 6        MS. CAMPBELL: Okay.  It's the one
 7    that's on the website, so...
 8        MR. BREEDLOVE: That's the one I'm
 9    looking at right now, so...
10        MS. CAMPBELL: Oh, okay.  I didn't see
11    the end of it.  So...
12        BY MS. CAMPBELL: 
13  Q.   So this is from April of 1892, correct?
14  A.   Correct.
15  Q.   So it took these guys six months, 180 days,
16    if you're counting, to get from Camp Verde to Yuma; is
17    that correct?
18  A.   I'm not a mathematician, but, yes, that seems
19    correct.
20  Q.   Approximately?
21  A.   Approximately.
22  Q.   So they say they traveled 800 miles.
23  A.   Okay.
24  Q.   Are you a cartographer?
25  A.   Oh, no.
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 1  Q.   Do you know the exact distance, if you're
 2    going down the Verde River and down the Salt River and
 3    down the Gila River to Yuma, that it would be between
 4    Camp Verde and Yuma?
 5  A.   I don't know that distance.  I can't
 6    calculate it.
 7  Q.   Do you know if it's a trip over 800 miles?
 8  A.   That seems, I mean, someone uneducated in
 9    this field, that field, that seems high.
10  Q.   Okay.  And, in fact, if I were to tell you
11    that the State has introduced exhibits which indicates
12    that the distance between Perkinsville on the Verde and
13    the confluence of the Verde and the Salt is 153.5
14    miles, would that make more sense to you?
15  A.   That makes sense, yes.
16  Q.   Okay.  And Perkinsville is actually upstream
17    of Camp Verde, is it not?
18  A.   It is.
19  Q.   So the distance between Camp Verde and the
20    confluence with the Salt River is less than 153 miles?
21  A.   Okay.  Yes.
22  Q.   And if I were to tell you that the distance
23    on the Gila River between the New Mexico border and
24    Yuma was 649 miles, would that sound about right to
25    you?
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 1  A.   That sounds in the ballpark, yes.
 2  Q.   You would take my word for it?
 3  A.   I take your word for that.
 4  Q.   Okay.  So is it fair to say that the distance
 5    that the Day brothers claim they traveled, a trip they
 6    say of over 800 miles, was far less than 800 miles?
 7  A.   Yes.
 8  Q.   But, probably, if you're traveling for six
 9    months, it probably feels like you've gone 800 miles,
10    right?
11  A.   Easily, yes.
12  Q.   All right.  Let's take a look at that.  Let's
13    say for just one moment that the Day brothers actually
14    traveled 600 miles.
15  A.   Okay.
16  Q.   We don't actually -- you don't actually know
17    the distance, do you?
18  A.   I don't know the distance sitting here.
19  Q.   And I don't either.
20  A.   I don't.
21  Q.   But let's just say for the moment it's
22    600 miles.
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   At 180 days.
25        If I were to tell you, because you don't have
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 1    the calculator, but I do --
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   -- that that is 3.3 miles a day for 180 days,
 4    does that seem like a long time to you, I mean a good
 5    clip on a river that's navigable, to travel 3.3 miles a
 6    day?
 7  A.   No, it doesn't seem --
 8  Q.   In fact, you could probably walk 3.3 miles a
 9    day, couldn't you?
10  A.   I did it this morning.
11  Q.   You did?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   And if there were two people, you could
14    probably pull a canoe 3.3 miles a day?
15  A.   Okay.
16  Q.   Is that correct?
17  A.   That would be correct.
18  Q.   Now, 600 miles probably still seems a little
19    large, so let's say for a moment that it was 500 miles
20    total, divided by 180 days.  So now you're less than 3
21    miles a day.  Does that sound right?
22  A.   That sounds right, the calculation.
23  Q.   Now, based upon the types of transportation
24    that would have occurred in 1892, were people doing
25    business, were people conducting business where they
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 1    traveled on a river less than 3 miles a day and took
 2    six months to move their goods from one point to
 3    another?  Does that sound reasonable to you?
 4  A.   That doesn't sound reasonable.
 5  Q.   And, in fact, let me ask you a question.
 6    Step back for a moment and talk about the Arizona
 7    Sentinel in April of 1892.
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   What types of articles were written in the
10    newspaper in 1892?
11  A.   Well, I think the news of the day.  The Yuma,
12    this is actually a fairly vigorous, well-regarded
13    newspaper at the time, and Yuma was a comparatively
14    large settlement in 1892.  And they had all types of
15    things, from the Republican League, so it covered
16    local, national matters, as well as, I think, local
17    issues of interest or entertainment.  I mean I think
18    there's entertainment value and people enjoyed that,
19    and I think it's a form of entertainment as well as
20    news, yes.
21  Q.   So in 1892, a newspaper like the Arizona
22    Sentinel might not only be publishing newsworthy items,
23    but also entertainment value items?
24  A.   Sure.  I think it's common.
25  Q.   And, in fact, two columns away from this


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Page 2419


 1    there's an interesting little article about German
 2    syrup being used for a cold on the lungs?
 3  A.   Yes.  It looks more like kind of an ad, yes,
 4    but a long ad.
 5  Q.   But it's presented as an article, isn't it?
 6  A.   Yeah, it's presented as an article, a news
 7    item; but it apparently advertises the benefits of this
 8    German syrup in allaying various ills.
 9  Q.   And while it wasn't originally presented that
10    way, if I were to show you the entire first page of the
11    Arizona Sentinel and you would see, at the bottom, one
12    or two-sentence descriptions of various residents of
13    Yuma that came and went to visit relatives or go other
14    places, would that be something you would expect to see
15    in a newspaper in 1892?
16  A.   Yes, quite common, from -- I just did some
17    work on Hebron, Iowa, and if you knew who went to visit
18    whom, who left town for a day.  The Miami Silver Belt
19    documented Frank Snell going to Phoenix for one day,
20    and that was the day that he decided to move to Phoenix
21    and begin practicing law here in 1927.
22        So it was common to go through these.  It was
23    common to report that kind of activity, which seems
24    mundane, you know; but that was important and had some
25    news value and some entertainment value.
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 1  Q.   And the people that were generally described
 2    as moving from place to place and visiting their aunt
 3    here or there, taking a vacation, were those all
 4    notable people or famous people or politicians or
 5    otherwise newsworthy people?
 6  A.   Sometimes, but sometimes it was the neighbor.
 7    There was a mix of who was, you know, notable people
 8    and just common, regular working folks.
 9  Q.   So you've looked at this article entitled
10    A Long Journey, about the Day brothers?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   And what is your opinion, based upon your
13    knowledge of historical records and newspapers of that
14    vintage, about this article?
15  A.   Well, it obviously could be factual, but it's
16    also very entertaining to read.  I could imagine those
17    who were working their hard lives away would read
18    something like that and that would seem adventuresome
19    and exciting, so...
20  Q.   And what was the fur trade like in 1892?
21  A.   It certainly wasn't as vigorous and important
22    and central to the economy of the region as it was,
23    say, in the 1820s and '30s, and there was a little more
24    economic diversification in Arizona by 1892.  There was
25    some other activities going on.  So in many ways it's
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 1    kind of like an outlier.  I would use maybe that term
 2    to describe it.
 3  Q.   And based upon the way this article reads, is
 4    it safe to say that the content of the article, in
 5    terms of the, I'll use the word, facts that are
 6    included in the article, the source of those facts
 7    comes from Mr. Day himself?
 8  A.   Yeah, Mr. Day apparently talking to one of
 9    the journalists and writers.
10  Q.   So he's the one that gives the information
11    about leaving September 1st, 1891, correct?
12  A.   I would assume that.  I would assume that
13    fact.
14  Q.   And he's the one that describes that he has
15    this lucrative fur trading business, or at least came
16    down the river on more than one occasion, according to
17    him --
18  A.   Yes.
19  Q.   -- for fur trading, correct?
20  A.   Yes.
21  Q.   And he's the one that said he traveled on the
22    Verde River to the Salt, to the Gila, down to Yuma; is
23    that correct?
24  A.   That is correct, from my reading.
25  Q.   And he's also the one that said it was a trip


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Page 2422


 1    of over 800 miles?
 2  A.   That's correct.
 3  Q.   Do you think all of those facts are
 4    accurate?
 5  A.   Well, at least starting with the distance, I
 6    think that is inaccurate.
 7  Q.   All right.  But, obviously, the Arizona
 8    Sentinel, not to impugn a Yuma newspaper, but obviously
 9    the Arizona Sentinel didn't check the facts on at least
10    that part?
11        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mark that, would you,
12    Jody?
13        BY MS. CAMPBELL: 
14  Q.   But they obviously didn't check the facts on
15    what Mr. Day told them; is that correct?
16  A.   Yeah, that's correct.
17  Q.   And have you ever been able to locate any
18    other written historical records that indicate that
19    anyone used the Verde River -- I'm not even going to
20    say from Camp Verde to Yuma. -- let's just say from
21    Camp Verde to Fort McDowell or any part of the Verde
22    River for travel or trade?
23  A.   I have not seen anything of that nature in
24    the records that I have reviewed.
25  Q.   Did you ever see anybody refer to it as a
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 1    highway of commerce?
 2  A.   I have not, no.
 3  Q.   And based upon your review of the records,
 4    was it a highway of commerce?
 5  A.   No.
 6  Q.   I'll make that easier for you so we don't
 7    have to use buzz words like highway of commerce.
 8  A.   Okay.
 9  Q.   Have you ever seen any record of anybody
10    trading, doing any kind of commerce or travel on the
11    Verde River?
12  A.   No, I have not.
13  Q.   And based on your review of the historical
14    record, the statements you've just made, is that the
15    basis -- I'm going to go back to the first page of your
16    report for a moment.
17  A.   Yes, okay.
18  Q.   And I'm going to read the last sentence of
19    the first paragraph.
20        "However, after reviewing the complete
21    historical record, it is my opinion that none of the
22    five segments of the Verde is navigable in its ordinary
23    and natural condition prior to the State of Arizona's
24    admission to the United States on February 14th, 1912."
25        Do you see that sentence?
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 1  A.   I see that sentence.
 2  Q.   Is that sentence based upon the information
 3    you just told me, in terms of your review of the
 4    historical records?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   You're not a geologist?
 7  A.   I'm not a geologist.
 8  Q.   You're not a geomorphologist, yes?
 9  A.   I'm not a geomorphologist.
10  Q.   Are you an attorney?
11  A.   I am not an attorney.
12  Q.   So is that statement making any scientific
13    opinion?
14  A.   It is not.
15  Q.   Is it making a legal opinion?
16  A.   It's not.
17  Q.   Why not?
18  A.   Because I'm not an attorney.
19        MR. HELM: Or a judge.
20        MS. CAMPBELL: No, he's not that either.
21        I have no further questions.
22        Can the witness take a break, though?
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Well, we certainly
24    appreciate, Cynthia, the way you've teed this up.
25    Who's first?
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 1        MS. HERNBRODE: Well, Mr. Chairman, I do
 2    have some questions for the witness, but I believe with
 3    our witnesses the other side preferred that the folks
 4    on this side of the room go first, so if you guys have
 5    some questions.
 6        MR. HOOD: I'm happy to go.  I've got
 7    one very short line.
 8        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay, we're going to
 9    take Mr. Hood's very short line, and then we will take
10    a break.
11        THE WITNESS: Okay.
12        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Does that work?
13        THE WITNESS: Yes, that's fine.
14        MS. CAMPBELL: Well, since we're
15    going to take a short one, I'll just move my stuff
16    over.
17        THE WITNESS: I just got a new phone
18    this morning.
19        MS. HERNBRODE: You can't figure out how
20    to turn it off?
21        THE WITNESS: I can't figure how to turn
22    it off, yeah.
23        MS. HERNBRODE: I understand.
24        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Hood.
25        MR. HOOD: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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 1        CROSS-EXAMINATION
 2        BY MR. HOOD: 
 3  Q.   Dr. August, how are you this afternoon?
 4  A.   Fine, thank you.
 5  Q.   I just want to follow up on the Day brothers
 6    very briefly.
 7        Ms. Campbell asked you to assume a few
 8    different figures in terms of the number of miles
 9    and so forth, and it was sort of hypothetical in
10    nature.
11  A.   Yes, yes, of course.
12  Q.   I want you to assume that Mr. Burtell has
13    used GIS and has calculated the actual distance.
14  A.   Wow.
15  Q.   And that Ms. Campbell is correct; that
16    800 miles is not only an overstatement, but it's a
17    gross overstatement.
18  A.   Okay.
19  Q.   And that it's actually approximately
20    363 miles.
21  A.   All right.
22  Q.   And so if we were going to -- and,
23    furthermore, that Mr. Burtell has taken great care to
24    go through the calendar and determine that it's
25    actually a 209-day trip.
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 1  A.   Oh, more than 180.
 2  Q.   Yeah.  So let's do that math.
 3        363 divided by 209, and that ends up at about
 4    just over 1.7 miles per day, if my calculator is
 5    accurate.  And so that's even less -- you're actually
 6    making less progress per day than under Ms. Campbell's
 7    hypotheticals.
 8  A.   Okay, that, what you just stated, seems
 9    accurate to me.
10  Q.   Okay.  And so does that call into question to
11    you that even if the story is correct, that they had
12    gone that distance, if it takes you 209 days and
13    1.7 miles a day, does that call into question, for you,
14    whether this is a reliable highway for commerce?
15  A.   It calls that into question.  I can say yes
16    to that.
17        MR. HOOD: Okay.  Thank you,
18    Dr. August.
19        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you very much.
20        We'll take a break now for 15 minutes.
21        (A recess was taken from 2:27 p.m. to
22        2:46 p.m.)
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Are we ready?
24        Joy, please begin.
25        MS. HERNBRODE: Thank you.
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 1        CROSS-EXAMINATION
 2        BY MS. HERNBRODE: 
 3  Q.   Good afternoon, Dr. August.
 4  A.   Good afternoon.
 5  Q.   We haven't met formally.
 6  A.   No.
 7  Q.   But I'm Joy Hernbrode.
 8  A.   Joy, okay.
 9  Q.   You can call me Joy.
10  A.   Joy, thank you.
11  Q.   Ms. Hernbrode is just --
12  A.   Jack.
13        (An off-the-record discussion ensued.)
14        BY MS. HERNBRODE: 
15  Q.   I think we've established that you're going
16    to call me Joy and I'm going to call you Jack.
17  A.   Correct.
18  Q.   All right.  I'm going to start with your CV a
19    little bit.  Is it fair to say that much of your
20    writings focus on the political history of Arizona post
21    about the 1920s and the history of various water
22    conflicts?
23  A.   Yes.
24  Q.   Is that because that's where your main
25    interest lies?
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 1  A.   I'm interested in all of it, but I like some
 2    of the topics that -- in the 20th century, yes.
 3  Q.   Are there any good books out there you could
 4    recommend on territorial political history of Arizona?
 5  A.   Sure.  I would start with Volume 2 of Jay J.
 6    Wagoner's Arizona history; I think Thomas Farish of
 7    1918; McClintock's, about the same time; Thomas
 8    Sheridan, his most recent revision of the Arizona
 9    history.  While I like Marshall Trimble, I wouldn't
10    recommend Marsh for kind of any serious kind of
11    scholarly work.  And then there's a host of kind of
12    articles in the Arizona History and other scholarly
13    works that cover the naming of Arizona, to all types of
14    political and political developments in Arizona.
15  Q.   Would you call your current report here
16    comprehensive, or did you have sort of a limited focus?
17  A.   I had a very limited focus.
18  Q.   And I think you said that your limited focus
19    was the Verde in its ordinary and natural condition,
20    which I think you said was about 1866, correct?
21  A.   1866, 1870, you know, yes, beginning of
22    development.
23  Q.   There's no firm --
24  A.   No firm --
25  Q.   -- date there?
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 1  A.   No firm date.
 2  Q.   Right.
 3        Would it be common for a historian to include
 4    a list of works cited in their report?
 5  A.   Yes, but I used the just footnotes to cite.
 6    And the idea of comprehensive bibliographies in terms
 7    of academic and scholarly publications in history is --
 8    it's so erratic, it's kind of receding into history,
 9    that many editors -- and I think it may have to do with
10    costs.  Those extensive bibliographies that kind of
11    characterize my book on Hayden and others in my recent
12    works, they don't have bibliographies, and they just
13    rely on your end notes for sources cited.  But that may
14    be a stylistic thing.
15  Q.   Okay.  Are all the documents you relied on
16    listed in your report?
17  A.   No, not necessarily, but they were some of
18    the most obvious, since it was so brief and I became
19    part of this family rather recently, so...
20  Q.   Did you review the Land Department's report?
21  A.   I've reviewed it in part.  I haven't had
22    time, but I will after this.  I'll have some time.
23  Q.   Mr. Fuller's latest PowerPoint?
24  A.   I've reviewed it.  I have a copy of it and
25    was able to take a look at it.  But to review it
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 1    comprehensively like I would like to do, I have not had
 2    the time.
 3  Q.   Were you here when Mr. Fuller was testifying?
 4  A.   No, not at this one.  I didn't catch him.  I
 5    may have caught a half a day, but not very much.  But
 6    I've seen him testify in the past on another
 7    watercourse.
 8  Q.   And were you provided with transcripts of
 9    Mr. Fuller's testimony?
10  A.   Not yet.
11  Q.   Did you rely on any other reports from
12    experts in this case?
13  A.   Not for this report, no, not -- and, again,
14    I'm catching up and trying to review things as I go
15    along here.
16  Q.   Okay.  So you didn't rely on Dr. Littlefield?
17  A.   No, no.  But I'm familiar with
18    Dr. Littlefield's work and his area of expertise with
19    surveying and the history of surveying and that; but I
20    have not seen his work in this regard, and I think the
21    point was that I provide some other material besides
22    that, just to add to the record for the Commission.
23  Q.   And you must have looked at at least portions
24    of Mr. Burtell's report to get the segments at least?
25  A.   Yeah.  Yeah, the segments.  I think it was I
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 1    read 20 pages and then just very quickly reviewed the
 2    end note material, including the Joseph Pratt Allyn
 3    book that he used.  And so I guess I was most
 4    interested not in the technical work that other people
 5    are providing, but I was interested in some of his
 6    historical references and just to see how he would use
 7    those.
 8  Q.   So given those answers, I guess I'm a little
 9    confused when you say you reviewed the complete
10    historic record.  The complete historic record of what,
11    I guess is the question?
12  A.   The historical record of what I was charged
13    with reviewing for this Segments 4 and 5.  If I had,
14    and I will have, some more months, then it will really
15    truly be comprehensive, and I can even venture to do
16    some work in Segments 1, 2, and 3.
17  Q.   Did you look at any evidence that's in the
18    record from the 1870 and prior period?
19  A.   No evidence in this record, no.
20  Q.   So I think what you're saying is that you
21    relied a lot on your expertise in this area, stuff that
22    you've looked at over the course of your career?
23  A.   Oh, that's correct.  Yeah.  I was familiar
24    with the secondary sources, where the primary sources
25    are located, and I looked for any accounts of boating
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 1    or trade up and down the river, but particularly with
 2    Segments 4 and 5.
 3  Q.   And it looks to be like you primarily relied
 4    upon books, though a few newspaper accounts were also
 5    included?
 6  A.   That's right.  That explains the brevity and
 7    the kind of contracted time frame.  But, believe me, I
 8    do the long form usually.  I mean the books are long.
 9  Q.   And I take it then that you believe that
10    those sources are reliable?
11  A.   They are, they're reliable.
12  Q.   Even though they were, in some cases,
13    secondary sources?
14  A.   Secondary sources in that field, in the
15    borderlands field, are really quite, in my opinion,
16    reliable.
17  Q.   And newspaper reports, reliable?
18  A.   You have to read those very carefully,
19    critically, and analytically, particularly from around
20    the turn of the century.  And even in my work on
21    Senator Hayden, for example, in 1912, when he
22    arrested -- it's a little bit after the time frame, but
23    when he arrested two train robbers in 1910, the
24    verbiage was over the top on how exciting it was and
25    all that.  It was much more mundane.
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 1  Q.   They tend to make things sound a little more
 2    exciting than they actually were?
 3  A.   Yeah.  That's a function of the time.
 4  Q.   So when you opine that none of the five
 5    segments of the Verde River were navigable, would it be
 6    perhaps more correct to state that you found, from the
 7    historical records you looked at, that the Verde River
 8    was not navigated?
 9  A.   It was not navigated.
10  Q.   Okay.  Would you agree that there are lots of
11    reasons that someone might not use a river to travel
12    on?
13  A.   There might be a lot of reasons, sure.
14  Q.   I believe some that Mr. Randall, who
15    testified here previously, mentioned, you didn't have
16    the technology to build a boat?
17  A.   I remember that testimony.
18  Q.   Would you agree with that?
19  A.   That his people, for example, are you saying,
20    the Apache people?
21  Q.   Yes.
22  A.   If Mr. Randall said it, I would consider the
23    source and I would, at first blush, I would agree with
24    him.
25  Q.   The river doesn't go where you want it to go?
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 1  A.   It doesn't go where I -- I don't --
 2  Q.   I believe Mr. Randall testified his people
 3    traded with the Hopi.  The Verde doesn't go to Hopi,
 4    does it?
 5  A.   No.  No, it does not.
 6  Q.   So that would be a good reason not to use the
 7    river?
 8  A.   That would be a reason not to use it, why it
 9    would be excluded, yes.
10  Q.   The river doesn't take a direct route?
11  A.   It does not.
12  Q.   And that would be a reason not to use the
13    river?
14  A.   I don't think about that.  I don't see, if it
15    were navigable, if it were in kind of a slight
16    reverse C, like it is, I don't think that would
17    preclude someone moving from Point A to Point B on that
18    river.
19  Q.   So you would disagree with Mr. Randall on
20    that particular point?
21  A.   On that particular point, yeah, I would
22    respectfully disagree.
23  Q.   Some other reasons, you've got a horse and
24    the horse doesn't want to get on a boat?
25  A.   That might be a reason.
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 1  Q.   You're tracking people who don't use boats?
 2  A.   In my report and --
 3  Q.   Well --
 4  A.   Yeah.
 5  Q.   -- would that be a reason not to use a boat?
 6  A.   Oh.
 7  Q.   If your purpose there were to be to track
 8    some people who were not using a boat, would that be a
 9    good reason not to use a boat?
10  A.   You would not use a boat, no.
11  Q.   Would it be a good reason not to use a boat
12    if the boat would mean you arrive at a predictable
13    place at a predictable time and you're being tracked by
14    some people who were trying to kill you?
15  A.   I agree with that statement.
16  Q.   Would it be a reason not to use a boat if you
17    need to go upstream?
18  A.   Yes, that would be a reason not to use it.
19  Q.   It's a little more difficult to go upstream
20    than down?
21  A.   Correct.
22  Q.   Would it be a reason not to use a boat if the
23    country is fairly open and easy to navigate on foot or
24    on horseback?
25  A.   Correct.
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 1  Q.   And would it be a good reason not to use a
 2    boat if you're exploring and need to look at multiple
 3    watersheds?
 4  A.   Correct.
 5  Q.   Okay.  I'm going to draw a little bit on,
 6    hopefully, your expertise as a western historian.
 7  A.   Okay.
 8  Q.   What kind of boats were used for trade and
 9    travel purposes around the time of Arizona statehood?
10        I'll give you some examples, if you don't
11    want to come up with one.
12  A.   Well, maybe Lingenfelter, you know, I would
13    cite that source, and there were paddle wheels, there
14    were steamers on the Colorado, and that's
15    well-documented and celebrated.  I think there were
16    canoes.
17  Q.   Kayaks?
18  A.   Kayaks, I would suspect.  I don't know.
19  Q.   Flatboats of various types?
20  A.   Flatboats would be something that's part of
21    the American travel lexicon, yes.
22  Q.   Home-built boats?
23  A.   Home-built boats, I would agree that there
24    might be some home-built boats.
25  Q.   Mail-order boats?
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 1  A.   Mail-order boats from Sears.
 2  Q.   Canvas canoes?
 3  A.   I'm assuming canvas canoes would be possible,
 4    would be in the landscape.
 5  Q.   Dugout canoes?
 6  A.   Dugout canoes.
 7  Q.   Rubber boats?
 8  A.   I don't know about rubber boats.  I'm not a
 9    boat expert, but if they were here and they were
10    invented and useful in 1912, I suspect there would be
11    some in Arizona.
12  Q.   I believe it was Ives' expedition crossing
13    the Colorado had a rubber boat.
14  A.   Did he have rubber boats?  I did not know
15    that.
16  Q.   I could be wrong about the expedition.  It
17    was one of the early --
18  A.   Early 1850s?
19  Q.   Yeah.
20  A.   Okay.
21  Q.   Would any of those small boats be
22    particularly useful for hauling a horse?
23  A.   No, they would not.
24  Q.   Do you know the navigability requirements of
25    any of those boats?
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 1  A.   I do not.
 2  Q.   So you would defer to Mr. Fuller for that
 3    information?
 4  A.   Yes, I would.
 5  Q.   Have you seen the video testimony of Mr. Brad
 6    Dimock?
 7  A.   I have not.  I'm sure I will.
 8  Q.   What's your definition of commerce?
 9  A.   Commerce.  The selling and purchasing of
10    goods, just very briefly.
11  Q.   I think on the Gila you said something along
12    the lines of in commerce, if you can float a log down
13    and somehow conduct commerce, float down it, that would
14    be navigable.  Does that sound about, right?
15  A.   I think I said something like that back then,
16    yeah.
17  Q.   Do you disagree with that statement now?
18  A.   No, not necessarily.
19  Q.   So, again, you were looking for actual use of
20    the river?
21  A.   I was.
22  Q.   You didn't really look at whether it could be
23    used, whether the river was deep enough, wide enough,
24    and obstacles-free enough to support commerce?
25  A.   No, I did not look at any of that kind of
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 1    material.  I think other experts have addressed that,
 2    those.
 3  Q.   I notice your report doesn't include any
 4    specific descriptions of the Verde by the historical
 5    figures you discuss.  They mention the Verde, but they
 6    don't really describe it; is that true?
 7  A.   That's correct.  They saw it, they knew it
 8    was there, and I would venture from Camp Verde to where
 9    it meets the Salt, and that was fairly well-known by
10    1780.
11  Q.   But you don't -- none of the figures you
12    cited specifically described the Verde; they didn't say
13    we met the Verde and it was --
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   -- 50 feet wide and 4 feet deep or whatever?
16  A.   That's right, and I was looking for that
17    specifically.
18  Q.   So how did you determine whether the river
19    was susceptible for transportation or commerce?
20  A.   I'm not an attorney, and susceptible, I think
21    in this instant, is a legal term that will be
22    determined by the attorneys and the Commission.  So I
23    don't think I should or can talk about the legal
24    definition of susceptibility.
25  Q.   Well, I believe that you state, at least on
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 1    Page 7 of your report, that Kino didn't think the Verde
 2    was susceptible to transportation or commerce?
 3  A.   Yeah, but he wouldn't even go there, he
 4    didn't even go to the Verde; and I think from their --
 5    from the rest of that report, it was too far away and
 6    was not viewed to or susceptible to navigation not in
 7    the legal term, just that why are we going to go there.
 8    We know it's there, we know there's water there, and
 9    that was it.  But to use it as some kind of a
10    commercial transportation route, that wasn't even in
11    question.
12  Q.   I believe in your direct this afternoon, you
13    talked about the fact that Kino didn't even actually
14    get very close to the river; he kind of looked at it
15    from pretty high up?
16  A.   He looked at it from pretty high up.
17  Q.   And it was on the wrong side of the Gila for
18    them to be really interested in?
19  A.   Yes.  Yeah, the Gila seems to be an important
20    barrier, consciously or not, for the Spaniards.  They
21    had hopes of establishing some kind of colony/mission
22    north of the Gila, but it just never worked out.  And
23    the only way they reached the Hopis, more often than
24    not, was from the Santa Fe base and not from Sonora.
25  Q.   And I think you said you don't have an
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 1    opinion on the segmentation?
 2  A.   Yeah, I don't.
 3  Q.   You cited to Mr. Burtell's segmentation.  I
 4    assume you don't know how, if at all, it varies from
 5    the segmentation that the Land Department did?
 6  A.   No.  I'm assuming that -- I assumed that
 7    Mr. Burtell was using the State Land Department's,
 8    without having -- and, again, I can't wait to read all
 9    of them.
10  Q.   What's your boating experience?
11  A.   Zero.
12  Q.   Really?
13  A.   None.
14  Q.   Okay.
15        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: We really appreciate
16    that, Jack.
17        MS. HERNBRODE: I was hoping for --
18        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: You have no idea.
19        THE WITNESS: You know, my buddies would
20    go up to Apache Lake or something, but I never -- you
21    know, I didn't have time or something like that, so...
22        BY MS. HERNBRODE: 
23  Q.   You are aware that thousands of people boat
24    the Verde every year, though?
25  A.   I'm aware, from the testimony I heard here,
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 1    up around Clarkdale, close to where I live, that that's
 2    an activity that takes place, yes.
 3  Q.   I notice there are no photographs in your
 4    report as well.  Did you look for photographs or other
 5    early evidence of what the Verde might have looked
 6    like?
 7  A.   I honestly did not have time, but I will, as
 8    this proceeds.  I do like imagery and illustrations to
 9    clarify and assist in the narrative, yes; but I have
10    not used any up to this point.
11  Q.   And, likely, any photographs would have
12    fallen after that 1870s date?
13  A.   Well, let's see, photography is invented in
14    1837.  I think there's some de Guerra types in the
15    Arizona Territory.  So I would be very interested.  I'm
16    very interested in that field, and so I look forward to
17    uncovering anything that I might find.
18  Q.   If I tell you that lining your boat involves
19    walking your boat with a rope tied on to it around an
20    obstacle, not pulling it upstream, that's a different
21    term --
22  A.   Oh, okay.
23  Q.   -- do you have any reason to disagree with
24    that?
25  A.   I have no reason to disagree with what you
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 1    said.
 2  Q.   You talked for almost three pages about
 3    Phoenix's use of water from the Verde.  It's
 4    interesting history.
 5  A.   Right.
 6  Q.   But how does that apply to navigability?
 7  A.   Well, I think it has to do with how they --
 8    Phoenix's interest in those segments of the river.
 9    Phoenix has an abiding interest in Segments 4 and 5,
10    and so that was one of the reasons to take a look at
11    this.
12  Q.   You were trying to explain why your client
13    was here at this hearing, but not necessarily to convey
14    anything about the navigability of the river?
15  A.   I think that was it; and, also, to look to
16    see if there was any history of navigation that I could
17    uncover over the course of my career in looking at this
18    reach, and pretty critically and analytically, as well
19    as any material I could find.
20  Q.   And I think Phoenix's interest started in
21    about 1907; is that correct?
22  A.   Phoenix?
23  Q.   Phoenix's interest in the Verde?
24  A.   Yes, right around there.
25  Q.   But its predecessors or the people who lived
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 1    in the Phoenix area were taking water before that?
 2  A.   That is correct.  They were concerned.
 3  Q.   I think we tend to assume that the Phoenix
 4    Metro area has always been sort of the dominant
 5    metropolis we have today, but that wasn't true for a
 6    lot of Arizona's territorial and preterritorial period,
 7    was it?
 8  A.   It was not.  In fact, Phoenix, I think the
 9    census of 1920, if I'm not mistaken, is the first
10    census in which Phoenix has a larger population than
11    Tucson.  And, also, Yuma and the Bisbee area, they
12    were -- politicians, for example, if that's a
13    barometer, they had better go and talk to the editor of
14    the Bisbee News or something in order to get their
15    endorsement.
16        So they don't play the role that they did
17    100 years ago, but, yes, Phoenix was slower to overtake
18    Tucson.  And the rivalry continues to exist, whether
19    it's over population or lifestyle or whether Phoenix
20    was being settled by Anglo-Americans from the East and
21    Tucson's history goes south to north, you know, the
22    different places.
23  Q.   Or who is going to get their roads repaired?
24  A.   That's true.  I agree.
25  Q.   For a lot of the time Prescott was actually
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 1    more important than Phoenix?
 2  A.   Oh, it was a Territorial Capitol, and we
 3    still think we're -- no, it's -- yeah, we're -- no, it
 4    was very important and has found its niche, I think, in
 5    the pantheon of 21st century micropolis in Arizona.
 6  Q.   I noticed that when you talked about the
 7    prehistoric people here, particularly in the Phoenix
 8    area, you called them the Hohokam.
 9  A.   Yes.
10  Q.   Other people have called them the Hohokam.
11  A.   Hohokam.
12  Q.   Or the Huhukam.
13  A.   Uh-huh, sure.
14  Q.   All the same people, right?
15  A.   All the same people, that's correct.
16  Q.   Sort of depends on what your cultural
17    background is, how you use that phrase?
18  A.   Boy, I never -- I have never thought of that.
19    I've always heard the term Hohokam, even from
20    archaeologists I know and zooarchaeologists as well.  I
21    have some friends at ASU.  And so they've used the term
22    Hohokam.  But the third one I haven't heard, so thank
23    you.
24  Q.   That would be the tribal.
25  A.   The tribal reference?
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 1  Q.   Yes, yes.
 2  A.   Yeah.  Not the Aztecs, but the Meshika.
 3    Okay, I got it.
 4  Q.   Is it fair to say that the question of
 5    whether the Hohokam became what we used to call the
 6    Pima is a matter for scholarly debate, but not one
 7    which the O'odham people themselves debate?
 8  A.   I think that's a -- the last I've discerned
 9    and heard of that issue, that's correct.
10  Q.   They feel pretty strongly they were descended
11    from those people?
12  A.   Yes.
13  Q.   And the Hopi as well?
14  A.   I have not heard that about the Hopi.  They
15    speak the Uto-Aztecan language.  That kind of links
16    them down with people on the southern part of the
17    Colorado River straits.
18  Q.   And you haven't seen anything in the
19    literature you've reviewed about Hohokam use of boats,
20    but that doesn't mean there is evidence you haven't
21    seen?
22  A.   I haven't seen anything, and I relied on the
23    classic works of Emil Haury, Doyle, and, you know,
24    those people that are the recognized experts.
25  Q.   In prehistoric times the culture along the
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 1    lower Verde was the Hohokam, and in the Verde Valley it
 2    was the Sinagua?
 3  A.   I think that's correct.
 4  Q.   Where was the dividing point between the two
 5    cultures; do you know?
 6  A.   I do not.
 7  Q.   Both cultures practiced irrigation?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   Were the Hohokam canals more extensive than
10    the Sinagua canals?
11  A.   That seems to be what the research indicates,
12    that they were really quite extensive.
13  Q.   The Sinagua were more into terrace farming?
14  A.   Terrace farming, that's correct.
15  Q.   And were the Hohokam canals on the Verde
16    system less extensive than those on the Salt or the
17    Gila?
18  A.   From the lower Verde report, which, again, is
19    exhaustive, and I don't know how many previous nights
20    I've been reading through that, but they were less.  I
21    think there were 26 sites and less extensive, but still
22    a vital civilization during the height.
23  Q.   When you say the lower Verde report, what are
24    you referring to?
25  A.   It's called the Lower -- it's called
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 1    Vanishing Verde, The Lower Verde Report.  It's got a
 2    very long title, but it's cited here, and you can see
 3    it online, and it's like I don't know how many volumes.
 4  Q.   Would that be Vanishing River?
 5  A.   Vanishing River, yeah, it's the Vanishing
 6    River.
 7        And the interdisciplinary and
 8    multidisciplinary nature of the report is impressive.
 9    I don't see -- it was funded by the Bureau of
10    Reclamation.  That's how it got done.
11  Q.   Do you know if that report is in evidence as
12    Exhibit X017-120?
13  A.   I found out about that today.
14  Q.   Okay.  When Mr. Randall testified about the
15    earliest people in the Verde Valley, he was likely
16    talking about the Sinagua, then, and not the Hohokam?
17  A.   I would think so, yes, from his discussion.
18  Q.   And I believe you said scholars don't agree
19    about why the Sinagua and the Hohokam cultures
20    declined?
21  A.   I think that's a fair statement, yes.
22  Q.   If the Hohokam had built boats, what do you
23    think they would have been made of?
24  A.   I can't speculate about that.  I really don't
25    know.
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 1  Q.   Reeds?
 2  A.   Perhaps.
 3  Q.   Logs?
 4  A.   Perhaps.
 5  Q.   Do you know if the Hohokam used bundles of
 6    reeds for their diversion dams?
 7  A.   Yes, I think that's in evidence.
 8  Q.   So do you think you could tell, if you dug up
 9    a bundle of reeds, whether it had been part of a dam or
10    part of a boat?
11  A.   I couldn't tell that.  I would leave that to
12    archaeologists.
13  Q.   Have you read the draft report on the
14    archeological testing for the Sky Harbor Sky Train
15    that's been partially funded by your client?
16  A.   No, I have not.
17  Q.   Okay.  You testified previously on the Gila?
18  A.   Uh-huh.  A long time ago, yes.  I forget.
19  Q.   2005, I believe.
20        Are you aware of the prehistoric canoe that
21    was reported in a canal in that report and I believe in
22    the Salt report?
23  A.   I am not aware of that canoe.
24  Q.   Did I hear you say you thought Mr. Randall
25    testified about the Yavapai?
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 1  A.   He testified a little bit about the
 2    relationship and the difference in language, languages.
 3    So he testified a bit about that, yes.
 4  Q.   But his primary testimony, his focus was his
 5    culture --
 6  A.   His culture.
 7  Q.   -- which would be Apache?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   You relied on Mr. Bolton's work for
10    information about Father Kino?
11  A.   And others, but, yeah, that's kind of the
12    classic cite; but there are other people that have
13    written about Father Kino, of course.
14  Q.   Did you rely on him for any other parts of
15    your report?
16  A.   Certainly.  He's kind of this constant
17    eminence in the field of borderlands history, and I
18    think I've read almost everything he's ever written.
19    I've even read the bio -- I think a historian has a
20    biography written on him, but he has a biography
21    written by John Francis Bannon.  So a major figure in
22    the field, yes, and I've read most of his, if not all
23    of his work.
24  Q.   The only place I saw it cited was in the
25    reference to Kino.
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 1  A.   Yes.
 2  Q.   Are there other places that you --
 3  A.   Oh, he wrote Coronado:  Knight of Pueblo and
 4    Plains.  He wrote the big Coronado book.  He's written
 5    shorter pieces on Kino, kind of a synthesis, rather
 6    than the Rim of Christendom, to make it more
 7    accessible.  And he's written on a variety of other
 8    topics from presidios to even on some of the
 9    individuals that were mentioned, like Espejo and
10    Farfan.  He's covered -- he covered the territory,
11    really invented the field, in a way.
12  Q.   I notice you seem to speak Spanish fairly
13    fluently.  Do you read it?
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   During the period of time that the Spanish
16    were exploring, were horses commonly available
17    throughout Arizona?
18  A.   Yes.  The Spanish introduced or reintroduced
19    the horse to this continent in around, it looks as
20    though, the earliest, 1570.  Then some of them get
21    away, you know, and then bred.  So we have a few, but
22    not many, wild horses in Arizona and then through the
23    plains.  And they were quickly acquired by the Comanche
24    people, for example, and used as a dimension of their
25    war tactics.  Other groups didn't; used them as food.
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 1  Q.   Because I thought you said, when we were
 2    talking about the trappers, that sometimes they lost
 3    their horses or had to eat their horses.
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   And it didn't seem like they had a ready
 6    source for replacing their horses.
 7  A.   Their horses, for the most part, up in what
 8    we're talking about, from Taos and Santa Fe, they had
 9    ready supplies of horses and ranches and where their
10    embarkation point or disembarkation point was at.
11  Q.   But if they ate their horse in Arizona --
12  A.   They would be in big trouble.
13  Q.   -- or misplaced their horse because the
14    Apache ran off with it --
15  A.   That's correct, and that happened, and then
16    you were a pedestrian.
17  Q.   And so if the Spanish had gotten to a river
18    that they could put a canoe on and they've got their
19    horse there or they've got the canoe, would they just
20    turn that horse loose and go on down the river, or does
21    it make sense to keep ahold of the beast of burden you
22    have right here?
23  A.   I think 99 to 100 percent of the time, I
24    think they would keep the horse.  It was a valuable
25    asset.
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 1  Q.   And, generally, Arizona's located up or
 2    downstream from Mexico?
 3  A.   Generally, it's located upstream; but we do
 4    have some watercourses that flow from Mexico to the
 5    United States.  I think the Santa Cruz starts in the
 6    U.S., goes underneath, and then circles back, yeah.
 7  Q.   And if you're exploring an area you know is
 8    arid and you want to explore across multiple
 9    watersheds, would it be easier to ride a horse or use a
10    boat?
11  A.   Ride a horse.
12  Q.   How many Spanish explorers do you discuss in
13    your report?  Because I had counted five, and then I
14    heard Ms. Campbell mention ten, and it's entirely
15    possible that I can't count that much.
16  A.   And there are several others I could have
17    mentioned; Father Segesser, Father Pfefferkorn.  I
18    think I mentioned Sedelmayr only because I think I had
19    to be selective and brief, and I wanted to use the most
20    representative of those who may have had contact or
21    went beyond the Gila River at some point.  But there
22    were others, many others; many of them with German
23    names, and some of the military people, like Alejandro
24    O'Reilly and Hugo O'Conor.  It's kind of a
25    multinational frontier that are in the service of
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 1    Spain.  But I didn't mention them.
 2  Q.   Okay.  And we're getting into dangerous
 3    ground here.  I should tell you now that I had to take
 4    American Sign Language in college as my second language
 5    because my pronunciation of all languages is so bad.
 6  A.   Okay.
 7  Q.   So with that in mind, please bear with me.
 8  A.   Okay.
 9  Q.   The first Spaniard you talked about came with
10    Farfan as his biographer or his diarist, I guess?
11  A.   Oh, there was a diarist with Farfan.  Is that
12    what you're saying?
13  Q.   Yeah, yeah.  He was the diarist for --
14  A.   Diego de Luján?
15  Q.   Es --
16  A.   Or Espejo?
17  Q.   Yes.
18  A.   Espejo.
19  Q.   Espejo?
20  A.   Yeah.
21  Q.   Does that sound right?
22  A.   Yeah.  Mirror.
23  Q.   Okay.  And what was Espejo doing in Arizona?
24  A.   He was -- technically, he was illegal,
25    illegal in Arizona.  He was the person who agreed to
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 1    save two Franciscan priests who were left behind by a
 2    previous expedition.  Everyone left them, and they left
 3    them up there, and so the Franciscan Bishop, the head
 4    Franciscan in Durango, was outraged and wanted them
 5    returned.
 6        And so he was on a rescue expedition in 1583,
 7    and he took advantage of his situation and went
 8    exploring, because of the persistent rumors of myth of
 9    gold, Seven Cities of Cibola, Estrecho de Anián, what's
10    called Gran Quivira.  That was another myth.  There's a
11    variety of them.  Some of them are passageways to the
12    Orient and some of them are, in fact, supposedly
13    treasures.
14        So he went looking for them, and through
15    contact with the Hopis and others as he headed west, he
16    learned of what might be precious minerals and, thus,
17    he ends up traversing in 1583.
18  Q.   Where did he end up finding the guys he was
19    looking for?
20  A.   He ended up around Jerome and traded for rugs
21    and a few things and then went back and subsequently
22    became obscure, and then unfortunately for him,
23    Oñate -- he wanted to go back and colonize, but Oñate a
24    few years later got the contract to colonize and become
25    Captain General of New Mexico.  But that was his
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 1    overall ambition, so...
 2  Q.   So he didn't find the two gentlemen he was
 3    sent to look for?
 4  A.   They were dead.
 5  Q.   Okay.
 6  A.   There was three altogether, actually.
 7  Q.   And where did he start from?
 8  A.   He started from Santa Bárbara, which is, I
 9    guess, today in Chihuahua, and it became a big silver
10    mining frontier, kind of a wild west, like the
11    Tombstone of the central corridor of the Spanish
12    advance from south to north.  And so he started there.
13    That was where they took off, and you race up the
14    Rio Grande Valley, and then he turned left.
15  Q.   And did he use any rivers on his journey?
16  A.   He did not.  He did not use any rivers.  And
17    it was pretty well-documented by the diarist, and he
18    subsequently, again, got in trouble and was rebuked.
19  Q.   How many people did he have with him?
20  A.   I think eight or nine.
21  Q.   So a relatively small --
22  A.   Small, small.
23  Q.   -- Spanish expedition?
24  A.   Yes, a small expedition.
25  Q.   Any cattle?
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 1  A.   No cattle on this one, no.
 2  Q.   And how long did he spend on the Verde?
 3  A.   I think he crossed the Verde and may have
 4    spent a matter of weeks, you know, and then came -- a
 5    matter of weeks.
 6  Q.   And you didn't find any specific description
 7    of the river from him?
 8  A.   No, there's no description of the river,
 9    other than there were rivers that they crossed, and
10    so...
11        But that was it.
12  Q.   Did you read his primary account?
13  A.   Yes, I've read it in the past, yeah.
14  Q.   A while ago?
15  A.   Yeah.  But I also take a look at the English
16    translation recently, because it was the most -- the
17    handiest.
18  Q.   And I think the next explorer you talked
19    about was Oñate?
20  A.   Juan de Oñate after -- yeah, Juan de Oñate is
21    the founder of what is now New Mexico, and he was the
22    first -- he got the contract in 1598 to colonize and
23    govern and advance the frontier.  And he was given a
24    good contract, but, again, you know, he wasn't paid.
25    He financed it.
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 1  Q.   So he was looking for settlement sites?
 2  A.   Yes, he went up to settle.  So it's a much
 3    larger force.  There are civilians, which is different
 4    than the previous expeditions up there.
 5        And so the site they went to is actually
 6    north of Santa Fe, north, oh, about 30 miles toward
 7    Taos, if you go on the road today, and it's called the
 8    San Juan Pueblo, and they called it Gaypa, G-A-Y-P-A.
 9    And then it was relocated in 1690 because he didn't
10    fulfill his contract, according to the King, and the
11    King put his own guy there and it became a royal
12    province.
13  Q.   And so how many people, approximately, did he
14    have with him?
15  A.   Probably -- he had about 100 mixed; more
16    military men, 50 to 100 military; and cattle.
17  Q.   How long did he stay on the Verde?
18  A.   He didn't stay on the Verde at all.  He went
19    in 1604.  He crossed it looking for the Sea of -- the
20    South Sea, which is really a reference to the Pacific
21    Ocean, because of communication from the natives to the
22    west.
23        And so after Farfan came back, his first --
24    the first guy he wanted to take a look at and was
25    unsuccessful, by 1604 he's getting kind of desperate,
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 1    because there was no gold or silver, mineral, and New
 2    Mexico was -- I think today is the 44th state that was
 3    poor in natural resources.  And so he went to try to
 4    save his charge, and was unsuccessful, but he did try
 5    to get to the South Sea, as they called it, and he got
 6    to the Colorado River and saw it.
 7  Q.   Do you know where, approximately, he crossed
 8    the Verde?
 9  A.   Often the passageway was along the Gila.
10    They went south and used the Gila, because there's
11    water, so they --
12  Q.   Where did he cross the Verde, though?
13  A.   Oh, he crossed the Verde close to where
14    Clarkdale would be, between Camp Verde and where
15    Clarkdale is.
16  Q.   And did he leave any records about what he
17    saw when he crossed the Verde?
18  A.   No.  It was just an obstacle to travel, so he
19    crossed.
20  Q.   And then we have Kino, who only saw the river
21    sort of from far away?
22  A.   Yeah.  Yeah, I think that's --
23  Q.   And then Nentvig?
24  A.   Nentvig, yes.  Yeah, one of the later
25    Jesuits.
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 1  Q.   And what was his purpose in Arizona?
 2  A.   He was there to consolidate all the
 3    information.  He was a missionary, but many of these
 4    missionaries wore several hats, like Kino, and he
 5    produced a pretty scholarly volume.
 6        And I'll look up Rudo Ensayo and it is a real
 7    solid laundry list of the natural resources, the
 8    mountain ranges, the people, the vegetation, the
 9    animals, and what was there.  It's what Americans did
10    in the 19th century, and if you read William
11    Geotzmann's Exploration and Empire, which won the
12    Pulitzer Prize in '67 -- and he didn't even get tenure
13    at Yale; geez. -- but that's a great account of
14    America's scientific dimension to study.
15        So he was an early-day kind of scientist, in
16    a way, and evaluated what was there.
17  Q.   Sort of an early version of the great surveys
18    of the American West?
19  A.   There you go.  Yeah.  Agreed.
20  Q.   So how long did he spend on the Verde?
21  A.   No time on the Verde.
22  Q.   Okay.  So we don't have a description from
23    him of the Verde yet?
24  A.   No.  That it was there, and he relied on
25    previous descriptions of it.
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 1  Q.   Which basically said there's this river?
 2  A.   There's this river.
 3  Q.   All right.  And then -- oh, boy -- Sedelmayr?
 4  A.   Sedelmayr, yeah.
 5  Q.   Okay.
 6  A.   The Father of the Papago, according to John
 7    Francis Bannon, but now that term is not used.  Papago
 8    actually is kind of, I think, bean-eaters, Papábotas.
 9    But, you know, their name has changed.  But he did a
10    lot of work among those people and was a very astute,
11    religious Jesuit.
12  Q.   So his focus was really down around Tucson?
13  A.   Yes, and that's about as far as -- I think I
14    said before, that's about as far as, I think, they got
15    advancing the frontier.
16  Q.   Okay.  So that's five.
17        The other five folks that I failed to count,
18    did any of them spend time on the Verde?
19  A.   No, none of them did.
20  Q.   And even those who did, they're sort of
21    pictures of a river at a particular point in time; they
22    didn't settle on the Verde; they didn't spend a lot of
23    time there?
24  A.   That's correct.
25  Q.   Did the early Spanish bring ships up the
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 1    Colorado?
 2  A.   There was seafaring expeditions, yes.
 3  Q.   What years?
 4  A.   The 1580s was when they realized that that
 5    was a significant watercourse.  But in terms of
 6    establishing a settlement there, it wasn't until 1781.
 7    Father Garcés, after he had led the expedition in 1776,
 8    colonizing what is Monterey and San Francisco, they
 9    lent people from Tucson, and they went overland and all
10    that, and then they came back and tried to make a
11    settlement, but the Yumans, they massacred them in
12    1781.  So there was an attempt later on in the Spanish
13    period.
14  Q.   And they actually sailed oceangoing vessels
15    up the Colorado?
16  A.   They tried, yes, with some success but not
17    very much.
18  Q.   Is it possible that a navigable river existed
19    in the area explored by the Spanish and they chose, for
20    some reason, not to boat it?
21  A.   I can't answer that one.  I'm trying to
22    think.  Is it possible?
23  Q.   Well, I think you said that if you've got a
24    horse --
25  A.   Yeah.
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 1  Q.   -- you're not going to turn him loose.
 2  A.   Yeah.
 3  Q.   You're not going to put him in a canoe or a
 4    flatboat.
 5  A.   Yeah, it just doesn't seem that they did.
 6  Q.   Okay.  You quote Manje on Page 7 of your
 7    report.
 8  A.   Manje, yeah, his name is Manje.
 9  Q.   Manje, thank you.
10        In that quote, the small stream that he's
11    referring to is the White and Black Rivers, not the
12    Verde, correct?
13        Can you turn to Page 7 of your report?
14  A.   Well, okay, yeah.  Yeah, I'm thinking.
15  Q.   Can you turn to Page 7?  It's not
16    horrifically clear, but I think he's talking about the
17    headwaters of the Salt.
18  A.   "This Salado River runs from east to west and
19    to the south of the Verde River and they merge, as I
20    have said.  To the very end and to the most easterly
21    point of this Pimería there are also two rivers called,
22    more properly, arroyos or small streams."
23        That's what the sentence says in Spanish and
24    in the translation, so I can't speculate if it was the
25    White and the Red River.  I don't think you could see
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 1    it from the top of the White and the Black River; I
 2    don't think you could see it from Estrella Mountain.
 3  Q.   So do you think the small stream he's talking
 4    about is the Verde?
 5  A.   No, I think -- no.
 6        "Of the Verde River and they merge, as I have
 7    said."
 8        No, not talking -- those two small streams
 9    are not the Verde.
10  Q.   Okay.  Did any of the Spanish observers cited
11    in your report make any statements about the
12    navigability of the Verde?
13        I understand that you've taken from their
14    lack of statements --
15  A.   Yeah.
16  Q.   -- an implication, but did they say anything?
17  A.   No, they did not asssertively say anything.
18        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Joy, can we take a
19    break here?
20        MS. HERNBRODE: I would love to.
21        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Thank you.
22        Fifteen.
23        (A recess was taken from 3:30 p.m. to
24        3:45 p.m.)
25        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Let's have it.
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 1        BY MS. HERNBRODE: 
 2  Q.   All right.  You talk a lot about the lack of
 3    accurate maps of the Verde in your report.
 4  A.   Yes.
 5  Q.   Was the technology available at that time,
 6    did that make it a little bit difficult to have an
 7    accurate map?
 8  A.   Sure.  Cartographers of the 17th and
 9    18th Century also had to have, maybe, an artistic flare
10    or another ability to get perspective and meaning.  So
11    there's a lack of technology, it's an accurate
12    statement.  There was a lack of technology, correct.
13  Q.   You didn't have the aerial overflights, so if
14    you didn't see it yourself, you were pretty much
15    guessing?
16  A.   That's correct.
17  Q.   Was there any other reason other than the
18    lack of accurate maps that you conclude the Spanish
19    felt the Verde was nonnavigable?
20  A.   Were there other reasons?
21  Q.   Yes.
22  A.   I think so.  I think that's just one point
23    that I found striking to the map, the map section.  You
24    know, and I'm, frankly, pretty puzzled by it.  I was
25    very surprised that some of the maps, even in the late
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 1    19th Century, after 1850, let's say, that they were off
 2    until they -- they finally got it right, but that took
 3    time.
 4  Q.   And you have actually looked at the maps
 5    created by the various Spanish explorers?
 6  A.   Yes, and they're available in a variety of
 7    texts and others, other sources.  And today, I think,
 8    you know, with digitizing, they're becoming more
 9    available to the general public.
10  Q.   Have you looked at them recently?
11  A.   Not recently; but after this proceeding I'm
12    going to look at every one of them carefully, other
13    than these that I looked at from the Rumsey collection.
14  Q.   You should probably quit angling to come back
15    to this hearing.
16  A.   Oh, not this one.  No, I just know this is
17    going to go on, so...
18  Q.   Do you recall if those maps showed a single
19    or multiple channels of the Verde?
20  A.   No, I don't.  I don't recall.
21  Q.   Do you recall if they showed any marshes?
22  A.   No.
23  Q.   And you didn't include copies of those maps
24    in your report?
25  A.   No, no visuals for this.
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 1  Q.   Would it be fair to say that none of the
 2    accounts you're aware of of the Spanish talked about
 3    the Verde in any detail or described using boats on the
 4    river?
 5  A.   That's correct.
 6  Q.   All right.  Let's move on to mountain men.
 7  A.   Yeah, Taos Trappers, yeah.
 8  Q.   You referenced David Weber's Taos Trappers,
 9    correct?
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   Did you look at anything else from Mr. Weber?
12  A.   Yes.  I looked at his works, The Spanish in
13    North America and The Mexican Frontier in the
14    Southwest.  He has two big volumes that are large
15    syntheses of the period.  I think that grew out of his
16    doctoral dissertation at the University of New Mexico.
17  Q.   And The Taos Trapper doesn't talk a lot about
18    trappers who were in Arizona, does it?
19  A.   Not too much.
20  Q.   It's primarily focused on, really, the
21    aspects of trade that were happening in New Mexico?
22  A.   That's correct.
23  Q.   What accounts of trappers did you look at
24    from folks who were operating in Arizona?  It sounds
25    like you looked at the Pattie account.
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 1  A.   Pattie, Ewing Young.  Tom Sheridan has done a
 2    nice job of synthesizing that, that period, and so I
 3    relied on Dr. Sheridan's Arizona:  A History, which is,
 4    I think, recognized generally as the authoritative
 5    source; and he relies on that and other accounts as
 6    well.
 7  Q.   Did you look at, I believe, Kit Carson left
 8    some records?
 9  A.   Yeah, I've looked at Kit Carson's work, and
10    there's been some biographies on Kit Carson, and I've
11    seen that before, and I'm actually looking at it in
12    another proceeding.
13  Q.   Kit didn't actually write stuff himself, did
14    he?
15  A.   No.
16  Q.   He had ghostwrites?
17  A.   Many people had ghostwrites, yes, including
18    Pattie.
19  Q.   And did he keep notes?
20  A.   He was not known as a notorious notetaker,
21    because he moved constantly.  He appears in the Navajo
22    frontier in 1868 burning peach trees.  I mean he is
23    kind of a utility person in furthering the westward
24    expansion.
25  Q.   And for Ewing Young, he left some
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 1    correspondence, but not really a diary either, correct?
 2  A.   No, no diary, no.
 3  Q.   But Mr. Dye, who traveled with him, kept a
 4    diary?
 5  A.   Evidently, yes.  I've heard about that, yes,
 6    but I have not looked at it.  I've not looked at that
 7    source.
 8  Q.   Okay.  The beaver trappers operating in
 9    Arizona generally came from Taos or Santa Fe, correct?
10  A.   Yeah, immediately, yes.
11  Q.   And that's over the Continental Divide from
12    the Verde?
13  A.   Correct.
14  Q.   So there's no river that runs between the
15    two?
16  A.   No, there's not.
17  Q.   And even if there were, it would have been a
18    little harder to disguise where they were going if they
19    were taking a water route, correct?
20  A.   Yes, and oftentimes that was necessary to
21    disguise where they were going.  They sometimes took
22    off north or northeast to disguise where they were
23    going.
24  Q.   Were trappers and mountain men operating in
25    the American West generally literate?
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 1  A.   No, that would be the exception to the rule.
 2  Q.   We don't have a lot of accounts from trappers
 3    operating anywhere in the west?
 4  A.   That's correct.  There's a paucity of
 5    material.
 6  Q.   There's a fair amount of material for
 7    trappers who were part of the big operations operating
 8    out of St. Louis and places like that?
 9  A.   Yes, and even Astoria in Oregon, there's some
10    good work on that, but that didn't seem relevant here.
11  Q.   Taos didn't have that kind of one big company
12    that controlled everybody and really kept track of
13    things?
14  A.   No.  In many ways, Taos kind of reflects the
15    essence of American expansion, which was individual
16    freedom and initiative.
17  Q.   I think you said in the 1820s through 1848 or
18    so, it wasn't legal for Arizonans to trap in Arizona?
19  A.   Americans, you mean?
20  Q.   Yes.
21  A.   Yes, with some exceptions, like saving the
22    Governor's wife and her daughter and things of that
23    nature, but -- and more often than not, you know, they
24    were skirting the law.  They were viewed with
25    suspicion, yes.
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 1  Q.   You could sometimes get a license if you took
 2    a Spanish or Mexican citizen with you?
 3  A.   That's correct, yes.
 4  Q.   But most of them didn't bother to do that?
 5  A.   Of course not.  No, they did not.
 6  Q.   Were trappers generally protective of their
 7    methods and trapping locations?
 8  A.   Yes, they were, like miners.
 9  Q.   Particularly if they could be prosecuted by
10    Spanish or Mexican authorities for being there?
11  A.   Correct.
12  Q.   Have you reviewed the Spanish or Mexican
13    records to see if they list any other trapping
14    expeditions on the Verde?
15  A.   For this proceeding, no, but that would be
16    something I would certainly do in the future.
17  Q.   You think it would be a good idea to look at
18    those records?
19  A.   Oh, yeah.  I kind of can't wait.
20  Q.   So the first trapper who left us at least a
21    widely distributed account is James Ohio Pattie?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   And he does record a couple of times where he
24    uses a canoe on the Gila and on the Colorado?
25  A.   I believe that's in there.  I wonder --
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 1    again, it's a source that I questioned, given the
 2    exaggeration, so I would question that.
 3  Q.   You question that he used a canoe to trap?
 4  A.   Yes, and a variety of other things that he
 5    asserts in that book.
 6  Q.   Okay.  Well, did other trappers in the West
 7    commonly use a canoe?
 8  A.   Depending on where they were, but I think in
 9    the West, in this region, no.
10  Q.   Do you have any expertise in trapping?
11  A.   No, I don't.  Oh, God.
12  Q.   Is Pattie's account a day-by-day account of
13    what happened every day?
14  A.   Pretty much not.  It's impressionistic, and,
15    again, the audience was the East Coast urban areas and
16    to generate money; and Timothy Flint, who wrote it, was
17    a skillful writer.
18  Q.   And the other sources you mentioned, they
19    don't record the sort of day-by-day events --
20  A.   No.
21  Q.   -- of a trapping expedition?
22  A.   But it would be great to have that material.
23  Q.   Do you recall Pattie saying on the Colorado
24    they made boats, they made dugout canoes?
25  A.   I don't recall that, but I would have to
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 1    review the material again.
 2  Q.   Okay.  Would it help you if I told you they
 3    made dugout canoes after their horses were stolen?
 4    Does that help you place that in the story?
 5  A.   That would help me place it, that would help
 6    me place it in the story, yes.
 7  Q.   Would you agree that, likely, there were
 8    hundreds of trappers operating in Arizona?
 9  A.   Hundreds, I wouldn't agree with that.
10  Q.   How many?
11  A.   20 to 30, my guest guesstimate.
12  Q.   Would you agree that trapping was dangerous?
13  A.   I would agree that trapping was dangerous.
14  Q.   You could end up being killed by other
15    trappers?
16  A.   Other trappers, indigenous groups that were
17    resentful.
18  Q.   The wildlife?
19  A.   The wildlife could.  Well, perhaps, yes, the
20    wildlife.  I know the Piipaash people.  Yeah, there
21    were some tribes that didn't want the Anglos here, and
22    wildlife could do it as well, yes.
23  Q.   Bears?
24  A.   Bears.
25  Q.   Mountain lions?
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 1  A.   Mountain lions.  Yikes.
 2  Q.   Oh, my.
 3        Your take on it is because Pattie didn't
 4    specifically say he used a canoe on the Verde, that no
 5    one in his party did?
 6  A.   I'm not saying that.  There's just no
 7    evidence that I've seen that anyone else used a canoe,
 8    and I was looking for it.
 9  Q.   He doesn't say he did?
10  A.   He doesn't say, yeah.
11  Q.   But you don't believe Pattie's memoir is
12    particularly accurate?
13  A.   Not particularly accurate is a good way to
14    put it.  I think it's impressionistic.
15  Q.   Okay.  And how about the accounts left by
16    Carson and Young and Dye?
17  A.   I think they're in the same category; that
18    there's some truth or factual information that
19    generated a good story and a fanciful retelling of
20    events.
21  Q.   Would it be more likely for them to
22    exaggerate things like Indian encounters?  I guess
23    today we might call them -- we might say that they sort
24    of exaggerate their adrenaline junky activities.
25  A.   I agree with that.
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 1  Q.   Okay.  So they're less likely to exaggerate
 2    day-to-day activities?
 3  A.   I can't say that, but that's something I
 4    would have to do some research, further research on, to
 5    make a statement like that.
 6  Q.   Okay.
 7  A.   Yeah.
 8  Q.   But certainly the encounters with a bear or
 9    with a hostile tribe or something like that, those may
10    be certainly blown up?
11  A.   I think that's a good assumption.  I think
12    it's an accurate assumption.
13  Q.   Or if you rescued the Governor's daughter --
14  A.   Yeah.
15  Q.   -- rather than some poor --
16  A.   Yeah.
17  Q.   -- lass?
18  A.   Yeah.
19  Q.   I would like to talk a little bit about some
20    later trappers on the Verde, and you talked about them
21    in your direct a little bit.  We'll start with the Day
22    brothers in 1891 and 1892.
23  A.   Okay.
24  Q.   And, Debi, if you could pull up No. 3, which
25    is X001-18.
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 1        This is the easiest-to-read version of this
 2    event.  The newspaper is a little difficult.
 3        Does it indicate they trapped the entire
 4    Verde in a boat that they built?
 5  A.   Does it indicate they trapped the entire
 6    Verde.
 7  Q.   Well, from Camp Verde down to the confluence
 8    with the Salt.
 9  A.   That was my reading of it, yes.
10  Q.   In a boat that they had built themselves?
11  A.   Yes.
12  Q.   And then how did they get back upriver when
13    they were finished?
14  A.   I believe they took a train.  Am I not
15    mistaken?
16  Q.   Yeah, right down there at the bottom.
17  A.   Yeah, yeah.
18  Q.   And they didn't record any difficulty on any
19    of the rivers they talked about?
20  A.   Yes.  It's a rather brief description.
21  Q.   Okay.  And you weren't here when Mr. Fuller
22    testified about the Verde, so you didn't hear him say
23    that he thought the 800-mile figure seemed fairly high,
24    correct?
25  A.   No, I was not here for that, no.
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 1  Q.   The Day brothers didn't have a GPS?
 2  A.   They did not.
 3  Q.   Do you know if J.K. had family in Phoenix?
 4  A.   I do not.
 5  Q.   Does trapping take a little time?
 6  A.   Trapping might take some time, yes, it does.
 7  Q.   Do you know that Mr. Day actually became one
 8    of our first wildlife officers in Arizona?
 9  A.   I did not know that.
10  Q.   Do you think any part of this account is made
11    up?
12  A.   This is the first time this morning I read
13    it, and I would like to really review it and come to a
14    conclusion that would be accurate, for me.
15  Q.   Well, right.  I understand that the distance
16    traveled is off.
17  A.   That's -- yes.
18  Q.   Is it possible that they traveled up some
19    tributaries and back down trapping, and so added that
20    into their distance?
21  A.   Well, it doesn't say that there, so I can't
22    speak to that.
23  Q.   Is it possible, though?
24  A.   Yes.  Yeah, it is.
25  Q.   Is it possible that without a GPS, they had a
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 1    little hard time accurately estimating how far they
 2    traveled?
 3  A.   That's a fair assumption, yes.
 4  Q.   And is it possible that the boosterism of the
 5    newspaper in Yuma thought 800 miles sounded like a
 6    better figure than whatever the Day brothers reported?
 7  A.   If it's 800 miles to Yuma, I don't know if
 8    that's very inviting.  But I was just thinking about
 9    it.
10  Q.   I guess it depends on your perspective.
11  A.   Yeah, because I think I may have to take a
12    long trip.
13  Q.   Careful, I was born there.
14  A.   No, my brother lives there.
15  Q.   Does any of this article strike you as the
16    kind of community boosterism that you would expect a
17    newspaper to exaggerate?
18  A.   Yes, it does.  You know, I think it's a
19    colorful.  Is it feel-good?  Maybe feel-good.  I would
20    still have to really take a look at it line by line,
21    but I think boosterism is one aspect of it.
22  Q.   Some of the other newspaper articles that we
23    looked at in other cases sort of emphasize the rapids
24    and the excitingness of the trip and things like that.
25    This doesn't do that?
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 1  A.   No.  It talks about the color, the beaver,
 2    patience, remuneration.  I mean that's --
 3  Q.   Five trips?
 4  A.   Five trips, it talks about that.  I can't
 5    speak to that.  I haven't seen any evidence of five
 6    trips, but that's what that says.
 7  Q.   And you think that might be boosterism?
 8  A.   It certainly could be.  It could be
 9    boosterism, yes.
10  Q.   Okay.  Let's then talk about a gentleman
11    named Fogal and his friend, who did a trapping trip in
12    1931.
13        Debi, could you bring up 4?
14  A.   Okay.
15  Q.   And they traveled from Clarkdale to Fort
16    McDowell using a flat-bottom boat.  Have you seen this?
17  A.   I have not seen it.  This is the first time.
18  Q.   Actually, it sort of falls off the bottom of
19    the screen a little bit there.  I'll give you a moment
20    to read it.
21  A.   Okay.
22        I guess my only question of what I read there
23    is it's 1931, and I haven't -- I didn't consider that.
24  Q.   I understand you haven't looked at it, but I
25    mean these are a pair of guys who were doing the same
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 1    kind of activities that we're talking about --
 2  A.   Correct.
 3  Q.   -- on the same river.
 4  A.   Okay.  Agreed.
 5  Q.   A river that might be a little more difficult
 6    to navigate, in fact, by 1931?
 7  A.   That's a good assumption.
 8  Q.   So in 1931, were newspapers prone to the same
 9    kind of boosterism?
10  A.   I think there is dialing back by 1931,
11    especially, during The Depression, I'm sure.  This is a
12    feel-good story and an interesting story.
13  Q.   So if the Day brothers could trap on the
14    Verde using a boat and Fogal and his friend could trap
15    on the Verde using a boat and lots of people use a boat
16    on the Verde today, why couldn't other trappers do it?
17  A.   Well, as I said earlier, I have not seen any
18    evidence during the period under discussion of that.
19  Q.   You haven't seen anybody say "I used a boat
20    on the Verde"?
21  A.   I have not seen that, either in Spanish or in
22    English.
23  Q.   You also didn't hear anybody say "I couldn't
24    use a boat on the Verde"?
25  A.   I have not heard that either.
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 1  Q.   The Verde's been known by a bunch of
 2    different names?
 3  A.   Yes.
 4        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Green.
 5        BY MS. HERNBRODE: 
 6  Q.   What names?
 7  A.   Oh, boy.  I would have to go back, but it's
 8    here in this report.
 9  Q.   You named a couple.  The San Francisco,
10    the --
11  A.   San Francisco.  The --
12  Q.   Rio Azul?
13  A.   Rio Azul, Blau Fluss.  A couple, yes.
14  Q.   So if you were looking for historic
15    information about the Verde, you should probably look
16    for all of those names?
17  A.   One would do that, yes.
18  Q.   Does the Verde flow through relatively rugged
19    terrain?
20  A.   In Segments 4 and 5, I would say moderate
21    compared to some of the other, you know, segments of
22    the river.
23  Q.   Above that, much more rugged?
24  A.   Yes, I would say that.
25  Q.   And is the area around the Verde, even today,
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 1    relatively unpopulated?
 2  A.   Comparatively to other areas in Arizona.
 3  Q.   There weren't a lot of settlers and explorers
 4    in the area?
 5  A.   Not too many.
 6  Q.   Are you aware of U.S. Supreme Court cases
 7    that say that just because a river is unexplored or
 8    unused, that it's not necessarily nonnavigable?
 9  A.   I have heard that referenced in this
10    proceeding.
11  Q.   Do you know what the Euro-American population
12    along the Verde was between the 1840s and 1880s?
13  A.   The Euro-American, 1840, 1880s.  I would
14    suspect -- let me think about it.
15        No more than 1,000, I think, individuals.
16  Q.   And did the Apache aggressively resist
17    incursions into the Verde watershed up to the 1800s, up
18    through the 1800s?
19  A.   Yeah, up to the middle part of the
20    19th Century, and before that, much more -- well, quite
21    vigorously, depending on what you read.
22  Q.   Are you familiar with what's been called the
23    Oatman Massacre on the Gila River?
24  A.   Yes.  Olive Oatman, yes, I'm familiar with
25    it.  Haven't scrutinized it lately.
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 1  Q.   Do you know what year that was?
 2  A.   1857?  I mean I picked that out.  When was
 3    it?
 4  Q.   I think 1851.
 5  A.   '51.  Close, yeah.
 6  Q.   That sound okay?
 7  A.   Yeah, that sounds about right, yeah.
 8  Q.   Can you tell us a little bit about what
 9    happened there?
10  A.   From my recollection, the group the Mojaves,
11    I believe it was the Mojave Tribe, murdered the family,
12    and they kept Olive, and there's a famous picture of
13    her with tattoos from her mouth to her jaw.  But I did
14    not do any research into that for this proceeding.
15  Q.   Killed off the family?
16  A.   Yeah.
17  Q.   Took the two sisters --
18  A.   Yeah.
19  Q.   -- captive?
20  A.   Correct.
21  Q.   And they were traded around a little bit?
22  A.   They were traded around a little bit, yes.
23  Q.   And I believe, was the Mojave a Pai Tribe?
24  A.   Pai Tribe, yes.
25  Q.   Okay.  So related to the Yavapai?
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 1  A.   Yavapai, yeah.
 2  Q.   So it wasn't just the Apache people and it
 3    wasn't just in the 1860s that the native people in
 4    Arizona were resisting settlement of their territories?
 5  A.   No.  No, there was active resistance, yes.
 6  Q.   Do you know when the railroads appeared in
 7    the Verde Valley?
 8  A.   Are you talking about the Prescott Stage from
 9    Prescott to Ash Fork?
10  Q.   I believe that was the first one.
11  A.   Yeah, that was the first one.  It's in the
12    1880s.
13  Q.   Were mapmakers, either the military or the
14    Spanish mapmakers or the military mapmakers, trained in
15    assessing navigability?
16  A.   No.
17  Q.   They didn't apply The Daniel Ball test?
18  A.   They did not know about it, no.
19  Q.   Okay.  And you didn't look at the work of
20    federal surveyors for your report?
21  A.   Not this time, for this, yeah.
22  Q.   Okay.
23  A.   But I think, was that covered by
24    Dr. Littlefield?
25  Q.   Dr. Littlefield.
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 1  A.   Yes.  Yes, so I didn't want to be redundant.
 2  Q.   Why were the Fort McDowell and Fort Verde
 3    posts established?
 4  A.   For protection, military protection, of the
 5    increasing civilian population in this territory.
 6  Q.   The native peoples were fairly successfully
 7    resisting our incursion into the territory?
 8  A.   That's correct, up until 1865, certainly, and
 9    thus the establishment of several -- that had been
10    discussed throughout the territory, particularly
11    Central Arizona.
12  Q.   Now, Ms. Summerhayes came to Arizona in 1874;
13    is that correct?
14  A.   That's correct.
15  Q.   Okay.  So she was -- her husband was
16    stationed at Fort McDowell in 1877, does that sound
17    about right?
18  A.   Right around there.  She spent some time at
19    Fort Apache and then they came down.
20  Q.   Were they ever stationed at Fort Verde, or
21    did they just pass through?
22  A.   They were stationed there for a time, about a
23    year, from my recollection in reading the book.
24  Q.   And how long were they stationed at Fort
25    McDowell?
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 1  A.   Oh, Fort McDowell?  I think about one year,
 2    if I'm not mistaken.  I would have to go back and take
 3    a look at the account.
 4  Q.   They moved around a lot?
 5  A.   They moved around, yeah.  They moved to Fort
 6    Yuma and around.
 7  Q.   Okay.  So I thought you said you weren't
 8    going to testify about stuff after 1866, and I know I
 9    went to law school to avoid math, but 1877 is well
10    after that.
11  A.   Oh, I understand.  Sure.  It was
12    transportation, rugged transportation, so that jumped
13    out, yes.
14  Q.   So she wasn't there for the 1883 trip by
15    Willcox and Andrews in a canvas skiff from Fort
16    McDowell to Barnum's Pier on the Salt River Canal?
17  A.   She was not there.
18  Q.   She was not there when Major Spaulding and
19    Captain Hatfield departed for Phoenix in 1888?
20  A.   No, she was not.  Didn't know about it.
21  Q.   Didn't get to wave at the Day brothers going
22    by in 1891?
23  A.   No, she didn't.
24  Q.   Didn't see the lumber intended to float on
25    the Verde in 1894?
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 1  A.   She did not.
 2  Q.   And she certainly missed the 1931 trip of
 3    Fogal and his friend?
 4  A.   Doubtlessly.
 5  Q.   Okay.  When were the roads built by the
 6    military?  You talked about military roads this
 7    morning, or this afternoon, I guess.
 8  A.   1865 to 1870.  Stoneman Road, 1870, and then
 9    the Stoneman Grade also began in 1870.
10  Q.   And that road went?  Refresh me.
11  A.   The first one, the Stoneman Road, went from
12    Fort Whipple to Fort McDowell; and Stoneman Grade went
13    from, roughly, Fort McDowell to what's now called, I
14    think, Picketpost at the base of Picketpost Mountain in
15    Superior; and then from there, from Picketpost, it went
16    up that grade.  It was called Stoneman Grade.  It was
17    very difficult.  You still see remnants of it.
18  Q.   Did Ms. Summerhayes travel by boat on the
19    Colorado?
20  A.   I think she did, yes.
21  Q.   Did she describe that as a pleasant
22    experience?
23  A.   She described it as not a very pleasant
24    experience.
25  Q.   Pretty horrifying?
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 1  A.   Pretty horrifying in the summer, yes.
 2  Q.   And she noted a lot of details about how she
 3    got to Fort McDowell.  Did she record details of how
 4    other military people traveled in the area?
 5  A.   That was an autobiographical account.
 6  Q.   Did she say anywhere affirmatively that the
 7    Verde was not used for navigation?
 8  A.   She did not say affirmatively that the Verde
 9    wasn't used for navigation.
10  Q.   So when you say on Page 14 of your report
11    that military commanders never used the Verde, you mean
12    they didn't use the Verde while transporting
13    Ms. Summerhayes at least?
14  A.   Not specifically that.  I think that's -- the
15    records that I've seen, they have not navigated -- they
16    were not navigating the Verde, from what I've seen.
17    And Ms. Summerhayes, again, that was just an example of
18    the difficulty of traveling through Arizona, whether it
19    was 1860 or whatever her account was, 1874.
20  Q.   She's the only one that you talk about in
21    your military section, her and Smith?
22  A.   Smith, yes.
23  Q.   Old Y.T.
24  A.   Old Y.T.
25  Q.   Did she mention, in her passages about Fort
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 1    Verde, the boat that was located there?
 2  A.   Did she mention?  Did I mention or did she
 3    mention?
 4  Q.   Did she mention?
 5  A.   She did not mention it.
 6  Q.   Does Ms. Summerhayes talk about swimming in
 7    the Verde?
 8  A.   In that account, I don't believe she talks
 9    about swimming.  I'm not really sure, though.
10  Q.   In her book, at all?
11  A.   In her book.  In her book, yeah.
12  Q.   Let's pull up 6, which is X017-99, which is
13    Page 207 of Vanished Arizona.
14  A.   So does she talk about swimming there?  If
15    she does, I had forgotten.
16  Q.   Last paragraph, about halfway down.
17        She talks about teaching somebody else to
18    swim there.
19  A.   Okay, yeah.  I had forgotten that anecdote.
20  Q.   So, clearly, there were places on the Verde
21    that were deep enough that you had to swim in the area
22    of Fort McDowell?
23  A.   One could infer that.
24  Q.   And then you talk about John Y.T. Smith, and
25    Mr. Smith established a hay camp along the Salt to
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 1    supply hay to Fort McDowell?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   And Fort McDowell is upstream from the Salt
 4    River, where he established his hay camp?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   Hay is a pretty bulky kind of thing to
 7    transport?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   It doesn't do well if it gets wet?
10  A.   It does not.
11  Q.   In your opinion, is the Colorado River
12    navigable?
13  A.   I believe it's been found navigable by the
14    courts, and so --
15  Q.   And you wouldn't disagree with the courts?
16  A.   I'm not going to disagree with the courts,
17    no.
18  Q.   How about the Mississippi?
19  A.   I think I would agree.
20  Q.   Do roads run along either one of these
21    rivers?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   On Page 13 of your report, you state that
24    "Fort McDowell could not raise sufficient crops to
25    sustain the men, their families, and their livestock so
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 1    innovative entrepreneurs began to branch out."
 2        And there's no citation for that; but then
 3    when you testified, you talked about the fact that the
 4    military was sort of pressured into seeking civilian
 5    contractors rather than raising the food for
 6    themselves.
 7  A.   Yeah.
 8  Q.   Is that what you were talking about in that
 9    sentence?
10  A.   Yeah, that there was protests from the local
11    population that the military should be fighting the
12    Indians, and so there was an adjustment about
13    the canal.  Well, the canal was dug by order of General
14    McDowell and then -- basically, to try to sustain the
15    military operation there, and then there were protests,
16    and it was parcelled out to private sector individuals.
17  Q.   So it wasn't really they couldn't raise
18    sufficient crops; it's just it was politically
19    expedient not to raise sufficient crops?
20  A.   Yeah, they had other issues that they wanted
21    to address, and so that was the path of least
22    resistance for that outpost.
23  Q.   Do you know who Dr. Edgar Mearns is?
24  A.   I think he was associated with the Fort
25    McDowell.
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 1  Q.   He was actually stationed at Fort Verde.
 2  A.   Fort Verde?  Okay.
 3  Q.   Between 1884 and 1888?
 4  A.   I remember reading something about him, yes.
 5  Q.   Was he the post surgeon and a naturalist?
 6  A.   I think, yes.
 7  Q.   Is that a common overlap at that time?
 8  A.   Yes.  Yeah, there were individuals posted
 9    that were like that.  I can think of one in Southern
10    Arizona at Fort Lowell, but I can't think of his name
11    right now.  And, again, I didn't look at that post as
12    opposed to Fort McDowell.
13  Q.   And, in fact, many of the great naturalists
14    of the 1800s were doctors?
15  A.   Correct.
16  Q.   Vandeveer Hayden, for instance, who ran --
17  A.   Yes.
18  Q.   -- one of the Great Surveys?
19  A.   Yes.
20  Q.   Was there a similar doctor or naturalist at
21    Fort McDowell?
22  A.   I'm not aware.  I don't know.
23  Q.   Did you look at the records for the Fort?
24  A.   I did not look at the records for the Fort
25    specifically for this proceeding.


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Page 2494


 1  Q.   I would like to talk a little bit about the
 2    infamous two guys in a boat photo --
 3  A.   Okay.
 4  Q.   -- that I think you still have up there.
 5  A.   Yeah, sure.
 6  Q.   X035-167, Page 110.
 7        Do you have any reason to disagree with other
 8    experts' opinions of the location of this photo?
 9  A.   I don't have any reason to disagree with the
10    location.
11  Q.   Do you have any doubts about the date on this
12    photo, at least the approximate date of this photo.
13  A.   I think the approximate date.  It looks like
14    the late 19th Century.
15  Q.   I see from your CV, you have some exposure to
16    the Colorado River through Grand Canyon?
17  A.   Some.
18  Q.   Are you familiar with the boating history of
19    Grand Canyon?
20  A.   I am not familiar with that dimension of its
21    history.
22  Q.   You know who John Wesley Powell was?
23  A.   I do.
24  Q.   Do you know what kind of boats he used in
25    Grand Canyon?
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 1  A.   I saw images of them in this proceeding, yes.
 2  Q.   But you don't know their cargo capacity or
 3    draft?
 4  A.   I don't know those things.
 5  Q.   You would say those would be a boat that
 6    would be available for commercial purposes at the time
 7    of Arizona's statehood, as well --
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   -- as the ones we talked about earlier --
10  A.   Yes.
11  Q.   -- the canoes and flatboats and things like
12    that?
13  A.   Yes.  I would think so, yes.
14  Q.   I'm trying to keep from us overlapping,
15    because I'm getting dirty looks over here.
16  A.   Okay.  I'm sorry.
17  Q.   Would you characterize Mr. Powell's use of
18    the river as a commercial use?
19  A.   No, I would characterize it as a scientific
20    survey.
21  Q.   He was being paid a salary to boat down the
22    river, was he not?
23  A.   Is that commerce along the river?  That's for
24    you -- I think for the attorneys to decide.  I mean I
25    really can't --
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 1  Q.   You don't have an opinion?
 2  A.   I don't have an opinion on that, no.
 3  Q.   Okay.
 4        Do you know who the Kolb brothers were?
 5  A.   Yes, photographers in the canyon, yes.
 6  Q.   Are you familiar with the boats they used in
 7    Grand Canyon?
 8  A.   I'm not familiar with the boats they used.
 9  Q.   Okay.  Do you have a standard for
10    navigability?
11  A.   I do not.
12  Q.   I would like to talk a little bit about the
13    historical records of boating we have for the Verde,
14    and I know you didn't include them because they
15    occurred after the dates you were focused on.
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   And I think we've already talked about the
18    Day brothers in Segments 2 through 5 and Fogal and his
19    friend in those same segments.
20        Let's look at the record we have for Willcox
21    and Andrews in Segment 5, which is No. 8, and it is
22    X017-122.
23  A.   Okay, I've read it.
24  Q.   Okay.  These guys didn't seem to have --
25    didn't report any difficulties in their journey?
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 1  A.   It appears not.
 2  Q.   Okay.  And then I'm not going to bring back
 3    up the infamous photo of the guys in the boat, but they
 4    apparently used a boat on the Verde?
 5  A.   Apparently.  They're there.
 6  Q.   And then we have Major Spaulding and Captain
 7    Hatfield in a canoe in 1888, also in Segment 5.
 8        This is X017-123, and it's 10, please, Debi.
 9        I'll give you a minute to read this.
10  A.   I'm going to have to get up.
11  Q.   And there's a copy, actually, in the
12    notebooks there next to you.
13  A.   Oh, good.  Yeah.
14  Q.   I'll find the page --
15  A.   What page, yeah?
16  Q.   -- or the tab --
17  A.   Tab.
18  Q.   -- for you will be 6.
19  A.   6?  Okay.  One, two, three?
20  Q.   Yes.
21  A.   Okay.  "Major Spaulding's Death"?
22  Q.   Yes.
23  A.   Oh, the death.
24        I have heard about this account before, but
25    this is the first time I've read it here.
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 1  Q.   And he was the Commandant at Fort McDowell?
 2  A.   Yes.
 3  Q.   What does that mean?
 4  A.   He was the --
 5  Q.   Guy in charge?
 6  A.   Top officer, yes.
 7  Q.   Okay.  And he was apparently using a boat.
 8    Do we know whether this was a pleasure or a business
 9    trip?
10  A.   Let me take another quick look.
11        It looked as though they were shooting as
12    they came, so it looks as though they were -- it was a
13    pleasure trip.
14  Q.   Have you never done anything fun on a
15    business trip?
16  A.   Yes, I've done something fun on a business
17    trip.
18  Q.   So it's possible they could have been
19    traveling for military purposes and incidentally
20    shooting along the way, or it's possible they could
21    have been on a frolic?
22  A.   Either/or.
23  Q.   Okay.  And he died because his gun misfired
24    going over an irrigation diversion?
25  A.   That's correct.
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 1  Q.   Not because he drowned on the Verde or
 2    because the --
 3  A.   No.
 4  Q.   -- rapids were too big or anything like that?
 5  A.   It was a tragic event, yes.
 6  Q.   Okay.  Do you know who Dr. Ralph Palmer was?
 7  A.   No, I don't.
 8  Q.   He was the author of a book called Doctor on
 9    Horseback.  Have you read that?
10  A.   No, I haven't.
11  Q.   We have an account from Dr. Palmer, and
12    that's is X017-97, page 29.
13        It's No. 12, Debi.
14  A.   Okay.
15  Q.   So starting with the first full paragraph
16    there.
17  A.   "Sunday morning"?  Okay.  Oops, I'm sorry.
18        Okay.  Thank you.
19  Q.   Let me see if I can make it a little bigger.
20  A.   Yeah, geez.
21  Q.   Does that help?
22  A.   Yeah, that helps a lot.  Thank you.
23        Okay.
24  Q.   He doesn't talk about, at least in this
25    paragraph of this, like the boat was -- having a boat
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 1    was an unusual event, does he?
 2  A.   No, there's no reference to it being unique.
 3  Q.   Although, it does seem a little unique that
 4    you have a horse that takes the boat trailer back?
 5  A.   Yes.
 6  Q.   All right.  I would also like to look at
 7    X017-121, which is 13, Debi.
 8        Can you just blow up the text there so it's
 9    on the screen?
10  A.   Okay, I've read it.
11  Q.   So this is outside of your area.  This is --
12  A.   Yeah.
13  Q.   -- up on the top part of the Verde.
14  A.   It's fun learning.
15  Q.   And it's 1917.
16  A.   Yes.
17  Q.   But it actually shows a picture of the boat
18    that was used on the Verde.
19  A.   Okay.
20  Q.   There it is.
21        Do you have any reason to doubt this account?
22  A.   I don't doubt that account, no.
23  Q.   Okay.  And then looks look at X017-126.
24        So 14, Debi.
25        You may have remembered this account from my
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 1    discussion of it with Dr. Littlefield.
 2  A.   Yes, I think I do.
 3  Q.   So these guys also used the Verde for
 4    boating?
 5  A.   Apparently, yes.
 6  Q.   Okay.  Don't these accounts contradict your
 7    conclusion that the Verde wasn't boatable?
 8  A.   I don't necessarily think so.  I think these
 9    accounts, they're comparatively small in number, and I
10    think it's up to the Commission and the attorneys to
11    place these accounts in context and discuss what
12    susceptible means and natural, and I forgot the other
13    one.  I feel like Governor Perry.
14  Q.   It's been a long day.
15  A.   I forgot the third one.
16  Q.   Governor Perry is not the third part of your
17    test.
18  A.   I know.
19        The other term that's -- the legal term
20    that's your charge and the Commission's charge to deal
21    with, yes.
22  Q.   Okay.  Is it your opinion that since the
23    Verde was used for irrigation, it could not have been
24    used for irrigation or --
25        Let me try that again.
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 1  A.   I know, I'm with you.  Sorry.
 2  Q.   It's been a long day or a long week.
 3        Is it your opinion that since the Verde was
 4    used for irrigation, it could not have been used for
 5    navigation?
 6  A.   No.
 7  Q.   Those are not mutually exclusive?
 8  A.   They are not mutually exclusive.
 9  Q.   Okay.
10        MS. HERNBRODE: Luckily for you, that
11    concludes my cross-examination.  Thank you so much.
12        THE WITNESS: Thank you.
13        MS. HERNBRODE: I believe you have
14    another tormenter.
15        THE WITNESS: Okay, tormenter.
16        MR. HELM: That is cruel.
17        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Mr. Helm, are you ready
18    to proceed?
19        MR. HELM: I am.
20        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Jody?  Jack?
21        Go ahead, John.
22    
23        CROSS-EXAMINATION
24        BY MR. HELM: 
25  Q.   Hello, Dr. August.  I think we've done this
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 1    before, and nice to see you again.
 2  A.   Yeah, we did it before.
 3  Q.   I'm going to go as fast as I can so we can
 4    get out of here, which means somebody is already
 5    glaring at me.
 6  A.   I know, yes.  I'm being disciplined.
 7  Q.   I have some general questions and then I have
 8    some questions that were generated by your testimony
 9    here.
10        The first question I have is you don't claim
11    to be an expert in determining stream or river
12    navigability for the purpose of the standards that are
13    set forth by the federal judiciary, right?
14  A.   I do not.
15  Q.   Okay.  And I regrettably have to ask you
16    these questions, and I think the word you were looking
17    for just a minute ago was ordinary?
18  A.   That was the other word, yes.
19  Q.   And I would like to know your definition of
20    ordinary.
21  A.   Common.
22        You know, I think it's a legal term that's up
23    to this group to determine, so...
24  Q.   Oh, I understand that.  But you used it in
25    your report, and so I want to know how you used it, and
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 1    so we need to know your definition.
 2  A.   Well, for Segments 5, 4 and 5, it was the
 3    period from the Hohokam up to the beginnings of
 4    diversions.  So that was really as I was thinking
 5    ordinary, without any human interaction or involvement
 6    with the river.
 7  Q.   Okay.  And then could you give me your
 8    definition of natural?
 9  A.   Similar.  The natural flow of the river.
10  Q.   So are they basically the same thing?
11  A.   To me.
12  Q.   To you, natural and ordinary all run
13    together, so to speak?
14  A.   For the purposes of this hearing, I think
15    they are mutually reinforcing terms; and, again, that
16    falls, I think, within the legal framework of these
17    proceedings.
18  Q.   Okay.  For your work in this matter, did you
19    read any of the cases that have been generated as a
20    result of the Commission's work?
21  A.   No, I haven't.  I'm familiar with Winkleman
22    and I'm familiar with PPL, but, you know, I -- and I
23    know the upshot and, you know, I know what is being
24    looked at by this Commission.
25  Q.   So you haven't -- have you read Winkleman?
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 1  A.   A long time ago.
 2  Q.   And you've read PPL?
 3  A.   I glanced over it.
 4  Q.   You don't claim to understand what those two
 5    things say?
 6  A.   I have a general knowledge of what those two
 7    things say.
 8  Q.   Do you realize that Winkleman makes a
 9    distinction between natural and ordinary?
10  A.   I did not know that, no.
11  Q.   So you didn't make any distinction between
12    natural and ordinary?
13  A.   No.  I just looked at the historical record.
14  Q.   And, particularly, you didn't make the
15    distinction that Winkleman did?
16  A.   I did not, no.
17  Q.   Do you have what I would call a list of
18    elements that you need to kind of check off to
19    determine whether a river is navigable or it's not
20    navigable, as a historian dealing with those issues?
21  A.   I do not have a list to check that out, no.
22  Q.   So I can't ask you to tell me all the
23    elements that you used to decide that the Verde River
24    was not navigable?
25  A.   There's no checklist.  I just looked at the
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 1    historical record and really reviewed human interaction
 2    and the various cultures that came across it and
 3    considered it, and that was my charge.
 4  Q.   As part of that historical work, did you read
 5    anything, look at any treatises or written materials of
 6    any kind that dealt with the Verde River as a
 7    multiple-channel river?
 8  A.   I have not looked at the science and
 9    hydrology of the river.
10  Q.   In the writings you read, you didn't see some
11    guy say, and, by golly, that's a braided river?
12  A.   I did not see that term, no.
13  Q.   Now, I believe you mentioned that you looked
14    at the Verde in terms of trade and travel?
15  A.   I tried to look at it with that prism from
16    the historical record that I looked at.
17  Q.   And in doing so to determine navigability,
18    did you use those terms together; in other words, did
19    it require both trade and travel to be navigable?
20  A.   To me, no, it didn't require both.
21  Q.   Okay.  So if you had stumbled across the Day
22    brothers' trip and they weren't trapping beaver, that
23    might have been enough to make it navigable because
24    they just went down it in a boat, from your
25    perspective?
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 1  A.   That's for this Commission to say.  I mean I
 2    know that happened, and I know that there are a handful
 3    of accounts from newspapers that discuss that.
 4  Q.   Well, but what I'm trying -- you have to
 5    understand what I'm trying to do here --
 6  A.   Fine, uh-huh.
 7  Q.   -- is I'm trying to find out what prism you
 8    applied to make a determination of whether the Verde
 9    was navigable.
10        And so as part of your prism, did it require
11    both trade and travel together?
12  A.   No, it did not.
13  Q.   Did it have to be a commercial enterprise?
14  A.   It did not.
15  Q.   Did it have to be both upstream and
16    downstream?
17  A.   It did not.
18  Q.   Simple navigation would be good enough --
19  A.   Simple navigation.
20  Q.   -- for you?
21  A.   For me, yes.  I was looking at the absence.
22    There seemed to be an absence of accounts that I could
23    find in my short time.
24  Q.   And you were looking for specific historical
25    accounts of somebody going down the river in a boat?
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 1  A.   Yes.  Yes.
 2  Q.   You weren't making any judgments about the
 3    susceptibility of that river to support boat travel?
 4  A.   Correct.
 5  Q.   I'm on a roll.
 6  A.   Uh-oh, the yellow pad.
 7  Q.   Hey, I got through the first two pages
 8    already.
 9  A.   Okay, good.
10  Q.   If I understand your testimony, you don't
11    have any opinions on the navigability of what I'll call
12    Segments 1, 2, and 3 as those are defined by the State?
13  A.   I do not, really.  No, I don't.
14  Q.   Do you recall, when you read Winkleman, that
15    Winkleman had a discussion about when the Commission or
16    the people making a determination on navigability
17    should look at the river to determine its ordinary and
18    natural condition?
19  A.   Yes, and my understanding from having read it
20    a while ago, was that the Commission hadn't really
21    looked carefully enough at the period before, roughly,
22    1870, we could push it back to 1866, and from the time
23    of Hohokam and pre-Columbian settlement.
24  Q.   So what the Commission was basically -- or
25    what the Court was basically saying, as you understand
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 1    it, was you want to look at that period after the
 2    Hohokams have stopped using the river for irrigation
 3    and things like that and before the civilization
 4    arrived in the form of some Anglos that were showing
 5    up?
 6  A.   And diversions, I think diversions.
 7  Q.   All the diversions?
 8  A.   Yes.
 9  Q.   They were trying to eliminate the diversions
10    that the Hohokam had done; fair enough?
11  A.   Fair enough.
12  Q.   All right.  When you're talking about the
13    Spanish explorers and stuff that were wandering around
14    Arizona in the 1500s and stuff like that --
15  A.   Yes.
16  Q.   -- were they still wandering around when the
17    Hohokams or other like tribes were diverting water from
18    the rivers?
19  A.   The Spaniards were not here when the Hohokam
20    disappeared, for lack of a better term; but they were
21    here when other groups, and they encountered Apaches,
22    Pai people, Yavapais, Apaches, Navajos.
23  Q.   Some of those were still irrigating, is my
24    only question?
25  A.   Yeah, there were some that were irrigating, a
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 1    little, yes; not much, not extensively.
 2  Q.   Okay.  I know you had a discussion with your
 3    counsel and Mr. Hood regarding whether the distance
 4    that was traveled by the Day brothers was 800 miles or
 5    200 miles, right?
 6  A.   (Witness nodded.)
 7  Q.   And I believe the conclusions that the
 8    counsel came up with was it wasn't 800 miles?
 9  A.   That's correct.
10  Q.   First of all, do you at least have some
11    familiarity with trapping?
12        And I'll warn you I have trapped before.
13  A.   I have never trapped, so...
14        I have not trapped, no.
15  Q.   Okay.  Well, have you read about trappers?
16  A.   I've read about trappers, yes.
17  Q.   Have you heard the word trap line?
18  A.   I've heard the word trap line.
19  Q.   Okay.  And normally when a trapper, who is in
20    the business of trapping, goes out to do his thing, he
21    lays a trap line, doesn't he?
22  A.   Yes.
23  Q.   He doesn't just go out and put one trap out
24    and sit there and watch it and see if the beaver will
25    come up and get in it, right?
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 1  A.   Correct.
 2  Q.   He puts out a series of traps, and he doesn't
 3    wait at the one trap to see when it's going to get a
 4    result, right?
 5  A.   Correct.
 6  Q.   So normally trappers go out and they go
 7    downriver or upriver, but they move out onto the river
 8    and they lay a series of traps for some distance
 9    downriver, right?
10  A.   Correct, uh-huh.
11  Q.   And then they either wait downriver for
12    whatever they've deemed an appropriate period of time
13    before going back and checking the traps, or they might
14    say, "Well, I've got to wait until this evening to go
15    out and check the traps again, to give them a chance to
16    be successful, so I'll go back to camp and have some
17    lunch and then I'll go back and check the traps,"
18    right?
19  A.   I understand, yes.
20  Q.   So it seems to me that if I'm a trapper, as
21    opposed to a person just traveling down a river, I go
22    down it once and put my traps down, right?
23  A.   Okay.
24  Q.   Now, if I wait down there, I still have to go
25    back one more time over the same distance, don't I?
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 1  A.   Correct.
 2  Q.   Because I've got to go check the traps?
 3  A.   All right.
 4  Q.   All right.  I'm now back at camp, and let's
 5    say I was a lucky trapper.  Every one of them had a
 6    beaver in it, right?  So I didn't have to go down and
 7    check them several times.  I just went back to the
 8    camp.  When I got back to the camp, what did I have to
 9    do?
10        Didn't I have to skin the beaver?
11  A.   Correct.
12  Q.   I mean, you're not aware of any trappers that
13    just threw carcasses in the canoe and headed downriver
14    again, did you?
15  A.   I'm not aware of any trappers in the history.
16  Q.   Okay.  So they skinned them, and they
17    probably even had to stretch them or dry them in some
18    fashion, and then they put them in their boat and they
19    went on down to the next spot they were going to trap,
20    right?
21  A.   That sounds like a supposition, yes.
22  Q.   Seem like a reasonable approach?
23  A.   Seems like a reasonable supposition.
24  Q.   All right.  So that means that they either
25    went three or four times up and down the same stretch
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 1    of river to cover it, right?
 2  A.   Well, I have no expertise in this, but you
 3    do.
 4  Q.   How's your math?
 5  A.   Not very good.
 6  Q.   Is it good enough to go four times 200?
 7  A.   Yeah, I can deal with that.
 8  Q.   Could we get 800 out of that if we did that?
 9  A.   If you multiplied four times 200, I agree,
10    it's 800.
11  Q.   And could we get 600 if we used a shorter one
12    that went three times?
13  A.   Correct.  Yeah.
14  Q.   And so is there at least the possibility, in
15    your mind, that when the Day brothers were saying it
16    took 800 miles to do it, that they might have been
17    telling that newspaper guy that, yeah, we have to do
18    laps; you don't just hop in the boat and trap on one
19    straight line down the river?
20  A.   I think that's reading into the article,
21    but...
22  Q.   Sure.
23  A.   But that wasn't what I read, so...
24  Q.   All I'm saying is they went trapping?
25  A.   Then went trapping, yeah.
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 1  Q.   All right.  Trapping is not a straight line
 2    trip down to Yuma from the Verde?
 3  A.   Okay.
 4  Q.   Okay.  So there's at least the possibility
 5    that it took longer than what the GPS would show as
 6    200 miles?
 7  A.   Okay.  I agree with your supposition.
 8  Q.   Another question on trapping.  Has the
 9    commerce of trapping --
10  A.   Okay.
11  Q.   -- where, you know, some guy goes out in the
12    1600s or whatever and catches a bunch of beaver and
13    brings it into town and sells it, has that type of
14    commerce been held sufficient to establish navigability
15    of any of the rivers and streams in the United States?
16  A.   I don't know.  I can't answer that here.
17  Q.   You haven't done --
18  A.   I haven't done any research on that to give
19    an educated answer.
20  Q.   You heard Mr. Randall --
21  A.   Yes.
22  Q.   -- testify the other day that the Apaches
23    didn't use the river?
24  A.   I heard him say inasmuch.  Yes, he said that.
25  Q.   And he had a reason for that, didn't he?
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 1  A.   (Witness nodded.)
 2  Q.   And wasn't that reason because the river was
 3    a very windy river?
 4  A.   I think that was his explanation.
 5  Q.   And it was quicker to just go across the land
 6    than it was to take a boat and just go up and down the
 7    meanders to get to the same place?
 8  A.   I think that was his testimony, yes.
 9  Q.   Would that make some sense to you in terms of
10    why Apaches may not have used the river?
11  A.   That makes sense.
12  Q.   You talked about Mr. Smith and his hay
13    operation.
14  A.   Yes.
15  Q.   Could one of the reasons that Mr. Smith had
16    his hay operation up on the Salt be that there was a
17    lot of wild hay down there?
18        MR. BREEDLOVE: Jim, do you want to take
19    a break?
20        COMMISSIONER HORTON: Yes, I want to
21    take a break.
22        THE WITNESS: Well, I'll answer after.
23        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay, we're going to
24    break for a day.
25        THE WITNESS: A day?
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 1        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Today.
 2        (A recess was taken from 4:48 p.m. to
 3        4:55 p.m.)
 4        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: John, are we ready to
 5    go back on the record?
 6        MR. HELM: Ready.
 7        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Jack, you're up.
 8        THE WITNESS: Okay.
 9        BY MR. HELM: 
10  Q.   You had an answer?
11  A.   Yes.
12        I think the answer to your question is
13    Galleta hay.  It was kind of a wild hay.  Is that what
14    you were asking?
15  Q.   Yes.
16  A.   Yes, it's pretty well-documented in numerous
17    accounts.
18  Q.   Yeah.  So he went down there because he could
19    get a lot of free hay?
20  A.   There's free hay, yes.
21  Q.   In his operation, that was the motivation?
22  A.   Yes, he was smart.
23  Q.   Okay, now, in your report I seem to recall
24    coming across your commentaries on the maps, and you
25    said that the first fairly accurate one was 1880, and
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 1    the first really accurate one was 1889, I believe?
 2  A.   That's what I said.
 3  Q.   Is that right?
 4  A.   That's what I said.
 5  Q.   Now, by the time you got around to 1889,
 6    there were significant diversions going on on the Verde
 7    River, wasn't there?
 8  A.   There were.
 9  Q.   And you talked about the early maps as being
10    made when you believed the Verde would have been in its
11    natural and ordinary condition when the Spanish were
12    running around here and that sort of stuff.
13        Did you see anything on any of those maps
14    that you reviewed that were commentary on the condition
15    of the Verde River in those times, as opposed to just
16    having a fanciful line drawn on it with some squiggles
17    on it?
18  A.   It was the latter; it was the lack of
19    knowledge of the geography was what was striking.
20  Q.   Could one of the reasons that the early
21    Spanish and other people didn't go wandering up the
22    Verde have been that the Apache Tribe that lived up
23    there was a reasonably formidable tribal?
24  A.   That's correct.  That was certainly one of
25    the factors.  There's others.
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 1  Q.   And they would have known about that because
 2    they would have talked to other tribes as they
 3    matriculated north out of Mexico?
 4  A.   That is correct, and that's why some of the
 5    presidios were at Tubac and then later moved to Tucson,
 6    yeah.
 7  Q.   And that's why we ended up with a lot of
 8    Forts up there too, wasn't it?
 9  A.   That's correct.
10  Q.   One of the other reasons that a river might
11    not be used for transportation is because it didn't go
12    anywhere anybody wanted to go, correct?
13  A.   That would be a reasonable assumption, yes.
14  Q.   And the Verde started up in -- sorry,
15    anybody -- the middle of nowhere?
16  A.   Okay.
17  Q.   And at the early part of the time, it came
18    down to the middle of nowhere, didn't it?
19  A.   That's correct.
20  Q.   Phoenix was not Phoenix?
21  A.   There was --
22  Q.   There was a guy cutting hay.
23  A.   That's correct.
24  Q.   And so there probably wasn't a lot of demand
25    for transportation between the Verde Valley and the hay
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 1    cutter?
 2  A.   Yes, other than military purposes.
 3  Q.   And if I understand your testimony right
 4    about the maps that the Spanish did, they didn't make
 5    any commentary on any of them, no matter where they
 6    were, on whether the river they were noting was
 7    navigable or not?
 8  A.   There's no language to that nature, that
 9    speaks to that.
10  Q.   And the best that you could get in navigation
11    from the Spanish maybe was the drawing of a ship in a
12    bay off of some ocean?
13  A.   Yes, and that's on the Colorado, yes.
14  Q.   For the most part, in terms of the Spanish
15    travels, they were going north and south, weren't they?
16  A.   North/south.  South to north, yes.
17  Q.   Yeah, south to north.  And so they would be
18    going upstream most of the time?
19  A.   That's a fair assumption, yes.
20  Q.   Did I understand you correctly that you
21    aren't aware of the ancient canoe that Frank Cushing
22    discovered?
23  A.   I'm not aware of it, so...
24  Q.   What did the Hohokam trade?
25  A.   Shells, basketry.
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 1  Q.   Massive goods or --
 2  A.   Not massive goods.  Goods that they could
 3    carry, whether individually or --
 4  Q.   Something that could --
 5  A.   -- something on the back.
 6  Q.   -- fit in my equivalent of a backpack, or
 7    whatever their equivalent was, and off I could go?
 8  A.   That's accurate.
 9  Q.   They didn't have what I would call a need to
10    move an ore boat down the Verde River?
11  A.   There was no evidence of that, that I know
12    of.
13        MR. HELM: Just one thing to check.
14        Forget it.  I have to put the thing in.
15    I'll pass.  I'm done.
16        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Technology will do that
17    to you.
18        MR. HELM: It does it to us old guys.
19        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Technology blesses us
20    all.
21        MR. HELM: Periodically.
22        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay, Monday, March 30,
23    at 9:00 a.m., here in this room, we will have the Rich
24    Burtell show; is that correct?
25        MS. CAMPBELL: Well, actually, you'll


www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ


Min-U-Script® (43) Pages 2517 - 2520







In the Matter of the Navigability of the Verde River 
NO. 04-009-NAV


Administrative Hearing, Volume 11
February 25, 2015


Page 2521


 1    have the redirect of the Jack August show.
 2        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: We've got redirect.
 3    Thank you.  Appreciate that, Cynthia.
 4        MS. CAMPBELL: No problem.
 5        THE WITNESS: Hopefully a brief show.
 6        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay, so that means you
 7    have to come back on the 30th.
 8        THE WITNESS: I'll be around.
 9        CHAIRMAN NOBLE: Okay, great.  Anything
10    else we need to take up before you acing out of here?
11        It's good to see everybody.  We'll look
12    forward to seeing you next time.
13        (The proceedings adjourned at 5:02 p.m.)
14    
15    
16    
17    
18    
19    
20    
21    
22    
23    
24    
25    
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 1  STATE OF ARIZONA    )
    COUNTY OF MARICOPA  )
 2 
   
 3            BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings
    were taken before me; that the foregoing pages are
 4  a full, true, and accurate record of the proceedings,
    all done to the best of my skill and ability; that
 5  the proceedings were taken down by me in shorthand
    and thereafter reduced to print under my direction.
 6 
              I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to
 7  any of the parties hereto, nor am I in any way
    interested in the outcome hereof.
 8 
              I CERTIFY that I have complied with the
 9  ethical obligations set forth in ACJA 7-206(F)(3)
    and ACJA 7-206 (J)(1)(g)(1) and (2).  Dated at
10  Phoenix, Arizona, this 13th day of March, 2015.
   
11 
   
12 
            _______________________________________
13                 JODY L. LENSCHOW, RMR, CRR
                       Certified Reporter
14                    Arizona CR No. 50192
   
15 
              I CERTIFY that Coash & Coash, Inc., has
16  complied with the ethical obligations set forth in
    ACJA 7-206 (J)(1)(g)(1) through (6).
17 
   
18 
   
19 
   
20 
   
21 
   
22 
   
23 
            _______________________________________
24                   COASH & COASH, INC.
                     Registered Reporting Firm
25                   Arizona RRF No. R1036
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 1                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  George, would you call
  


 2   the roll, please.
  


 3                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Allen.
  


 4                  COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.
  


 5                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Horton.
  


 6                  COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.
  


 7                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble.
  


 8                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I am here.
  


 9                  DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  We have a quorum.
  


10                  Jim Henness will not be here today.  And
  


11   our attorney, Fred Breedlove, is here, and I am here
  


12   also.
  


13                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Ms. Campbell, please
  


14   proceed.
  


15                  MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.
  


16
  


17                CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION
  


18   BY MS. CAMPBELL:
  


19       Q.    Dr. August, yesterday, when we left off, we
  


20   were talking about Father Kino.  Do you recall that?
  


21       A.    I believe I do.  Yes, I do.
  


22       Q.    Did Father Kino have any particular skills as
  


23   a cartographer?
  


24       A.    Yes, he did.
  


25       Q.    That being a mapmaker, correct?
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 1       A.    A mapmaker, yes.
  


 2       Q.    And where did he acquire skills as a
  


 3   mapmaker?
  


 4       A.    In Italy and Germany, in his education when
  


 5   he was a younger man, so roughly from 15 to age 20,
  


 6   when he was in Europe.
  


 7       Q.    And during his exploration for the Spanish in
  


 8   the Southwest borderlands, was it common or customary
  


 9   for him to map where he had been?
  


10       A.    Yes, it was common, and it became kind of a
  


11   routine.  And it was important that Spanish, whether
  


12   they're Jesuit priests or civilian explorers or the
  


13   military, like, say, Juan Bautista de Anza, who comes
  


14   on the scene a little bit later, that they noted where
  


15   ojos or parajes, they call them.  Ojos is O-J-O-S and
  


16   parajes is P-A-R-A-J-E-S.  Ojos literally means eyes
  


17   and parajes means stops.  But that implied where small
  


18   watercourses or water spots or tanks were, and that was
  


19   important in the mapping process.
  


20       Q.    Why is that?
  


21       A.    Well, because of the aridity and hospital
  


22   environment that was the arid north of New Spain and
  


23   what is now the arid Southwest.
  


24       Q.    So they would map those areas to show where
  


25   they could water animals?
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 1       A.    Water animals, men, women, when they were
  


 2   colonizing.  It was important to know if it was a day
  


 3   away, a half day away.  That's why water was important,
  


 4   and it was important to locate watercourses and rivers.
  


 5   And Kino wasn't the only one that did that, of course.
  


 6   I mean it was throughout the Spanish colonial effort.
  


 7       Q.    Now, tell me again, because my Spanish is
  


 8   very poor, what was the term you just used?
  


 9       A.    Ojos, like eyes of water, ojos or eyes; and
  


10   then parajes means stop.  But that was also a place
  


11   they could stop, and it implied that there would be
  


12   water there.  So that was a common practice and useful
  


13   for getting the record.  They were always -- they were,
  


14   you know, acquiring knowledge of La Tierra Incógnita,
  


15   the unknown land.
  


16       Q.    Would a cartographer like Father Kino
  


17   differentiate between one of the stopping points that
  


18   you just described and a river that was usable by boat?
  


19       A.    He would.  He would do that.
  


20       Q.    Did Father Kino actually map the Verde River?
  


21       A.    No, he did not.
  


22       Q.    Did he rely on other people's maps regarding
  


23   the Verde River?
  


24       A.    No, he didn't.  He really did not approach
  


25   it.  The rim of settlement, the Gila seemed to have
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 1   been where the rim of Christendom kind of halted, and
  


 2   they would travel north, and there was a concerted
  


 3   effort after Kino's time to send missionaries to the
  


 4   Hopi.  That was where they first tried in 1629 from
  


 5   Santa Fe, and they had missions there from 1630 to
  


 6   about 1680, when the great Pueblo Revolt took place.
  


 7             And if you ever go to Hopi and go to First
  


 8   Mesa, Awatobi is where the missionaries were martyred,
  


 9   I'll put it that way, and that's when the Spanish were
  


10   kicked out of New Mexico for about 12 years.
  


11       Q.    If Kino didn't map the Verde, how do you know
  


12   that he actually ever saw it?
  


13       A.    Allegedly, and I think I cited here and other
  


14   places that I've written, I think -- well, I don't know
  


15   what page here.
  


16       Q.    Maybe Page 6?
  


17       A.    Maybe Page 6.
  


18             Yes.  Manje noted that they, from -- it looks
  


19   as though they were in the Estrella Mountains out by
  


20   Buckeye, and from that vantage point they looked out
  


21   and they saw the confluence of the Gila and -- or the
  


22   Salt and the Verde and then subsequently flowing into
  


23   the Gila and what is now, I guess, 38 miles of drainage
  


24   through that reach of the Salt and -- yeah, Salt into
  


25   the Gila.
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 1       Q.    So this quotation which you have on Page 6 of
  


 2   your report, he actually calls out the Verde
  


 3   specifically?
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    Does he mention anywhere in his reports that
  


 6   the Verde is suitable for travel or trade?
  


 7       A.    He does not.
  


 8       Q.    Does he mention any reference to boating the
  


 9   Verde?
  


10       A.    No.  No, he did not.
  


11       Q.    But does he mention a usefulness of the
  


12   river?
  


13       A.    Well, I think it's implied from Manje's
  


14   report here and that there was potential.  I mean they
  


15   saw that there were rivers and there was water, and the
  


16   larger goal was to establish a missionary outpost north
  


17   of the Gila into other territories that would advance
  


18   Christianity and save souls.
  


19             Ultimately, another practical matter of this
  


20   was that once the detribalized Indian, let's say, they
  


21   called then Genízaros, G-E-N-I-Z-A-R-O-S, which roughly
  


22   meant a person of reason, they could become like a
  


23   taxpaying citizens of the Spanish empire.  So there was
  


24   an economic value to Christianizing, missionizing, and
  


25   trying to acculturate these people.  And some groups
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 1   were much more willing than others.
  


 2       Q.    When you say that he noted there was a
  


 3   potential to the river, was it a potential to travel
  


 4   the river?
  


 5       A.    No, just the fact that there was water, and
  


 6   perhaps it could sustain Spanish towns and a colonial
  


 7   effort and a missionary effort; but that's as far as it
  


 8   got with Kino.
  


 9       Q.    How did Kino travel; what mode of
  


10   transportation did he use?
  


11       A.    Horse.  He was an incredible horseman,
  


12   sometimes 30 miles a day.  He would go from what was
  


13   called the doctrina, D-O-C-T-R-I-N-A, was the major
  


14   church, and then there would be visitas maybe about a
  


15   day's visit and smaller outposts where Indians in the
  


16   outlying areas would come and congregate and he would
  


17   baptize and convert and teach and a lot of agriculture,
  


18   agricultural essence.
  


19       Q.    Okay.  And who was the first person to call
  


20   the Verde River Verde?
  


21       A.    It looks as though -- I think I have it here.
  


22   Was it Father Velarde or --
  


23       Q.    It appears on Page 7 that way, yes.
  


24       A.    7?  Yeah.
  


25             Green, yes, and it appears that it was Father
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 1   Luis Velarde, who was Kino's successor.
  


 2       Q.    And what time frame was that?
  


 3       A.    About 1716, when he wrote what was called a
  


 4   relacionará, kind of a report on the area, and it had
  


 5   been known by a variety of names and continued to shift
  


 6   even later; but he called it the Verde for the first
  


 7   time.
  


 8       Q.    And was that time frame of 1716, was that
  


 9   prior to modern or white man diversions of the Verde
  


10   River?
  


11       A.    Yes.  Yes, it was.
  


12       Q.    How did Velarde travel?
  


13       A.    By horseback.
  


14       Q.    Was Velarde looking for mineral deposits?
  


15       A.    That was always on, whether a priest or
  


16   military or civilian, that was always a consideration
  


17   by the Spanish Empire and for the King, because the
  


18   King would get a fifth of any minerals that were
  


19   discovered, and if it was a treasure, he would get
  


20   half, according to the rules.
  


21       Q.    And, in fact, yesterday we talk about Espejo.
  


22   Didn't he make it all the way to Jerome?
  


23       A.    Yes, he did.  And among other things he
  


24   brought back were rugs, and he called the Yavapais that
  


25   he met there, he called them the Querechos,
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 1   Q-U-E-R-E-C-H-O-S.  They went through a -- Spaniards
  


 2   called them different names over time, and ultimately
  


 3   the first person that called them Yabipai --
  


 4   Y-A-B-I-P-A-I, I think that's how it's spelled. -- was
  


 5   Father Garcés in 1776.  That's an easy one to remember,
  


 6   1776, when he got up there.  We'll double back and talk
  


 7   about that.  But they had contact and made me think of
  


 8   Mr. Randall's testimony.
  


 9       Q.    So did Espejo get those rugs from the
  


10   Yavapai?
  


11       A.    Yes.  Yeah, he was commonly known as a rug
  


12   trader, kind of -- it was just kind of a joking what he
  


13   came back with, because he did note, though, that there
  


14   were mines there and that the natives did, in fact,
  


15   mine and have some -- adapted them for adornment and
  


16   things like that.
  


17       Q.    So, actually, Espejo did travel or trade
  


18   along the Verde, didn't he?
  


19       A.    Yes, along the Verde, yes.
  


20       Q.    Did he travel on the Verde?
  


21       A.    He crossed the Verde.
  


22       Q.    What do you mean by --
  


23       A.    Forded.
  


24       Q.    -- crossed?
  


25       A.    I think he forded the Verde.  It appears that
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 1   he did, if you get to Jerome.
  


 2       Q.    Just crossing from one side to the other?
  


 3       A.    One side to the other, or roughly the Jerome
  


 4   area.
  


 5       Q.    And if Espejo or any of his subsequent
  


 6   explorers would have been able to move ore down the
  


 7   Verde, would they have moved ore down the Verde?
  


 8       A.    Yes, they would.  I would assume so, yes.  It
  


 9   would be easier.
  


10       Q.    Would that be because -- well, no, I'm
  


11   actually asking the question of would they, would they
  


12   acquire the ore and want to take it back to a more
  


13   populated area, a Spanish stronghold?
  


14       A.    Sure.  That would be something they would
  


15   want to do, yes, at that point in history.
  


16       Q.    Who was the first person to publish a map
  


17   that used the name Verde to describe the Verde River?
  


18       A.    That would be Father Juan Bautista Nentvig.
  


19       Q.    What year was that?
  


20       A.    1764.
  


21       Q.    And in making his observations about the
  


22   Verde River, did he rely on the observations of other
  


23   explorers?
  


24       A.    Yes, that was common practice to accumulate
  


25   knowledge from their predecessors, update, insert their
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 1   observations and explorations, and advance
  


 2   understanding the geology, topography, and
  


 3   characteristics of the areas that they were exploring.
  


 4       Q.    And was Father Nentvig also well-educated?
  


 5       A.    He was well-educated as well, and he was a
  


 6   Jesuit.
  


 7       Q.    And would he have had cartography skills?
  


 8       A.    Yes, he would have had cartography skills.
  


 9       Q.    In fact, didn't he map, draw a map of the
  


10   Verde River?
  


11       A.    Yes, a map, he drew a map, and its
  


12   surrounding area.
  


13       Q.    And what kind of written record did Nentvig
  


14   leave?
  


15       A.    He left a very widely known and celebrated
  


16   record called the Rudo Ensayo.  And, in fact, back in
  


17   the day it was hard to get ahold of it.  Now I think
  


18   you can get it online and translated.
  


19                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Dr. Jack.
  


20                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Could you spell Rudo
  


22   Ensayo?
  


23                  THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  Yes.  R-U-D-O,
  


24   E-N-S-A-Y-O.
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  What does Rudo mean?
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 1   Is it route?
  


 2                  THE WITNESS:  Could mean a couple
  


 3   things.  I will have to double-check on that one, yeah.
  


 4   BY MS. CAMPBELL:
  


 5       Q.    What was the purpose of Nentvig's book or
  


 6   publication?
  


 7       A.    It was really to gather and kind of
  


 8   consolidate the knowledge of the region, the Gila, the
  


 9   Pimería Alta area, and even then, I guess, ethnobotany.
  


10   I don't know if that term was invented yet, but the
  


11   flora, the fauna, where things were located; things
  


12   meaning mountain ranges, rivers, plateaus, all of that,
  


13   so that there could be a knowledge base for further
  


14   exploration.  And, in fact, they wanted to colonize or
  


15   move forward with a mission frontier as well.
  


16       Q.    Now, I think you've already said that Nentvig
  


17   drew a map of the Verde within that book.
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    Did he also map out or describe the Salt
  


20   River?
  


21       A.    Yes, he did.
  


22       Q.    Did he describe the Gila River?
  


23       A.    Yes, he did.
  


24       Q.    Did he describe any of those rivers as usable
  


25   for boating or travel or trade?
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 1       A.    No, he did not use those terms or refer to
  


 2   that in any way.
  


 3       Q.    What mode of transportation did Father
  


 4   Nentvig use?
  


 5       A.    Like his predecessors, horse, equine.
  


 6       Q.    So, so far all the Spanish explorers that
  


 7   you've described traveled overland instead of using the
  


 8   various Arizona rivers, including the Verde; is that
  


 9   correct?
  


10       A.    That is correct.
  


11       Q.    But did the explorers follow the course of
  


12   the Verde River?
  


13       A.    They could have.
  


14       Q.    Would Espejo have followed it getting to
  


15   Jerome?
  


16       A.    Yes, he would have.
  


17       Q.    Why would they follow the course of the Verde
  


18   River if they weren't going to travel on it?
  


19       A.    Well, one, to water their horses and
  


20   themselves.  It was also obvious that many of the
  


21   Indian or Native American villages or settlements, if
  


22   you want call them that, were nearby, and they were
  


23   interested in acquiring that knowledge and seeing if
  


24   they were hostile or friendly or could provide them
  


25   with information.
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 1       Q.    In all of their accounts, did the Spanish
  


 2   explorers describe, in any general sense or specific
  


 3   sense, their travel conditions?
  


 4       A.    Yes.  Yeah.
  


 5       Q.    They described the landscape?
  


 6       A.    They described the landscape, yes.
  


 7       Q.    Did any of them mention the existence of an
  


 8   established road?
  


 9       A.    Indian trails, and oftentimes, just as they
  


10   used some of the Native American housing, they
  


11   oftentimes would use well-worn, I wouldn't call them
  


12   roads, but trails.
  


13       Q.    Did the Spanish build roads in the vicinity
  


14   of the Verde River?
  


15       A.    No, they didn't.
  


16       Q.    If you could take a look at Page 8 of your
  


17   report.
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    And the first sentence of the only full
  


20   paragraph on that page says "In spite of the Spaniards
  


21   traversing what is now central Arizona, they largely
  


22   ignored the Verde."
  


23             What do you mean by ignore?
  


24       A.    They didn't utilize it, really, for any other
  


25   purpose than crossing it.
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 1       Q.    So who produced the first American map of the
  


 2   Verde River?
  


 3       A.    Well, it looks as though it was plagiarized,
  


 4   and it was Zebulon Pike and that expedition, which came
  


 5   across, I think, 1804 to 1806, and I guess it was
  


 6   published in 1810.  But it was surprising, because he
  


 7   had never visited the Verde watershed, by the way.  He
  


 8   was north of this area.  And it looks as though from
  


 9   accounts that Alexander Von Humboldt, who was kind of
  


10   a -- was a geologist and kind of well-connected in
  


11   Europe, received permission from the King of Spain to
  


12   come over and do things, look at Latin America, because
  


13   the King was interested in, again, minerals,
  


14   bullionism, gold, silver, the precious metals, that he
  


15   thought maybe allowing him some access would further
  


16   his aims.
  


17       Q.    And was Alexander Von Humboldt a geologist
  


18   and naturalist?
  


19       A.    Yes, he was.
  


20       Q.    Did he take any time to describe the features
  


21   of the area, the rivers, the landscape?
  


22       A.    Not really.  You know, he just drew a map,
  


23   and he based that on, really, secondary sources as well
  


24   too, from knowledge in the Spanish Empire.
  


25       Q.    So in your report you identify by name ten
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 1   Spanish explorers, including Von Humboldt, who actually
  


 2   was German, correct?
  


 3       A.    Yes, correct.
  


 4       Q.    Was this an exhaustive list of every Spanish
  


 5   explorer who traveled within Central Arizona, including
  


 6   the area of the Verde River?
  


 7       A.    As far as the historical record from the
  


 8   works of Bannon, Bolton, Farish, Thomas Sheridan and
  


 9   others, these are the vanguard.  But there could have
  


10   been others that went off exploring on their own, but
  


11   they were illegal, and that did happen on occasion in
  


12   the Spanish period.
  


13       Q.    And if they were illegal, they wouldn't have
  


14   any official reports that they would have reported back
  


15   to Mexico or to Spain?
  


16       A.    Yes.  They would be in jail.
  


17       Q.    But the ones that we talked about, they all
  


18   issued official reports or maps or other documentation
  


19   of exactly where they went, when they went, and what
  


20   they saw?
  


21       A.    That's correct.
  


22       Q.    And were they expected to map important
  


23   features like a navigable river?
  


24       A.    They would.  Well, whether they call it
  


25   navigable or not, they would note rivers, and that was
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 1   an important part of their job, if you will.
  


 2       Q.    If they noted the river, would they note its
  


 3   ability to be boated?
  


 4       A.    I think they would, and certainly what became
  


 5   the Colorado River was duly noted as what would be
  


 6   navigable.
  


 7       Q.    But none of the other rivers in Arizona were
  


 8   noted as --
  


 9       A.    No.
  


10       Q.    -- useful for boating or otherwise navigable?
  


11       A.    No.
  


12       Q.    So in all the accounts that you've looked at
  


13   of Spanish explorers from the period of -- what would
  


14   be the total period?
  


15       A.    Boy.  Well, if we want to use Espejo as a
  


16   jumping off place, from 1583 to the Mexican Revolution
  


17   of 1821, when this region becomes part of Mexico.  How
  


18   long is that?  It's quite a while.
  


19       Q.    That's over 200 years.
  


20       A.    200 years.
  


21       Q.    No one ever mentioned anything about
  


22   traveling on the Verde?
  


23       A.    No.
  


24       Q.    Nobody ever mentioned the susceptibility of
  


25   use of the Verde for travel or trade?
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 1       A.    There's no language like that that I've come
  


 2   across.
  


 3       Q.    When did the first Anglos encounter the Verde
  


 4   River?
  


 5       A.    Well, it's pretty well-documented throughout
  


 6   these hearings.  The early 1820s.
  


 7       Q.    And who were those people?
  


 8       A.    They were -- a lot of them had southern
  


 9   roots, strangely enough, but they were Anglo-Americans,
  


10   James Ohio Pattie and his father.  His mother died and
  


11   then they left Kentucky, and I think a way to solve
  


12   their grief for a while, and they made it to the
  


13   rendezvous area, the one in Taos, New Mexico, and so
  


14   many people like them were there and they came out as
  


15   part of the fur trade.
  


16       Q.    And was Kit Carson another one of those
  


17   people?
  


18       A.    Kit Carson, yes.  And what happens with Kit
  


19   Carson and others is after the fur trade mania, as it
  


20   were, they became guides for military expeditions
  


21   subsequent to the fur trade period, because they knew
  


22   the lay of the land and they knew how to ford a river,
  


23   they knew where the places you could cross rivers in
  


24   the arid interior.
  


25       Q.    When you say they knew places where they
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 1   could ford the river in the arid interior, are you
  


 2   referring to the fact that rivers were really large and
  


 3   they had a difficult time fording them, or are you more
  


 4   referring to the fact that that's where, actually,
  


 5   water could be found?
  


 6       A.    That's where water could be found.
  


 7             But after 1848, particularly with the gold
  


 8   rush and with the invasion of Mexico with Stephen Watts
  


 9   Kearny, he kind of co-opted poor Kit Carson, who had
  


10   been away from his wife in Taos for two years and he's
  


11   heading home and he's heading home from California, and
  


12   he gets co-opted, I think around Socorro, and the
  


13   military takes him and he's going to guide them on the
  


14   best route, and he went south.  He took them south of
  


15   even the Salt River to get around.  That was the most
  


16   expeditious way to get to California and prosecute the
  


17   war.
  


18             So these fur traders, to get back to your
  


19   original question, these fur traders came to these
  


20   regions.  They had not been exploited yet, and so they
  


21   came down and throughout the 1820s, and there's a
  


22   couple very colorful characters.
  


23       Q.    Were these particular Anglos known generally
  


24   as mountain men?
  


25       A.    That's the common term, and historians still
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 1   use it.
  


 2       Q.    And why were they known as mountain men?
  


 3       A.    That's a good question.  I think because they
  


 4   made their living in the mountains, away from
  


 5   civilization.  And when you think of mountain men, I
  


 6   think of oftentimes those that trapped in the Rocky
  


 7   Mountains to the north; but these guys like Joaquin
  


 8   Jóven, Ewing Young, who married a woman from Santa Fe,
  


 9   and the Patties.
  


10             The Patties were going to be kicked out, but
  


11   what happened was Governor Narbona's daughter was
  


12   kidnapped by some Comanches, and they were heading
  


13   east, and James Pattie went out and saved her and
  


14   brought her back, and so Narbona let that particular
  


15   expedition go in, because the Mexican government was
  


16   not -- I'm not going to say overly happy with these
  


17   invading Americans coming into their sovereign
  


18   territory.  So it was problematic, but they
  


19   nevertheless prosecuted the expansion of American
  


20   influence into this region.
  


21       Q.    What was these people -- the mountain men,
  


22   what was their purpose of being in Arizona or on the
  


23   Verde River specifically?
  


24       A.    Well, I guess we can start with fashion in
  


25   both the states and in Europe and that beaver fur was
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 1   fashionable and desired and so there was a market, a
  


 2   significant market in the 1820s and '30s.  I think it
  


 3   really changed for the worse in 1848, when silk becomes
  


 4   the cloth of choice or the garb of choice, and so it
  


 5   kind of undermined that market, but that's a little bit
  


 6   later.
  


 7             But they ended up mining, I guess we can use
  


 8   the term mining, mining these beaver pelts throughout
  


 9   the Salt River watershed, up the Verde, and throughout
  


10   the region.
  


11       Q.    Didn't Pattie specifically go up the Verde?
  


12       A.    Yes, he went up the Verde.
  


13       Q.    So these guys, these mountain men, were
  


14   specifically following the Verde River?  They were in
  


15   and around, near, all over the Verde River?
  


16       A.    Yes, they were, they followed it up; and not
  


17   just Pattie, but others as well too.
  


18       Q.    Did they ever travel on the Verde River?
  


19       A.    Did they use it to travel --
  


20       Q.    Yes.
  


21       A.    -- on it?
  


22             Not from any account that I have discerned.
  


23   You know, I'm trying to look for accounts of where,
  


24   well, we did this and then sailed up or down the Verde
  


25   River, and particularly the reach, reaches or
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 1   Segments 4 and 5; but I have not discovered that.
  


 2             And even James Ohio Pattie's account, which
  


 3   he didn't write and he didn't take any notes.  He told
  


 4   it to an editor named Timothy Flint in Cincinnati, who
  


 5   previously had written the first great account of life
  


 6   in the Missouri -- or Mississippi Valley and the Ohio
  


 7   Valleys in 1826.  Pattie gets back about 1830, after
  


 8   being in jail in California.  His father died in jail,
  


 9   Sylvester, who was part of this mission.  But they get
  


10   arrested, finally, as trespassers, and he makes it back
  


11   and tells his story, and it's pretty exaggerated, very
  


12   colorful adjectives and animals that may or may not
  


13   have existed.  But it was entertainment and it was
  


14   great story, so he spun a tale.
  


15       Q.    So did the mountain -- but would -- I'm
  


16   sorry.  Back up for a second.
  


17       A.    Sure.
  


18       Q.    Would any commentary or details of any
  


19   account of mountain men have been spun a story or been
  


20   fanciful?
  


21       A.    In James Ohio Pattie's case, that's what
  


22   happened.  How much is true, you know, I think it was
  


23   based on fact, like a lot of literature and today
  


24   movies.
  


25       Q.    And I asked you the question about them
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 1   traveling the Verde.  Did they actually move their
  


 2   goods, that is, beaver pelts, on the river?
  


 3       A.    No.  They used, oftentimes, mules and other
  


 4   pack animals, but mules, and they were pretty sturdy,
  


 5   and that's what got them to market up to Santa Fe.  And
  


 6   then a couple of them, they had a market in Missouri,
  


 7   the Santa Fe Trail trade, and so that was the route
  


 8   they would get to Santa Fe or Taos and then head back
  


 9   on the Santa Fe Trail, which really was started about
  


10   1804, so its heyday is 1804 to 1848.
  


11       Q.    So you're saying that Pattie and other
  


12   mountain men would have gone back to Santa Fe or
  


13   St. Louis, but I think you've also said that Pattie
  


14   ended up in California?
  


15       A.    Yes, he was.  He went across the Colorado to
  


16   California, again, looking for riches, whether it was
  


17   more beaver pelt; but, also, you know, they were aware
  


18   of signs of precious metals.  And so they were arrested
  


19   and put in prison and Sylvester died.
  


20       Q.    Is there any record that they floated down
  


21   the Verde, Salt, or the Gila on their way to
  


22   California?
  


23       A.    There's no record of that.
  


24       Q.    But they did travel on the Colorado?
  


25       A.    They crossed the Colorado.
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 1       Q.    Prior to their arrival in Arizona, generally
  


 2   speaking, were these men, is there record of these men
  


 3   being trappers in other states in the Midwest?
  


 4       A.    Yes, they moved west and many of them had
  


 5   practiced that craft and others in the past, yes, in
  


 6   the riparian areas of the United States, yes.
  


 7       Q.    And, in fact, wasn't Kit Carson born in
  


 8   Missouri near the Mississippi River?
  


 9       A.    Yes, he was.
  


10       Q.    Did he travel up and down the Mississippi
  


11   River?
  


12       A.    He did, as a young man.
  


13       Q.    So would you describe the mountain men as
  


14   skilled boaters?
  


15       A.    They certainly could be.
  


16       Q.    Did they use boats to navigate rivers in
  


17   other parts of the country?
  


18       A.    I would say yes.
  


19       Q.    Did they have skills as boat builders?
  


20       A.    I'm certain that would be a skill set, given
  


21   the lifestyle they chose and the economic activity they
  


22   chose to undertake.
  


23       Q.    What do you mean when you say the lifestyle
  


24   they chose?
  


25       A.    Well, you're by yourself.  A lot of them were
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 1   by themselves most of the year and then they would meet
  


 2   at some predetermined point.  I think the great
  


 3   rendezvous of 1832 was just a madhouse, and they had
  


 4   not seen civilization, so there was three days of
  


 5   drinking.  Maybe they spent their entire year's,
  


 6   whatever they had made during that year, in a five-day
  


 7   period.  It was kind of a debauchery.  But I think the
  


 8   1832 rendezvous was well-known among western historians
  


 9   as the big one, and then after that they become less
  


10   vigorous.
  


11       Q.    So do you think they would have been familiar
  


12   with the various types of boats that could navigate
  


13   rivers where beaver were otherwise trapped?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    Last December one of the State's witnesses, I
  


16   believe it was Mr. Farmer, said that a good mountain
  


17   man would definitely use the Verde River for boating.
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    Were you actually here for that testimony?
  


20       A.    No.  As I said, I'm a latecomer to these
  


21   proceedings on the Verde.
  


22       Q.    So you take my word for it?
  


23       A.    If you say so, Cynthia, I accept that.
  


24       Q.    So if I'm wrong, then what you're about to
  


25   say might not be correct?


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 2377


  


 1       A.    Okay.  Yes.
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  Based on the historic record you've
  


 3   reviewed, is that an accurate opinion regarding what
  


 4   men known as mountain men in Arizona actually did in
  


 5   the 1800s, that is, navigated the Verde River?
  


 6       A.    I have seen no record of that in my work and
  


 7   evaluation of the material.
  


 8       Q.    In fact, how did the mountain men of the
  


 9   early 1800s travel?
  


10       A.    By foot, by pack mule, by horse.
  


11       Q.    And, in fact, it was a pretty big deal when
  


12   their horses would be stolen by the Indians, wasn't it?
  


13       A.    It was bad, and they even noted, yes, it was
  


14   a big deal when they were stolen by the Indians.  And
  


15   at some point they had to eat their dogs and their
  


16   horses, blah, you know, unfortunately, when things got
  


17   bad.  So that was not uncommon.
  


18       Q.    On Page 10 of your report, you discuss Ewing
  


19   Young and his expedition to the Salt River in 1828.  Do
  


20   you see that?
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    And I think you also stated that he pioneered
  


23   a grueling overland trail up and down the Verde River
  


24   and west to California across the Mohave Desert?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    What do you mean by grueling overland trail?
  


 2       A.    Well, it was grueling meaning it was very
  


 3   difficult to travel, and in some places he followed
  


 4   Indian trails and other places he cut his own way; but
  


 5   he knew where he was going.  He was very skilled.  And
  


 6   he ended up spending a lot of time in California and
  


 7   the Pacific Northwest afterwards.
  


 8             So he was quite a roamer of all of them.  He
  


 9   really, during this period, traveled much of the
  


10   unknown West to many.  At that point many Americans
  


11   didn't really know what was out there.  It wasn't until
  


12   maybe Fremont, a few people later, in some of the
  


13   military surveys of the 1850s, we really started to get
  


14   a handle on that.  And I think that, you know, he was a
  


15   pioneer of sorts.
  


16       Q.    So would somebody who liked to travel around
  


17   as much as Young did, would he prefer to build a
  


18   grueling overland road along the Verde instead of
  


19   boating it?
  


20       A.    I think the answer would be yes.
  


21       Q.    And is there any record that he ever traveled
  


22   on the Verde River in any kind of craft?
  


23       A.    There's no record of Ewing Young doing that.
  


24       Q.    How, in fact, did they travel on this
  


25   overland road?
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 1       A.    By horse, and oftentimes walking their horse
  


 2   behind them and traversing mountains and whatever, but
  


 3   usually by horse.
  


 4       Q.    Okay.  We previously talked a little about
  


 5   Spanish mapmakers who mapped the Verde.  Were those
  


 6   maps consistent with maps of the Verde you might find
  


 7   today?
  


 8       A.    No, they weren't.
  


 9       Q.    Why not?
  


10       A.    They never really -- I think they saw the
  


11   Verde from where Camp Verde is today.  This is what
  


12   I've been able to discern from the mapmaking.  But they
  


13   never really saw where it -- where the headwaters were,
  


14   and so they were a little bit confused, the Spaniards
  


15   were.  And this confusion even lasts into the American
  


16   period and the Arizona territorial period, even with
  


17   Rand McNally, which back in the day was the standard.
  


18             So some of the early maps of at first what
  


19   was New Mexico territory from 1850 to 1863, after the
  


20   compromise of 1850, kind of creates -- organizes this
  


21   territory.  And then after 1863, for a variety of
  


22   reasons, Arizona Territory is separated and almost went
  


23   north/south instead of the way it is today.
  


24             And there were attempts to map the territory,
  


25   but it was surprisingly inaccurate sometimes.
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 1       Q.    But wasn't it possible, based upon what
  


 2   you've seen, that they could have walked up the Verde
  


 3   to its headwaters?
  


 4       A.    If they wanted to, I think they would.  I
  


 5   mean it's a bit of a mystery that they didn't follow up
  


 6   all the way to the headwaters.
  


 7       Q.    Is it possible that one of the reasons they
  


 8   didn't accurately map the Verde was because they had no
  


 9   reason to use it, to see it as a highway for commerce?
  


10       A.    I think that would be one reason, yes.
  


11       Q.    Are there others?
  


12       A.    I think the others would be a lack of
  


13   interest.  And then there's always the Indian
  


14   resistance issue.  You know, if you didn't know if they
  


15   were friend or foe or traders or hostiles, that played
  


16   a factor.  But if it were a highway of commerce or a
  


17   way to travel, certainly someone, Spanish, Mexican, or
  


18   later American, would have naturally, I think, gone to
  


19   the headwaters.
  


20       Q.    But of the maps that you've seen from the
  


21   Spanish explorers, specifically, did they generally
  


22   depict the area of the lower Verde, what we've
  


23   described as Segments 4 and 5?
  


24       A.    Yeah.  Yes.
  


25       Q.    And were the maps always consistent with
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 1   their use of the nomenclature or the names that they
  


 2   called the various waterways that they observed?
  


 3       A.    No.  It changed over time, you know, as we --
  


 4   I think it's pretty well-documented in previous
  


 5   proceedings and these that the names shifted.  I think
  


 6   the German one, Blau.  What's blue; what do they call
  


 7   it?
  


 8       Q.    Blau.
  


 9       A.    Blau, thank you.
  


10             So some of these, The Rio de la Asunción.  So
  


11   ultimately they settled on Verde and Salt and Gila, the
  


12   main three.
  


13       Q.    So after the Spanish explorers and after the
  


14   mountain men, what was the next group of people that
  


15   attempted to come into the Verde area and map it?
  


16       A.    It would be the Americans, I mean.  Yeah,
  


17   American.
  


18       Q.    Any particular group of Americans?
  


19       A.    Well, first the military, and then later, you
  


20   know, miners coming across and looking for precious
  


21   metals.
  


22       Q.    And were these maps, these original maps,
  


23   made by the military, say, for example, were they made
  


24   at a time before the Verde was being diverted by
  


25   settlement?
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 1       A.    Yes.
  


 2       Q.    And, in fact, weren't all the Spanish maps
  


 3   and all the Spanish exploration and the mountain men
  


 4   and the military arrival, wasn't that all before the
  


 5   Verde was it diverted in any meaningful way?
  


 6       A.    Yes.  I was reading even on the upper
  


 7   segments, the brief from 2006, and it looks as though
  


 8   those from Perkinsville down to Camp Verde, even though
  


 9   this isn't really part of what I looked at, but they
  


10   diverted around 1865, I believe.  And the first
  


11   diversions in Segments 4 and 5 come with the
  


12   establishment of Fort McDowell, what became Fort
  


13   McDowell, and that's in 1866.
  


14       Q.    So if I were to tell you that the Court of
  


15   Appeals has called that era the time when the Verde was
  


16   in its natural condition, would you agree with me that
  


17   the records of the Spanish explorers, the maps they
  


18   produced, as well as the mountain men accounts and the
  


19   military accounts, were all observations of the Verde
  


20   River in its natural condition?
  


21       A.    I would say yes.
  


22       Q.    Why was it important for the military to draw
  


23   accurate maps of rivers?
  


24       A.    Well, one, for defense purposes; also, as
  


25   routes for transportation.  Transportation was a major
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 1   consideration for the military where they're
  


 2   prosecuting, whether General Crook, in both his
  


 3   iterations in Arizona, the first one in the early 1870s
  


 4   and then he has to come back in the 1880s with the
  


 5   Geronimo situation, but transportation was important;
  


 6   and so how do you get from Point A to Point B to secure
  


 7   the region for the increasing numbers of settlers.  And
  


 8   so transportation was a consideration.
  


 9             Also, in the 1850s, what's going on in the
  


10   country, there was a great deal of sectionalism North
  


11   and South, and both sides before the Civil War wanted
  


12   to get to the California gold fields, and what's the
  


13   best way; the southern route along the 34th parallel
  


14   or -- yeah, 35th and then the 32nd parallel along the
  


15   South.
  


16             And so you see Jefferson Davis was Secretary
  


17   of War at the time.  You even have camels, the camel
  


18   experiment, which I think suggests that it was kind of
  


19   hard to travel and maybe they could get along better
  


20   than horses and other types of transportation.
  


21             So getting across Arizona became important
  


22   because of the significance of the California strike in
  


23   1848 and the rapid population growth and bringing that
  


24   into the American system and way of government.
  


25   California becomes an immediate state, and New Mexico
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 1   and Arizona went through a very long territorial
  


 2   period.
  


 3       Q.    So are you saying that it would have been
  


 4   very important for the military to track down any river
  


 5   that could be used for transportation purposes?
  


 6       A.    Like the Spanish before them and the
  


 7   explorers, whether they were ecclesiastically oriented
  


 8   or militarily oriented or civilian, the American
  


 9   military also needed a transportation route.  So
  


10   nothing really changed other than political
  


11   sovereignty.
  


12       Q.    And during this period when the military was
  


13   making maps, was there a common misperception or
  


14   inaccuracy with the maps that they produced?
  


15       A.    Yes, and it had to do with the Verde and
  


16   really getting it right in Central Arizona, around
  


17   Sedona, Jerome, north and west of Camp Verde.
  


18       Q.    So what was the common mistake that they were
  


19   making?
  


20       A.    I'll start with the last one.  They thought
  


21   the river started up by the San Francisco Peaks, and
  


22   sometimes the river was called the San Francisco River
  


23   by a variety of people and sovereigns.  And so that was
  


24   one, and that was probably the most common.
  


25             And others, it started -- I forget which one,
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 1   but Little Beaver Creek.  There was some very
  


 2   mysterious watercourses on some of these maps.
  


 3             And, by the way, these maps, all of them
  


 4   except one was part of the Rumsey collection, which was
  


 5   the largest -- out of the largest collection of maps in
  


 6   the world, historic maps.  And he recently donated
  


 7   those to Stanford University's archives, I think in
  


 8   about 2009.  And they're available digitally and
  


 9   online, and it's actually pretty fascinating stuff to
  


10   take a look at.
  


11       Q.    So, actually, on Page 11 of your report, you
  


12   point out -- and my question is, is this accurate?  You
  


13   mention that there were maps in 1857, 1864, and 1866
  


14   that made the same mistake about the main stream of the
  


15   Verde butting up to the San Francisco Peaks; is that
  


16   correct?
  


17       A.    That's correct.
  


18       Q.    So, now, what was the first -- who produced
  


19   the first well-known military map of the Verde River?
  


20       A.    Well-known military, are you talking about
  


21   the New Mexico map, the Department of Military?  Is
  


22   that the one you're talking about?
  


23       Q.    Actually, I'm talking about 1861.
  


24       A.    Yes, the Ives and Whipple expedition, sure.
  


25   And it actually labels the area along the western
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 1   boundary of the Verde as unexplored, which, again, kind
  


 2   of defies logic, in hindsight.
  


 3       Q.    And who were Ives and Whipple?
  


 4       A.    They were military surveyors and trying to
  


 5   survey the route across Northern Arizona, which
  


 6   ultimately became the railroad built between 1880 --
  


 7   about 1881.  But then the Civil War gets in the way,
  


 8   and they're looking for a transportation route across
  


 9   that.  Later, after the war in the 1880s, we have that
  


10   built.
  


11       Q.    So in 1861, were they scouting for a railroad
  


12   route?
  


13       A.    No, not that early.  They were looking for a
  


14   way to get the military across and transportation
  


15   across Northern Arizona.
  


16       Q.    So it had nothing to do -- their expedition
  


17   had nothing to do with railroads?
  


18       A.    No, it didn't.  That kind of interest came
  


19   later.  But that was important because of the
  


20   acquisition of the new territory, and they were
  


21   exploring this new territory that had been taken after
  


22   the signing of the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo in 1848.
  


23       Q.    I'm going to back up for a second.
  


24       A.    Okay.
  


25       Q.    When we talk about the military, what kind of
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 1   materials or reference documents exist that cover the
  


 2   military in the period of -- in Arizona from 1861 up
  


 3   until, say, statehood?
  


 4       A.    There's a lot of records in the National
  


 5   Archives, and you see the lives of people like General
  


 6   Stoneman and other individuals, and they're all there.
  


 7   It's really quite fascinating.  I've been there a lot
  


 8   on another matter.  And so one of the major themes in
  


 9   those records is transportation.  Stoneman's Road and
  


10   then Stoneman's Grade east of the valley here up toward
  


11   where Miami and Globe are, those were major
  


12   preoccupations, and that's a snapshot of 1870, roughly.
  


13       Q.    So, generally speaking, what kinds of
  


14   information would be included in those military
  


15   records?
  


16       A.    Boy.  Similar to the Spaniards, in that they
  


17   observed who the people were, where things were, what
  


18   routes to take, who got paid, how much -- how many
  


19   munitions do we need, where are we going to get our
  


20   food, who is going to supply us, all these rather
  


21   mundane, seemingly mundane, issues, but critically
  


22   important.
  


23       Q.    And were there references to how all of their
  


24   goods and services were transported?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    When did the U.S. military first come to
  


 2   Arizona?
  


 3       A.    They first came through in the war with
  


 4   Mexico in 1846, '47, and 1848.
  


 5       Q.    And where did they come from?
  


 6       A.    The East.  They came from the East to
  


 7   Santa Fe and then Santa Fe across Arizona and hopefully
  


 8   to secure California from the Mexicans at that time.
  


 9       Q.    And later, when the military was interested
  


10   in setting up encampments or installations in Arizona,
  


11   where did they come from?
  


12       A.    They came -- many of them came from
  


13   California, and there's wonderful accounts in a couple
  


14   of fine books by Andrew Masich and Constance Altshuler.
  


15   She wrote four books on the military and military posts
  


16   in Arizona, and many of them come from California.
  


17             In fact, the first district, military
  


18   district, was headquartered at a place called Fort
  


19   Drum, which is near San Pedro today, if you want to
  


20   have a place for that, and they were responsible then.
  


21   Then military strategy shifted and we had more boots on
  


22   the ground, as it were, after 1870.
  


23       Q.    Did the military establish posts or
  


24   encampments along the Verde River?
  


25       A.    Yes.
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 1       Q.    Where?
  


 2       A.    One at Camp Verde and one down at Fort
  


 3   McDowell.
  


 4       Q.    And was Fort Whipple also somewhere in the
  


 5   vicinity of the river?
  


 6       A.    A little, yeah, a ways away, but, yeah, Fort
  


 7   Whipple, Prescott, where I live, yes.
  


 8       Q.    Did the military use the Verde River to move
  


 9   people or material in establishing the posts along the
  


10   Verde?
  


11       A.    They did not.
  


12       Q.    Yet they established the posts on the Verde,
  


13   correct?
  


14       A.    That's correct.
  


15       Q.    Why?
  


16       A.    I think strategic needs, water, diversion of
  


17   the water for use, growing crops.
  


18       Q.    Did the military do any large-scale diversion
  


19   for irrigation prior to 1860?
  


20       A.    They did not.
  


21       Q.    So if the military wasn't using the Verde to
  


22   move its supplies or its people, what mode of
  


23   transportation did they use?
  


24       A.    They used, at first, pretty cumbersome
  


25   wagons, horses, pack animals.  Later they used lighter
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 1   craft, ambulances they called them, and that was an
  


 2   innovation by General Crook to help facilitate
  


 3   efficiency in moving men and material to places where
  


 4   they were needed.
  


 5       Q.    You're mentioning that they changed some
  


 6   modes of transportation, their overland transportation,
  


 7   for efficiency sake.  Was efficiency in transportation,
  


 8   ease in transportation something that the military was
  


 9   concerned about?
  


10       A.    Constantly.  They were concerned about
  


11   transportation repeatedly, continuously during the
  


12   period that, say, 1865 to 1890, which effectively ends
  


13   the Native American issues in Arizona.
  


14       Q.    So from the point when they established Camp
  


15   Verde and Camp McDowell, which became Fort McDowell,
  


16   correct --
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18       Q.    -- were they always -- were they having
  


19   difficulty moving materials and supplies specifically
  


20   to those locations?
  


21       A.    Yes.  There were many accounts and examples
  


22   of how difficult it was to traverse Central Arizona
  


23   from west to east and up to later Fort Apache.  It went
  


24   through several names.  And then they established Fort
  


25   Reno for a little while.  And they had trouble
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 1   fortifying and manning some of these posts.
  


 2       Q.    And in all of those accounts about their
  


 3   efforts to improve their transportation needs, is there
  


 4   any account where they attempted to use the Verde River
  


 5   for purposes of transportation?
  


 6       A.    There's not, in the military, no.
  


 7       Q.    I think you may have mentioned, but I'll
  


 8   follow back.  Did the military build roads to move
  


 9   their provisions?
  


10       A.    Yes, they did.
  


11       Q.    And was it easy to construct the roads?
  


12       A.    No, it was not easy to construct the roads.
  


13       Q.    How do you know that?
  


14       A.    Through various accounts in the National
  


15   Archives, and I think Bourke's work, John G. Bourke.
  


16   There are various histories.  I think Jay J. Wagoner,
  


17   W-A-G-O-N-E-R, his book on Territorial Arizona, Thomas
  


18   Sheridan's book, really covers the difficulties in
  


19   moving from Point A to Point B and carving out overland
  


20   roads.
  


21       Q.    Was there a road built between Fort McDowell
  


22   and Camp Verde?
  


23       A.    Was there a road built.
  


24       Q.    Was there a road they used?
  


25       A.    There was a road they used, yes, and that
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 1   would be maybe Crook's Trail.  They used a lot of
  


 2   different roads.  They cut the Stoneman Road in 1870,
  


 3   which went from Fort Whipple over to Fort McDowell.
  


 4       Q.    Yet doesn't the Verde River run right between
  


 5   Camp Verde and Fort McDowell?
  


 6       A.    Yes, it does.
  


 7       Q.    In fact, both installations are right on the
  


 8   Verde, correct?
  


 9       A.    They are.
  


10                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Cynthia.
  


11                  MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.
  


12                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  May we take a break?
  


13                  MS. CAMPBELL:  Absolutely.  That would
  


14   be wonderful.
  


15                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
  


16                  (A recess was taken from 1:30 p.m. to
  


17   1:46 p.m.)
  


18                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's reconvene,
  


19   Cynthia.
  


20   BY MS. CAMPBELL:
  


21       Q.    All right.  So we're talking about the
  


22   military and their travels and their installations in
  


23   Arizona, correct?
  


24       A.    Right.  Correct.
  


25       Q.    And I think you've already testified about
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 1   the difficulties that transportation posed to the
  


 2   military throughout Arizona, but also on the Verde,
  


 3   correct?
  


 4       A.    Correct.
  


 5       Q.    Is it accurate to say that many of the
  


 6   installations throughout Arizona, including maybe one
  


 7   or two on the Verde, actually closed or ended because
  


 8   of transportation difficulties?
  


 9       A.    Well, are you speaking specifically about
  


10   Fort McDowell?
  


11       Q.    No.
  


12             Do you recall during this hearing seeing a
  


13   photograph of two guys in a boat that appeared to be in
  


14   military uniforms?
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    Can I show you?
  


17       A.    Yeah.
  


18                  MS. CAMPBELL:  And I don't have the
  


19   exhibit number on this.  It was part of Mr. Fuller's
  


20   PowerPoint presentation.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  It shall be known as
  


22   the two guys in a boat in the military.
  


23                  MS. CAMPBELL:  The two guys in a boat.
  


24   Sorry about that.
  


25                  THE WITNESS:  Yes.
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 1                  MS. CAMPBELL:  It is part of Jon
  


 2   Fuller's PowerPoint presentation, which has been
  


 3   submitted by the State as evidence.
  


 4                  THE WITNESS:  Okay.
  


 5                  MS. HERNBRODE:  X030 -- oh, no, sorry.
  


 6                  MS. CAMPBELL:  It wasn't part of your
  


 7   initial.  It was a little later.
  


 8                  THE WITNESS:  I see.
  


 9   BY MS. CAMPBELL:
  


10       Q.    So you see the photograph?
  


11       A.    I see them, yes.
  


12       Q.    Okay.
  


13       A.    Is one guy wearing sunglasses?  I mean --
  


14       Q.    I hope not.  I don't know.
  


15       A.    Must be my eyes.  I have to take a closer
  


16   look at him.  I mean, I'm not saying that to be funny,
  


17   but God.
  


18       Q.    And do you see up in, I think, it's the top
  


19   right portion -- I can't remember if it's the right or
  


20   left. -- where it says "Segment 2"?
  


21       A.    It says "Segment 2" on the top left side.
  


22       Q.    Is that actually part of the photograph that
  


23   was taken?
  


24       A.    No.  "Segment 2"?
  


25       Q.    Yes.
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 1       A.    It was not part of the photograph, no.
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  So it's actually been written on
  


 3   there?
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    All right.  And isn't your testimony
  


 6   primarily dealing with Segments 4 and 5?
  


 7       A.    Correct.
  


 8       Q.    But for a moment let's look at this picture.
  


 9       A.    Okay.
  


10       Q.    Okay?  Let's assume --
  


11                  MS. HERNBRODE:  For the --
  


12                  MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry.
  


13                  MS. HERNBRODE:  For the record, it's
  


14   X035-167.
  


15                  MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.
  


16                  MS. HERNBRODE:  And I don't have a slide
  


17   number yet.
  


18   BY MS. CAMPBELL:
  


19       Q.    What's the page on the bottom there, Jack?
  


20       A.    110, Page 110.
  


21                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Thank you.
  


22   BY MS. CAMPBELL:
  


23       Q.    So Page 110 of that exhibit.
  


24       A.    That exhibit, okay.
  


25       Q.    Let's assume for a moment that the two men in
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 1   that boat in that photograph -- is there a date on that
  


 2   photograph?
  


 3       A.    It says "Fort Verde Soldiers in boat on
  


 4   Verde, circa 1885," and the source, Fort Verde Historic
  


 5   Park.
  


 6       Q.    But does it say anywhere on there where on
  


 7   the Verde that picture was taken?
  


 8       A.    It does not say anything like that.
  


 9       Q.    Other than --
  


10       A.    Other than the "Segment 2."
  


11       Q.    Okay.  So for a moment we'll say there's two
  


12   guys in military uniform in a boat on what's been
  


13   identified as the Verde River, correct?
  


14       A.    That's correct.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  Assuming that for a moment, then is it
  


16   safe to say that the military had access of some sort
  


17   to boats?
  


18       A.    They apparently -- well, one can infer, yes,
  


19   it looks as though they have access to boats.
  


20       Q.    Did they use boats on the Verde River to move
  


21   any type of supply or good or person?
  


22       A.    I have not seen any evidence of that.
  


23       Q.    Are there actual records exist that talk
  


24   about how they moved persons, munitions, material, or
  


25   any other supplies?
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 1       A.    Yes, there's a great deal of material
  


 2   describing how the military moved within Arizona during
  


 3   the period before 1870, yes, and in 1885 too.
  


 4       Q.    But even though they had access to boats and
  


 5   they had two installations directly on the Verde River,
  


 6   there's no record that they ever attempted or actually
  


 7   used the Verde River for travel or trade?
  


 8       A.    None that I have seen.
  


 9       Q.    Did the arrival of the military predate
  


10   modern settlement of the Verde Valley or lower Verde?
  


11       A.    Yes.
  


12       Q.    So is it safe to say that the arrival and the
  


13   establishment of the military installations predated
  


14   diversions of the Verde by the settlers, who arrived
  


15   later?
  


16       A.    Yes, because the settlers followed the
  


17   military.  And, really, until -- and the military is
  


18   basically the biggest moneymaker for the residents of
  


19   the Territory of Arizona until the Thieving 13th
  


20   Legislature of 1885, when they had to replace federal
  


21   spending in the territory, and so the insane asylum,
  


22   the U of A, Arizona State college, those were the new
  


23   federal stipends to replace the military spending.  And
  


24   that was kind of -- they built a bridge over the Gila
  


25   to nowhere, and Yuma got to keep the territorial
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 1   prison, and Prescott held on to the Capitol for a few
  


 2   more years.
  


 3             But 1885 is kind of a signal event.  I just
  


 4   happened to notice that it says 1885.  But that's when
  


 5   the military starts really winding down, military
  


 6   spending in Arizona, in that earlier iteration.
  


 7       Q.    I think you just said that the settlers that
  


 8   did eventually come into the Verde Valley and down the
  


 9   Verde River followed the military, correct?
  


10       A.    Yeah, that's a generalization that I think is
  


11   accurate; that because there was a market for certain
  


12   supplies, whether it's pigs.  Pigs were big at Fort
  


13   McDowell, by the way, more than cattle.  And so there
  


14   was a need for food, for a variety of goods.  There
  


15   were women that had different kinds of needs than the
  


16   military men they were married to, you know, their
  


17   husbands.
  


18             So there were a variety of markets that
  


19   opened up because the military was there; and so,
  


20   therefore, people moved and tried to provide those
  


21   goods and services.
  


22       Q.    And in addition to the other records that
  


23   we've already talked about, including the military
  


24   records, did you locate a record of an early settler
  


25   who traveled to Arizona and settled in or around, I


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 2399


  


 1   believe it might have been, Camp Verde or Fort
  


 2   McDowell?
  


 3       A.    Well, there's many.  I mean I'm not sure.
  


 4       Q.    Martha Summerhaven?
  


 5       A.    Oh, Martha Summerhayes, yes.
  


 6       Q.    Summerhayes.
  


 7       A.    Oh, that's it, yes.
  


 8             She wrote a still-famous book.  It's called
  


 9   Vanished Arizona.  It was published in 1908.  It was a
  


10   reflection on her years as a military wife.  She bore a
  


11   child up at Fort Apache, and there's very touching
  


12   accounts of how the Apache women came and helped her
  


13   and made her a little board for the infant.
  


14             But, ultimately, her husband, Jack
  


15   Summerhayes, is stationed at Camp Verde, and so there's
  


16   some various accounts.  And it's really good reading.
  


17   In fact, Frederic Remington wrote her a letter after it
  


18   was published in 1908.  It was a national bestseller
  


19   after Owen Wister's.  It was a western-themed book, and
  


20   so Owen Wister made the bestseller in 1902 with The
  


21   Virginian, and this was the next piece of kind of
  


22   western literature about the American West that became
  


23   a bestseller.  And it was reissued in 1913, and it's
  


24   still a great read.  I recommend it to everybody, if
  


25   you have any interest in your history.


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 2400


  


 1             But she provided a very compelling account.
  


 2   Beautiful writer, probably a good editor, one that I
  


 3   need.  You know, I need a good editor.  Everyone does.
  


 4             And she describes, I selected a few -- I had
  


 5   to be selective. -- a few lines of what it might be
  


 6   like to travel across Arizona en route to Camp Verde.
  


 7       Q.    And, in fact, I believe in your report, on
  


 8   Page 14, you're saying she traveled from Fort Yuma to
  


 9   Fort Whipple to Camp Verde to Fort Apache and then Fort
  


10   McDowell, correct?
  


11       A.    Correct.  Yeah, all over.
  


12       Q.    And did she ever travel on river during --
  


13       A.    She did not.
  


14       Q.    And, in fact, she described her overland
  


15   travels, didn't she?
  


16       A.    She did.
  


17       Q.    And would she describe those as preferable to
  


18   river travel?
  


19       A.    No.  How she mentioned water is they had to
  


20   go from water source to water source and then they
  


21   would camp out.  It was really very, very tough, and
  


22   I'm sure Mrs. Summerhayes, her account's accurate.
  


23       Q.    And, in fact, her accounts state that
  


24   sometimes the travel was so difficult they would have
  


25   to get out and pick their way down rocky areas,
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 1   correct?
  


 2       A.    Correct, yeah.  Yes.
  


 3             I've been looking for a chance to use the
  


 4   word declivity, but I have not found it yet.  But yeah.
  


 5   So yeah.
  


 6       Q.    Sorry.  I just took it away.
  


 7             When the settlers did come, did they have a
  


 8   reason to use the Verde if it were a viable mode of
  


 9   transportation?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    Did people settle in and around Camp Verde?
  


12       A.    They did, yes.
  


13       Q.    And did they have any dealings with the
  


14   Indian Reservation at Fort McDowell or any other
  


15   settlers in the area of Rio Verde?
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17             Did you mean, in your last question, was it
  


18   Camp Verde up on Segment 3, I'm assuming, or did you
  


19   mean Fort McDowell?
  


20       Q.    I meant from Camp Verde to Fort McDowell.
  


21       A.    Oh.  Yes.  Okay, yes.  Okay.
  


22       Q.    So would they have had a reason to float down
  


23   the river to move goods or move people?
  


24       A.    There would be -- that would be easier than
  


25   traveling overland.  My assumption is that, yes.
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 1       Q.    What transportation needs did the settlers
  


 2   have?
  


 3       A.    Needs?
  


 4       Q.    Yes.
  


 5       A.    They needed to get from -- depending on what
  


 6   year you hit on the map, they needed to get from
  


 7   Point A to Point B.  I mean, you know, Phoenix doesn't
  


 8   really come into existence until, you know, 1870, late
  


 9   1860s.  And so I think by 1875, I think Fort McDowell
  


10   and Phoenix may have had a lively exchange of goods and
  


11   services and people, thanks to the construction of the
  


12   Fort McDowell Road, which I've seen on one map in the
  


13   Verde study, the lower Verde study, on the map it's --
  


14   the only one I've seen, it says Hay Camp Road.
  


15       Q.    We'll get there.
  


16       A.    Yeah, okay.
  


17       Q.    All right.  So that's going to take us to who
  


18   was John Y.T. Smith?
  


19       A.    John Y.T. Smith is one of the earlier
  


20   settlers, if not the earliest settler, in what is now
  


21   Phoenix.  The Y.T. stands for he had a Territorial
  


22   Legislature, the Tenth, add Y.T. officially to his
  


23   name.  He had a legal action in the Territorial
  


24   Legislature because there were so many John Smiths, he
  


25   wanted to distinguish himself, so Y.T. means Yours
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 1   Truly.  And that's really what it means, and it's in
  


 2   the record.  It's kind of funny.
  


 3             And up in Prescott there's a guy named
  


 4   Yelling Terry that we call Y.T., but so I'm fond of
  


 5   Y.T.
  


 6             But he was really a very entrepreneurial guy,
  


 7   and even in Senator Hayden's early correspondence, when
  


 8   he's a kid, they were worried about competing with John
  


 9   Smith because he was such a good entrepreneur with the
  


10   Hayden Mill later on.  So he's a major figure in the
  


11   early Anglo-American history of this region.
  


12       Q.    When he first came to Arizona, did he come as
  


13   a member of the military?
  


14       A.    Yes, he did.
  


15       Q.    And where was he stationed?
  


16       A.    He was stationed at Camp McDowell, Fort
  


17   McDowell.
  


18       Q.    And what was his job?
  


19       A.    Well, he was kind of the transportation boss,
  


20   and then he became the camp sutler.  That word goes out
  


21   of existence about that time, and he became the trader,
  


22   the post trader.
  


23       Q.    What does sutler mean?
  


24       A.    I don't know.  I've never really -- but they
  


25   called him the sutler.  He was kind of responsible for
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 1   the inflow and outflow of goods and buying things, so
  


 2   maybe --
  


 3       Q.    Does sutler maybe mean trader?
  


 4       A.    Yeah, trader, yeah; and it went out of
  


 5   existence.  And then later he was -- when he mustered
  


 6   out, he began -- got a contract with the military, as
  


 7   many people did.
  


 8       Q.    So as a master of transportation, is it safe
  


 9   to say that he was well-acquainted with travel and
  


10   trade?
  


11       A.    Yes, he was.
  


12       Q.    And when did he come to Arizona?
  


13       A.    Looks like 1866, if I'm not mistaken.
  


14       Q.    I think in your report you say 1865, but --
  


15       A.    Right, okay, 1865, yes.  That makes sense,
  


16   one year earlier, a few months.  Yeah, with the
  


17   14th U.S. Regimen, yes.
  


18       Q.    And after he came to Arizona and served as
  


19   the master of transportation, camp sutler, camp trader,
  


20   did he leave the military?
  


21       A.    Yes, he did.
  


22       Q.    And what did he do?
  


23       A.    He went south and west and developed a hay
  


24   camp to supply the needs for Fort McDowell.
  


25       Q.    So he maintained a relationship with the
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 1   military even though he wasn't in the military?
  


 2       A.    Yes.  He was a good networker for his time.
  


 3       Q.    In fact, didn't he have a contract with the
  


 4   military to supply hay for their --
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    -- livestock?
  


 7       A.    Yes.  Yes, he did.
  


 8       Q.    And how did he go about supplying that hay?
  


 9       A.    Well, let's go back a little bit.
  


10   Originally, General McDowell wanted a diversion so that
  


11   the Camp, the Fort, the Camp/the Fort, could grow its
  


12   own crops, and they had a little garden.  Well, the
  


13   local citizenry protested.  They said they should be
  


14   out fighting Indians and not growing gardens, and so
  


15   very beginning quickly that went to the private sector.
  


16   That's, I think, not uncommon.
  


17             And so that was contracted out, and so he
  


18   became one of the first contractors.  And what he did
  


19   is he happened to know Jack Swilling and some of these
  


20   miners up in Wickenburg, some of whom were questionable
  


21   people.  Swilling was a drunkard and a morphine addict,
  


22   among other things, but nevertheless, a confederate
  


23   deserter, among other things, but he also had the
  


24   vision to divert waters from the Salt River.  And,
  


25   thus, we have the birth of -- the rebirth of Phoenix
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 1   from the Hohokam civilization, as we like to say.
  


 2       Q.    And where did -- so did Smith establish his
  


 3   own place for diversion?
  


 4       A.    Yes, he had, at first, yeah, and he diverted
  


 5   over at about 40th and, I would say, let's say,
  


 6   Van Buren, roughly, pretty close to here, near where
  


 7   the modern airport is.  Yeah, over there.
  


 8       Q.    Just east of here?
  


 9       A.    Just east of here.  And then there are a
  


10   couple of more straws are put into the river
  


11   downstream, but very quickly it gets going and the hay
  


12   camp, and then he and his partners really started the
  


13   Fort McDowell Road, and that's how they delivered the
  


14   hay to the camp and then it became a thoroughfare.
  


15       Q.    And just backing up a second, so he was able
  


16   to establish a hay camp here near the Salt River?
  


17       A.    Yes, he did, just north.
  


18       Q.    And you mentioned Jack Swilling.  Did that
  


19   involve diverting the Salt River for purposes of
  


20   growing hay at his hay camp?
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    But he didn't divert on the Verde, did he?
  


23       A.    No, he did not.
  


24       Q.    Did he use the Verde to come down to his hay
  


25   camp at the Salt?
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 1       A.    No.  No, he did not.
  


 2       Q.    Did he use the Salt and then the Verde to go
  


 3   up to Fort McDowell?
  


 4       A.    No, he did not go upstream.
  


 5       Q.    But, clearly, he was going between his hay
  


 6   camp here in what is now Phoenix --
  


 7       A.    Uh-huh.  Yes.
  


 8       Q.    -- and Fort McDowell?
  


 9       A.    Yes, he was.
  


10       Q.    And I think, did you say, he built a road for
  


11   that purpose?
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    Did he build the road at his own cost?
  


14       A.    No, he had partners, and there are a group of
  


15   investors, some sweat equity, others put some money in,
  


16   Darrell Duppa.  Most of these people came from mining
  


17   adventurers, mining efforts in the Wickenburg area
  


18   after that strike.
  


19       Q.    But the military didn't build that road, did
  


20   they?
  


21       A.    The military did not build the road.
  


22       Q.    The territorial government didn't build that
  


23   road, did they?
  


24       A.    No.  No, counties early on built roads.
  


25       Q.    And did the county build that road?
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 1       A.    The county did not build that road.
  


 2       Q.    During this hearing, have you heard a
  


 3   description of the term lining?
  


 4       A.    Yes.  That's a new -- I'm learning, learning
  


 5   a lot of things.
  


 6       Q.    Well, based on what you've heard, do you have
  


 7   an understanding of what that term means?
  


 8       A.    Yes.  Yes, I do.
  


 9       Q.    And can you describe what your understanding
  


10   of that term is?
  


11       A.    My understanding is putting a rope or line to
  


12   a watercraft and pulling it from a land-based footing
  


13   from Point A to Point B.
  


14       Q.    So the craft stays in the water or in the
  


15   riverbed at least?
  


16       A.    That's my understanding.
  


17       Q.    And the person pulling it is on land?
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    Is that your understanding?
  


20       A.    That's my understanding.
  


21       Q.    Well, let's assume for a moment that that's
  


22   what we're talking about.
  


23             Based on your understanding of that term,
  


24   would it have been useful to John Y.T. Smith to line
  


25   his goods or supplies up and down the Salt and Verde
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 1   Rivers, because his hay camp was located right on the
  


 2   Salt, wasn't it?
  


 3       A.    Yes, it was.
  


 4       Q.    And Fort McDowell is right on the Verde,
  


 5   correct?
  


 6       A.    Yes.
  


 7       Q.    Would it have been useful for him to line a
  


 8   watercraft of any kind up and down the river for
  


 9   purposes of moving his hay?
  


10       A.    In my opinion, yes, it would be advantageous.
  


11   You could do it, if he thought of it.
  


12       Q.    Is there any historic record that Smith ever
  


13   lined either the Salt or Verde Rivers, whether that was
  


14   an attempt or an actual success?
  


15       A.    There's no record that I've been able to
  


16   uncover or discover.
  


17       Q.    I think you've referenced the Stoneman Road
  


18   before.  Is the Stoneman Road in the vicinity of the
  


19   Verde River?
  


20       A.    It goes to Fort McDowell.  It's in the
  


21   vicinity, and there's still, I think, a remnant of it
  


22   in the McDowell Mountains, and there's a little local
  


23   nonprofit organization that has preserved the last
  


24   remnant of the Stoneman Road around all the development
  


25   that's going on out there.  So it did go to Fort
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 1   McDowell.
  


 2       Q.    Who built that?
  


 3       A.    The military.
  


 4       Q.    And was it easy for them to build that road?
  


 5       A.    It was difficult to build that road, but it
  


 6   saved several miles from the way they formerly went,
  


 7   the trail that was previously used.  So it was, again,
  


 8   a matter of streamlining, efficiency, and to conduct
  


 9   the approach to fighting the recalcitrant Indians.
  


10       Q.    Was it expensive to build the road?
  


11       A.    It was expensive, yes.  I don't have the
  


12   figure in my head.  I used to.
  


13       Q.    You used to know how much it cost to build
  


14   the Stoneman Road?
  


15       A.    Yeah, I did.  I saw it.
  


16       Q.    And during your time in this hearing, have
  


17   you heard a conversation about the Day brothers?
  


18       A.    Yes, I have.
  


19       Q.    I'm going to show you what's previously been
  


20   marked as the State's Exhibit X001-18.
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    Which is --
  


23       A.    I have it here, with "German Syrup."  Is that
  


24   the one?  Yeah.
  


25       Q.    Oh, okay, that is.  That, in fact, is.
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 1             This is the Arizona Sentinel, dated
  


 2   April 2nd, 1892.  Is that consistent with what you're
  


 3   seeing?
  


 4       A.    That's what I see, yes.
  


 5       Q.    Okay.  And if anybody wants a copy, I have
  


 6   extra copies.
  


 7             But I'm going to say the copy you're
  


 8   holding -- actually, I do have some other copies.  I've
  


 9   taken the liberty of blowing it up a little better to
  


10   read, on the first page of this two-page, and then the
  


11   second page I left more to scale as to what the State
  


12   used so you can see the date at the top.  Is that --
  


13       A.    Yes.
  


14       Q.    -- what you're seeing?
  


15       A.    I see that, yes.
  


16                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Cynthia, for the rest of
  


17   us, our exhibit actually has a blown-up page as the
  


18   second page of it, so...
  


19                  MS. CAMPBELL:  Not this one, but...
  


20                  MS. HERNBRODE:  All right.
  


21                  MS. CAMPBELL:  I know I used the copier
  


22   this morning to do this, but okay.  All right.
  


23   BY MS. CAMPBELL:
  


24       Q.    So have you heard testimony about this
  


25   account of the Day brothers?
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 1       A.    Yes, a couple times, and I've seen reference
  


 2   to it a couple of other times, yes.
  


 3       Q.    Okay.  And since this has been testified
  


 4   about so many times, I'm going to -- if you don't mind,
  


 5   I'm going to maybe summarize it, and you tell me if
  


 6   that's your understanding of what you've seen in this
  


 7   exhibit.
  


 8       A.    Oh, okay.
  


 9       Q.    That according to this, on September 1st,
  


10   1891, these two brothers left Camp Verde in a small
  


11   boat and they traveled to Yuma, arriving in Yuma on
  


12   March 27th of the following year, that being 1892.
  


13             Am I right so far?
  


14       A.    Yeah.  I reviewed it just before I walked in
  


15   here.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  And that they also mentioned that
  


17   they've been trapping and that they brought a large
  


18   quantity of fur, assuming to Yuma; that I think that's
  


19   what the reference is; and that they did it by
  


20   traveling on the Verde, through the Rio Salado or Salt
  


21   River, and then they came down the Gila and found
  


22   themselves at Yuma, their boat floating upon the waters
  


23   of the great Colorado of the west.
  


24             Is that also --
  


25       A.    That's in there, yes.  That's part of that.
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 1       Q.    And, actually, the original exhibit that the
  


 2   State has in the record is cut off, but --
  


 3                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Oh.
  


 4   BY MS. CAMPBELL:
  


 5       Q.    Yeah, at the words "fifth one."
  


 6             But I did find the other original reference.
  


 7   But that -- well, the last sentence that you see on
  


 8   this --
  


 9       A.    "Fifth one," yeah.
  


10       Q.    Right, says "The distance traveled by the
  


11   Messrs. Day by river is a trip over 800 miles, and is
  


12   the fifth one," and I believe the rest of the sentence
  


13   goes on to say that it's the fifth one they've done, or
  


14   something to that effect.  Let me see.
  


15             "The fifth one made by J.K. Day."  And I
  


16   think you're going to have to take that very last four
  


17   words --
  


18       A.    Okay.
  


19       Q.    -- on me.
  


20       A.    J.K. Day.
  


21       Q.    Because I actually looked it up myself and
  


22   found it.
  


23       A.    Okay, J.K. Day.
  


24       Q.    Okay.
  


25                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  For the record, it is
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 1   correct in the --
  


 2                  MS. CAMPBELL:  Is it?
  


 3                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  It's in the file, so
  


 4   there must have been something wrong with the copy you
  


 5   were looking at.
  


 6                  MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  It's the one
  


 7   that's on the website, so...
  


 8                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  That's the one I'm
  


 9   looking at right now, so...
  


10                  MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, okay.  I didn't see
  


11   the end of it.  So...
  


12   BY MS. CAMPBELL:
  


13       Q.    So this is from April of 1892, correct?
  


14       A.    Correct.
  


15       Q.    So it took these guys six months, 180 days,
  


16   if you're counting, to get from Camp Verde to Yuma; is
  


17   that correct?
  


18       A.    I'm not a mathematician, but, yes, that seems
  


19   correct.
  


20       Q.    Approximately?
  


21       A.    Approximately.
  


22       Q.    So they say they traveled 800 miles.
  


23       A.    Okay.
  


24       Q.    Are you a cartographer?
  


25       A.    Oh, no.


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 2415


  


 1       Q.    Do you know the exact distance, if you're
  


 2   going down the Verde River and down the Salt River and
  


 3   down the Gila River to Yuma, that it would be between
  


 4   Camp Verde and Yuma?
  


 5       A.    I don't know that distance.  I can't
  


 6   calculate it.
  


 7       Q.    Do you know if it's a trip over 800 miles?
  


 8       A.    That seems, I mean, someone uneducated in
  


 9   this field, that field, that seems high.
  


10       Q.    Okay.  And, in fact, if I were to tell you
  


11   that the State has introduced exhibits which indicates
  


12   that the distance between Perkinsville on the Verde and
  


13   the confluence of the Verde and the Salt is 153.5
  


14   miles, would that make more sense to you?
  


15       A.    That makes sense, yes.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  And Perkinsville is actually upstream
  


17   of Camp Verde, is it not?
  


18       A.    It is.
  


19       Q.    So the distance between Camp Verde and the
  


20   confluence with the Salt River is less than 153 miles?
  


21       A.    Okay.  Yes.
  


22       Q.    And if I were to tell you that the distance
  


23   on the Gila River between the New Mexico border and
  


24   Yuma was 649 miles, would that sound about right to
  


25   you?
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 1       A.    That sounds in the ballpark, yes.
  


 2       Q.    You would take my word for it?
  


 3       A.    I take your word for that.
  


 4       Q.    Okay.  So is it fair to say that the distance
  


 5   that the Day brothers claim they traveled, a trip they
  


 6   say of over 800 miles, was far less than 800 miles?
  


 7       A.    Yes.
  


 8       Q.    But, probably, if you're traveling for six
  


 9   months, it probably feels like you've gone 800 miles,
  


10   right?
  


11       A.    Easily, yes.
  


12       Q.    All right.  Let's take a look at that.  Let's
  


13   say for just one moment that the Day brothers actually
  


14   traveled 600 miles.
  


15       A.    Okay.
  


16       Q.    We don't actually -- you don't actually know
  


17   the distance, do you?
  


18       A.    I don't know the distance sitting here.
  


19       Q.    And I don't either.
  


20       A.    I don't.
  


21       Q.    But let's just say for the moment it's
  


22   600 miles.
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    At 180 days.
  


25             If I were to tell you, because you don't have
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 1   the calculator, but I do --
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    -- that that is 3.3 miles a day for 180 days,
  


 4   does that seem like a long time to you, I mean a good
  


 5   clip on a river that's navigable, to travel 3.3 miles a
  


 6   day?
  


 7       A.    No, it doesn't seem --
  


 8       Q.    In fact, you could probably walk 3.3 miles a
  


 9   day, couldn't you?
  


10       A.    I did it this morning.
  


11       Q.    You did?
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    And if there were two people, you could
  


14   probably pull a canoe 3.3 miles a day?
  


15       A.    Okay.
  


16       Q.    Is that correct?
  


17       A.    That would be correct.
  


18       Q.    Now, 600 miles probably still seems a little
  


19   large, so let's say for a moment that it was 500 miles
  


20   total, divided by 180 days.  So now you're less than 3
  


21   miles a day.  Does that sound right?
  


22       A.    That sounds right, the calculation.
  


23       Q.    Now, based upon the types of transportation
  


24   that would have occurred in 1892, were people doing
  


25   business, were people conducting business where they
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 1   traveled on a river less than 3 miles a day and took
  


 2   six months to move their goods from one point to
  


 3   another?  Does that sound reasonable to you?
  


 4       A.    That doesn't sound reasonable.
  


 5       Q.    And, in fact, let me ask you a question.
  


 6   Step back for a moment and talk about the Arizona
  


 7   Sentinel in April of 1892.
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    What types of articles were written in the
  


10   newspaper in 1892?
  


11       A.    Well, I think the news of the day.  The Yuma,
  


12   this is actually a fairly vigorous, well-regarded
  


13   newspaper at the time, and Yuma was a comparatively
  


14   large settlement in 1892.  And they had all types of
  


15   things, from the Republican League, so it covered
  


16   local, national matters, as well as, I think, local
  


17   issues of interest or entertainment.  I mean I think
  


18   there's entertainment value and people enjoyed that,
  


19   and I think it's a form of entertainment as well as
  


20   news, yes.
  


21       Q.    So in 1892, a newspaper like the Arizona
  


22   Sentinel might not only be publishing newsworthy items,
  


23   but also entertainment value items?
  


24       A.    Sure.  I think it's common.
  


25       Q.    And, in fact, two columns away from this
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 1   there's an interesting little article about German
  


 2   syrup being used for a cold on the lungs?
  


 3       A.    Yes.  It looks more like kind of an ad, yes,
  


 4   but a long ad.
  


 5       Q.    But it's presented as an article, isn't it?
  


 6       A.    Yeah, it's presented as an article, a news
  


 7   item; but it apparently advertises the benefits of this
  


 8   German syrup in allaying various ills.
  


 9       Q.    And while it wasn't originally presented that
  


10   way, if I were to show you the entire first page of the
  


11   Arizona Sentinel and you would see, at the bottom, one
  


12   or two-sentence descriptions of various residents of
  


13   Yuma that came and went to visit relatives or go other
  


14   places, would that be something you would expect to see
  


15   in a newspaper in 1892?
  


16       A.    Yes, quite common, from -- I just did some
  


17   work on Hebron, Iowa, and if you knew who went to visit
  


18   whom, who left town for a day.  The Miami Silver Belt
  


19   documented Frank Snell going to Phoenix for one day,
  


20   and that was the day that he decided to move to Phoenix
  


21   and begin practicing law here in 1927.
  


22             So it was common to go through these.  It was
  


23   common to report that kind of activity, which seems
  


24   mundane, you know; but that was important and had some
  


25   news value and some entertainment value.
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 1       Q.    And the people that were generally described
  


 2   as moving from place to place and visiting their aunt
  


 3   here or there, taking a vacation, were those all
  


 4   notable people or famous people or politicians or
  


 5   otherwise newsworthy people?
  


 6       A.    Sometimes, but sometimes it was the neighbor.
  


 7   There was a mix of who was, you know, notable people
  


 8   and just common, regular working folks.
  


 9       Q.    So you've looked at this article entitled
  


10   A Long Journey, about the Day brothers?
  


11       A.    Yes.
  


12       Q.    And what is your opinion, based upon your
  


13   knowledge of historical records and newspapers of that
  


14   vintage, about this article?
  


15       A.    Well, it obviously could be factual, but it's
  


16   also very entertaining to read.  I could imagine those
  


17   who were working their hard lives away would read
  


18   something like that and that would seem adventuresome
  


19   and exciting, so...
  


20       Q.    And what was the fur trade like in 1892?
  


21       A.    It certainly wasn't as vigorous and important
  


22   and central to the economy of the region as it was,
  


23   say, in the 1820s and '30s, and there was a little more
  


24   economic diversification in Arizona by 1892.  There was
  


25   some other activities going on.  So in many ways it's
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 1   kind of like an outlier.  I would use maybe that term
  


 2   to describe it.
  


 3       Q.    And based upon the way this article reads, is
  


 4   it safe to say that the content of the article, in
  


 5   terms of the, I'll use the word, facts that are
  


 6   included in the article, the source of those facts
  


 7   comes from Mr. Day himself?
  


 8       A.    Yeah, Mr. Day apparently talking to one of
  


 9   the journalists and writers.
  


10       Q.    So he's the one that gives the information
  


11   about leaving September 1st, 1891, correct?
  


12       A.    I would assume that.  I would assume that
  


13   fact.
  


14       Q.    And he's the one that describes that he has
  


15   this lucrative fur trading business, or at least came
  


16   down the river on more than one occasion, according to
  


17   him --
  


18       A.    Yes.
  


19       Q.    -- for fur trading, correct?
  


20       A.    Yes.
  


21       Q.    And he's the one that said he traveled on the
  


22   Verde River to the Salt, to the Gila, down to Yuma; is
  


23   that correct?
  


24       A.    That is correct, from my reading.
  


25       Q.    And he's also the one that said it was a trip
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 1   of over 800 miles?
  


 2       A.    That's correct.
  


 3       Q.    Do you think all of those facts are
  


 4   accurate?
  


 5       A.    Well, at least starting with the distance, I
  


 6   think that is inaccurate.
  


 7       Q.    All right.  But, obviously, the Arizona
  


 8   Sentinel, not to impugn a Yuma newspaper, but obviously
  


 9   the Arizona Sentinel didn't check the facts on at least
  


10   that part?
  


11                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mark that, would you,
  


12   Jody?
  


13   BY MS. CAMPBELL:
  


14       Q.    But they obviously didn't check the facts on
  


15   what Mr. Day told them; is that correct?
  


16       A.    Yeah, that's correct.
  


17       Q.    And have you ever been able to locate any
  


18   other written historical records that indicate that
  


19   anyone used the Verde River -- I'm not even going to
  


20   say from Camp Verde to Yuma. -- let's just say from
  


21   Camp Verde to Fort McDowell or any part of the Verde
  


22   River for travel or trade?
  


23       A.    I have not seen anything of that nature in
  


24   the records that I have reviewed.
  


25       Q.    Did you ever see anybody refer to it as a
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 1   highway of commerce?
  


 2       A.    I have not, no.
  


 3       Q.    And based upon your review of the records,
  


 4   was it a highway of commerce?
  


 5       A.    No.
  


 6       Q.    I'll make that easier for you so we don't
  


 7   have to use buzz words like highway of commerce.
  


 8       A.    Okay.
  


 9       Q.    Have you ever seen any record of anybody
  


10   trading, doing any kind of commerce or travel on the
  


11   Verde River?
  


12       A.    No, I have not.
  


13       Q.    And based on your review of the historical
  


14   record, the statements you've just made, is that the
  


15   basis -- I'm going to go back to the first page of your
  


16   report for a moment.
  


17       A.    Yes, okay.
  


18       Q.    And I'm going to read the last sentence of
  


19   the first paragraph.
  


20             "However, after reviewing the complete
  


21   historical record, it is my opinion that none of the
  


22   five segments of the Verde is navigable in its ordinary
  


23   and natural condition prior to the State of Arizona's
  


24   admission to the United States on February 14th, 1912."
  


25             Do you see that sentence?
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 1       A.    I see that sentence.
  


 2       Q.    Is that sentence based upon the information
  


 3   you just told me, in terms of your review of the
  


 4   historical records?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    You're not a geologist?
  


 7       A.    I'm not a geologist.
  


 8       Q.    You're not a geomorphologist, yes?
  


 9       A.    I'm not a geomorphologist.
  


10       Q.    Are you an attorney?
  


11       A.    I am not an attorney.
  


12       Q.    So is that statement making any scientific
  


13   opinion?
  


14       A.    It is not.
  


15       Q.    Is it making a legal opinion?
  


16       A.    It's not.
  


17       Q.    Why not?
  


18       A.    Because I'm not an attorney.
  


19                  MR. HELM:  Or a judge.
  


20                  MS. CAMPBELL:  No, he's not that either.
  


21                  I have no further questions.
  


22                  Can the witness take a break, though?
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, we certainly
  


24   appreciate, Cynthia, the way you've teed this up.
  


25   Who's first?
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 1                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I do
  


 2   have some questions for the witness, but I believe with
  


 3   our witnesses the other side preferred that the folks
  


 4   on this side of the room go first, so if you guys have
  


 5   some questions.
  


 6                  MR. HOOD:  I'm happy to go.  I've got
  


 7   one very short line.
  


 8                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, we're going to
  


 9   take Mr. Hood's very short line, and then we will take
  


10   a break.
  


11                  THE WITNESS:  Okay.
  


12                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Does that work?
  


13                  THE WITNESS:  Yes, that's fine.
  


14                  MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, since we're
  


15   going to take a short one, I'll just move my stuff
  


16   over.
  


17                  THE WITNESS:  I just got a new phone
  


18   this morning.
  


19                  MS. HERNBRODE:  You can't figure out how
  


20   to turn it off?
  


21                  THE WITNESS:  I can't figure how to turn
  


22   it off, yeah.
  


23                  MS. HERNBRODE:  I understand.
  


24                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Hood.
  


25                  MR. HOOD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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 1                     CROSS-EXAMINATION
  


 2   BY MR. HOOD:
  


 3       Q.    Dr. August, how are you this afternoon?
  


 4       A.    Fine, thank you.
  


 5       Q.    I just want to follow up on the Day brothers
  


 6   very briefly.
  


 7             Ms. Campbell asked you to assume a few
  


 8   different figures in terms of the number of miles
  


 9   and so forth, and it was sort of hypothetical in
  


10   nature.
  


11       A.    Yes, yes, of course.
  


12       Q.    I want you to assume that Mr. Burtell has
  


13   used GIS and has calculated the actual distance.
  


14       A.    Wow.
  


15       Q.    And that Ms. Campbell is correct; that
  


16   800 miles is not only an overstatement, but it's a
  


17   gross overstatement.
  


18       A.    Okay.
  


19       Q.    And that it's actually approximately
  


20   363 miles.
  


21       A.    All right.
  


22       Q.    And so if we were going to -- and,
  


23   furthermore, that Mr. Burtell has taken great care to
  


24   go through the calendar and determine that it's
  


25   actually a 209-day trip.
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 1       A.    Oh, more than 180.
  


 2       Q.    Yeah.  So let's do that math.
  


 3             363 divided by 209, and that ends up at about
  


 4   just over 1.7 miles per day, if my calculator is
  


 5   accurate.  And so that's even less -- you're actually
  


 6   making less progress per day than under Ms. Campbell's
  


 7   hypotheticals.
  


 8       A.    Okay, that, what you just stated, seems
  


 9   accurate to me.
  


10       Q.    Okay.  And so does that call into question to
  


11   you that even if the story is correct, that they had
  


12   gone that distance, if it takes you 209 days and
  


13   1.7 miles a day, does that call into question, for you,
  


14   whether this is a reliable highway for commerce?
  


15       A.    It calls that into question.  I can say yes
  


16   to that.
  


17                  MR. HOOD:  Okay.  Thank you,
  


18   Dr. August.
  


19                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you very much.
  


20                  We'll take a break now for 15 minutes.
  


21                  (A recess was taken from 2:27 p.m. to
  


22   2:46 p.m.)
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Are we ready?
  


24                  Joy, please begin.
  


25                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Thank you.
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 1                     CROSS-EXAMINATION
  


 2   BY MS. HERNBRODE:
  


 3       Q.    Good afternoon, Dr. August.
  


 4       A.    Good afternoon.
  


 5       Q.    We haven't met formally.
  


 6       A.    No.
  


 7       Q.    But I'm Joy Hernbrode.
  


 8       A.    Joy, okay.
  


 9       Q.    You can call me Joy.
  


10       A.    Joy, thank you.
  


11       Q.    Ms. Hernbrode is just --
  


12       A.    Jack.
  


13                  (An off-the-record discussion ensued.)
  


14   BY MS. HERNBRODE:
  


15       Q.    I think we've established that you're going
  


16   to call me Joy and I'm going to call you Jack.
  


17       A.    Correct.
  


18       Q.    All right.  I'm going to start with your CV a
  


19   little bit.  Is it fair to say that much of your
  


20   writings focus on the political history of Arizona post
  


21   about the 1920s and the history of various water
  


22   conflicts?
  


23       A.    Yes.
  


24       Q.    Is that because that's where your main
  


25   interest lies?
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 1       A.    I'm interested in all of it, but I like some
  


 2   of the topics that -- in the 20th century, yes.
  


 3       Q.    Are there any good books out there you could
  


 4   recommend on territorial political history of Arizona?
  


 5       A.    Sure.  I would start with Volume 2 of Jay J.
  


 6   Wagoner's Arizona history; I think Thomas Farish of
  


 7   1918; McClintock's, about the same time; Thomas
  


 8   Sheridan, his most recent revision of the Arizona
  


 9   history.  While I like Marshall Trimble, I wouldn't
  


10   recommend Marsh for kind of any serious kind of
  


11   scholarly work.  And then there's a host of kind of
  


12   articles in the Arizona History and other scholarly
  


13   works that cover the naming of Arizona, to all types of
  


14   political and political developments in Arizona.
  


15       Q.    Would you call your current report here
  


16   comprehensive, or did you have sort of a limited focus?
  


17       A.    I had a very limited focus.
  


18       Q.    And I think you said that your limited focus
  


19   was the Verde in its ordinary and natural condition,
  


20   which I think you said was about 1866, correct?
  


21       A.    1866, 1870, you know, yes, beginning of
  


22   development.
  


23       Q.    There's no firm --
  


24       A.    No firm --
  


25       Q.    -- date there?
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 1       A.    No firm date.
  


 2       Q.    Right.
  


 3             Would it be common for a historian to include
  


 4   a list of works cited in their report?
  


 5       A.    Yes, but I used the just footnotes to cite.
  


 6   And the idea of comprehensive bibliographies in terms
  


 7   of academic and scholarly publications in history is --
  


 8   it's so erratic, it's kind of receding into history,
  


 9   that many editors -- and I think it may have to do with
  


10   costs.  Those extensive bibliographies that kind of
  


11   characterize my book on Hayden and others in my recent
  


12   works, they don't have bibliographies, and they just
  


13   rely on your end notes for sources cited.  But that may
  


14   be a stylistic thing.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  Are all the documents you relied on
  


16   listed in your report?
  


17       A.    No, not necessarily, but they were some of
  


18   the most obvious, since it was so brief and I became
  


19   part of this family rather recently, so...
  


20       Q.    Did you review the Land Department's report?
  


21       A.    I've reviewed it in part.  I haven't had
  


22   time, but I will after this.  I'll have some time.
  


23       Q.    Mr. Fuller's latest PowerPoint?
  


24       A.    I've reviewed it.  I have a copy of it and
  


25   was able to take a look at it.  But to review it
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 1   comprehensively like I would like to do, I have not had
  


 2   the time.
  


 3       Q.    Were you here when Mr. Fuller was testifying?
  


 4       A.    No, not at this one.  I didn't catch him.  I
  


 5   may have caught a half a day, but not very much.  But
  


 6   I've seen him testify in the past on another
  


 7   watercourse.
  


 8       Q.    And were you provided with transcripts of
  


 9   Mr. Fuller's testimony?
  


10       A.    Not yet.
  


11       Q.    Did you rely on any other reports from
  


12   experts in this case?
  


13       A.    Not for this report, no, not -- and, again,
  


14   I'm catching up and trying to review things as I go
  


15   along here.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  So you didn't rely on Dr. Littlefield?
  


17       A.    No, no.  But I'm familiar with
  


18   Dr. Littlefield's work and his area of expertise with
  


19   surveying and the history of surveying and that; but I
  


20   have not seen his work in this regard, and I think the
  


21   point was that I provide some other material besides
  


22   that, just to add to the record for the Commission.
  


23       Q.    And you must have looked at at least portions
  


24   of Mr. Burtell's report to get the segments at least?
  


25       A.    Yeah.  Yeah, the segments.  I think it was I
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 1   read 20 pages and then just very quickly reviewed the
  


 2   end note material, including the Joseph Pratt Allyn
  


 3   book that he used.  And so I guess I was most
  


 4   interested not in the technical work that other people
  


 5   are providing, but I was interested in some of his
  


 6   historical references and just to see how he would use
  


 7   those.
  


 8       Q.    So given those answers, I guess I'm a little
  


 9   confused when you say you reviewed the complete
  


10   historic record.  The complete historic record of what,
  


11   I guess is the question?
  


12       A.    The historical record of what I was charged
  


13   with reviewing for this Segments 4 and 5.  If I had,
  


14   and I will have, some more months, then it will really
  


15   truly be comprehensive, and I can even venture to do
  


16   some work in Segments 1, 2, and 3.
  


17       Q.    Did you look at any evidence that's in the
  


18   record from the 1870 and prior period?
  


19       A.    No evidence in this record, no.
  


20       Q.    So I think what you're saying is that you
  


21   relied a lot on your expertise in this area, stuff that
  


22   you've looked at over the course of your career?
  


23       A.    Oh, that's correct.  Yeah.  I was familiar
  


24   with the secondary sources, where the primary sources
  


25   are located, and I looked for any accounts of boating
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 1   or trade up and down the river, but particularly with
  


 2   Segments 4 and 5.
  


 3       Q.    And it looks to be like you primarily relied
  


 4   upon books, though a few newspaper accounts were also
  


 5   included?
  


 6       A.    That's right.  That explains the brevity and
  


 7   the kind of contracted time frame.  But, believe me, I
  


 8   do the long form usually.  I mean the books are long.
  


 9       Q.    And I take it then that you believe that
  


10   those sources are reliable?
  


11       A.    They are, they're reliable.
  


12       Q.    Even though they were, in some cases,
  


13   secondary sources?
  


14       A.    Secondary sources in that field, in the
  


15   borderlands field, are really quite, in my opinion,
  


16   reliable.
  


17       Q.    And newspaper reports, reliable?
  


18       A.    You have to read those very carefully,
  


19   critically, and analytically, particularly from around
  


20   the turn of the century.  And even in my work on
  


21   Senator Hayden, for example, in 1912, when he
  


22   arrested -- it's a little bit after the time frame, but
  


23   when he arrested two train robbers in 1910, the
  


24   verbiage was over the top on how exciting it was and
  


25   all that.  It was much more mundane.
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 1       Q.    They tend to make things sound a little more
  


 2   exciting than they actually were?
  


 3       A.    Yeah.  That's a function of the time.
  


 4       Q.    So when you opine that none of the five
  


 5   segments of the Verde River were navigable, would it be
  


 6   perhaps more correct to state that you found, from the
  


 7   historical records you looked at, that the Verde River
  


 8   was not navigated?
  


 9       A.    It was not navigated.
  


10       Q.    Okay.  Would you agree that there are lots of
  


11   reasons that someone might not use a river to travel
  


12   on?
  


13       A.    There might be a lot of reasons, sure.
  


14       Q.    I believe some that Mr. Randall, who
  


15   testified here previously, mentioned, you didn't have
  


16   the technology to build a boat?
  


17       A.    I remember that testimony.
  


18       Q.    Would you agree with that?
  


19       A.    That his people, for example, are you saying,
  


20   the Apache people?
  


21       Q.    Yes.
  


22       A.    If Mr. Randall said it, I would consider the
  


23   source and I would, at first blush, I would agree with
  


24   him.
  


25       Q.    The river doesn't go where you want it to go?
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 1       A.    It doesn't go where I -- I don't --
  


 2       Q.    I believe Mr. Randall testified his people
  


 3   traded with the Hopi.  The Verde doesn't go to Hopi,
  


 4   does it?
  


 5       A.    No.  No, it does not.
  


 6       Q.    So that would be a good reason not to use the
  


 7   river?
  


 8       A.    That would be a reason not to use it, why it
  


 9   would be excluded, yes.
  


10       Q.    The river doesn't take a direct route?
  


11       A.    It does not.
  


12       Q.    And that would be a reason not to use the
  


13   river?
  


14       A.    I don't think about that.  I don't see, if it
  


15   were navigable, if it were in kind of a slight
  


16   reverse C, like it is, I don't think that would
  


17   preclude someone moving from Point A to Point B on that
  


18   river.
  


19       Q.    So you would disagree with Mr. Randall on
  


20   that particular point?
  


21       A.    On that particular point, yeah, I would
  


22   respectfully disagree.
  


23       Q.    Some other reasons, you've got a horse and
  


24   the horse doesn't want to get on a boat?
  


25       A.    That might be a reason.
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 1       Q.    You're tracking people who don't use boats?
  


 2       A.    In my report and --
  


 3       Q.    Well --
  


 4       A.    Yeah.
  


 5       Q.    -- would that be a reason not to use a boat?
  


 6       A.    Oh.
  


 7       Q.    If your purpose there were to be to track
  


 8   some people who were not using a boat, would that be a
  


 9   good reason not to use a boat?
  


10       A.    You would not use a boat, no.
  


11       Q.    Would it be a good reason not to use a boat
  


12   if the boat would mean you arrive at a predictable
  


13   place at a predictable time and you're being tracked by
  


14   some people who were trying to kill you?
  


15       A.    I agree with that statement.
  


16       Q.    Would it be a reason not to use a boat if you
  


17   need to go upstream?
  


18       A.    Yes, that would be a reason not to use it.
  


19       Q.    It's a little more difficult to go upstream
  


20   than down?
  


21       A.    Correct.
  


22       Q.    Would it be a reason not to use a boat if the
  


23   country is fairly open and easy to navigate on foot or
  


24   on horseback?
  


25       A.    Correct.
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 1       Q.    And would it be a good reason not to use a
  


 2   boat if you're exploring and need to look at multiple
  


 3   watersheds?
  


 4       A.    Correct.
  


 5       Q.    Okay.  I'm going to draw a little bit on,
  


 6   hopefully, your expertise as a western historian.
  


 7       A.    Okay.
  


 8       Q.    What kind of boats were used for trade and
  


 9   travel purposes around the time of Arizona statehood?
  


10             I'll give you some examples, if you don't
  


11   want to come up with one.
  


12       A.    Well, maybe Lingenfelter, you know, I would
  


13   cite that source, and there were paddle wheels, there
  


14   were steamers on the Colorado, and that's
  


15   well-documented and celebrated.  I think there were
  


16   canoes.
  


17       Q.    Kayaks?
  


18       A.    Kayaks, I would suspect.  I don't know.
  


19       Q.    Flatboats of various types?
  


20       A.    Flatboats would be something that's part of
  


21   the American travel lexicon, yes.
  


22       Q.    Home-built boats?
  


23       A.    Home-built boats, I would agree that there
  


24   might be some home-built boats.
  


25       Q.    Mail-order boats?
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 1       A.    Mail-order boats from Sears.
  


 2       Q.    Canvas canoes?
  


 3       A.    I'm assuming canvas canoes would be possible,
  


 4   would be in the landscape.
  


 5       Q.    Dugout canoes?
  


 6       A.    Dugout canoes.
  


 7       Q.    Rubber boats?
  


 8       A.    I don't know about rubber boats.  I'm not a
  


 9   boat expert, but if they were here and they were
  


10   invented and useful in 1912, I suspect there would be
  


11   some in Arizona.
  


12       Q.    I believe it was Ives' expedition crossing
  


13   the Colorado had a rubber boat.
  


14       A.    Did he have rubber boats?  I did not know
  


15   that.
  


16       Q.    I could be wrong about the expedition.  It
  


17   was one of the early --
  


18       A.    Early 1850s?
  


19       Q.    Yeah.
  


20       A.    Okay.
  


21       Q.    Would any of those small boats be
  


22   particularly useful for hauling a horse?
  


23       A.    No, they would not.
  


24       Q.    Do you know the navigability requirements of
  


25   any of those boats?
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 1       A.    I do not.
  


 2       Q.    So you would defer to Mr. Fuller for that
  


 3   information?
  


 4       A.    Yes, I would.
  


 5       Q.    Have you seen the video testimony of Mr. Brad
  


 6   Dimock?
  


 7       A.    I have not.  I'm sure I will.
  


 8       Q.    What's your definition of commerce?
  


 9       A.    Commerce.  The selling and purchasing of
  


10   goods, just very briefly.
  


11       Q.    I think on the Gila you said something along
  


12   the lines of in commerce, if you can float a log down
  


13   and somehow conduct commerce, float down it, that would
  


14   be navigable.  Does that sound about, right?
  


15       A.    I think I said something like that back then,
  


16   yeah.
  


17       Q.    Do you disagree with that statement now?
  


18       A.    No, not necessarily.
  


19       Q.    So, again, you were looking for actual use of
  


20   the river?
  


21       A.    I was.
  


22       Q.    You didn't really look at whether it could be
  


23   used, whether the river was deep enough, wide enough,
  


24   and obstacles-free enough to support commerce?
  


25       A.    No, I did not look at any of that kind of
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 1   material.  I think other experts have addressed that,
  


 2   those.
  


 3       Q.    I notice your report doesn't include any
  


 4   specific descriptions of the Verde by the historical
  


 5   figures you discuss.  They mention the Verde, but they
  


 6   don't really describe it; is that true?
  


 7       A.    That's correct.  They saw it, they knew it
  


 8   was there, and I would venture from Camp Verde to where
  


 9   it meets the Salt, and that was fairly well-known by
  


10   1780.
  


11       Q.    But you don't -- none of the figures you
  


12   cited specifically described the Verde; they didn't say
  


13   we met the Verde and it was --
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    -- 50 feet wide and 4 feet deep or whatever?
  


16       A.    That's right, and I was looking for that
  


17   specifically.
  


18       Q.    So how did you determine whether the river
  


19   was susceptible for transportation or commerce?
  


20       A.    I'm not an attorney, and susceptible, I think
  


21   in this instant, is a legal term that will be
  


22   determined by the attorneys and the Commission.  So I
  


23   don't think I should or can talk about the legal
  


24   definition of susceptibility.
  


25       Q.    Well, I believe that you state, at least on
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 1   Page 7 of your report, that Kino didn't think the Verde
  


 2   was susceptible to transportation or commerce?
  


 3       A.    Yeah, but he wouldn't even go there, he
  


 4   didn't even go to the Verde; and I think from their --
  


 5   from the rest of that report, it was too far away and
  


 6   was not viewed to or susceptible to navigation not in
  


 7   the legal term, just that why are we going to go there.
  


 8   We know it's there, we know there's water there, and
  


 9   that was it.  But to use it as some kind of a
  


10   commercial transportation route, that wasn't even in
  


11   question.
  


12       Q.    I believe in your direct this afternoon, you
  


13   talked about the fact that Kino didn't even actually
  


14   get very close to the river; he kind of looked at it
  


15   from pretty high up?
  


16       A.    He looked at it from pretty high up.
  


17       Q.    And it was on the wrong side of the Gila for
  


18   them to be really interested in?
  


19       A.    Yes.  Yeah, the Gila seems to be an important
  


20   barrier, consciously or not, for the Spaniards.  They
  


21   had hopes of establishing some kind of colony/mission
  


22   north of the Gila, but it just never worked out.  And
  


23   the only way they reached the Hopis, more often than
  


24   not, was from the Santa Fe base and not from Sonora.
  


25       Q.    And I think you said you don't have an
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 1   opinion on the segmentation?
  


 2       A.    Yeah, I don't.
  


 3       Q.    You cited to Mr. Burtell's segmentation.  I
  


 4   assume you don't know how, if at all, it varies from
  


 5   the segmentation that the Land Department did?
  


 6       A.    No.  I'm assuming that -- I assumed that
  


 7   Mr. Burtell was using the State Land Department's,
  


 8   without having -- and, again, I can't wait to read all
  


 9   of them.
  


10       Q.    What's your boating experience?
  


11       A.    Zero.
  


12       Q.    Really?
  


13       A.    None.
  


14       Q.    Okay.
  


15                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We really appreciate
  


16   that, Jack.
  


17                  MS. HERNBRODE:  I was hoping for --
  


18                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You have no idea.
  


19                  THE WITNESS:  You know, my buddies would
  


20   go up to Apache Lake or something, but I never -- you
  


21   know, I didn't have time or something like that, so...
  


22   BY MS. HERNBRODE:
  


23       Q.    You are aware that thousands of people boat
  


24   the Verde every year, though?
  


25       A.    I'm aware, from the testimony I heard here,


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 2443


  


 1   up around Clarkdale, close to where I live, that that's
  


 2   an activity that takes place, yes.
  


 3       Q.    I notice there are no photographs in your
  


 4   report as well.  Did you look for photographs or other
  


 5   early evidence of what the Verde might have looked
  


 6   like?
  


 7       A.    I honestly did not have time, but I will, as
  


 8   this proceeds.  I do like imagery and illustrations to
  


 9   clarify and assist in the narrative, yes; but I have
  


10   not used any up to this point.
  


11       Q.    And, likely, any photographs would have
  


12   fallen after that 1870s date?
  


13       A.    Well, let's see, photography is invented in
  


14   1837.  I think there's some de Guerra types in the
  


15   Arizona Territory.  So I would be very interested.  I'm
  


16   very interested in that field, and so I look forward to
  


17   uncovering anything that I might find.
  


18       Q.    If I tell you that lining your boat involves
  


19   walking your boat with a rope tied on to it around an
  


20   obstacle, not pulling it upstream, that's a different
  


21   term --
  


22       A.    Oh, okay.
  


23       Q.    -- do you have any reason to disagree with
  


24   that?
  


25       A.    I have no reason to disagree with what you
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 1   said.
  


 2       Q.    You talked for almost three pages about
  


 3   Phoenix's use of water from the Verde.  It's
  


 4   interesting history.
  


 5       A.    Right.
  


 6       Q.    But how does that apply to navigability?
  


 7       A.    Well, I think it has to do with how they --
  


 8   Phoenix's interest in those segments of the river.
  


 9   Phoenix has an abiding interest in Segments 4 and 5,
  


10   and so that was one of the reasons to take a look at
  


11   this.
  


12       Q.    You were trying to explain why your client
  


13   was here at this hearing, but not necessarily to convey
  


14   anything about the navigability of the river?
  


15       A.    I think that was it; and, also, to look to
  


16   see if there was any history of navigation that I could
  


17   uncover over the course of my career in looking at this
  


18   reach, and pretty critically and analytically, as well
  


19   as any material I could find.
  


20       Q.    And I think Phoenix's interest started in
  


21   about 1907; is that correct?
  


22       A.    Phoenix?
  


23       Q.    Phoenix's interest in the Verde?
  


24       A.    Yes, right around there.
  


25       Q.    But its predecessors or the people who lived
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 1   in the Phoenix area were taking water before that?
  


 2       A.    That is correct.  They were concerned.
  


 3       Q.    I think we tend to assume that the Phoenix
  


 4   Metro area has always been sort of the dominant
  


 5   metropolis we have today, but that wasn't true for a
  


 6   lot of Arizona's territorial and preterritorial period,
  


 7   was it?
  


 8       A.    It was not.  In fact, Phoenix, I think the
  


 9   census of 1920, if I'm not mistaken, is the first
  


10   census in which Phoenix has a larger population than
  


11   Tucson.  And, also, Yuma and the Bisbee area, they
  


12   were -- politicians, for example, if that's a
  


13   barometer, they had better go and talk to the editor of
  


14   the Bisbee News or something in order to get their
  


15   endorsement.
  


16             So they don't play the role that they did
  


17   100 years ago, but, yes, Phoenix was slower to overtake
  


18   Tucson.  And the rivalry continues to exist, whether
  


19   it's over population or lifestyle or whether Phoenix
  


20   was being settled by Anglo-Americans from the East and
  


21   Tucson's history goes south to north, you know, the
  


22   different places.
  


23       Q.    Or who is going to get their roads repaired?
  


24       A.    That's true.  I agree.
  


25       Q.    For a lot of the time Prescott was actually
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 1   more important than Phoenix?
  


 2       A.    Oh, it was a Territorial Capitol, and we
  


 3   still think we're -- no, it's -- yeah, we're -- no, it
  


 4   was very important and has found its niche, I think, in
  


 5   the pantheon of 21st century micropolis in Arizona.
  


 6       Q.    I noticed that when you talked about the
  


 7   prehistoric people here, particularly in the Phoenix
  


 8   area, you called them the Hohokam.
  


 9       A.    Yes.
  


10       Q.    Other people have called them the Hohokam.
  


11       A.    Hohokam.
  


12       Q.    Or the Huhukam.
  


13       A.    Uh-huh, sure.
  


14       Q.    All the same people, right?
  


15       A.    All the same people, that's correct.
  


16       Q.    Sort of depends on what your cultural
  


17   background is, how you use that phrase?
  


18       A.    Boy, I never -- I have never thought of that.
  


19   I've always heard the term Hohokam, even from
  


20   archaeologists I know and zooarchaeologists as well.  I
  


21   have some friends at ASU.  And so they've used the term
  


22   Hohokam.  But the third one I haven't heard, so thank
  


23   you.
  


24       Q.    That would be the tribal.
  


25       A.    The tribal reference?
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 1       Q.    Yes, yes.
  


 2       A.    Yeah.  Not the Aztecs, but the Meshika.
  


 3   Okay, I got it.
  


 4       Q.    Is it fair to say that the question of
  


 5   whether the Hohokam became what we used to call the
  


 6   Pima is a matter for scholarly debate, but not one
  


 7   which the O'odham people themselves debate?
  


 8       A.    I think that's a -- the last I've discerned
  


 9   and heard of that issue, that's correct.
  


10       Q.    They feel pretty strongly they were descended
  


11   from those people?
  


12       A.    Yes.
  


13       Q.    And the Hopi as well?
  


14       A.    I have not heard that about the Hopi.  They
  


15   speak the Uto-Aztecan language.  That kind of links
  


16   them down with people on the southern part of the
  


17   Colorado River straits.
  


18       Q.    And you haven't seen anything in the
  


19   literature you've reviewed about Hohokam use of boats,
  


20   but that doesn't mean there is evidence you haven't
  


21   seen?
  


22       A.    I haven't seen anything, and I relied on the
  


23   classic works of Emil Haury, Doyle, and, you know,
  


24   those people that are the recognized experts.
  


25       Q.    In prehistoric times the culture along the
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 1   lower Verde was the Hohokam, and in the Verde Valley it
  


 2   was the Sinagua?
  


 3       A.    I think that's correct.
  


 4       Q.    Where was the dividing point between the two
  


 5   cultures; do you know?
  


 6       A.    I do not.
  


 7       Q.    Both cultures practiced irrigation?
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    Were the Hohokam canals more extensive than
  


10   the Sinagua canals?
  


11       A.    That seems to be what the research indicates,
  


12   that they were really quite extensive.
  


13       Q.    The Sinagua were more into terrace farming?
  


14       A.    Terrace farming, that's correct.
  


15       Q.    And were the Hohokam canals on the Verde
  


16   system less extensive than those on the Salt or the
  


17   Gila?
  


18       A.    From the lower Verde report, which, again, is
  


19   exhaustive, and I don't know how many previous nights
  


20   I've been reading through that, but they were less.  I
  


21   think there were 26 sites and less extensive, but still
  


22   a vital civilization during the height.
  


23       Q.    When you say the lower Verde report, what are
  


24   you referring to?
  


25       A.    It's called the Lower -- it's called
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 1   Vanishing Verde, The Lower Verde Report.  It's got a
  


 2   very long title, but it's cited here, and you can see
  


 3   it online, and it's like I don't know how many volumes.
  


 4       Q.    Would that be Vanishing River?
  


 5       A.    Vanishing River, yeah, it's the Vanishing
  


 6   River.
  


 7             And the interdisciplinary and
  


 8   multidisciplinary nature of the report is impressive.
  


 9   I don't see -- it was funded by the Bureau of
  


10   Reclamation.  That's how it got done.
  


11       Q.    Do you know if that report is in evidence as
  


12   Exhibit X017-120?
  


13       A.    I found out about that today.
  


14       Q.    Okay.  When Mr. Randall testified about the
  


15   earliest people in the Verde Valley, he was likely
  


16   talking about the Sinagua, then, and not the Hohokam?
  


17       A.    I would think so, yes, from his discussion.
  


18       Q.    And I believe you said scholars don't agree
  


19   about why the Sinagua and the Hohokam cultures
  


20   declined?
  


21       A.    I think that's a fair statement, yes.
  


22       Q.    If the Hohokam had built boats, what do you
  


23   think they would have been made of?
  


24       A.    I can't speculate about that.  I really don't
  


25   know.
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 1       Q.    Reeds?
  


 2       A.    Perhaps.
  


 3       Q.    Logs?
  


 4       A.    Perhaps.
  


 5       Q.    Do you know if the Hohokam used bundles of
  


 6   reeds for their diversion dams?
  


 7       A.    Yes, I think that's in evidence.
  


 8       Q.    So do you think you could tell, if you dug up
  


 9   a bundle of reeds, whether it had been part of a dam or
  


10   part of a boat?
  


11       A.    I couldn't tell that.  I would leave that to
  


12   archaeologists.
  


13       Q.    Have you read the draft report on the
  


14   archeological testing for the Sky Harbor Sky Train
  


15   that's been partially funded by your client?
  


16       A.    No, I have not.
  


17       Q.    Okay.  You testified previously on the Gila?
  


18       A.    Uh-huh.  A long time ago, yes.  I forget.
  


19       Q.    2005, I believe.
  


20             Are you aware of the prehistoric canoe that
  


21   was reported in a canal in that report and I believe in
  


22   the Salt report?
  


23       A.    I am not aware of that canoe.
  


24       Q.    Did I hear you say you thought Mr. Randall
  


25   testified about the Yavapai?
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 1       A.    He testified a little bit about the
  


 2   relationship and the difference in language, languages.
  


 3   So he testified a bit about that, yes.
  


 4       Q.    But his primary testimony, his focus was his
  


 5   culture --
  


 6       A.    His culture.
  


 7       Q.    -- which would be Apache?
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    You relied on Mr. Bolton's work for
  


10   information about Father Kino?
  


11       A.    And others, but, yeah, that's kind of the
  


12   classic cite; but there are other people that have
  


13   written about Father Kino, of course.
  


14       Q.    Did you rely on him for any other parts of
  


15   your report?
  


16       A.    Certainly.  He's kind of this constant
  


17   eminence in the field of borderlands history, and I
  


18   think I've read almost everything he's ever written.
  


19   I've even read the bio -- I think a historian has a
  


20   biography written on him, but he has a biography
  


21   written by John Francis Bannon.  So a major figure in
  


22   the field, yes, and I've read most of his, if not all
  


23   of his work.
  


24       Q.    The only place I saw it cited was in the
  


25   reference to Kino.
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 1       A.    Yes.
  


 2       Q.    Are there other places that you --
  


 3       A.    Oh, he wrote Coronado:  Knight of Pueblo and
  


 4   Plains.  He wrote the big Coronado book.  He's written
  


 5   shorter pieces on Kino, kind of a synthesis, rather
  


 6   than the Rim of Christendom, to make it more
  


 7   accessible.  And he's written on a variety of other
  


 8   topics from presidios to even on some of the
  


 9   individuals that were mentioned, like Espejo and
  


10   Farfan.  He's covered -- he covered the territory,
  


11   really invented the field, in a way.
  


12       Q.    I notice you seem to speak Spanish fairly
  


13   fluently.  Do you read it?
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    During the period of time that the Spanish
  


16   were exploring, were horses commonly available
  


17   throughout Arizona?
  


18       A.    Yes.  The Spanish introduced or reintroduced
  


19   the horse to this continent in around, it looks as
  


20   though, the earliest, 1570.  Then some of them get
  


21   away, you know, and then bred.  So we have a few, but
  


22   not many, wild horses in Arizona and then through the
  


23   plains.  And they were quickly acquired by the Comanche
  


24   people, for example, and used as a dimension of their
  


25   war tactics.  Other groups didn't; used them as food.
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 1       Q.    Because I thought you said, when we were
  


 2   talking about the trappers, that sometimes they lost
  


 3   their horses or had to eat their horses.
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    And it didn't seem like they had a ready
  


 6   source for replacing their horses.
  


 7       A.    Their horses, for the most part, up in what
  


 8   we're talking about, from Taos and Santa Fe, they had
  


 9   ready supplies of horses and ranches and where their
  


10   embarkation point or disembarkation point was at.
  


11       Q.    But if they ate their horse in Arizona --
  


12       A.    They would be in big trouble.
  


13       Q.    -- or misplaced their horse because the
  


14   Apache ran off with it --
  


15       A.    That's correct, and that happened, and then
  


16   you were a pedestrian.
  


17       Q.    And so if the Spanish had gotten to a river
  


18   that they could put a canoe on and they've got their
  


19   horse there or they've got the canoe, would they just
  


20   turn that horse loose and go on down the river, or does
  


21   it make sense to keep ahold of the beast of burden you
  


22   have right here?
  


23       A.    I think 99 to 100 percent of the time, I
  


24   think they would keep the horse.  It was a valuable
  


25   asset.
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 1       Q.    And, generally, Arizona's located up or
  


 2   downstream from Mexico?
  


 3       A.    Generally, it's located upstream; but we do
  


 4   have some watercourses that flow from Mexico to the
  


 5   United States.  I think the Santa Cruz starts in the
  


 6   U.S., goes underneath, and then circles back, yeah.
  


 7       Q.    And if you're exploring an area you know is
  


 8   arid and you want to explore across multiple
  


 9   watersheds, would it be easier to ride a horse or use a
  


10   boat?
  


11       A.    Ride a horse.
  


12       Q.    How many Spanish explorers do you discuss in
  


13   your report?  Because I had counted five, and then I
  


14   heard Ms. Campbell mention ten, and it's entirely
  


15   possible that I can't count that much.
  


16       A.    And there are several others I could have
  


17   mentioned; Father Segesser, Father Pfefferkorn.  I
  


18   think I mentioned Sedelmayr only because I think I had
  


19   to be selective and brief, and I wanted to use the most
  


20   representative of those who may have had contact or
  


21   went beyond the Gila River at some point.  But there
  


22   were others, many others; many of them with German
  


23   names, and some of the military people, like Alejandro
  


24   O'Reilly and Hugo O'Conor.  It's kind of a
  


25   multinational frontier that are in the service of
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 1   Spain.  But I didn't mention them.
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  And we're getting into dangerous
  


 3   ground here.  I should tell you now that I had to take
  


 4   American Sign Language in college as my second language
  


 5   because my pronunciation of all languages is so bad.
  


 6       A.    Okay.
  


 7       Q.    So with that in mind, please bear with me.
  


 8       A.    Okay.
  


 9       Q.    The first Spaniard you talked about came with
  


10   Farfan as his biographer or his diarist, I guess?
  


11       A.    Oh, there was a diarist with Farfan.  Is that
  


12   what you're saying?
  


13       Q.    Yeah, yeah.  He was the diarist for --
  


14       A.    Diego de Luján?
  


15       Q.    Es --
  


16       A.    Or Espejo?
  


17       Q.    Yes.
  


18       A.    Espejo.
  


19       Q.    Espejo?
  


20       A.    Yeah.
  


21       Q.    Does that sound right?
  


22       A.    Yeah.  Mirror.
  


23       Q.    Okay.  And what was Espejo doing in Arizona?
  


24       A.    He was -- technically, he was illegal,
  


25   illegal in Arizona.  He was the person who agreed to
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 1   save two Franciscan priests who were left behind by a
  


 2   previous expedition.  Everyone left them, and they left
  


 3   them up there, and so the Franciscan Bishop, the head
  


 4   Franciscan in Durango, was outraged and wanted them
  


 5   returned.
  


 6             And so he was on a rescue expedition in 1583,
  


 7   and he took advantage of his situation and went
  


 8   exploring, because of the persistent rumors of myth of
  


 9   gold, Seven Cities of Cibola, Estrecho de Anián, what's
  


10   called Gran Quivira.  That was another myth.  There's a
  


11   variety of them.  Some of them are passageways to the
  


12   Orient and some of them are, in fact, supposedly
  


13   treasures.
  


14             So he went looking for them, and through
  


15   contact with the Hopis and others as he headed west, he
  


16   learned of what might be precious minerals and, thus,
  


17   he ends up traversing in 1583.
  


18       Q.    Where did he end up finding the guys he was
  


19   looking for?
  


20       A.    He ended up around Jerome and traded for rugs
  


21   and a few things and then went back and subsequently
  


22   became obscure, and then unfortunately for him,
  


23   Oñate -- he wanted to go back and colonize, but Oñate a
  


24   few years later got the contract to colonize and become
  


25   Captain General of New Mexico.  But that was his
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 1   overall ambition, so...
  


 2       Q.    So he didn't find the two gentlemen he was
  


 3   sent to look for?
  


 4       A.    They were dead.
  


 5       Q.    Okay.
  


 6       A.    There was three altogether, actually.
  


 7       Q.    And where did he start from?
  


 8       A.    He started from Santa Bárbara, which is, I
  


 9   guess, today in Chihuahua, and it became a big silver
  


10   mining frontier, kind of a wild west, like the
  


11   Tombstone of the central corridor of the Spanish
  


12   advance from south to north.  And so he started there.
  


13   That was where they took off, and you race up the
  


14   Rio Grande Valley, and then he turned left.
  


15       Q.    And did he use any rivers on his journey?
  


16       A.    He did not.  He did not use any rivers.  And
  


17   it was pretty well-documented by the diarist, and he
  


18   subsequently, again, got in trouble and was rebuked.
  


19       Q.    How many people did he have with him?
  


20       A.    I think eight or nine.
  


21       Q.    So a relatively small --
  


22       A.    Small, small.
  


23       Q.    -- Spanish expedition?
  


24       A.    Yes, a small expedition.
  


25       Q.    Any cattle?
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 1       A.    No cattle on this one, no.
  


 2       Q.    And how long did he spend on the Verde?
  


 3       A.    I think he crossed the Verde and may have
  


 4   spent a matter of weeks, you know, and then came -- a
  


 5   matter of weeks.
  


 6       Q.    And you didn't find any specific description
  


 7   of the river from him?
  


 8       A.    No, there's no description of the river,
  


 9   other than there were rivers that they crossed, and
  


10   so...
  


11             But that was it.
  


12       Q.    Did you read his primary account?
  


13       A.    Yes, I've read it in the past, yeah.
  


14       Q.    A while ago?
  


15       A.    Yeah.  But I also take a look at the English
  


16   translation recently, because it was the most -- the
  


17   handiest.
  


18       Q.    And I think the next explorer you talked
  


19   about was Oñate?
  


20       A.    Juan de Oñate after -- yeah, Juan de Oñate is
  


21   the founder of what is now New Mexico, and he was the
  


22   first -- he got the contract in 1598 to colonize and
  


23   govern and advance the frontier.  And he was given a
  


24   good contract, but, again, you know, he wasn't paid.
  


25   He financed it.


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 2459


  


 1       Q.    So he was looking for settlement sites?
  


 2       A.    Yes, he went up to settle.  So it's a much
  


 3   larger force.  There are civilians, which is different
  


 4   than the previous expeditions up there.
  


 5             And so the site they went to is actually
  


 6   north of Santa Fe, north, oh, about 30 miles toward
  


 7   Taos, if you go on the road today, and it's called the
  


 8   San Juan Pueblo, and they called it Gaypa, G-A-Y-P-A.
  


 9   And then it was relocated in 1690 because he didn't
  


10   fulfill his contract, according to the King, and the
  


11   King put his own guy there and it became a royal
  


12   province.
  


13       Q.    And so how many people, approximately, did he
  


14   have with him?
  


15       A.    Probably -- he had about 100 mixed; more
  


16   military men, 50 to 100 military; and cattle.
  


17       Q.    How long did he stay on the Verde?
  


18       A.    He didn't stay on the Verde at all.  He went
  


19   in 1604.  He crossed it looking for the Sea of -- the
  


20   South Sea, which is really a reference to the Pacific
  


21   Ocean, because of communication from the natives to the
  


22   west.
  


23             And so after Farfan came back, his first --
  


24   the first guy he wanted to take a look at and was
  


25   unsuccessful, by 1604 he's getting kind of desperate,
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 1   because there was no gold or silver, mineral, and New
  


 2   Mexico was -- I think today is the 44th state that was
  


 3   poor in natural resources.  And so he went to try to
  


 4   save his charge, and was unsuccessful, but he did try
  


 5   to get to the South Sea, as they called it, and he got
  


 6   to the Colorado River and saw it.
  


 7       Q.    Do you know where, approximately, he crossed
  


 8   the Verde?
  


 9       A.    Often the passageway was along the Gila.
  


10   They went south and used the Gila, because there's
  


11   water, so they --
  


12       Q.    Where did he cross the Verde, though?
  


13       A.    Oh, he crossed the Verde close to where
  


14   Clarkdale would be, between Camp Verde and where
  


15   Clarkdale is.
  


16       Q.    And did he leave any records about what he
  


17   saw when he crossed the Verde?
  


18       A.    No.  It was just an obstacle to travel, so he
  


19   crossed.
  


20       Q.    And then we have Kino, who only saw the river
  


21   sort of from far away?
  


22       A.    Yeah.  Yeah, I think that's --
  


23       Q.    And then Nentvig?
  


24       A.    Nentvig, yes.  Yeah, one of the later
  


25   Jesuits.
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 1       Q.    And what was his purpose in Arizona?
  


 2       A.    He was there to consolidate all the
  


 3   information.  He was a missionary, but many of these
  


 4   missionaries wore several hats, like Kino, and he
  


 5   produced a pretty scholarly volume.
  


 6             And I'll look up Rudo Ensayo and it is a real
  


 7   solid laundry list of the natural resources, the
  


 8   mountain ranges, the people, the vegetation, the
  


 9   animals, and what was there.  It's what Americans did
  


10   in the 19th century, and if you read William
  


11   Geotzmann's Exploration and Empire, which won the
  


12   Pulitzer Prize in '67 -- and he didn't even get tenure
  


13   at Yale; geez. -- but that's a great account of
  


14   America's scientific dimension to study.
  


15             So he was an early-day kind of scientist, in
  


16   a way, and evaluated what was there.
  


17       Q.    Sort of an early version of the great surveys
  


18   of the American West?
  


19       A.    There you go.  Yeah.  Agreed.
  


20       Q.    So how long did he spend on the Verde?
  


21       A.    No time on the Verde.
  


22       Q.    Okay.  So we don't have a description from
  


23   him of the Verde yet?
  


24       A.    No.  That it was there, and he relied on
  


25   previous descriptions of it.


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 2462


  


 1       Q.    Which basically said there's this river?
  


 2       A.    There's this river.
  


 3       Q.    All right.  And then -- oh, boy -- Sedelmayr?
  


 4       A.    Sedelmayr, yeah.
  


 5       Q.    Okay.
  


 6       A.    The Father of the Papago, according to John
  


 7   Francis Bannon, but now that term is not used.  Papago
  


 8   actually is kind of, I think, bean-eaters, Papábotas.
  


 9   But, you know, their name has changed.  But he did a
  


10   lot of work among those people and was a very astute,
  


11   religious Jesuit.
  


12       Q.    So his focus was really down around Tucson?
  


13       A.    Yes, and that's about as far as -- I think I
  


14   said before, that's about as far as, I think, they got
  


15   advancing the frontier.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  So that's five.
  


17             The other five folks that I failed to count,
  


18   did any of them spend time on the Verde?
  


19       A.    No, none of them did.
  


20       Q.    And even those who did, they're sort of
  


21   pictures of a river at a particular point in time; they
  


22   didn't settle on the Verde; they didn't spend a lot of
  


23   time there?
  


24       A.    That's correct.
  


25       Q.    Did the early Spanish bring ships up the
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 1   Colorado?
  


 2       A.    There was seafaring expeditions, yes.
  


 3       Q.    What years?
  


 4       A.    The 1580s was when they realized that that
  


 5   was a significant watercourse.  But in terms of
  


 6   establishing a settlement there, it wasn't until 1781.
  


 7   Father Garcés, after he had led the expedition in 1776,
  


 8   colonizing what is Monterey and San Francisco, they
  


 9   lent people from Tucson, and they went overland and all
  


10   that, and then they came back and tried to make a
  


11   settlement, but the Yumans, they massacred them in
  


12   1781.  So there was an attempt later on in the Spanish
  


13   period.
  


14       Q.    And they actually sailed oceangoing vessels
  


15   up the Colorado?
  


16       A.    They tried, yes, with some success but not
  


17   very much.
  


18       Q.    Is it possible that a navigable river existed
  


19   in the area explored by the Spanish and they chose, for
  


20   some reason, not to boat it?
  


21       A.    I can't answer that one.  I'm trying to
  


22   think.  Is it possible?
  


23       Q.    Well, I think you said that if you've got a
  


24   horse --
  


25       A.    Yeah.
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 1       Q.    -- you're not going to turn him loose.
  


 2       A.    Yeah.
  


 3       Q.    You're not going to put him in a canoe or a
  


 4   flatboat.
  


 5       A.    Yeah, it just doesn't seem that they did.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.  You quote Manje on Page 7 of your
  


 7   report.
  


 8       A.    Manje, yeah, his name is Manje.
  


 9       Q.    Manje, thank you.
  


10             In that quote, the small stream that he's
  


11   referring to is the White and Black Rivers, not the
  


12   Verde, correct?
  


13             Can you turn to Page 7 of your report?
  


14       A.    Well, okay, yeah.  Yeah, I'm thinking.
  


15       Q.    Can you turn to Page 7?  It's not
  


16   horrifically clear, but I think he's talking about the
  


17   headwaters of the Salt.
  


18       A.    "This Salado River runs from east to west and
  


19   to the south of the Verde River and they merge, as I
  


20   have said.  To the very end and to the most easterly
  


21   point of this Pimería there are also two rivers called,
  


22   more properly, arroyos or small streams."
  


23             That's what the sentence says in Spanish and
  


24   in the translation, so I can't speculate if it was the
  


25   White and the Red River.  I don't think you could see
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 1   it from the top of the White and the Black River; I
  


 2   don't think you could see it from Estrella Mountain.
  


 3       Q.    So do you think the small stream he's talking
  


 4   about is the Verde?
  


 5       A.    No, I think -- no.
  


 6             "Of the Verde River and they merge, as I have
  


 7   said."
  


 8             No, not talking -- those two small streams
  


 9   are not the Verde.
  


10       Q.    Okay.  Did any of the Spanish observers cited
  


11   in your report make any statements about the
  


12   navigability of the Verde?
  


13             I understand that you've taken from their
  


14   lack of statements --
  


15       A.    Yeah.
  


16       Q.    -- an implication, but did they say anything?
  


17       A.    No, they did not asssertively say anything.
  


18                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Joy, can we take a
  


19   break here?
  


20                  MS. HERNBRODE:  I would love to.
  


21                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
  


22                  Fifteen.
  


23                  (A recess was taken from 3:30 p.m. to
  


24   3:45 p.m.)
  


25                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's have it.
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 1   BY MS. HERNBRODE:
  


 2       Q.    All right.  You talk a lot about the lack of
  


 3   accurate maps of the Verde in your report.
  


 4       A.    Yes.
  


 5       Q.    Was the technology available at that time,
  


 6   did that make it a little bit difficult to have an
  


 7   accurate map?
  


 8       A.    Sure.  Cartographers of the 17th and
  


 9   18th Century also had to have, maybe, an artistic flare
  


10   or another ability to get perspective and meaning.  So
  


11   there's a lack of technology, it's an accurate
  


12   statement.  There was a lack of technology, correct.
  


13       Q.    You didn't have the aerial overflights, so if
  


14   you didn't see it yourself, you were pretty much
  


15   guessing?
  


16       A.    That's correct.
  


17       Q.    Was there any other reason other than the
  


18   lack of accurate maps that you conclude the Spanish
  


19   felt the Verde was nonnavigable?
  


20       A.    Were there other reasons?
  


21       Q.    Yes.
  


22       A.    I think so.  I think that's just one point
  


23   that I found striking to the map, the map section.  You
  


24   know, and I'm, frankly, pretty puzzled by it.  I was
  


25   very surprised that some of the maps, even in the late
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 1   19th Century, after 1850, let's say, that they were off
  


 2   until they -- they finally got it right, but that took
  


 3   time.
  


 4       Q.    And you have actually looked at the maps
  


 5   created by the various Spanish explorers?
  


 6       A.    Yes, and they're available in a variety of
  


 7   texts and others, other sources.  And today, I think,
  


 8   you know, with digitizing, they're becoming more
  


 9   available to the general public.
  


10       Q.    Have you looked at them recently?
  


11       A.    Not recently; but after this proceeding I'm
  


12   going to look at every one of them carefully, other
  


13   than these that I looked at from the Rumsey collection.
  


14       Q.    You should probably quit angling to come back
  


15   to this hearing.
  


16       A.    Oh, not this one.  No, I just know this is
  


17   going to go on, so...
  


18       Q.    Do you recall if those maps showed a single
  


19   or multiple channels of the Verde?
  


20       A.    No, I don't.  I don't recall.
  


21       Q.    Do you recall if they showed any marshes?
  


22       A.    No.
  


23       Q.    And you didn't include copies of those maps
  


24   in your report?
  


25       A.    No, no visuals for this.
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 1       Q.    Would it be fair to say that none of the
  


 2   accounts you're aware of of the Spanish talked about
  


 3   the Verde in any detail or described using boats on the
  


 4   river?
  


 5       A.    That's correct.
  


 6       Q.    All right.  Let's move on to mountain men.
  


 7       A.    Yeah, Taos Trappers, yeah.
  


 8       Q.    You referenced David Weber's Taos Trappers,
  


 9   correct?
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    Did you look at anything else from Mr. Weber?
  


12       A.    Yes.  I looked at his works, The Spanish in
  


13   North America and The Mexican Frontier in the
  


14   Southwest.  He has two big volumes that are large
  


15   syntheses of the period.  I think that grew out of his
  


16   doctoral dissertation at the University of New Mexico.
  


17       Q.    And The Taos Trapper doesn't talk a lot about
  


18   trappers who were in Arizona, does it?
  


19       A.    Not too much.
  


20       Q.    It's primarily focused on, really, the
  


21   aspects of trade that were happening in New Mexico?
  


22       A.    That's correct.
  


23       Q.    What accounts of trappers did you look at
  


24   from folks who were operating in Arizona?  It sounds
  


25   like you looked at the Pattie account.
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 1       A.    Pattie, Ewing Young.  Tom Sheridan has done a
  


 2   nice job of synthesizing that, that period, and so I
  


 3   relied on Dr. Sheridan's Arizona:  A History, which is,
  


 4   I think, recognized generally as the authoritative
  


 5   source; and he relies on that and other accounts as
  


 6   well.
  


 7       Q.    Did you look at, I believe, Kit Carson left
  


 8   some records?
  


 9       A.    Yeah, I've looked at Kit Carson's work, and
  


10   there's been some biographies on Kit Carson, and I've
  


11   seen that before, and I'm actually looking at it in
  


12   another proceeding.
  


13       Q.    Kit didn't actually write stuff himself, did
  


14   he?
  


15       A.    No.
  


16       Q.    He had ghostwrites?
  


17       A.    Many people had ghostwrites, yes, including
  


18   Pattie.
  


19       Q.    And did he keep notes?
  


20       A.    He was not known as a notorious notetaker,
  


21   because he moved constantly.  He appears in the Navajo
  


22   frontier in 1868 burning peach trees.  I mean he is
  


23   kind of a utility person in furthering the westward
  


24   expansion.
  


25       Q.    And for Ewing Young, he left some
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 1   correspondence, but not really a diary either, correct?
  


 2       A.    No, no diary, no.
  


 3       Q.    But Mr. Dye, who traveled with him, kept a
  


 4   diary?
  


 5       A.    Evidently, yes.  I've heard about that, yes,
  


 6   but I have not looked at it.  I've not looked at that
  


 7   source.
  


 8       Q.    Okay.  The beaver trappers operating in
  


 9   Arizona generally came from Taos or Santa Fe, correct?
  


10       A.    Yeah, immediately, yes.
  


11       Q.    And that's over the Continental Divide from
  


12   the Verde?
  


13       A.    Correct.
  


14       Q.    So there's no river that runs between the
  


15   two?
  


16       A.    No, there's not.
  


17       Q.    And even if there were, it would have been a
  


18   little harder to disguise where they were going if they
  


19   were taking a water route, correct?
  


20       A.    Yes, and oftentimes that was necessary to
  


21   disguise where they were going.  They sometimes took
  


22   off north or northeast to disguise where they were
  


23   going.
  


24       Q.    Were trappers and mountain men operating in
  


25   the American West generally literate?
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 1       A.    No, that would be the exception to the rule.
  


 2       Q.    We don't have a lot of accounts from trappers
  


 3   operating anywhere in the west?
  


 4       A.    That's correct.  There's a paucity of
  


 5   material.
  


 6       Q.    There's a fair amount of material for
  


 7   trappers who were part of the big operations operating
  


 8   out of St. Louis and places like that?
  


 9       A.    Yes, and even Astoria in Oregon, there's some
  


10   good work on that, but that didn't seem relevant here.
  


11       Q.    Taos didn't have that kind of one big company
  


12   that controlled everybody and really kept track of
  


13   things?
  


14       A.    No.  In many ways, Taos kind of reflects the
  


15   essence of American expansion, which was individual
  


16   freedom and initiative.
  


17       Q.    I think you said in the 1820s through 1848 or
  


18   so, it wasn't legal for Arizonans to trap in Arizona?
  


19       A.    Americans, you mean?
  


20       Q.    Yes.
  


21       A.    Yes, with some exceptions, like saving the
  


22   Governor's wife and her daughter and things of that
  


23   nature, but -- and more often than not, you know, they
  


24   were skirting the law.  They were viewed with
  


25   suspicion, yes.
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 1       Q.    You could sometimes get a license if you took
  


 2   a Spanish or Mexican citizen with you?
  


 3       A.    That's correct, yes.
  


 4       Q.    But most of them didn't bother to do that?
  


 5       A.    Of course not.  No, they did not.
  


 6       Q.    Were trappers generally protective of their
  


 7   methods and trapping locations?
  


 8       A.    Yes, they were, like miners.
  


 9       Q.    Particularly if they could be prosecuted by
  


10   Spanish or Mexican authorities for being there?
  


11       A.    Correct.
  


12       Q.    Have you reviewed the Spanish or Mexican
  


13   records to see if they list any other trapping
  


14   expeditions on the Verde?
  


15       A.    For this proceeding, no, but that would be
  


16   something I would certainly do in the future.
  


17       Q.    You think it would be a good idea to look at
  


18   those records?
  


19       A.    Oh, yeah.  I kind of can't wait.
  


20       Q.    So the first trapper who left us at least a
  


21   widely distributed account is James Ohio Pattie?
  


22       A.    Yes.
  


23       Q.    And he does record a couple of times where he
  


24   uses a canoe on the Gila and on the Colorado?
  


25       A.    I believe that's in there.  I wonder --
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 1   again, it's a source that I questioned, given the
  


 2   exaggeration, so I would question that.
  


 3       Q.    You question that he used a canoe to trap?
  


 4       A.    Yes, and a variety of other things that he
  


 5   asserts in that book.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.  Well, did other trappers in the West
  


 7   commonly use a canoe?
  


 8       A.    Depending on where they were, but I think in
  


 9   the West, in this region, no.
  


10       Q.    Do you have any expertise in trapping?
  


11       A.    No, I don't.  Oh, God.
  


12       Q.    Is Pattie's account a day-by-day account of
  


13   what happened every day?
  


14       A.    Pretty much not.  It's impressionistic, and,
  


15   again, the audience was the East Coast urban areas and
  


16   to generate money; and Timothy Flint, who wrote it, was
  


17   a skillful writer.
  


18       Q.    And the other sources you mentioned, they
  


19   don't record the sort of day-by-day events --
  


20       A.    No.
  


21       Q.    -- of a trapping expedition?
  


22       A.    But it would be great to have that material.
  


23       Q.    Do you recall Pattie saying on the Colorado
  


24   they made boats, they made dugout canoes?
  


25       A.    I don't recall that, but I would have to
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 1   review the material again.
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  Would it help you if I told you they
  


 3   made dugout canoes after their horses were stolen?
  


 4   Does that help you place that in the story?
  


 5       A.    That would help me place it, that would help
  


 6   me place it in the story, yes.
  


 7       Q.    Would you agree that, likely, there were
  


 8   hundreds of trappers operating in Arizona?
  


 9       A.    Hundreds, I wouldn't agree with that.
  


10       Q.    How many?
  


11       A.    20 to 30, my guest guesstimate.
  


12       Q.    Would you agree that trapping was dangerous?
  


13       A.    I would agree that trapping was dangerous.
  


14       Q.    You could end up being killed by other
  


15   trappers?
  


16       A.    Other trappers, indigenous groups that were
  


17   resentful.
  


18       Q.    The wildlife?
  


19       A.    The wildlife could.  Well, perhaps, yes, the
  


20   wildlife.  I know the Piipaash people.  Yeah, there
  


21   were some tribes that didn't want the Anglos here, and
  


22   wildlife could do it as well, yes.
  


23       Q.    Bears?
  


24       A.    Bears.
  


25       Q.    Mountain lions?
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 1       A.    Mountain lions.  Yikes.
  


 2       Q.    Oh, my.
  


 3             Your take on it is because Pattie didn't
  


 4   specifically say he used a canoe on the Verde, that no
  


 5   one in his party did?
  


 6       A.    I'm not saying that.  There's just no
  


 7   evidence that I've seen that anyone else used a canoe,
  


 8   and I was looking for it.
  


 9       Q.    He doesn't say he did?
  


10       A.    He doesn't say, yeah.
  


11       Q.    But you don't believe Pattie's memoir is
  


12   particularly accurate?
  


13       A.    Not particularly accurate is a good way to
  


14   put it.  I think it's impressionistic.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  And how about the accounts left by
  


16   Carson and Young and Dye?
  


17       A.    I think they're in the same category; that
  


18   there's some truth or factual information that
  


19   generated a good story and a fanciful retelling of
  


20   events.
  


21       Q.    Would it be more likely for them to
  


22   exaggerate things like Indian encounters?  I guess
  


23   today we might call them -- we might say that they sort
  


24   of exaggerate their adrenaline junky activities.
  


25       A.    I agree with that.
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 1       Q.    Okay.  So they're less likely to exaggerate
  


 2   day-to-day activities?
  


 3       A.    I can't say that, but that's something I
  


 4   would have to do some research, further research on, to
  


 5   make a statement like that.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.
  


 7       A.    Yeah.
  


 8       Q.    But certainly the encounters with a bear or
  


 9   with a hostile tribe or something like that, those may
  


10   be certainly blown up?
  


11       A.    I think that's a good assumption.  I think
  


12   it's an accurate assumption.
  


13       Q.    Or if you rescued the Governor's daughter --
  


14       A.    Yeah.
  


15       Q.    -- rather than some poor --
  


16       A.    Yeah.
  


17       Q.    -- lass?
  


18       A.    Yeah.
  


19       Q.    I would like to talk a little bit about some
  


20   later trappers on the Verde, and you talked about them
  


21   in your direct a little bit.  We'll start with the Day
  


22   brothers in 1891 and 1892.
  


23       A.    Okay.
  


24       Q.    And, Debi, if you could pull up No. 3, which
  


25   is X001-18.
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 1             This is the easiest-to-read version of this
  


 2   event.  The newspaper is a little difficult.
  


 3             Does it indicate they trapped the entire
  


 4   Verde in a boat that they built?
  


 5       A.    Does it indicate they trapped the entire
  


 6   Verde.
  


 7       Q.    Well, from Camp Verde down to the confluence
  


 8   with the Salt.
  


 9       A.    That was my reading of it, yes.
  


10       Q.    In a boat that they had built themselves?
  


11       A.    Yes.
  


12       Q.    And then how did they get back upriver when
  


13   they were finished?
  


14       A.    I believe they took a train.  Am I not
  


15   mistaken?
  


16       Q.    Yeah, right down there at the bottom.
  


17       A.    Yeah, yeah.
  


18       Q.    And they didn't record any difficulty on any
  


19   of the rivers they talked about?
  


20       A.    Yes.  It's a rather brief description.
  


21       Q.    Okay.  And you weren't here when Mr. Fuller
  


22   testified about the Verde, so you didn't hear him say
  


23   that he thought the 800-mile figure seemed fairly high,
  


24   correct?
  


25       A.    No, I was not here for that, no.
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 1       Q.    The Day brothers didn't have a GPS?
  


 2       A.    They did not.
  


 3       Q.    Do you know if J.K. had family in Phoenix?
  


 4       A.    I do not.
  


 5       Q.    Does trapping take a little time?
  


 6       A.    Trapping might take some time, yes, it does.
  


 7       Q.    Do you know that Mr. Day actually became one
  


 8   of our first wildlife officers in Arizona?
  


 9       A.    I did not know that.
  


10       Q.    Do you think any part of this account is made
  


11   up?
  


12       A.    This is the first time this morning I read
  


13   it, and I would like to really review it and come to a
  


14   conclusion that would be accurate, for me.
  


15       Q.    Well, right.  I understand that the distance
  


16   traveled is off.
  


17       A.    That's -- yes.
  


18       Q.    Is it possible that they traveled up some
  


19   tributaries and back down trapping, and so added that
  


20   into their distance?
  


21       A.    Well, it doesn't say that there, so I can't
  


22   speak to that.
  


23       Q.    Is it possible, though?
  


24       A.    Yes.  Yeah, it is.
  


25       Q.    Is it possible that without a GPS, they had a
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 1   little hard time accurately estimating how far they
  


 2   traveled?
  


 3       A.    That's a fair assumption, yes.
  


 4       Q.    And is it possible that the boosterism of the
  


 5   newspaper in Yuma thought 800 miles sounded like a
  


 6   better figure than whatever the Day brothers reported?
  


 7       A.    If it's 800 miles to Yuma, I don't know if
  


 8   that's very inviting.  But I was just thinking about
  


 9   it.
  


10       Q.    I guess it depends on your perspective.
  


11       A.    Yeah, because I think I may have to take a
  


12   long trip.
  


13       Q.    Careful, I was born there.
  


14       A.    No, my brother lives there.
  


15       Q.    Does any of this article strike you as the
  


16   kind of community boosterism that you would expect a
  


17   newspaper to exaggerate?
  


18       A.    Yes, it does.  You know, I think it's a
  


19   colorful.  Is it feel-good?  Maybe feel-good.  I would
  


20   still have to really take a look at it line by line,
  


21   but I think boosterism is one aspect of it.
  


22       Q.    Some of the other newspaper articles that we
  


23   looked at in other cases sort of emphasize the rapids
  


24   and the excitingness of the trip and things like that.
  


25   This doesn't do that?
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 1       A.    No.  It talks about the color, the beaver,
  


 2   patience, remuneration.  I mean that's --
  


 3       Q.    Five trips?
  


 4       A.    Five trips, it talks about that.  I can't
  


 5   speak to that.  I haven't seen any evidence of five
  


 6   trips, but that's what that says.
  


 7       Q.    And you think that might be boosterism?
  


 8       A.    It certainly could be.  It could be
  


 9   boosterism, yes.
  


10       Q.    Okay.  Let's then talk about a gentleman
  


11   named Fogal and his friend, who did a trapping trip in
  


12   1931.
  


13             Debi, could you bring up 4?
  


14       A.    Okay.
  


15       Q.    And they traveled from Clarkdale to Fort
  


16   McDowell using a flat-bottom boat.  Have you seen this?
  


17       A.    I have not seen it.  This is the first time.
  


18       Q.    Actually, it sort of falls off the bottom of
  


19   the screen a little bit there.  I'll give you a moment
  


20   to read it.
  


21       A.    Okay.
  


22             I guess my only question of what I read there
  


23   is it's 1931, and I haven't -- I didn't consider that.
  


24       Q.    I understand you haven't looked at it, but I
  


25   mean these are a pair of guys who were doing the same
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 1   kind of activities that we're talking about --
  


 2       A.    Correct.
  


 3       Q.    -- on the same river.
  


 4       A.    Okay.  Agreed.
  


 5       Q.    A river that might be a little more difficult
  


 6   to navigate, in fact, by 1931?
  


 7       A.    That's a good assumption.
  


 8       Q.    So in 1931, were newspapers prone to the same
  


 9   kind of boosterism?
  


10       A.    I think there is dialing back by 1931,
  


11   especially, during The Depression, I'm sure.  This is a
  


12   feel-good story and an interesting story.
  


13       Q.    So if the Day brothers could trap on the
  


14   Verde using a boat and Fogal and his friend could trap
  


15   on the Verde using a boat and lots of people use a boat
  


16   on the Verde today, why couldn't other trappers do it?
  


17       A.    Well, as I said earlier, I have not seen any
  


18   evidence during the period under discussion of that.
  


19       Q.    You haven't seen anybody say "I used a boat
  


20   on the Verde"?
  


21       A.    I have not seen that, either in Spanish or in
  


22   English.
  


23       Q.    You also didn't hear anybody say "I couldn't
  


24   use a boat on the Verde"?
  


25       A.    I have not heard that either.
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 1       Q.    The Verde's been known by a bunch of
  


 2   different names?
  


 3       A.    Yes.
  


 4                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Green.
  


 5   BY MS. HERNBRODE:
  


 6       Q.    What names?
  


 7       A.    Oh, boy.  I would have to go back, but it's
  


 8   here in this report.
  


 9       Q.    You named a couple.  The San Francisco,
  


10   the --
  


11       A.    San Francisco.  The --
  


12       Q.    Rio Azul?
  


13       A.    Rio Azul, Blau Fluss.  A couple, yes.
  


14       Q.    So if you were looking for historic
  


15   information about the Verde, you should probably look
  


16   for all of those names?
  


17       A.    One would do that, yes.
  


18       Q.    Does the Verde flow through relatively rugged
  


19   terrain?
  


20       A.    In Segments 4 and 5, I would say moderate
  


21   compared to some of the other, you know, segments of
  


22   the river.
  


23       Q.    Above that, much more rugged?
  


24       A.    Yes, I would say that.
  


25       Q.    And is the area around the Verde, even today,
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 1   relatively unpopulated?
  


 2       A.    Comparatively to other areas in Arizona.
  


 3       Q.    There weren't a lot of settlers and explorers
  


 4   in the area?
  


 5       A.    Not too many.
  


 6       Q.    Are you aware of U.S. Supreme Court cases
  


 7   that say that just because a river is unexplored or
  


 8   unused, that it's not necessarily nonnavigable?
  


 9       A.    I have heard that referenced in this
  


10   proceeding.
  


11       Q.    Do you know what the Euro-American population
  


12   along the Verde was between the 1840s and 1880s?
  


13       A.    The Euro-American, 1840, 1880s.  I would
  


14   suspect -- let me think about it.
  


15             No more than 1,000, I think, individuals.
  


16       Q.    And did the Apache aggressively resist
  


17   incursions into the Verde watershed up to the 1800s, up
  


18   through the 1800s?
  


19       A.    Yeah, up to the middle part of the
  


20   19th Century, and before that, much more -- well, quite
  


21   vigorously, depending on what you read.
  


22       Q.    Are you familiar with what's been called the
  


23   Oatman Massacre on the Gila River?
  


24       A.    Yes.  Olive Oatman, yes, I'm familiar with
  


25   it.  Haven't scrutinized it lately.
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 1       Q.    Do you know what year that was?
  


 2       A.    1857?  I mean I picked that out.  When was
  


 3   it?
  


 4       Q.    I think 1851.
  


 5       A.    '51.  Close, yeah.
  


 6       Q.    That sound okay?
  


 7       A.    Yeah, that sounds about right, yeah.
  


 8       Q.    Can you tell us a little bit about what
  


 9   happened there?
  


10       A.    From my recollection, the group the Mojaves,
  


11   I believe it was the Mojave Tribe, murdered the family,
  


12   and they kept Olive, and there's a famous picture of
  


13   her with tattoos from her mouth to her jaw.  But I did
  


14   not do any research into that for this proceeding.
  


15       Q.    Killed off the family?
  


16       A.    Yeah.
  


17       Q.    Took the two sisters --
  


18       A.    Yeah.
  


19       Q.    -- captive?
  


20       A.    Correct.
  


21       Q.    And they were traded around a little bit?
  


22       A.    They were traded around a little bit, yes.
  


23       Q.    And I believe, was the Mojave a Pai Tribe?
  


24       A.    Pai Tribe, yes.
  


25       Q.    Okay.  So related to the Yavapai?
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 1       A.    Yavapai, yeah.
  


 2       Q.    So it wasn't just the Apache people and it
  


 3   wasn't just in the 1860s that the native people in
  


 4   Arizona were resisting settlement of their territories?
  


 5       A.    No.  No, there was active resistance, yes.
  


 6       Q.    Do you know when the railroads appeared in
  


 7   the Verde Valley?
  


 8       A.    Are you talking about the Prescott Stage from
  


 9   Prescott to Ash Fork?
  


10       Q.    I believe that was the first one.
  


11       A.    Yeah, that was the first one.  It's in the
  


12   1880s.
  


13       Q.    Were mapmakers, either the military or the
  


14   Spanish mapmakers or the military mapmakers, trained in
  


15   assessing navigability?
  


16       A.    No.
  


17       Q.    They didn't apply The Daniel Ball test?
  


18       A.    They did not know about it, no.
  


19       Q.    Okay.  And you didn't look at the work of
  


20   federal surveyors for your report?
  


21       A.    Not this time, for this, yeah.
  


22       Q.    Okay.
  


23       A.    But I think, was that covered by
  


24   Dr. Littlefield?
  


25       Q.    Dr. Littlefield.
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 1       A.    Yes.  Yes, so I didn't want to be redundant.
  


 2       Q.    Why were the Fort McDowell and Fort Verde
  


 3   posts established?
  


 4       A.    For protection, military protection, of the
  


 5   increasing civilian population in this territory.
  


 6       Q.    The native peoples were fairly successfully
  


 7   resisting our incursion into the territory?
  


 8       A.    That's correct, up until 1865, certainly, and
  


 9   thus the establishment of several -- that had been
  


10   discussed throughout the territory, particularly
  


11   Central Arizona.
  


12       Q.    Now, Ms. Summerhayes came to Arizona in 1874;
  


13   is that correct?
  


14       A.    That's correct.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  So she was -- her husband was
  


16   stationed at Fort McDowell in 1877, does that sound
  


17   about right?
  


18       A.    Right around there.  She spent some time at
  


19   Fort Apache and then they came down.
  


20       Q.    Were they ever stationed at Fort Verde, or
  


21   did they just pass through?
  


22       A.    They were stationed there for a time, about a
  


23   year, from my recollection in reading the book.
  


24       Q.    And how long were they stationed at Fort
  


25   McDowell?
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 1       A.    Oh, Fort McDowell?  I think about one year,
  


 2   if I'm not mistaken.  I would have to go back and take
  


 3   a look at the account.
  


 4       Q.    They moved around a lot?
  


 5       A.    They moved around, yeah.  They moved to Fort
  


 6   Yuma and around.
  


 7       Q.    Okay.  So I thought you said you weren't
  


 8   going to testify about stuff after 1866, and I know I
  


 9   went to law school to avoid math, but 1877 is well
  


10   after that.
  


11       A.    Oh, I understand.  Sure.  It was
  


12   transportation, rugged transportation, so that jumped
  


13   out, yes.
  


14       Q.    So she wasn't there for the 1883 trip by
  


15   Willcox and Andrews in a canvas skiff from Fort
  


16   McDowell to Barnum's Pier on the Salt River Canal?
  


17       A.    She was not there.
  


18       Q.    She was not there when Major Spaulding and
  


19   Captain Hatfield departed for Phoenix in 1888?
  


20       A.    No, she was not.  Didn't know about it.
  


21       Q.    Didn't get to wave at the Day brothers going
  


22   by in 1891?
  


23       A.    No, she didn't.
  


24       Q.    Didn't see the lumber intended to float on
  


25   the Verde in 1894?
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 1       A.    She did not.
  


 2       Q.    And she certainly missed the 1931 trip of
  


 3   Fogal and his friend?
  


 4       A.    Doubtlessly.
  


 5       Q.    Okay.  When were the roads built by the
  


 6   military?  You talked about military roads this
  


 7   morning, or this afternoon, I guess.
  


 8       A.    1865 to 1870.  Stoneman Road, 1870, and then
  


 9   the Stoneman Grade also began in 1870.
  


10       Q.    And that road went?  Refresh me.
  


11       A.    The first one, the Stoneman Road, went from
  


12   Fort Whipple to Fort McDowell; and Stoneman Grade went
  


13   from, roughly, Fort McDowell to what's now called, I
  


14   think, Picketpost at the base of Picketpost Mountain in
  


15   Superior; and then from there, from Picketpost, it went
  


16   up that grade.  It was called Stoneman Grade.  It was
  


17   very difficult.  You still see remnants of it.
  


18       Q.    Did Ms. Summerhayes travel by boat on the
  


19   Colorado?
  


20       A.    I think she did, yes.
  


21       Q.    Did she describe that as a pleasant
  


22   experience?
  


23       A.    She described it as not a very pleasant
  


24   experience.
  


25       Q.    Pretty horrifying?
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 1       A.    Pretty horrifying in the summer, yes.
  


 2       Q.    And she noted a lot of details about how she
  


 3   got to Fort McDowell.  Did she record details of how
  


 4   other military people traveled in the area?
  


 5       A.    That was an autobiographical account.
  


 6       Q.    Did she say anywhere affirmatively that the
  


 7   Verde was not used for navigation?
  


 8       A.    She did not say affirmatively that the Verde
  


 9   wasn't used for navigation.
  


10       Q.    So when you say on Page 14 of your report
  


11   that military commanders never used the Verde, you mean
  


12   they didn't use the Verde while transporting
  


13   Ms. Summerhayes at least?
  


14       A.    Not specifically that.  I think that's -- the
  


15   records that I've seen, they have not navigated -- they
  


16   were not navigating the Verde, from what I've seen.
  


17   And Ms. Summerhayes, again, that was just an example of
  


18   the difficulty of traveling through Arizona, whether it
  


19   was 1860 or whatever her account was, 1874.
  


20       Q.    She's the only one that you talk about in
  


21   your military section, her and Smith?
  


22       A.    Smith, yes.
  


23       Q.    Old Y.T.
  


24       A.    Old Y.T.
  


25       Q.    Did she mention, in her passages about Fort
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 1   Verde, the boat that was located there?
  


 2       A.    Did she mention?  Did I mention or did she
  


 3   mention?
  


 4       Q.    Did she mention?
  


 5       A.    She did not mention it.
  


 6       Q.    Does Ms. Summerhayes talk about swimming in
  


 7   the Verde?
  


 8       A.    In that account, I don't believe she talks
  


 9   about swimming.  I'm not really sure, though.
  


10       Q.    In her book, at all?
  


11       A.    In her book.  In her book, yeah.
  


12       Q.    Let's pull up 6, which is X017-99, which is
  


13   Page 207 of Vanished Arizona.
  


14       A.    So does she talk about swimming there?  If
  


15   she does, I had forgotten.
  


16       Q.    Last paragraph, about halfway down.
  


17             She talks about teaching somebody else to
  


18   swim there.
  


19       A.    Okay, yeah.  I had forgotten that anecdote.
  


20       Q.    So, clearly, there were places on the Verde
  


21   that were deep enough that you had to swim in the area
  


22   of Fort McDowell?
  


23       A.    One could infer that.
  


24       Q.    And then you talk about John Y.T. Smith, and
  


25   Mr. Smith established a hay camp along the Salt to
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 1   supply hay to Fort McDowell?
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    And Fort McDowell is upstream from the Salt
  


 4   River, where he established his hay camp?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    Hay is a pretty bulky kind of thing to
  


 7   transport?
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    It doesn't do well if it gets wet?
  


10       A.    It does not.
  


11       Q.    In your opinion, is the Colorado River
  


12   navigable?
  


13       A.    I believe it's been found navigable by the
  


14   courts, and so --
  


15       Q.    And you wouldn't disagree with the courts?
  


16       A.    I'm not going to disagree with the courts,
  


17   no.
  


18       Q.    How about the Mississippi?
  


19       A.    I think I would agree.
  


20       Q.    Do roads run along either one of these
  


21   rivers?
  


22       A.    Yes.
  


23       Q.    On Page 13 of your report, you state that
  


24   "Fort McDowell could not raise sufficient crops to
  


25   sustain the men, their families, and their livestock so
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 1   innovative entrepreneurs began to branch out."
  


 2             And there's no citation for that; but then
  


 3   when you testified, you talked about the fact that the
  


 4   military was sort of pressured into seeking civilian
  


 5   contractors rather than raising the food for
  


 6   themselves.
  


 7       A.    Yeah.
  


 8       Q.    Is that what you were talking about in that
  


 9   sentence?
  


10       A.    Yeah, that there was protests from the local
  


11   population that the military should be fighting the
  


12   Indians, and so there was an adjustment about
  


13   the canal.  Well, the canal was dug by order of General
  


14   McDowell and then -- basically, to try to sustain the
  


15   military operation there, and then there were protests,
  


16   and it was parcelled out to private sector individuals.
  


17       Q.    So it wasn't really they couldn't raise
  


18   sufficient crops; it's just it was politically
  


19   expedient not to raise sufficient crops?
  


20       A.    Yeah, they had other issues that they wanted
  


21   to address, and so that was the path of least
  


22   resistance for that outpost.
  


23       Q.    Do you know who Dr. Edgar Mearns is?
  


24       A.    I think he was associated with the Fort
  


25   McDowell.
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 1       Q.    He was actually stationed at Fort Verde.
  


 2       A.    Fort Verde?  Okay.
  


 3       Q.    Between 1884 and 1888?
  


 4       A.    I remember reading something about him, yes.
  


 5       Q.    Was he the post surgeon and a naturalist?
  


 6       A.    I think, yes.
  


 7       Q.    Is that a common overlap at that time?
  


 8       A.    Yes.  Yeah, there were individuals posted
  


 9   that were like that.  I can think of one in Southern
  


10   Arizona at Fort Lowell, but I can't think of his name
  


11   right now.  And, again, I didn't look at that post as
  


12   opposed to Fort McDowell.
  


13       Q.    And, in fact, many of the great naturalists
  


14   of the 1800s were doctors?
  


15       A.    Correct.
  


16       Q.    Vandeveer Hayden, for instance, who ran --
  


17       A.    Yes.
  


18       Q.    -- one of the Great Surveys?
  


19       A.    Yes.
  


20       Q.    Was there a similar doctor or naturalist at
  


21   Fort McDowell?
  


22       A.    I'm not aware.  I don't know.
  


23       Q.    Did you look at the records for the Fort?
  


24       A.    I did not look at the records for the Fort
  


25   specifically for this proceeding.
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 1       Q.    I would like to talk a little bit about the
  


 2   infamous two guys in a boat photo --
  


 3       A.    Okay.
  


 4       Q.    -- that I think you still have up there.
  


 5       A.    Yeah, sure.
  


 6       Q.    X035-167, Page 110.
  


 7             Do you have any reason to disagree with other
  


 8   experts' opinions of the location of this photo?
  


 9       A.    I don't have any reason to disagree with the
  


10   location.
  


11       Q.    Do you have any doubts about the date on this
  


12   photo, at least the approximate date of this photo.
  


13       A.    I think the approximate date.  It looks like
  


14   the late 19th Century.
  


15       Q.    I see from your CV, you have some exposure to
  


16   the Colorado River through Grand Canyon?
  


17       A.    Some.
  


18       Q.    Are you familiar with the boating history of
  


19   Grand Canyon?
  


20       A.    I am not familiar with that dimension of its
  


21   history.
  


22       Q.    You know who John Wesley Powell was?
  


23       A.    I do.
  


24       Q.    Do you know what kind of boats he used in
  


25   Grand Canyon?
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 1       A.    I saw images of them in this proceeding, yes.
  


 2       Q.    But you don't know their cargo capacity or
  


 3   draft?
  


 4       A.    I don't know those things.
  


 5       Q.    You would say those would be a boat that
  


 6   would be available for commercial purposes at the time
  


 7   of Arizona's statehood, as well --
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    -- as the ones we talked about earlier --
  


10       A.    Yes.
  


11       Q.    -- the canoes and flatboats and things like
  


12   that?
  


13       A.    Yes.  I would think so, yes.
  


14       Q.    I'm trying to keep from us overlapping,
  


15   because I'm getting dirty looks over here.
  


16       A.    Okay.  I'm sorry.
  


17       Q.    Would you characterize Mr. Powell's use of
  


18   the river as a commercial use?
  


19       A.    No, I would characterize it as a scientific
  


20   survey.
  


21       Q.    He was being paid a salary to boat down the
  


22   river, was he not?
  


23       A.    Is that commerce along the river?  That's for
  


24   you -- I think for the attorneys to decide.  I mean I
  


25   really can't --
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 1       Q.    You don't have an opinion?
  


 2       A.    I don't have an opinion on that, no.
  


 3       Q.    Okay.
  


 4             Do you know who the Kolb brothers were?
  


 5       A.    Yes, photographers in the canyon, yes.
  


 6       Q.    Are you familiar with the boats they used in
  


 7   Grand Canyon?
  


 8       A.    I'm not familiar with the boats they used.
  


 9       Q.    Okay.  Do you have a standard for
  


10   navigability?
  


11       A.    I do not.
  


12       Q.    I would like to talk a little bit about the
  


13   historical records of boating we have for the Verde,
  


14   and I know you didn't include them because they
  


15   occurred after the dates you were focused on.
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    And I think we've already talked about the
  


18   Day brothers in Segments 2 through 5 and Fogal and his
  


19   friend in those same segments.
  


20             Let's look at the record we have for Willcox
  


21   and Andrews in Segment 5, which is No. 8, and it is
  


22   X017-122.
  


23       A.    Okay, I've read it.
  


24       Q.    Okay.  These guys didn't seem to have --
  


25   didn't report any difficulties in their journey?
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 1       A.    It appears not.
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  And then I'm not going to bring back
  


 3   up the infamous photo of the guys in the boat, but they
  


 4   apparently used a boat on the Verde?
  


 5       A.    Apparently.  They're there.
  


 6       Q.    And then we have Major Spaulding and Captain
  


 7   Hatfield in a canoe in 1888, also in Segment 5.
  


 8             This is X017-123, and it's 10, please, Debi.
  


 9             I'll give you a minute to read this.
  


10       A.    I'm going to have to get up.
  


11       Q.    And there's a copy, actually, in the
  


12   notebooks there next to you.
  


13       A.    Oh, good.  Yeah.
  


14       Q.    I'll find the page --
  


15       A.    What page, yeah?
  


16       Q.    -- or the tab --
  


17       A.    Tab.
  


18       Q.    -- for you will be 6.
  


19       A.    6?  Okay.  One, two, three?
  


20       Q.    Yes.
  


21       A.    Okay.  "Major Spaulding's Death"?
  


22       Q.    Yes.
  


23       A.    Oh, the death.
  


24             I have heard about this account before, but
  


25   this is the first time I've read it here.
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 1       Q.    And he was the Commandant at Fort McDowell?
  


 2       A.    Yes.
  


 3       Q.    What does that mean?
  


 4       A.    He was the --
  


 5       Q.    Guy in charge?
  


 6       A.    Top officer, yes.
  


 7       Q.    Okay.  And he was apparently using a boat.
  


 8   Do we know whether this was a pleasure or a business
  


 9   trip?
  


10       A.    Let me take another quick look.
  


11             It looked as though they were shooting as
  


12   they came, so it looks as though they were -- it was a
  


13   pleasure trip.
  


14       Q.    Have you never done anything fun on a
  


15   business trip?
  


16       A.    Yes, I've done something fun on a business
  


17   trip.
  


18       Q.    So it's possible they could have been
  


19   traveling for military purposes and incidentally
  


20   shooting along the way, or it's possible they could
  


21   have been on a frolic?
  


22       A.    Either/or.
  


23       Q.    Okay.  And he died because his gun misfired
  


24   going over an irrigation diversion?
  


25       A.    That's correct.
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 1       Q.    Not because he drowned on the Verde or
  


 2   because the --
  


 3       A.    No.
  


 4       Q.    -- rapids were too big or anything like that?
  


 5       A.    It was a tragic event, yes.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.  Do you know who Dr. Ralph Palmer was?
  


 7       A.    No, I don't.
  


 8       Q.    He was the author of a book called Doctor on
  


 9   Horseback.  Have you read that?
  


10       A.    No, I haven't.
  


11       Q.    We have an account from Dr. Palmer, and
  


12   that's is X017-97, page 29.
  


13             It's No. 12, Debi.
  


14       A.    Okay.
  


15       Q.    So starting with the first full paragraph
  


16   there.
  


17       A.    "Sunday morning"?  Okay.  Oops, I'm sorry.
  


18             Okay.  Thank you.
  


19       Q.    Let me see if I can make it a little bigger.
  


20       A.    Yeah, geez.
  


21       Q.    Does that help?
  


22       A.    Yeah, that helps a lot.  Thank you.
  


23             Okay.
  


24       Q.    He doesn't talk about, at least in this
  


25   paragraph of this, like the boat was -- having a boat
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 1   was an unusual event, does he?
  


 2       A.    No, there's no reference to it being unique.
  


 3       Q.    Although, it does seem a little unique that
  


 4   you have a horse that takes the boat trailer back?
  


 5       A.    Yes.
  


 6       Q.    All right.  I would also like to look at
  


 7   X017-121, which is 13, Debi.
  


 8             Can you just blow up the text there so it's
  


 9   on the screen?
  


10       A.    Okay, I've read it.
  


11       Q.    So this is outside of your area.  This is --
  


12       A.    Yeah.
  


13       Q.    -- up on the top part of the Verde.
  


14       A.    It's fun learning.
  


15       Q.    And it's 1917.
  


16       A.    Yes.
  


17       Q.    But it actually shows a picture of the boat
  


18   that was used on the Verde.
  


19       A.    Okay.
  


20       Q.    There it is.
  


21             Do you have any reason to doubt this account?
  


22       A.    I don't doubt that account, no.
  


23       Q.    Okay.  And then looks look at X017-126.
  


24             So 14, Debi.
  


25             You may have remembered this account from my
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 1   discussion of it with Dr. Littlefield.
  


 2       A.    Yes, I think I do.
  


 3       Q.    So these guys also used the Verde for
  


 4   boating?
  


 5       A.    Apparently, yes.
  


 6       Q.    Okay.  Don't these accounts contradict your
  


 7   conclusion that the Verde wasn't boatable?
  


 8       A.    I don't necessarily think so.  I think these
  


 9   accounts, they're comparatively small in number, and I
  


10   think it's up to the Commission and the attorneys to
  


11   place these accounts in context and discuss what
  


12   susceptible means and natural, and I forgot the other
  


13   one.  I feel like Governor Perry.
  


14       Q.    It's been a long day.
  


15       A.    I forgot the third one.
  


16       Q.    Governor Perry is not the third part of your
  


17   test.
  


18       A.    I know.
  


19             The other term that's -- the legal term
  


20   that's your charge and the Commission's charge to deal
  


21   with, yes.
  


22       Q.    Okay.  Is it your opinion that since the
  


23   Verde was used for irrigation, it could not have been
  


24   used for irrigation or --
  


25             Let me try that again.
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 1       A.    I know, I'm with you.  Sorry.
  


 2       Q.    It's been a long day or a long week.
  


 3             Is it your opinion that since the Verde was
  


 4   used for irrigation, it could not have been used for
  


 5   navigation?
  


 6       A.    No.
  


 7       Q.    Those are not mutually exclusive?
  


 8       A.    They are not mutually exclusive.
  


 9       Q.    Okay.
  


10                  MS. HERNBRODE:  Luckily for you, that
  


11   concludes my cross-examination.  Thank you so much.
  


12                  THE WITNESS:  Thank you.
  


13                  MS. HERNBRODE:  I believe you have
  


14   another tormenter.
  


15                  THE WITNESS:  Okay, tormenter.
  


16                  MR. HELM:  That is cruel.
  


17                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, are you ready
  


18   to proceed?
  


19                  MR. HELM:  I am.
  


20                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Jody?  Jack?
  


21                  Go ahead, John.
  


22
  


23                     CROSS-EXAMINATION
  


24   BY MR. HELM:
  


25       Q.    Hello, Dr. August.  I think we've done this


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 2503


  


 1   before, and nice to see you again.
  


 2       A.    Yeah, we did it before.
  


 3       Q.    I'm going to go as fast as I can so we can
  


 4   get out of here, which means somebody is already
  


 5   glaring at me.
  


 6       A.    I know, yes.  I'm being disciplined.
  


 7       Q.    I have some general questions and then I have
  


 8   some questions that were generated by your testimony
  


 9   here.
  


10             The first question I have is you don't claim
  


11   to be an expert in determining stream or river
  


12   navigability for the purpose of the standards that are
  


13   set forth by the federal judiciary, right?
  


14       A.    I do not.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  And I regrettably have to ask you
  


16   these questions, and I think the word you were looking
  


17   for just a minute ago was ordinary?
  


18       A.    That was the other word, yes.
  


19       Q.    And I would like to know your definition of
  


20   ordinary.
  


21       A.    Common.
  


22             You know, I think it's a legal term that's up
  


23   to this group to determine, so...
  


24       Q.    Oh, I understand that.  But you used it in
  


25   your report, and so I want to know how you used it, and
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 1   so we need to know your definition.
  


 2       A.    Well, for Segments 5, 4 and 5, it was the
  


 3   period from the Hohokam up to the beginnings of
  


 4   diversions.  So that was really as I was thinking
  


 5   ordinary, without any human interaction or involvement
  


 6   with the river.
  


 7       Q.    Okay.  And then could you give me your
  


 8   definition of natural?
  


 9       A.    Similar.  The natural flow of the river.
  


10       Q.    So are they basically the same thing?
  


11       A.    To me.
  


12       Q.    To you, natural and ordinary all run
  


13   together, so to speak?
  


14       A.    For the purposes of this hearing, I think
  


15   they are mutually reinforcing terms; and, again, that
  


16   falls, I think, within the legal framework of these
  


17   proceedings.
  


18       Q.    Okay.  For your work in this matter, did you
  


19   read any of the cases that have been generated as a
  


20   result of the Commission's work?
  


21       A.    No, I haven't.  I'm familiar with Winkleman
  


22   and I'm familiar with PPL, but, you know, I -- and I
  


23   know the upshot and, you know, I know what is being
  


24   looked at by this Commission.
  


25       Q.    So you haven't -- have you read Winkleman?
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 1       A.    A long time ago.
  


 2       Q.    And you've read PPL?
  


 3       A.    I glanced over it.
  


 4       Q.    You don't claim to understand what those two
  


 5   things say?
  


 6       A.    I have a general knowledge of what those two
  


 7   things say.
  


 8       Q.    Do you realize that Winkleman makes a
  


 9   distinction between natural and ordinary?
  


10       A.    I did not know that, no.
  


11       Q.    So you didn't make any distinction between
  


12   natural and ordinary?
  


13       A.    No.  I just looked at the historical record.
  


14       Q.    And, particularly, you didn't make the
  


15   distinction that Winkleman did?
  


16       A.    I did not, no.
  


17       Q.    Do you have what I would call a list of
  


18   elements that you need to kind of check off to
  


19   determine whether a river is navigable or it's not
  


20   navigable, as a historian dealing with those issues?
  


21       A.    I do not have a list to check that out, no.
  


22       Q.    So I can't ask you to tell me all the
  


23   elements that you used to decide that the Verde River
  


24   was not navigable?
  


25       A.    There's no checklist.  I just looked at the
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 1   historical record and really reviewed human interaction
  


 2   and the various cultures that came across it and
  


 3   considered it, and that was my charge.
  


 4       Q.    As part of that historical work, did you read
  


 5   anything, look at any treatises or written materials of
  


 6   any kind that dealt with the Verde River as a
  


 7   multiple-channel river?
  


 8       A.    I have not looked at the science and
  


 9   hydrology of the river.
  


10       Q.    In the writings you read, you didn't see some
  


11   guy say, and, by golly, that's a braided river?
  


12       A.    I did not see that term, no.
  


13       Q.    Now, I believe you mentioned that you looked
  


14   at the Verde in terms of trade and travel?
  


15       A.    I tried to look at it with that prism from
  


16   the historical record that I looked at.
  


17       Q.    And in doing so to determine navigability,
  


18   did you use those terms together; in other words, did
  


19   it require both trade and travel to be navigable?
  


20       A.    To me, no, it didn't require both.
  


21       Q.    Okay.  So if you had stumbled across the Day
  


22   brothers' trip and they weren't trapping beaver, that
  


23   might have been enough to make it navigable because
  


24   they just went down it in a boat, from your
  


25   perspective?
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 1       A.    That's for this Commission to say.  I mean I
  


 2   know that happened, and I know that there are a handful
  


 3   of accounts from newspapers that discuss that.
  


 4       Q.    Well, but what I'm trying -- you have to
  


 5   understand what I'm trying to do here --
  


 6       A.    Fine, uh-huh.
  


 7       Q.    -- is I'm trying to find out what prism you
  


 8   applied to make a determination of whether the Verde
  


 9   was navigable.
  


10             And so as part of your prism, did it require
  


11   both trade and travel together?
  


12       A.    No, it did not.
  


13       Q.    Did it have to be a commercial enterprise?
  


14       A.    It did not.
  


15       Q.    Did it have to be both upstream and
  


16   downstream?
  


17       A.    It did not.
  


18       Q.    Simple navigation would be good enough --
  


19       A.    Simple navigation.
  


20       Q.    -- for you?
  


21       A.    For me, yes.  I was looking at the absence.
  


22   There seemed to be an absence of accounts that I could
  


23   find in my short time.
  


24       Q.    And you were looking for specific historical
  


25   accounts of somebody going down the river in a boat?
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 1       A.    Yes.  Yes.
  


 2       Q.    You weren't making any judgments about the
  


 3   susceptibility of that river to support boat travel?
  


 4       A.    Correct.
  


 5       Q.    I'm on a roll.
  


 6       A.    Uh-oh, the yellow pad.
  


 7       Q.    Hey, I got through the first two pages
  


 8   already.
  


 9       A.    Okay, good.
  


10       Q.    If I understand your testimony, you don't
  


11   have any opinions on the navigability of what I'll call
  


12   Segments 1, 2, and 3 as those are defined by the State?
  


13       A.    I do not, really.  No, I don't.
  


14       Q.    Do you recall, when you read Winkleman, that
  


15   Winkleman had a discussion about when the Commission or
  


16   the people making a determination on navigability
  


17   should look at the river to determine its ordinary and
  


18   natural condition?
  


19       A.    Yes, and my understanding from having read it
  


20   a while ago, was that the Commission hadn't really
  


21   looked carefully enough at the period before, roughly,
  


22   1870, we could push it back to 1866, and from the time
  


23   of Hohokam and pre-Columbian settlement.
  


24       Q.    So what the Commission was basically -- or
  


25   what the Court was basically saying, as you understand
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 1   it, was you want to look at that period after the
  


 2   Hohokams have stopped using the river for irrigation
  


 3   and things like that and before the civilization
  


 4   arrived in the form of some Anglos that were showing
  


 5   up?
  


 6       A.    And diversions, I think diversions.
  


 7       Q.    All the diversions?
  


 8       A.    Yes.
  


 9       Q.    They were trying to eliminate the diversions
  


10   that the Hohokam had done; fair enough?
  


11       A.    Fair enough.
  


12       Q.    All right.  When you're talking about the
  


13   Spanish explorers and stuff that were wandering around
  


14   Arizona in the 1500s and stuff like that --
  


15       A.    Yes.
  


16       Q.    -- were they still wandering around when the
  


17   Hohokams or other like tribes were diverting water from
  


18   the rivers?
  


19       A.    The Spaniards were not here when the Hohokam
  


20   disappeared, for lack of a better term; but they were
  


21   here when other groups, and they encountered Apaches,
  


22   Pai people, Yavapais, Apaches, Navajos.
  


23       Q.    Some of those were still irrigating, is my
  


24   only question?
  


25       A.    Yeah, there were some that were irrigating, a
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 1   little, yes; not much, not extensively.
  


 2       Q.    Okay.  I know you had a discussion with your
  


 3   counsel and Mr. Hood regarding whether the distance
  


 4   that was traveled by the Day brothers was 800 miles or
  


 5   200 miles, right?
  


 6       A.    (Witness nodded.)
  


 7       Q.    And I believe the conclusions that the
  


 8   counsel came up with was it wasn't 800 miles?
  


 9       A.    That's correct.
  


10       Q.    First of all, do you at least have some
  


11   familiarity with trapping?
  


12             And I'll warn you I have trapped before.
  


13       A.    I have never trapped, so...
  


14             I have not trapped, no.
  


15       Q.    Okay.  Well, have you read about trappers?
  


16       A.    I've read about trappers, yes.
  


17       Q.    Have you heard the word trap line?
  


18       A.    I've heard the word trap line.
  


19       Q.    Okay.  And normally when a trapper, who is in
  


20   the business of trapping, goes out to do his thing, he
  


21   lays a trap line, doesn't he?
  


22       A.    Yes.
  


23       Q.    He doesn't just go out and put one trap out
  


24   and sit there and watch it and see if the beaver will
  


25   come up and get in it, right?
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 1       A.    Correct.
  


 2       Q.    He puts out a series of traps, and he doesn't
  


 3   wait at the one trap to see when it's going to get a
  


 4   result, right?
  


 5       A.    Correct.
  


 6       Q.    So normally trappers go out and they go
  


 7   downriver or upriver, but they move out onto the river
  


 8   and they lay a series of traps for some distance
  


 9   downriver, right?
  


10       A.    Correct, uh-huh.
  


11       Q.    And then they either wait downriver for
  


12   whatever they've deemed an appropriate period of time
  


13   before going back and checking the traps, or they might
  


14   say, "Well, I've got to wait until this evening to go
  


15   out and check the traps again, to give them a chance to
  


16   be successful, so I'll go back to camp and have some
  


17   lunch and then I'll go back and check the traps,"
  


18   right?
  


19       A.    I understand, yes.
  


20       Q.    So it seems to me that if I'm a trapper, as
  


21   opposed to a person just traveling down a river, I go
  


22   down it once and put my traps down, right?
  


23       A.    Okay.
  


24       Q.    Now, if I wait down there, I still have to go
  


25   back one more time over the same distance, don't I?
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 1       A.    Correct.
  


 2       Q.    Because I've got to go check the traps?
  


 3       A.    All right.
  


 4       Q.    All right.  I'm now back at camp, and let's
  


 5   say I was a lucky trapper.  Every one of them had a
  


 6   beaver in it, right?  So I didn't have to go down and
  


 7   check them several times.  I just went back to the
  


 8   camp.  When I got back to the camp, what did I have to
  


 9   do?
  


10             Didn't I have to skin the beaver?
  


11       A.    Correct.
  


12       Q.    I mean, you're not aware of any trappers that
  


13   just threw carcasses in the canoe and headed downriver
  


14   again, did you?
  


15       A.    I'm not aware of any trappers in the history.
  


16       Q.    Okay.  So they skinned them, and they
  


17   probably even had to stretch them or dry them in some
  


18   fashion, and then they put them in their boat and they
  


19   went on down to the next spot they were going to trap,
  


20   right?
  


21       A.    That sounds like a supposition, yes.
  


22       Q.    Seem like a reasonable approach?
  


23       A.    Seems like a reasonable supposition.
  


24       Q.    All right.  So that means that they either
  


25   went three or four times up and down the same stretch
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 1   of river to cover it, right?
  


 2       A.    Well, I have no expertise in this, but you
  


 3   do.
  


 4       Q.    How's your math?
  


 5       A.    Not very good.
  


 6       Q.    Is it good enough to go four times 200?
  


 7       A.    Yeah, I can deal with that.
  


 8       Q.    Could we get 800 out of that if we did that?
  


 9       A.    If you multiplied four times 200, I agree,
  


10   it's 800.
  


11       Q.    And could we get 600 if we used a shorter one
  


12   that went three times?
  


13       A.    Correct.  Yeah.
  


14       Q.    And so is there at least the possibility, in
  


15   your mind, that when the Day brothers were saying it
  


16   took 800 miles to do it, that they might have been
  


17   telling that newspaper guy that, yeah, we have to do
  


18   laps; you don't just hop in the boat and trap on one
  


19   straight line down the river?
  


20       A.    I think that's reading into the article,
  


21   but...
  


22       Q.    Sure.
  


23       A.    But that wasn't what I read, so...
  


24       Q.    All I'm saying is they went trapping?
  


25       A.    Then went trapping, yeah.
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 1       Q.    All right.  Trapping is not a straight line
  


 2   trip down to Yuma from the Verde?
  


 3       A.    Okay.
  


 4       Q.    Okay.  So there's at least the possibility
  


 5   that it took longer than what the GPS would show as
  


 6   200 miles?
  


 7       A.    Okay.  I agree with your supposition.
  


 8       Q.    Another question on trapping.  Has the
  


 9   commerce of trapping --
  


10       A.    Okay.
  


11       Q.    -- where, you know, some guy goes out in the
  


12   1600s or whatever and catches a bunch of beaver and
  


13   brings it into town and sells it, has that type of
  


14   commerce been held sufficient to establish navigability
  


15   of any of the rivers and streams in the United States?
  


16       A.    I don't know.  I can't answer that here.
  


17       Q.    You haven't done --
  


18       A.    I haven't done any research on that to give
  


19   an educated answer.
  


20       Q.    You heard Mr. Randall --
  


21       A.    Yes.
  


22       Q.    -- testify the other day that the Apaches
  


23   didn't use the river?
  


24       A.    I heard him say inasmuch.  Yes, he said that.
  


25       Q.    And he had a reason for that, didn't he?
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 1       A.    (Witness nodded.)
  


 2       Q.    And wasn't that reason because the river was
  


 3   a very windy river?
  


 4       A.    I think that was his explanation.
  


 5       Q.    And it was quicker to just go across the land
  


 6   than it was to take a boat and just go up and down the
  


 7   meanders to get to the same place?
  


 8       A.    I think that was his testimony, yes.
  


 9       Q.    Would that make some sense to you in terms of
  


10   why Apaches may not have used the river?
  


11       A.    That makes sense.
  


12       Q.    You talked about Mr. Smith and his hay
  


13   operation.
  


14       A.    Yes.
  


15       Q.    Could one of the reasons that Mr. Smith had
  


16   his hay operation up on the Salt be that there was a
  


17   lot of wild hay down there?
  


18                  MR. BREEDLOVE:  Jim, do you want to take
  


19   a break?
  


20                  COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Yes, I want to
  


21   take a break.
  


22                  THE WITNESS:  Well, I'll answer after.
  


23                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, we're going to
  


24   break for a day.
  


25                  THE WITNESS:  A day?


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 2516


  


 1                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Today.
  


 2                  (A recess was taken from 4:48 p.m. to
  


 3   4:55 p.m.)
  


 4                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John, are we ready to
  


 5   go back on the record?
  


 6                  MR. HELM:  Ready.
  


 7                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Jack, you're up.
  


 8                  THE WITNESS:  Okay.
  


 9   BY MR. HELM:
  


10       Q.    You had an answer?
  


11       A.    Yes.
  


12             I think the answer to your question is
  


13   Galleta hay.  It was kind of a wild hay.  Is that what
  


14   you were asking?
  


15       Q.    Yes.
  


16       A.    Yes, it's pretty well-documented in numerous
  


17   accounts.
  


18       Q.    Yeah.  So he went down there because he could
  


19   get a lot of free hay?
  


20       A.    There's free hay, yes.
  


21       Q.    In his operation, that was the motivation?
  


22       A.    Yes, he was smart.
  


23       Q.    Okay, now, in your report I seem to recall
  


24   coming across your commentaries on the maps, and you
  


25   said that the first fairly accurate one was 1880, and
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 1   the first really accurate one was 1889, I believe?
  


 2       A.    That's what I said.
  


 3       Q.    Is that right?
  


 4       A.    That's what I said.
  


 5       Q.    Now, by the time you got around to 1889,
  


 6   there were significant diversions going on on the Verde
  


 7   River, wasn't there?
  


 8       A.    There were.
  


 9       Q.    And you talked about the early maps as being
  


10   made when you believed the Verde would have been in its
  


11   natural and ordinary condition when the Spanish were
  


12   running around here and that sort of stuff.
  


13             Did you see anything on any of those maps
  


14   that you reviewed that were commentary on the condition
  


15   of the Verde River in those times, as opposed to just
  


16   having a fanciful line drawn on it with some squiggles
  


17   on it?
  


18       A.    It was the latter; it was the lack of
  


19   knowledge of the geography was what was striking.
  


20       Q.    Could one of the reasons that the early
  


21   Spanish and other people didn't go wandering up the
  


22   Verde have been that the Apache Tribe that lived up
  


23   there was a reasonably formidable tribal?
  


24       A.    That's correct.  That was certainly one of
  


25   the factors.  There's others.
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 1       Q.    And they would have known about that because
  


 2   they would have talked to other tribes as they
  


 3   matriculated north out of Mexico?
  


 4       A.    That is correct, and that's why some of the
  


 5   presidios were at Tubac and then later moved to Tucson,
  


 6   yeah.
  


 7       Q.    And that's why we ended up with a lot of
  


 8   Forts up there too, wasn't it?
  


 9       A.    That's correct.
  


10       Q.    One of the other reasons that a river might
  


11   not be used for transportation is because it didn't go
  


12   anywhere anybody wanted to go, correct?
  


13       A.    That would be a reasonable assumption, yes.
  


14       Q.    And the Verde started up in -- sorry,
  


15   anybody -- the middle of nowhere?
  


16       A.    Okay.
  


17       Q.    And at the early part of the time, it came
  


18   down to the middle of nowhere, didn't it?
  


19       A.    That's correct.
  


20       Q.    Phoenix was not Phoenix?
  


21       A.    There was --
  


22       Q.    There was a guy cutting hay.
  


23       A.    That's correct.
  


24       Q.    And so there probably wasn't a lot of demand
  


25   for transportation between the Verde Valley and the hay
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 1   cutter?
  


 2       A.    Yes, other than military purposes.
  


 3       Q.    And if I understand your testimony right
  


 4   about the maps that the Spanish did, they didn't make
  


 5   any commentary on any of them, no matter where they
  


 6   were, on whether the river they were noting was
  


 7   navigable or not?
  


 8       A.    There's no language to that nature, that
  


 9   speaks to that.
  


10       Q.    And the best that you could get in navigation
  


11   from the Spanish maybe was the drawing of a ship in a
  


12   bay off of some ocean?
  


13       A.    Yes, and that's on the Colorado, yes.
  


14       Q.    For the most part, in terms of the Spanish
  


15   travels, they were going north and south, weren't they?
  


16       A.    North/south.  South to north, yes.
  


17       Q.    Yeah, south to north.  And so they would be
  


18   going upstream most of the time?
  


19       A.    That's a fair assumption, yes.
  


20       Q.    Did I understand you correctly that you
  


21   aren't aware of the ancient canoe that Frank Cushing
  


22   discovered?
  


23       A.    I'm not aware of it, so...
  


24       Q.    What did the Hohokam trade?
  


25       A.    Shells, basketry.
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 1       Q.    Massive goods or --
  


 2       A.    Not massive goods.  Goods that they could
  


 3   carry, whether individually or --
  


 4       Q.    Something that could --
  


 5       A.    -- something on the back.
  


 6       Q.    -- fit in my equivalent of a backpack, or
  


 7   whatever their equivalent was, and off I could go?
  


 8       A.    That's accurate.
  


 9       Q.    They didn't have what I would call a need to
  


10   move an ore boat down the Verde River?
  


11       A.    There was no evidence of that, that I know
  


12   of.
  


13                  MR. HELM:  Just one thing to check.
  


14                  Forget it.  I have to put the thing in.
  


15   I'll pass.  I'm done.
  


16                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Technology will do that
  


17   to you.
  


18                  MR. HELM:  It does it to us old guys.
  


19                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Technology blesses us
  


20   all.
  


21                  MR. HELM:  Periodically.
  


22                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, Monday, March 30,
  


23   at 9:00 a.m., here in this room, we will have the Rich
  


24   Burtell show; is that correct?
  


25                  MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, actually, you'll


      COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440
      www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 2521


  


 1   have the redirect of the Jack August show.
  


 2                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We've got redirect.
  


 3   Thank you.  Appreciate that, Cynthia.
  


 4                  MS. CAMPBELL:  No problem.
  


 5                  THE WITNESS:  Hopefully a brief show.
  


 6                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, so that means you
  


 7   have to come back on the 30th.
  


 8                  THE WITNESS:  I'll be around.
  


 9                  CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, great.  Anything
  


10   else we need to take up before you acing out of here?
  


11                  It's good to see everybody.  We'll look
  


12   forward to seeing you next time.
  


13                  (The proceedings adjourned at 5:02 p.m.)
  


14
  


15
  


16
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            1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  George, would you call

            2  the roll, please.

            3                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Allen.

            4                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.

            5                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Horton.

            6                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.

            7                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble.

            8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I am here.

            9                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  We have a quorum.

           10                 Jim Henness will not be here today.  And

           11  our attorney, Fred Breedlove, is here, and I am here

           12  also.

           13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Ms. Campbell, please

           14  proceed.

           15                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

           16

           17               CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION

           18  BY MS. CAMPBELL:

           19      Q.    Dr. August, yesterday, when we left off, we

           20  were talking about Father Kino.  Do you recall that?

           21      A.    I believe I do.  Yes, I do.

           22      Q.    Did Father Kino have any particular skills as

           23  a cartographer?

           24      A.    Yes, he did.

           25      Q.    That being a mapmaker, correct?
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            1      A.    A mapmaker, yes.

            2      Q.    And where did he acquire skills as a

            3  mapmaker?

            4      A.    In Italy and Germany, in his education when

            5  he was a younger man, so roughly from 15 to age 20,

            6  when he was in Europe.

            7      Q.    And during his exploration for the Spanish in

            8  the Southwest borderlands, was it common or customary

            9  for him to map where he had been?

           10      A.    Yes, it was common, and it became kind of a

           11  routine.  And it was important that Spanish, whether

           12  they're Jesuit priests or civilian explorers or the

           13  military, like, say, Juan Bautista de Anza, who comes

           14  on the scene a little bit later, that they noted where

           15  ojos or parajes, they call them.  Ojos is O-J-O-S and

           16  parajes is P-A-R-A-J-E-S.  Ojos literally means eyes

           17  and parajes means stops.  But that implied where small

           18  watercourses or water spots or tanks were, and that was

           19  important in the mapping process.

           20      Q.    Why is that?

           21      A.    Well, because of the aridity and hospital

           22  environment that was the arid north of New Spain and

           23  what is now the arid Southwest.

           24      Q.    So they would map those areas to show where

           25  they could water animals?


                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440

                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ
�

                        VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015
                                                                      2355


            1      A.    Water animals, men, women, when they were

            2  colonizing.  It was important to know if it was a day

            3  away, a half day away.  That's why water was important,

            4  and it was important to locate watercourses and rivers.

            5  And Kino wasn't the only one that did that, of course.

            6  I mean it was throughout the Spanish colonial effort.

            7      Q.    Now, tell me again, because my Spanish is

            8  very poor, what was the term you just used?

            9      A.    Ojos, like eyes of water, ojos or eyes; and

           10  then parajes means stop.  But that was also a place

           11  they could stop, and it implied that there would be

           12  water there.  So that was a common practice and useful

           13  for getting the record.  They were always -- they were,

           14  you know, acquiring knowledge of La Tierra Incógnita,

           15  the unknown land.

           16      Q.    Would a cartographer like Father Kino

           17  differentiate between one of the stopping points that

           18  you just described and a river that was usable by boat?

           19      A.    He would.  He would do that.

           20      Q.    Did Father Kino actually map the Verde River?

           21      A.    No, he did not.

           22      Q.    Did he rely on other people's maps regarding

           23  the Verde River?

           24      A.    No, he didn't.  He really did not approach

           25  it.  The rim of settlement, the Gila seemed to have
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            1  been where the rim of Christendom kind of halted, and

            2  they would travel north, and there was a concerted

            3  effort after Kino's time to send missionaries to the

            4  Hopi.  That was where they first tried in 1629 from

            5  Santa Fe, and they had missions there from 1630 to

            6  about 1680, when the great Pueblo Revolt took place.

            7            And if you ever go to Hopi and go to First

            8  Mesa, Awatobi is where the missionaries were martyred,

            9  I'll put it that way, and that's when the Spanish were

           10  kicked out of New Mexico for about 12 years.

           11      Q.    If Kino didn't map the Verde, how do you know

           12  that he actually ever saw it?

           13      A.    Allegedly, and I think I cited here and other

           14  places that I've written, I think -- well, I don't know

           15  what page here.

           16      Q.    Maybe Page 6?

           17      A.    Maybe Page 6.

           18            Yes.  Manje noted that they, from -- it looks

           19  as though they were in the Estrella Mountains out by

           20  Buckeye, and from that vantage point they looked out

           21  and they saw the confluence of the Gila and -- or the

           22  Salt and the Verde and then subsequently flowing into

           23  the Gila and what is now, I guess, 38 miles of drainage

           24  through that reach of the Salt and -- yeah, Salt into

           25  the Gila.
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            1      Q.    So this quotation which you have on Page 6 of

            2  your report, he actually calls out the Verde

            3  specifically?

            4      A.    Yes.

            5      Q.    Does he mention anywhere in his reports that

            6  the Verde is suitable for travel or trade?

            7      A.    He does not.

            8      Q.    Does he mention any reference to boating the

            9  Verde?

           10      A.    No.  No, he did not.

           11      Q.    But does he mention a usefulness of the

           12  river?

           13      A.    Well, I think it's implied from Manje's

           14  report here and that there was potential.  I mean they

           15  saw that there were rivers and there was water, and the

           16  larger goal was to establish a missionary outpost north

           17  of the Gila into other territories that would advance

           18  Christianity and save souls.

           19            Ultimately, another practical matter of this

           20  was that once the detribalized Indian, let's say, they

           21  called then Genízaros, G-E-N-I-Z-A-R-O-S, which roughly

           22  meant a person of reason, they could become like a

           23  taxpaying citizens of the Spanish empire.  So there was

           24  an economic value to Christianizing, missionizing, and

           25  trying to acculturate these people.  And some groups
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            1  were much more willing than others.

            2      Q.    When you say that he noted there was a

            3  potential to the river, was it a potential to travel

            4  the river?

            5      A.    No, just the fact that there was water, and

            6  perhaps it could sustain Spanish towns and a colonial

            7  effort and a missionary effort; but that's as far as it

            8  got with Kino.

            9      Q.    How did Kino travel; what mode of

           10  transportation did he use?

           11      A.    Horse.  He was an incredible horseman,

           12  sometimes 30 miles a day.  He would go from what was

           13  called the doctrina, D-O-C-T-R-I-N-A, was the major

           14  church, and then there would be visitas maybe about a

           15  day's visit and smaller outposts where Indians in the

           16  outlying areas would come and congregate and he would

           17  baptize and convert and teach and a lot of agriculture,

           18  agricultural essence.

           19      Q.    Okay.  And who was the first person to call

           20  the Verde River Verde?

           21      A.    It looks as though -- I think I have it here.

           22  Was it Father Velarde or --

           23      Q.    It appears on Page 7 that way, yes.

           24      A.    7?  Yeah.

           25            Green, yes, and it appears that it was Father
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            1  Luis Velarde, who was Kino's successor.

            2      Q.    And what time frame was that?

            3      A.    About 1716, when he wrote what was called a

            4  relacionará, kind of a report on the area, and it had

            5  been known by a variety of names and continued to shift

            6  even later; but he called it the Verde for the first

            7  time.

            8      Q.    And was that time frame of 1716, was that

            9  prior to modern or white man diversions of the Verde

           10  River?

           11      A.    Yes.  Yes, it was.

           12      Q.    How did Velarde travel?

           13      A.    By horseback.

           14      Q.    Was Velarde looking for mineral deposits?

           15      A.    That was always on, whether a priest or

           16  military or civilian, that was always a consideration

           17  by the Spanish Empire and for the King, because the

           18  King would get a fifth of any minerals that were

           19  discovered, and if it was a treasure, he would get

           20  half, according to the rules.

           21      Q.    And, in fact, yesterday we talk about Espejo.

           22  Didn't he make it all the way to Jerome?

           23      A.    Yes, he did.  And among other things he

           24  brought back were rugs, and he called the Yavapais that

           25  he met there, he called them the Querechos,
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            1  Q-U-E-R-E-C-H-O-S.  They went through a -- Spaniards

            2  called them different names over time, and ultimately

            3  the first person that called them Yabipai --

            4  Y-A-B-I-P-A-I, I think that's how it's spelled. -- was

            5  Father Garcés in 1776.  That's an easy one to remember,

            6  1776, when he got up there.  We'll double back and talk

            7  about that.  But they had contact and made me think of

            8  Mr. Randall's testimony.

            9      Q.    So did Espejo get those rugs from the

           10  Yavapai?

           11      A.    Yes.  Yeah, he was commonly known as a rug

           12  trader, kind of -- it was just kind of a joking what he

           13  came back with, because he did note, though, that there

           14  were mines there and that the natives did, in fact,

           15  mine and have some -- adapted them for adornment and

           16  things like that.

           17      Q.    So, actually, Espejo did travel or trade

           18  along the Verde, didn't he?

           19      A.    Yes, along the Verde, yes.

           20      Q.    Did he travel on the Verde?

           21      A.    He crossed the Verde.

           22      Q.    What do you mean by --

           23      A.    Forded.

           24      Q.    -- crossed?

           25      A.    I think he forded the Verde.  It appears that
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            1  he did, if you get to Jerome.

            2      Q.    Just crossing from one side to the other?

            3      A.    One side to the other, or roughly the Jerome

            4  area.

            5      Q.    And if Espejo or any of his subsequent

            6  explorers would have been able to move ore down the

            7  Verde, would they have moved ore down the Verde?

            8      A.    Yes, they would.  I would assume so, yes.  It

            9  would be easier.

           10      Q.    Would that be because -- well, no, I'm

           11  actually asking the question of would they, would they

           12  acquire the ore and want to take it back to a more

           13  populated area, a Spanish stronghold?

           14      A.    Sure.  That would be something they would

           15  want to do, yes, at that point in history.

           16      Q.    Who was the first person to publish a map

           17  that used the name Verde to describe the Verde River?

           18      A.    That would be Father Juan Bautista Nentvig.

           19      Q.    What year was that?

           20      A.    1764.

           21      Q.    And in making his observations about the

           22  Verde River, did he rely on the observations of other

           23  explorers?

           24      A.    Yes, that was common practice to accumulate

           25  knowledge from their predecessors, update, insert their
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            1  observations and explorations, and advance

            2  understanding the geology, topography, and

            3  characteristics of the areas that they were exploring.

            4      Q.    And was Father Nentvig also well-educated?

            5      A.    He was well-educated as well, and he was a

            6  Jesuit.

            7      Q.    And would he have had cartography skills?

            8      A.    Yes, he would have had cartography skills.

            9      Q.    In fact, didn't he map, draw a map of the

           10  Verde River?

           11      A.    Yes, a map, he drew a map, and its

           12  surrounding area.

           13      Q.    And what kind of written record did Nentvig

           14  leave?

           15      A.    He left a very widely known and celebrated

           16  record called the Rudo Ensayo.  And, in fact, back in

           17  the day it was hard to get ahold of it.  Now I think

           18  you can get it online and translated.

           19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Dr. Jack.

           20                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.

           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Could you spell Rudo

           22  Ensayo?

           23                 THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  Yes.  R-U-D-O,

           24  E-N-S-A-Y-O.

           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  What does Rudo mean?
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            1  Is it route?

            2                 THE WITNESS:  Could mean a couple

            3  things.  I will have to double-check on that one, yeah.

            4  BY MS. CAMPBELL:

            5      Q.    What was the purpose of Nentvig's book or

            6  publication?

            7      A.    It was really to gather and kind of

            8  consolidate the knowledge of the region, the Gila, the

            9  Pimería Alta area, and even then, I guess, ethnobotany.

           10  I don't know if that term was invented yet, but the

           11  flora, the fauna, where things were located; things

           12  meaning mountain ranges, rivers, plateaus, all of that,

           13  so that there could be a knowledge base for further

           14  exploration.  And, in fact, they wanted to colonize or

           15  move forward with a mission frontier as well.

           16      Q.    Now, I think you've already said that Nentvig

           17  drew a map of the Verde within that book.

           18      A.    Yes.

           19      Q.    Did he also map out or describe the Salt

           20  River?

           21      A.    Yes, he did.

           22      Q.    Did he describe the Gila River?

           23      A.    Yes, he did.

           24      Q.    Did he describe any of those rivers as usable

           25  for boating or travel or trade?
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            1      A.    No, he did not use those terms or refer to

            2  that in any way.

            3      Q.    What mode of transportation did Father

            4  Nentvig use?

            5      A.    Like his predecessors, horse, equine.

            6      Q.    So, so far all the Spanish explorers that

            7  you've described traveled overland instead of using the

            8  various Arizona rivers, including the Verde; is that

            9  correct?

           10      A.    That is correct.

           11      Q.    But did the explorers follow the course of

           12  the Verde River?

           13      A.    They could have.

           14      Q.    Would Espejo have followed it getting to

           15  Jerome?

           16      A.    Yes, he would have.

           17      Q.    Why would they follow the course of the Verde

           18  River if they weren't going to travel on it?

           19      A.    Well, one, to water their horses and

           20  themselves.  It was also obvious that many of the

           21  Indian or Native American villages or settlements, if

           22  you want call them that, were nearby, and they were

           23  interested in acquiring that knowledge and seeing if

           24  they were hostile or friendly or could provide them

           25  with information.
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            1      Q.    In all of their accounts, did the Spanish

            2  explorers describe, in any general sense or specific

            3  sense, their travel conditions?

            4      A.    Yes.  Yeah.

            5      Q.    They described the landscape?

            6      A.    They described the landscape, yes.

            7      Q.    Did any of them mention the existence of an

            8  established road?

            9      A.    Indian trails, and oftentimes, just as they

           10  used some of the Native American housing, they

           11  oftentimes would use well-worn, I wouldn't call them

           12  roads, but trails.

           13      Q.    Did the Spanish build roads in the vicinity

           14  of the Verde River?

           15      A.    No, they didn't.

           16      Q.    If you could take a look at Page 8 of your

           17  report.

           18      A.    Yes.

           19      Q.    And the first sentence of the only full

           20  paragraph on that page says "In spite of the Spaniards

           21  traversing what is now central Arizona, they largely

           22  ignored the Verde."

           23            What do you mean by ignore?

           24      A.    They didn't utilize it, really, for any other

           25  purpose than crossing it.


                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440

                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ
�

                        VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015
                                                                      2366


            1      Q.    So who produced the first American map of the

            2  Verde River?

            3      A.    Well, it looks as though it was plagiarized,

            4  and it was Zebulon Pike and that expedition, which came

            5  across, I think, 1804 to 1806, and I guess it was

            6  published in 1810.  But it was surprising, because he

            7  had never visited the Verde watershed, by the way.  He

            8  was north of this area.  And it looks as though from

            9  accounts that Alexander Von Humboldt, who was kind of

           10  a -- was a geologist and kind of well-connected in

           11  Europe, received permission from the King of Spain to

           12  come over and do things, look at Latin America, because

           13  the King was interested in, again, minerals,

           14  bullionism, gold, silver, the precious metals, that he

           15  thought maybe allowing him some access would further

           16  his aims.

           17      Q.    And was Alexander Von Humboldt a geologist

           18  and naturalist?

           19      A.    Yes, he was.

           20      Q.    Did he take any time to describe the features

           21  of the area, the rivers, the landscape?

           22      A.    Not really.  You know, he just drew a map,

           23  and he based that on, really, secondary sources as well

           24  too, from knowledge in the Spanish Empire.

           25      Q.    So in your report you identify by name ten
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            1  Spanish explorers, including Von Humboldt, who actually

            2  was German, correct?

            3      A.    Yes, correct.

            4      Q.    Was this an exhaustive list of every Spanish

            5  explorer who traveled within Central Arizona, including

            6  the area of the Verde River?

            7      A.    As far as the historical record from the

            8  works of Bannon, Bolton, Farish, Thomas Sheridan and

            9  others, these are the vanguard.  But there could have

           10  been others that went off exploring on their own, but

           11  they were illegal, and that did happen on occasion in

           12  the Spanish period.

           13      Q.    And if they were illegal, they wouldn't have

           14  any official reports that they would have reported back

           15  to Mexico or to Spain?

           16      A.    Yes.  They would be in jail.

           17      Q.    But the ones that we talked about, they all

           18  issued official reports or maps or other documentation

           19  of exactly where they went, when they went, and what

           20  they saw?

           21      A.    That's correct.

           22      Q.    And were they expected to map important

           23  features like a navigable river?

           24      A.    They would.  Well, whether they call it

           25  navigable or not, they would note rivers, and that was
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            1  an important part of their job, if you will.

            2      Q.    If they noted the river, would they note its

            3  ability to be boated?

            4      A.    I think they would, and certainly what became

            5  the Colorado River was duly noted as what would be

            6  navigable.

            7      Q.    But none of the other rivers in Arizona were

            8  noted as --

            9      A.    No.

           10      Q.    -- useful for boating or otherwise navigable?

           11      A.    No.

           12      Q.    So in all the accounts that you've looked at

           13  of Spanish explorers from the period of -- what would

           14  be the total period?

           15      A.    Boy.  Well, if we want to use Espejo as a

           16  jumping off place, from 1583 to the Mexican Revolution

           17  of 1821, when this region becomes part of Mexico.  How

           18  long is that?  It's quite a while.

           19      Q.    That's over 200 years.

           20      A.    200 years.

           21      Q.    No one ever mentioned anything about

           22  traveling on the Verde?

           23      A.    No.

           24      Q.    Nobody ever mentioned the susceptibility of

           25  use of the Verde for travel or trade?
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            1      A.    There's no language like that that I've come

            2  across.

            3      Q.    When did the first Anglos encounter the Verde

            4  River?

            5      A.    Well, it's pretty well-documented throughout

            6  these hearings.  The early 1820s.

            7      Q.    And who were those people?

            8      A.    They were -- a lot of them had southern

            9  roots, strangely enough, but they were Anglo-Americans,

           10  James Ohio Pattie and his father.  His mother died and

           11  then they left Kentucky, and I think a way to solve

           12  their grief for a while, and they made it to the

           13  rendezvous area, the one in Taos, New Mexico, and so

           14  many people like them were there and they came out as

           15  part of the fur trade.

           16      Q.    And was Kit Carson another one of those

           17  people?

           18      A.    Kit Carson, yes.  And what happens with Kit

           19  Carson and others is after the fur trade mania, as it

           20  were, they became guides for military expeditions

           21  subsequent to the fur trade period, because they knew

           22  the lay of the land and they knew how to ford a river,

           23  they knew where the places you could cross rivers in

           24  the arid interior.

           25      Q.    When you say they knew places where they
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            1  could ford the river in the arid interior, are you

            2  referring to the fact that rivers were really large and

            3  they had a difficult time fording them, or are you more

            4  referring to the fact that that's where, actually,

            5  water could be found?

            6      A.    That's where water could be found.

            7            But after 1848, particularly with the gold

            8  rush and with the invasion of Mexico with Stephen Watts

            9  Kearny, he kind of co-opted poor Kit Carson, who had

           10  been away from his wife in Taos for two years and he's

           11  heading home and he's heading home from California, and

           12  he gets co-opted, I think around Socorro, and the

           13  military takes him and he's going to guide them on the

           14  best route, and he went south.  He took them south of

           15  even the Salt River to get around.  That was the most

           16  expeditious way to get to California and prosecute the

           17  war.

           18            So these fur traders, to get back to your

           19  original question, these fur traders came to these

           20  regions.  They had not been exploited yet, and so they

           21  came down and throughout the 1820s, and there's a

           22  couple very colorful characters.

           23      Q.    Were these particular Anglos known generally

           24  as mountain men?

           25      A.    That's the common term, and historians still
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            1  use it.

            2      Q.    And why were they known as mountain men?

            3      A.    That's a good question.  I think because they

            4  made their living in the mountains, away from

            5  civilization.  And when you think of mountain men, I

            6  think of oftentimes those that trapped in the Rocky

            7  Mountains to the north; but these guys like Joaquin

            8  Jóven, Ewing Young, who married a woman from Santa Fe,

            9  and the Patties.

           10            The Patties were going to be kicked out, but

           11  what happened was Governor Narbona's daughter was

           12  kidnapped by some Comanches, and they were heading

           13  east, and James Pattie went out and saved her and

           14  brought her back, and so Narbona let that particular

           15  expedition go in, because the Mexican government was

           16  not -- I'm not going to say overly happy with these

           17  invading Americans coming into their sovereign

           18  territory.  So it was problematic, but they

           19  nevertheless prosecuted the expansion of American

           20  influence into this region.

           21      Q.    What was these people -- the mountain men,

           22  what was their purpose of being in Arizona or on the

           23  Verde River specifically?

           24      A.    Well, I guess we can start with fashion in

           25  both the states and in Europe and that beaver fur was
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            1  fashionable and desired and so there was a market, a

            2  significant market in the 1820s and '30s.  I think it

            3  really changed for the worse in 1848, when silk becomes

            4  the cloth of choice or the garb of choice, and so it

            5  kind of undermined that market, but that's a little bit

            6  later.

            7            But they ended up mining, I guess we can use

            8  the term mining, mining these beaver pelts throughout

            9  the Salt River watershed, up the Verde, and throughout

           10  the region.

           11      Q.    Didn't Pattie specifically go up the Verde?

           12      A.    Yes, he went up the Verde.

           13      Q.    So these guys, these mountain men, were

           14  specifically following the Verde River?  They were in

           15  and around, near, all over the Verde River?

           16      A.    Yes, they were, they followed it up; and not

           17  just Pattie, but others as well too.

           18      Q.    Did they ever travel on the Verde River?

           19      A.    Did they use it to travel --

           20      Q.    Yes.

           21      A.    -- on it?

           22            Not from any account that I have discerned.

           23  You know, I'm trying to look for accounts of where,

           24  well, we did this and then sailed up or down the Verde

           25  River, and particularly the reach, reaches or
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            1  Segments 4 and 5; but I have not discovered that.

            2            And even James Ohio Pattie's account, which

            3  he didn't write and he didn't take any notes.  He told

            4  it to an editor named Timothy Flint in Cincinnati, who

            5  previously had written the first great account of life

            6  in the Missouri -- or Mississippi Valley and the Ohio

            7  Valleys in 1826.  Pattie gets back about 1830, after

            8  being in jail in California.  His father died in jail,

            9  Sylvester, who was part of this mission.  But they get

           10  arrested, finally, as trespassers, and he makes it back

           11  and tells his story, and it's pretty exaggerated, very

           12  colorful adjectives and animals that may or may not

           13  have existed.  But it was entertainment and it was

           14  great story, so he spun a tale.

           15      Q.    So did the mountain -- but would -- I'm

           16  sorry.  Back up for a second.

           17      A.    Sure.

           18      Q.    Would any commentary or details of any

           19  account of mountain men have been spun a story or been

           20  fanciful?

           21      A.    In James Ohio Pattie's case, that's what

           22  happened.  How much is true, you know, I think it was

           23  based on fact, like a lot of literature and today

           24  movies.

           25      Q.    And I asked you the question about them
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            1  traveling the Verde.  Did they actually move their

            2  goods, that is, beaver pelts, on the river?

            3      A.    No.  They used, oftentimes, mules and other

            4  pack animals, but mules, and they were pretty sturdy,

            5  and that's what got them to market up to Santa Fe.  And

            6  then a couple of them, they had a market in Missouri,

            7  the Santa Fe Trail trade, and so that was the route

            8  they would get to Santa Fe or Taos and then head back

            9  on the Santa Fe Trail, which really was started about

           10  1804, so its heyday is 1804 to 1848.

           11      Q.    So you're saying that Pattie and other

           12  mountain men would have gone back to Santa Fe or

           13  St. Louis, but I think you've also said that Pattie

           14  ended up in California?

           15      A.    Yes, he was.  He went across the Colorado to

           16  California, again, looking for riches, whether it was

           17  more beaver pelt; but, also, you know, they were aware

           18  of signs of precious metals.  And so they were arrested

           19  and put in prison and Sylvester died.

           20      Q.    Is there any record that they floated down

           21  the Verde, Salt, or the Gila on their way to

           22  California?

           23      A.    There's no record of that.

           24      Q.    But they did travel on the Colorado?

           25      A.    They crossed the Colorado.
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            1      Q.    Prior to their arrival in Arizona, generally

            2  speaking, were these men, is there record of these men

            3  being trappers in other states in the Midwest?

            4      A.    Yes, they moved west and many of them had

            5  practiced that craft and others in the past, yes, in

            6  the riparian areas of the United States, yes.

            7      Q.    And, in fact, wasn't Kit Carson born in

            8  Missouri near the Mississippi River?

            9      A.    Yes, he was.

           10      Q.    Did he travel up and down the Mississippi

           11  River?

           12      A.    He did, as a young man.

           13      Q.    So would you describe the mountain men as

           14  skilled boaters?

           15      A.    They certainly could be.

           16      Q.    Did they use boats to navigate rivers in

           17  other parts of the country?

           18      A.    I would say yes.

           19      Q.    Did they have skills as boat builders?

           20      A.    I'm certain that would be a skill set, given

           21  the lifestyle they chose and the economic activity they

           22  chose to undertake.

           23      Q.    What do you mean when you say the lifestyle

           24  they chose?

           25      A.    Well, you're by yourself.  A lot of them were
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            1  by themselves most of the year and then they would meet

            2  at some predetermined point.  I think the great

            3  rendezvous of 1832 was just a madhouse, and they had

            4  not seen civilization, so there was three days of

            5  drinking.  Maybe they spent their entire year's,

            6  whatever they had made during that year, in a five-day

            7  period.  It was kind of a debauchery.  But I think the

            8  1832 rendezvous was well-known among western historians

            9  as the big one, and then after that they become less

           10  vigorous.

           11      Q.    So do you think they would have been familiar

           12  with the various types of boats that could navigate

           13  rivers where beaver were otherwise trapped?

           14      A.    Yes.

           15      Q.    Last December one of the State's witnesses, I

           16  believe it was Mr. Farmer, said that a good mountain

           17  man would definitely use the Verde River for boating.

           18      A.    Yes.

           19      Q.    Were you actually here for that testimony?

           20      A.    No.  As I said, I'm a latecomer to these

           21  proceedings on the Verde.

           22      Q.    So you take my word for it?

           23      A.    If you say so, Cynthia, I accept that.

           24      Q.    So if I'm wrong, then what you're about to

           25  say might not be correct?
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            1      A.    Okay.  Yes.

            2      Q.    Okay.  Based on the historic record you've

            3  reviewed, is that an accurate opinion regarding what

            4  men known as mountain men in Arizona actually did in

            5  the 1800s, that is, navigated the Verde River?

            6      A.    I have seen no record of that in my work and

            7  evaluation of the material.

            8      Q.    In fact, how did the mountain men of the

            9  early 1800s travel?

           10      A.    By foot, by pack mule, by horse.

           11      Q.    And, in fact, it was a pretty big deal when

           12  their horses would be stolen by the Indians, wasn't it?

           13      A.    It was bad, and they even noted, yes, it was

           14  a big deal when they were stolen by the Indians.  And

           15  at some point they had to eat their dogs and their

           16  horses, blah, you know, unfortunately, when things got

           17  bad.  So that was not uncommon.

           18      Q.    On Page 10 of your report, you discuss Ewing

           19  Young and his expedition to the Salt River in 1828.  Do

           20  you see that?

           21      A.    Yes.

           22      Q.    And I think you also stated that he pioneered

           23  a grueling overland trail up and down the Verde River

           24  and west to California across the Mohave Desert?

           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    What do you mean by grueling overland trail?

            2      A.    Well, it was grueling meaning it was very

            3  difficult to travel, and in some places he followed

            4  Indian trails and other places he cut his own way; but

            5  he knew where he was going.  He was very skilled.  And

            6  he ended up spending a lot of time in California and

            7  the Pacific Northwest afterwards.

            8            So he was quite a roamer of all of them.  He

            9  really, during this period, traveled much of the

           10  unknown West to many.  At that point many Americans

           11  didn't really know what was out there.  It wasn't until

           12  maybe Fremont, a few people later, in some of the

           13  military surveys of the 1850s, we really started to get

           14  a handle on that.  And I think that, you know, he was a

           15  pioneer of sorts.

           16      Q.    So would somebody who liked to travel around

           17  as much as Young did, would he prefer to build a

           18  grueling overland road along the Verde instead of

           19  boating it?

           20      A.    I think the answer would be yes.

           21      Q.    And is there any record that he ever traveled

           22  on the Verde River in any kind of craft?

           23      A.    There's no record of Ewing Young doing that.

           24      Q.    How, in fact, did they travel on this

           25  overland road?
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            1      A.    By horse, and oftentimes walking their horse

            2  behind them and traversing mountains and whatever, but

            3  usually by horse.

            4      Q.    Okay.  We previously talked a little about

            5  Spanish mapmakers who mapped the Verde.  Were those

            6  maps consistent with maps of the Verde you might find

            7  today?

            8      A.    No, they weren't.

            9      Q.    Why not?

           10      A.    They never really -- I think they saw the

           11  Verde from where Camp Verde is today.  This is what

           12  I've been able to discern from the mapmaking.  But they

           13  never really saw where it -- where the headwaters were,

           14  and so they were a little bit confused, the Spaniards

           15  were.  And this confusion even lasts into the American

           16  period and the Arizona territorial period, even with

           17  Rand McNally, which back in the day was the standard.

           18            So some of the early maps of at first what

           19  was New Mexico territory from 1850 to 1863, after the

           20  compromise of 1850, kind of creates -- organizes this

           21  territory.  And then after 1863, for a variety of

           22  reasons, Arizona Territory is separated and almost went

           23  north/south instead of the way it is today.

           24            And there were attempts to map the territory,

           25  but it was surprisingly inaccurate sometimes.
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            1      Q.    But wasn't it possible, based upon what

            2  you've seen, that they could have walked up the Verde

            3  to its headwaters?

            4      A.    If they wanted to, I think they would.  I

            5  mean it's a bit of a mystery that they didn't follow up

            6  all the way to the headwaters.

            7      Q.    Is it possible that one of the reasons they

            8  didn't accurately map the Verde was because they had no

            9  reason to use it, to see it as a highway for commerce?

           10      A.    I think that would be one reason, yes.

           11      Q.    Are there others?

           12      A.    I think the others would be a lack of

           13  interest.  And then there's always the Indian

           14  resistance issue.  You know, if you didn't know if they

           15  were friend or foe or traders or hostiles, that played

           16  a factor.  But if it were a highway of commerce or a

           17  way to travel, certainly someone, Spanish, Mexican, or

           18  later American, would have naturally, I think, gone to

           19  the headwaters.

           20      Q.    But of the maps that you've seen from the

           21  Spanish explorers, specifically, did they generally

           22  depict the area of the lower Verde, what we've

           23  described as Segments 4 and 5?

           24      A.    Yeah.  Yes.

           25      Q.    And were the maps always consistent with
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            1  their use of the nomenclature or the names that they

            2  called the various waterways that they observed?

            3      A.    No.  It changed over time, you know, as we --

            4  I think it's pretty well-documented in previous

            5  proceedings and these that the names shifted.  I think

            6  the German one, Blau.  What's blue; what do they call

            7  it?

            8      Q.    Blau.

            9      A.    Blau, thank you.

           10            So some of these, The Rio de la Asunción.  So

           11  ultimately they settled on Verde and Salt and Gila, the

           12  main three.

           13      Q.    So after the Spanish explorers and after the

           14  mountain men, what was the next group of people that

           15  attempted to come into the Verde area and map it?

           16      A.    It would be the Americans, I mean.  Yeah,

           17  American.

           18      Q.    Any particular group of Americans?

           19      A.    Well, first the military, and then later, you

           20  know, miners coming across and looking for precious

           21  metals.

           22      Q.    And were these maps, these original maps,

           23  made by the military, say, for example, were they made

           24  at a time before the Verde was being diverted by

           25  settlement?
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            1      A.    Yes.

            2      Q.    And, in fact, weren't all the Spanish maps

            3  and all the Spanish exploration and the mountain men

            4  and the military arrival, wasn't that all before the

            5  Verde was it diverted in any meaningful way?

            6      A.    Yes.  I was reading even on the upper

            7  segments, the brief from 2006, and it looks as though

            8  those from Perkinsville down to Camp Verde, even though

            9  this isn't really part of what I looked at, but they

           10  diverted around 1865, I believe.  And the first

           11  diversions in Segments 4 and 5 come with the

           12  establishment of Fort McDowell, what became Fort

           13  McDowell, and that's in 1866.

           14      Q.    So if I were to tell you that the Court of

           15  Appeals has called that era the time when the Verde was

           16  in its natural condition, would you agree with me that

           17  the records of the Spanish explorers, the maps they

           18  produced, as well as the mountain men accounts and the

           19  military accounts, were all observations of the Verde

           20  River in its natural condition?

           21      A.    I would say yes.

           22      Q.    Why was it important for the military to draw

           23  accurate maps of rivers?

           24      A.    Well, one, for defense purposes; also, as

           25  routes for transportation.  Transportation was a major
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            1  consideration for the military where they're

            2  prosecuting, whether General Crook, in both his

            3  iterations in Arizona, the first one in the early 1870s

            4  and then he has to come back in the 1880s with the

            5  Geronimo situation, but transportation was important;

            6  and so how do you get from Point A to Point B to secure

            7  the region for the increasing numbers of settlers.  And

            8  so transportation was a consideration.

            9            Also, in the 1850s, what's going on in the

           10  country, there was a great deal of sectionalism North

           11  and South, and both sides before the Civil War wanted

           12  to get to the California gold fields, and what's the

           13  best way; the southern route along the 34th parallel

           14  or -- yeah, 35th and then the 32nd parallel along the

           15  South.

           16            And so you see Jefferson Davis was Secretary

           17  of War at the time.  You even have camels, the camel

           18  experiment, which I think suggests that it was kind of

           19  hard to travel and maybe they could get along better

           20  than horses and other types of transportation.

           21            So getting across Arizona became important

           22  because of the significance of the California strike in

           23  1848 and the rapid population growth and bringing that

           24  into the American system and way of government.

           25  California becomes an immediate state, and New Mexico
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            1  and Arizona went through a very long territorial

            2  period.

            3      Q.    So are you saying that it would have been

            4  very important for the military to track down any river

            5  that could be used for transportation purposes?

            6      A.    Like the Spanish before them and the

            7  explorers, whether they were ecclesiastically oriented

            8  or militarily oriented or civilian, the American

            9  military also needed a transportation route.  So

           10  nothing really changed other than political

           11  sovereignty.

           12      Q.    And during this period when the military was

           13  making maps, was there a common misperception or

           14  inaccuracy with the maps that they produced?

           15      A.    Yes, and it had to do with the Verde and

           16  really getting it right in Central Arizona, around

           17  Sedona, Jerome, north and west of Camp Verde.

           18      Q.    So what was the common mistake that they were

           19  making?

           20      A.    I'll start with the last one.  They thought

           21  the river started up by the San Francisco Peaks, and

           22  sometimes the river was called the San Francisco River

           23  by a variety of people and sovereigns.  And so that was

           24  one, and that was probably the most common.

           25            And others, it started -- I forget which one,
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            1  but Little Beaver Creek.  There was some very

            2  mysterious watercourses on some of these maps.

            3            And, by the way, these maps, all of them

            4  except one was part of the Rumsey collection, which was

            5  the largest -- out of the largest collection of maps in

            6  the world, historic maps.  And he recently donated

            7  those to Stanford University's archives, I think in

            8  about 2009.  And they're available digitally and

            9  online, and it's actually pretty fascinating stuff to

           10  take a look at.

           11      Q.    So, actually, on Page 11 of your report, you

           12  point out -- and my question is, is this accurate?  You

           13  mention that there were maps in 1857, 1864, and 1866

           14  that made the same mistake about the main stream of the

           15  Verde butting up to the San Francisco Peaks; is that

           16  correct?

           17      A.    That's correct.

           18      Q.    So, now, what was the first -- who produced

           19  the first well-known military map of the Verde River?

           20      A.    Well-known military, are you talking about

           21  the New Mexico map, the Department of Military?  Is

           22  that the one you're talking about?

           23      Q.    Actually, I'm talking about 1861.

           24      A.    Yes, the Ives and Whipple expedition, sure.

           25  And it actually labels the area along the western
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            1  boundary of the Verde as unexplored, which, again, kind

            2  of defies logic, in hindsight.

            3      Q.    And who were Ives and Whipple?

            4      A.    They were military surveyors and trying to

            5  survey the route across Northern Arizona, which

            6  ultimately became the railroad built between 1880 --

            7  about 1881.  But then the Civil War gets in the way,

            8  and they're looking for a transportation route across

            9  that.  Later, after the war in the 1880s, we have that

           10  built.

           11      Q.    So in 1861, were they scouting for a railroad

           12  route?

           13      A.    No, not that early.  They were looking for a

           14  way to get the military across and transportation

           15  across Northern Arizona.

           16      Q.    So it had nothing to do -- their expedition

           17  had nothing to do with railroads?

           18      A.    No, it didn't.  That kind of interest came

           19  later.  But that was important because of the

           20  acquisition of the new territory, and they were

           21  exploring this new territory that had been taken after

           22  the signing of the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo in 1848.

           23      Q.    I'm going to back up for a second.

           24      A.    Okay.

           25      Q.    When we talk about the military, what kind of
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            1  materials or reference documents exist that cover the

            2  military in the period of -- in Arizona from 1861 up

            3  until, say, statehood?

            4      A.    There's a lot of records in the National

            5  Archives, and you see the lives of people like General

            6  Stoneman and other individuals, and they're all there.

            7  It's really quite fascinating.  I've been there a lot

            8  on another matter.  And so one of the major themes in

            9  those records is transportation.  Stoneman's Road and

           10  then Stoneman's Grade east of the valley here up toward

           11  where Miami and Globe are, those were major

           12  preoccupations, and that's a snapshot of 1870, roughly.

           13      Q.    So, generally speaking, what kinds of

           14  information would be included in those military

           15  records?

           16      A.    Boy.  Similar to the Spaniards, in that they

           17  observed who the people were, where things were, what

           18  routes to take, who got paid, how much -- how many

           19  munitions do we need, where are we going to get our

           20  food, who is going to supply us, all these rather

           21  mundane, seemingly mundane, issues, but critically

           22  important.

           23      Q.    And were there references to how all of their

           24  goods and services were transported?

           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    When did the U.S. military first come to

            2  Arizona?

            3      A.    They first came through in the war with

            4  Mexico in 1846, '47, and 1848.

            5      Q.    And where did they come from?

            6      A.    The East.  They came from the East to

            7  Santa Fe and then Santa Fe across Arizona and hopefully

            8  to secure California from the Mexicans at that time.

            9      Q.    And later, when the military was interested

           10  in setting up encampments or installations in Arizona,

           11  where did they come from?

           12      A.    They came -- many of them came from

           13  California, and there's wonderful accounts in a couple

           14  of fine books by Andrew Masich and Constance Altshuler.

           15  She wrote four books on the military and military posts

           16  in Arizona, and many of them come from California.

           17            In fact, the first district, military

           18  district, was headquartered at a place called Fort

           19  Drum, which is near San Pedro today, if you want to

           20  have a place for that, and they were responsible then.

           21  Then military strategy shifted and we had more boots on

           22  the ground, as it were, after 1870.

           23      Q.    Did the military establish posts or

           24  encampments along the Verde River?

           25      A.    Yes.
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            1      Q.    Where?

            2      A.    One at Camp Verde and one down at Fort

            3  McDowell.

            4      Q.    And was Fort Whipple also somewhere in the

            5  vicinity of the river?

            6      A.    A little, yeah, a ways away, but, yeah, Fort

            7  Whipple, Prescott, where I live, yes.

            8      Q.    Did the military use the Verde River to move

            9  people or material in establishing the posts along the

           10  Verde?

           11      A.    They did not.

           12      Q.    Yet they established the posts on the Verde,

           13  correct?

           14      A.    That's correct.

           15      Q.    Why?

           16      A.    I think strategic needs, water, diversion of

           17  the water for use, growing crops.

           18      Q.    Did the military do any large-scale diversion

           19  for irrigation prior to 1860?

           20      A.    They did not.

           21      Q.    So if the military wasn't using the Verde to

           22  move its supplies or its people, what mode of

           23  transportation did they use?

           24      A.    They used, at first, pretty cumbersome

           25  wagons, horses, pack animals.  Later they used lighter
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            1  craft, ambulances they called them, and that was an

            2  innovation by General Crook to help facilitate

            3  efficiency in moving men and material to places where

            4  they were needed.

            5      Q.    You're mentioning that they changed some

            6  modes of transportation, their overland transportation,

            7  for efficiency sake.  Was efficiency in transportation,

            8  ease in transportation something that the military was

            9  concerned about?

           10      A.    Constantly.  They were concerned about

           11  transportation repeatedly, continuously during the

           12  period that, say, 1865 to 1890, which effectively ends

           13  the Native American issues in Arizona.

           14      Q.    So from the point when they established Camp

           15  Verde and Camp McDowell, which became Fort McDowell,

           16  correct --

           17      A.    Yes.

           18      Q.    -- were they always -- were they having

           19  difficulty moving materials and supplies specifically

           20  to those locations?

           21      A.    Yes.  There were many accounts and examples

           22  of how difficult it was to traverse Central Arizona

           23  from west to east and up to later Fort Apache.  It went

           24  through several names.  And then they established Fort

           25  Reno for a little while.  And they had trouble
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            1  fortifying and manning some of these posts.

            2      Q.    And in all of those accounts about their

            3  efforts to improve their transportation needs, is there

            4  any account where they attempted to use the Verde River

            5  for purposes of transportation?

            6      A.    There's not, in the military, no.

            7      Q.    I think you may have mentioned, but I'll

            8  follow back.  Did the military build roads to move

            9  their provisions?

           10      A.    Yes, they did.

           11      Q.    And was it easy to construct the roads?

           12      A.    No, it was not easy to construct the roads.

           13      Q.    How do you know that?

           14      A.    Through various accounts in the National

           15  Archives, and I think Bourke's work, John G. Bourke.

           16  There are various histories.  I think Jay J. Wagoner,

           17  W-A-G-O-N-E-R, his book on Territorial Arizona, Thomas

           18  Sheridan's book, really covers the difficulties in

           19  moving from Point A to Point B and carving out overland

           20  roads.

           21      Q.    Was there a road built between Fort McDowell

           22  and Camp Verde?

           23      A.    Was there a road built.

           24      Q.    Was there a road they used?

           25      A.    There was a road they used, yes, and that
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            1  would be maybe Crook's Trail.  They used a lot of

            2  different roads.  They cut the Stoneman Road in 1870,

            3  which went from Fort Whipple over to Fort McDowell.

            4      Q.    Yet doesn't the Verde River run right between

            5  Camp Verde and Fort McDowell?

            6      A.    Yes, it does.

            7      Q.    In fact, both installations are right on the

            8  Verde, correct?

            9      A.    They are.

           10                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Cynthia.

           11                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.

           12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  May we take a break?

           13                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Absolutely.  That would

           14  be wonderful.

           15                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.

           16                 (A recess was taken from 1:30 p.m. to

           17  1:46 p.m.)

           18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's reconvene,

           19  Cynthia.

           20  BY MS. CAMPBELL:

           21      Q.    All right.  So we're talking about the

           22  military and their travels and their installations in

           23  Arizona, correct?

           24      A.    Right.  Correct.

           25      Q.    And I think you've already testified about
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            1  the difficulties that transportation posed to the

            2  military throughout Arizona, but also on the Verde,

            3  correct?

            4      A.    Correct.

            5      Q.    Is it accurate to say that many of the

            6  installations throughout Arizona, including maybe one

            7  or two on the Verde, actually closed or ended because

            8  of transportation difficulties?

            9      A.    Well, are you speaking specifically about

           10  Fort McDowell?

           11      Q.    No.

           12            Do you recall during this hearing seeing a

           13  photograph of two guys in a boat that appeared to be in

           14  military uniforms?

           15      A.    Yes.

           16      Q.    Can I show you?

           17      A.    Yeah.

           18                 MS. CAMPBELL:  And I don't have the

           19  exhibit number on this.  It was part of Mr. Fuller's

           20  PowerPoint presentation.

           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  It shall be known as

           22  the two guys in a boat in the military.

           23                 MS. CAMPBELL:  The two guys in a boat.

           24  Sorry about that.

           25                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.
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            1                 MS. CAMPBELL:  It is part of Jon

            2  Fuller's PowerPoint presentation, which has been

            3  submitted by the State as evidence.

            4                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

            5                 MS. HERNBRODE:  X030 -- oh, no, sorry.

            6                 MS. CAMPBELL:  It wasn't part of your

            7  initial.  It was a little later.

            8                 THE WITNESS:  I see.

            9  BY MS. CAMPBELL:

           10      Q.    So you see the photograph?

           11      A.    I see them, yes.

           12      Q.    Okay.

           13      A.    Is one guy wearing sunglasses?  I mean --

           14      Q.    I hope not.  I don't know.

           15      A.    Must be my eyes.  I have to take a closer

           16  look at him.  I mean, I'm not saying that to be funny,

           17  but God.

           18      Q.    And do you see up in, I think, it's the top

           19  right portion -- I can't remember if it's the right or

           20  left. -- where it says "Segment 2"?

           21      A.    It says "Segment 2" on the top left side.

           22      Q.    Is that actually part of the photograph that

           23  was taken?

           24      A.    No.  "Segment 2"?

           25      Q.    Yes.
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            1      A.    It was not part of the photograph, no.

            2      Q.    Okay.  So it's actually been written on

            3  there?

            4      A.    Yes.

            5      Q.    All right.  And isn't your testimony

            6  primarily dealing with Segments 4 and 5?

            7      A.    Correct.

            8      Q.    But for a moment let's look at this picture.

            9      A.    Okay.

           10      Q.    Okay?  Let's assume --

           11                 MS. HERNBRODE:  For the --

           12                 MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry.

           13                 MS. HERNBRODE:  For the record, it's

           14  X035-167.

           15                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

           16                 MS. HERNBRODE:  And I don't have a slide

           17  number yet.

           18  BY MS. CAMPBELL:

           19      Q.    What's the page on the bottom there, Jack?

           20      A.    110, Page 110.

           21                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Thank you.

           22  BY MS. CAMPBELL:

           23      Q.    So Page 110 of that exhibit.

           24      A.    That exhibit, okay.

           25      Q.    Let's assume for a moment that the two men in
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            1  that boat in that photograph -- is there a date on that

            2  photograph?

            3      A.    It says "Fort Verde Soldiers in boat on

            4  Verde, circa 1885," and the source, Fort Verde Historic

            5  Park.

            6      Q.    But does it say anywhere on there where on

            7  the Verde that picture was taken?

            8      A.    It does not say anything like that.

            9      Q.    Other than --

           10      A.    Other than the "Segment 2."

           11      Q.    Okay.  So for a moment we'll say there's two

           12  guys in military uniform in a boat on what's been

           13  identified as the Verde River, correct?

           14      A.    That's correct.

           15      Q.    Okay.  Assuming that for a moment, then is it

           16  safe to say that the military had access of some sort

           17  to boats?

           18      A.    They apparently -- well, one can infer, yes,

           19  it looks as though they have access to boats.

           20      Q.    Did they use boats on the Verde River to move

           21  any type of supply or good or person?

           22      A.    I have not seen any evidence of that.

           23      Q.    Are there actual records exist that talk

           24  about how they moved persons, munitions, material, or

           25  any other supplies?
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            1      A.    Yes, there's a great deal of material

            2  describing how the military moved within Arizona during

            3  the period before 1870, yes, and in 1885 too.

            4      Q.    But even though they had access to boats and

            5  they had two installations directly on the Verde River,

            6  there's no record that they ever attempted or actually

            7  used the Verde River for travel or trade?

            8      A.    None that I have seen.

            9      Q.    Did the arrival of the military predate

           10  modern settlement of the Verde Valley or lower Verde?

           11      A.    Yes.

           12      Q.    So is it safe to say that the arrival and the

           13  establishment of the military installations predated

           14  diversions of the Verde by the settlers, who arrived

           15  later?

           16      A.    Yes, because the settlers followed the

           17  military.  And, really, until -- and the military is

           18  basically the biggest moneymaker for the residents of

           19  the Territory of Arizona until the Thieving 13th

           20  Legislature of 1885, when they had to replace federal

           21  spending in the territory, and so the insane asylum,

           22  the U of A, Arizona State college, those were the new

           23  federal stipends to replace the military spending.  And

           24  that was kind of -- they built a bridge over the Gila

           25  to nowhere, and Yuma got to keep the territorial
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            1  prison, and Prescott held on to the Capitol for a few

            2  more years.

            3            But 1885 is kind of a signal event.  I just

            4  happened to notice that it says 1885.  But that's when

            5  the military starts really winding down, military

            6  spending in Arizona, in that earlier iteration.

            7      Q.    I think you just said that the settlers that

            8  did eventually come into the Verde Valley and down the

            9  Verde River followed the military, correct?

           10      A.    Yeah, that's a generalization that I think is

           11  accurate; that because there was a market for certain

           12  supplies, whether it's pigs.  Pigs were big at Fort

           13  McDowell, by the way, more than cattle.  And so there

           14  was a need for food, for a variety of goods.  There

           15  were women that had different kinds of needs than the

           16  military men they were married to, you know, their

           17  husbands.

           18            So there were a variety of markets that

           19  opened up because the military was there; and so,

           20  therefore, people moved and tried to provide those

           21  goods and services.

           22      Q.    And in addition to the other records that

           23  we've already talked about, including the military

           24  records, did you locate a record of an early settler

           25  who traveled to Arizona and settled in or around, I
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            1  believe it might have been, Camp Verde or Fort

            2  McDowell?

            3      A.    Well, there's many.  I mean I'm not sure.

            4      Q.    Martha Summerhaven?

            5      A.    Oh, Martha Summerhayes, yes.

            6      Q.    Summerhayes.

            7      A.    Oh, that's it, yes.

            8            She wrote a still-famous book.  It's called

            9  Vanished Arizona.  It was published in 1908.  It was a

           10  reflection on her years as a military wife.  She bore a

           11  child up at Fort Apache, and there's very touching

           12  accounts of how the Apache women came and helped her

           13  and made her a little board for the infant.

           14            But, ultimately, her husband, Jack

           15  Summerhayes, is stationed at Camp Verde, and so there's

           16  some various accounts.  And it's really good reading.

           17  In fact, Frederic Remington wrote her a letter after it

           18  was published in 1908.  It was a national bestseller

           19  after Owen Wister's.  It was a western-themed book, and

           20  so Owen Wister made the bestseller in 1902 with The

           21  Virginian, and this was the next piece of kind of

           22  western literature about the American West that became

           23  a bestseller.  And it was reissued in 1913, and it's

           24  still a great read.  I recommend it to everybody, if

           25  you have any interest in your history.
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            1            But she provided a very compelling account.

            2  Beautiful writer, probably a good editor, one that I

            3  need.  You know, I need a good editor.  Everyone does.

            4            And she describes, I selected a few -- I had

            5  to be selective. -- a few lines of what it might be

            6  like to travel across Arizona en route to Camp Verde.

            7      Q.    And, in fact, I believe in your report, on

            8  Page 14, you're saying she traveled from Fort Yuma to

            9  Fort Whipple to Camp Verde to Fort Apache and then Fort

           10  McDowell, correct?

           11      A.    Correct.  Yeah, all over.

           12      Q.    And did she ever travel on river during --

           13      A.    She did not.

           14      Q.    And, in fact, she described her overland

           15  travels, didn't she?

           16      A.    She did.

           17      Q.    And would she describe those as preferable to

           18  river travel?

           19      A.    No.  How she mentioned water is they had to

           20  go from water source to water source and then they

           21  would camp out.  It was really very, very tough, and

           22  I'm sure Mrs. Summerhayes, her account's accurate.

           23      Q.    And, in fact, her accounts state that

           24  sometimes the travel was so difficult they would have

           25  to get out and pick their way down rocky areas,
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            1  correct?

            2      A.    Correct, yeah.  Yes.

            3            I've been looking for a chance to use the

            4  word declivity, but I have not found it yet.  But yeah.

            5  So yeah.

            6      Q.    Sorry.  I just took it away.

            7            When the settlers did come, did they have a

            8  reason to use the Verde if it were a viable mode of

            9  transportation?

           10      A.    Yes.

           11      Q.    Did people settle in and around Camp Verde?

           12      A.    They did, yes.

           13      Q.    And did they have any dealings with the

           14  Indian Reservation at Fort McDowell or any other

           15  settlers in the area of Rio Verde?

           16      A.    Yes.

           17            Did you mean, in your last question, was it

           18  Camp Verde up on Segment 3, I'm assuming, or did you

           19  mean Fort McDowell?

           20      Q.    I meant from Camp Verde to Fort McDowell.

           21      A.    Oh.  Yes.  Okay, yes.  Okay.

           22      Q.    So would they have had a reason to float down

           23  the river to move goods or move people?

           24      A.    There would be -- that would be easier than

           25  traveling overland.  My assumption is that, yes.
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            1      Q.    What transportation needs did the settlers

            2  have?

            3      A.    Needs?

            4      Q.    Yes.

            5      A.    They needed to get from -- depending on what

            6  year you hit on the map, they needed to get from

            7  Point A to Point B.  I mean, you know, Phoenix doesn't

            8  really come into existence until, you know, 1870, late

            9  1860s.  And so I think by 1875, I think Fort McDowell

           10  and Phoenix may have had a lively exchange of goods and

           11  services and people, thanks to the construction of the

           12  Fort McDowell Road, which I've seen on one map in the

           13  Verde study, the lower Verde study, on the map it's --

           14  the only one I've seen, it says Hay Camp Road.

           15      Q.    We'll get there.

           16      A.    Yeah, okay.

           17      Q.    All right.  So that's going to take us to who

           18  was John Y.T. Smith?

           19      A.    John Y.T. Smith is one of the earlier

           20  settlers, if not the earliest settler, in what is now

           21  Phoenix.  The Y.T. stands for he had a Territorial

           22  Legislature, the Tenth, add Y.T. officially to his

           23  name.  He had a legal action in the Territorial

           24  Legislature because there were so many John Smiths, he

           25  wanted to distinguish himself, so Y.T. means Yours
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            1  Truly.  And that's really what it means, and it's in

            2  the record.  It's kind of funny.

            3            And up in Prescott there's a guy named

            4  Yelling Terry that we call Y.T., but so I'm fond of

            5  Y.T.

            6            But he was really a very entrepreneurial guy,

            7  and even in Senator Hayden's early correspondence, when

            8  he's a kid, they were worried about competing with John

            9  Smith because he was such a good entrepreneur with the

           10  Hayden Mill later on.  So he's a major figure in the

           11  early Anglo-American history of this region.

           12      Q.    When he first came to Arizona, did he come as

           13  a member of the military?

           14      A.    Yes, he did.

           15      Q.    And where was he stationed?

           16      A.    He was stationed at Camp McDowell, Fort

           17  McDowell.

           18      Q.    And what was his job?

           19      A.    Well, he was kind of the transportation boss,

           20  and then he became the camp sutler.  That word goes out

           21  of existence about that time, and he became the trader,

           22  the post trader.

           23      Q.    What does sutler mean?

           24      A.    I don't know.  I've never really -- but they

           25  called him the sutler.  He was kind of responsible for
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            1  the inflow and outflow of goods and buying things, so

            2  maybe --

            3      Q.    Does sutler maybe mean trader?

            4      A.    Yeah, trader, yeah; and it went out of

            5  existence.  And then later he was -- when he mustered

            6  out, he began -- got a contract with the military, as

            7  many people did.

            8      Q.    So as a master of transportation, is it safe

            9  to say that he was well-acquainted with travel and

           10  trade?

           11      A.    Yes, he was.

           12      Q.    And when did he come to Arizona?

           13      A.    Looks like 1866, if I'm not mistaken.

           14      Q.    I think in your report you say 1865, but --

           15      A.    Right, okay, 1865, yes.  That makes sense,

           16  one year earlier, a few months.  Yeah, with the

           17  14th U.S. Regimen, yes.

           18      Q.    And after he came to Arizona and served as

           19  the master of transportation, camp sutler, camp trader,

           20  did he leave the military?

           21      A.    Yes, he did.

           22      Q.    And what did he do?

           23      A.    He went south and west and developed a hay

           24  camp to supply the needs for Fort McDowell.

           25      Q.    So he maintained a relationship with the
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            1  military even though he wasn't in the military?

            2      A.    Yes.  He was a good networker for his time.

            3      Q.    In fact, didn't he have a contract with the

            4  military to supply hay for their --

            5      A.    Yes.

            6      Q.    -- livestock?

            7      A.    Yes.  Yes, he did.

            8      Q.    And how did he go about supplying that hay?

            9      A.    Well, let's go back a little bit.

           10  Originally, General McDowell wanted a diversion so that

           11  the Camp, the Fort, the Camp/the Fort, could grow its

           12  own crops, and they had a little garden.  Well, the

           13  local citizenry protested.  They said they should be

           14  out fighting Indians and not growing gardens, and so

           15  very beginning quickly that went to the private sector.

           16  That's, I think, not uncommon.

           17            And so that was contracted out, and so he

           18  became one of the first contractors.  And what he did

           19  is he happened to know Jack Swilling and some of these

           20  miners up in Wickenburg, some of whom were questionable

           21  people.  Swilling was a drunkard and a morphine addict,

           22  among other things, but nevertheless, a confederate

           23  deserter, among other things, but he also had the

           24  vision to divert waters from the Salt River.  And,

           25  thus, we have the birth of -- the rebirth of Phoenix
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            1  from the Hohokam civilization, as we like to say.

            2      Q.    And where did -- so did Smith establish his

            3  own place for diversion?

            4      A.    Yes, he had, at first, yeah, and he diverted

            5  over at about 40th and, I would say, let's say,

            6  Van Buren, roughly, pretty close to here, near where

            7  the modern airport is.  Yeah, over there.

            8      Q.    Just east of here?

            9      A.    Just east of here.  And then there are a

           10  couple of more straws are put into the river

           11  downstream, but very quickly it gets going and the hay

           12  camp, and then he and his partners really started the

           13  Fort McDowell Road, and that's how they delivered the

           14  hay to the camp and then it became a thoroughfare.

           15      Q.    And just backing up a second, so he was able

           16  to establish a hay camp here near the Salt River?

           17      A.    Yes, he did, just north.

           18      Q.    And you mentioned Jack Swilling.  Did that

           19  involve diverting the Salt River for purposes of

           20  growing hay at his hay camp?

           21      A.    Yes.

           22      Q.    But he didn't divert on the Verde, did he?

           23      A.    No, he did not.

           24      Q.    Did he use the Verde to come down to his hay

           25  camp at the Salt?
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            1      A.    No.  No, he did not.

            2      Q.    Did he use the Salt and then the Verde to go

            3  up to Fort McDowell?

            4      A.    No, he did not go upstream.

            5      Q.    But, clearly, he was going between his hay

            6  camp here in what is now Phoenix --

            7      A.    Uh-huh.  Yes.

            8      Q.    -- and Fort McDowell?

            9      A.    Yes, he was.

           10      Q.    And I think, did you say, he built a road for

           11  that purpose?

           12      A.    Yes.

           13      Q.    Did he build the road at his own cost?

           14      A.    No, he had partners, and there are a group of

           15  investors, some sweat equity, others put some money in,

           16  Darrell Duppa.  Most of these people came from mining

           17  adventurers, mining efforts in the Wickenburg area

           18  after that strike.

           19      Q.    But the military didn't build that road, did

           20  they?

           21      A.    The military did not build the road.

           22      Q.    The territorial government didn't build that

           23  road, did they?

           24      A.    No.  No, counties early on built roads.

           25      Q.    And did the county build that road?
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            1      A.    The county did not build that road.

            2      Q.    During this hearing, have you heard a

            3  description of the term lining?

            4      A.    Yes.  That's a new -- I'm learning, learning

            5  a lot of things.

            6      Q.    Well, based on what you've heard, do you have

            7  an understanding of what that term means?

            8      A.    Yes.  Yes, I do.

            9      Q.    And can you describe what your understanding

           10  of that term is?

           11      A.    My understanding is putting a rope or line to

           12  a watercraft and pulling it from a land-based footing

           13  from Point A to Point B.

           14      Q.    So the craft stays in the water or in the

           15  riverbed at least?

           16      A.    That's my understanding.

           17      Q.    And the person pulling it is on land?

           18      A.    Yes.

           19      Q.    Is that your understanding?

           20      A.    That's my understanding.

           21      Q.    Well, let's assume for a moment that that's

           22  what we're talking about.

           23            Based on your understanding of that term,

           24  would it have been useful to John Y.T. Smith to line

           25  his goods or supplies up and down the Salt and Verde
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            1  Rivers, because his hay camp was located right on the

            2  Salt, wasn't it?

            3      A.    Yes, it was.

            4      Q.    And Fort McDowell is right on the Verde,

            5  correct?

            6      A.    Yes.

            7      Q.    Would it have been useful for him to line a

            8  watercraft of any kind up and down the river for

            9  purposes of moving his hay?

           10      A.    In my opinion, yes, it would be advantageous.

           11  You could do it, if he thought of it.

           12      Q.    Is there any historic record that Smith ever

           13  lined either the Salt or Verde Rivers, whether that was

           14  an attempt or an actual success?

           15      A.    There's no record that I've been able to

           16  uncover or discover.

           17      Q.    I think you've referenced the Stoneman Road

           18  before.  Is the Stoneman Road in the vicinity of the

           19  Verde River?

           20      A.    It goes to Fort McDowell.  It's in the

           21  vicinity, and there's still, I think, a remnant of it

           22  in the McDowell Mountains, and there's a little local

           23  nonprofit organization that has preserved the last

           24  remnant of the Stoneman Road around all the development

           25  that's going on out there.  So it did go to Fort
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            1  McDowell.

            2      Q.    Who built that?

            3      A.    The military.

            4      Q.    And was it easy for them to build that road?

            5      A.    It was difficult to build that road, but it

            6  saved several miles from the way they formerly went,

            7  the trail that was previously used.  So it was, again,

            8  a matter of streamlining, efficiency, and to conduct

            9  the approach to fighting the recalcitrant Indians.

           10      Q.    Was it expensive to build the road?

           11      A.    It was expensive, yes.  I don't have the

           12  figure in my head.  I used to.

           13      Q.    You used to know how much it cost to build

           14  the Stoneman Road?

           15      A.    Yeah, I did.  I saw it.

           16      Q.    And during your time in this hearing, have

           17  you heard a conversation about the Day brothers?

           18      A.    Yes, I have.

           19      Q.    I'm going to show you what's previously been

           20  marked as the State's Exhibit X001-18.

           21      A.    Yes.

           22      Q.    Which is --

           23      A.    I have it here, with "German Syrup."  Is that

           24  the one?  Yeah.

           25      Q.    Oh, okay, that is.  That, in fact, is.
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            1            This is the Arizona Sentinel, dated

            2  April 2nd, 1892.  Is that consistent with what you're

            3  seeing?

            4      A.    That's what I see, yes.

            5      Q.    Okay.  And if anybody wants a copy, I have

            6  extra copies.

            7            But I'm going to say the copy you're

            8  holding -- actually, I do have some other copies.  I've

            9  taken the liberty of blowing it up a little better to

           10  read, on the first page of this two-page, and then the

           11  second page I left more to scale as to what the State

           12  used so you can see the date at the top.  Is that --

           13      A.    Yes.

           14      Q.    -- what you're seeing?

           15      A.    I see that, yes.

           16                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Cynthia, for the rest of

           17  us, our exhibit actually has a blown-up page as the

           18  second page of it, so...

           19                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Not this one, but...

           20                 MS. HERNBRODE:  All right.

           21                 MS. CAMPBELL:  I know I used the copier

           22  this morning to do this, but okay.  All right.

           23  BY MS. CAMPBELL:

           24      Q.    So have you heard testimony about this

           25  account of the Day brothers?


                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440

                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ
�

                        VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015
                                                                      2412


            1      A.    Yes, a couple times, and I've seen reference

            2  to it a couple of other times, yes.

            3      Q.    Okay.  And since this has been testified

            4  about so many times, I'm going to -- if you don't mind,

            5  I'm going to maybe summarize it, and you tell me if

            6  that's your understanding of what you've seen in this

            7  exhibit.

            8      A.    Oh, okay.

            9      Q.    That according to this, on September 1st,

           10  1891, these two brothers left Camp Verde in a small

           11  boat and they traveled to Yuma, arriving in Yuma on

           12  March 27th of the following year, that being 1892.

           13            Am I right so far?

           14      A.    Yeah.  I reviewed it just before I walked in

           15  here.

           16      Q.    Okay.  And that they also mentioned that

           17  they've been trapping and that they brought a large

           18  quantity of fur, assuming to Yuma; that I think that's

           19  what the reference is; and that they did it by

           20  traveling on the Verde, through the Rio Salado or Salt

           21  River, and then they came down the Gila and found

           22  themselves at Yuma, their boat floating upon the waters

           23  of the great Colorado of the west.

           24            Is that also --

           25      A.    That's in there, yes.  That's part of that.
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            1      Q.    And, actually, the original exhibit that the

            2  State has in the record is cut off, but --

            3                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Oh.

            4  BY MS. CAMPBELL:

            5      Q.    Yeah, at the words "fifth one."

            6            But I did find the other original reference.

            7  But that -- well, the last sentence that you see on

            8  this --

            9      A.    "Fifth one," yeah.

           10      Q.    Right, says "The distance traveled by the

           11  Messrs. Day by river is a trip over 800 miles, and is

           12  the fifth one," and I believe the rest of the sentence

           13  goes on to say that it's the fifth one they've done, or

           14  something to that effect.  Let me see.

           15            "The fifth one made by J.K. Day."  And I

           16  think you're going to have to take that very last four

           17  words --

           18      A.    Okay.

           19      Q.    -- on me.

           20      A.    J.K. Day.

           21      Q.    Because I actually looked it up myself and

           22  found it.

           23      A.    Okay, J.K. Day.

           24      Q.    Okay.

           25                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  For the record, it is
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            1  correct in the --

            2                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Is it?

            3                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  It's in the file, so

            4  there must have been something wrong with the copy you

            5  were looking at.

            6                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  It's the one

            7  that's on the website, so...

            8                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  That's the one I'm

            9  looking at right now, so...

           10                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, okay.  I didn't see

           11  the end of it.  So...

           12  BY MS. CAMPBELL:

           13      Q.    So this is from April of 1892, correct?

           14      A.    Correct.

           15      Q.    So it took these guys six months, 180 days,

           16  if you're counting, to get from Camp Verde to Yuma; is

           17  that correct?

           18      A.    I'm not a mathematician, but, yes, that seems

           19  correct.

           20      Q.    Approximately?

           21      A.    Approximately.

           22      Q.    So they say they traveled 800 miles.

           23      A.    Okay.

           24      Q.    Are you a cartographer?

           25      A.    Oh, no.
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            1      Q.    Do you know the exact distance, if you're

            2  going down the Verde River and down the Salt River and

            3  down the Gila River to Yuma, that it would be between

            4  Camp Verde and Yuma?

            5      A.    I don't know that distance.  I can't

            6  calculate it.

            7      Q.    Do you know if it's a trip over 800 miles?

            8      A.    That seems, I mean, someone uneducated in

            9  this field, that field, that seems high.

           10      Q.    Okay.  And, in fact, if I were to tell you

           11  that the State has introduced exhibits which indicates

           12  that the distance between Perkinsville on the Verde and

           13  the confluence of the Verde and the Salt is 153.5

           14  miles, would that make more sense to you?

           15      A.    That makes sense, yes.

           16      Q.    Okay.  And Perkinsville is actually upstream

           17  of Camp Verde, is it not?

           18      A.    It is.

           19      Q.    So the distance between Camp Verde and the

           20  confluence with the Salt River is less than 153 miles?

           21      A.    Okay.  Yes.

           22      Q.    And if I were to tell you that the distance

           23  on the Gila River between the New Mexico border and

           24  Yuma was 649 miles, would that sound about right to

           25  you?
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            1      A.    That sounds in the ballpark, yes.

            2      Q.    You would take my word for it?

            3      A.    I take your word for that.

            4      Q.    Okay.  So is it fair to say that the distance

            5  that the Day brothers claim they traveled, a trip they

            6  say of over 800 miles, was far less than 800 miles?

            7      A.    Yes.

            8      Q.    But, probably, if you're traveling for six

            9  months, it probably feels like you've gone 800 miles,

           10  right?

           11      A.    Easily, yes.

           12      Q.    All right.  Let's take a look at that.  Let's

           13  say for just one moment that the Day brothers actually

           14  traveled 600 miles.

           15      A.    Okay.

           16      Q.    We don't actually -- you don't actually know

           17  the distance, do you?

           18      A.    I don't know the distance sitting here.

           19      Q.    And I don't either.

           20      A.    I don't.

           21      Q.    But let's just say for the moment it's

           22  600 miles.

           23      A.    Yes.

           24      Q.    At 180 days.

           25            If I were to tell you, because you don't have
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            1  the calculator, but I do --

            2      A.    Yes.

            3      Q.    -- that that is 3.3 miles a day for 180 days,

            4  does that seem like a long time to you, I mean a good

            5  clip on a river that's navigable, to travel 3.3 miles a

            6  day?

            7      A.    No, it doesn't seem --

            8      Q.    In fact, you could probably walk 3.3 miles a

            9  day, couldn't you?

           10      A.    I did it this morning.

           11      Q.    You did?

           12      A.    Yes.

           13      Q.    And if there were two people, you could

           14  probably pull a canoe 3.3 miles a day?

           15      A.    Okay.

           16      Q.    Is that correct?

           17      A.    That would be correct.

           18      Q.    Now, 600 miles probably still seems a little

           19  large, so let's say for a moment that it was 500 miles

           20  total, divided by 180 days.  So now you're less than 3

           21  miles a day.  Does that sound right?

           22      A.    That sounds right, the calculation.

           23      Q.    Now, based upon the types of transportation

           24  that would have occurred in 1892, were people doing

           25  business, were people conducting business where they
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            1  traveled on a river less than 3 miles a day and took

            2  six months to move their goods from one point to

            3  another?  Does that sound reasonable to you?

            4      A.    That doesn't sound reasonable.

            5      Q.    And, in fact, let me ask you a question.

            6  Step back for a moment and talk about the Arizona

            7  Sentinel in April of 1892.

            8      A.    Yes.

            9      Q.    What types of articles were written in the

           10  newspaper in 1892?

           11      A.    Well, I think the news of the day.  The Yuma,

           12  this is actually a fairly vigorous, well-regarded

           13  newspaper at the time, and Yuma was a comparatively

           14  large settlement in 1892.  And they had all types of

           15  things, from the Republican League, so it covered

           16  local, national matters, as well as, I think, local

           17  issues of interest or entertainment.  I mean I think

           18  there's entertainment value and people enjoyed that,

           19  and I think it's a form of entertainment as well as

           20  news, yes.

           21      Q.    So in 1892, a newspaper like the Arizona

           22  Sentinel might not only be publishing newsworthy items,

           23  but also entertainment value items?

           24      A.    Sure.  I think it's common.

           25      Q.    And, in fact, two columns away from this
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            1  there's an interesting little article about German

            2  syrup being used for a cold on the lungs?

            3      A.    Yes.  It looks more like kind of an ad, yes,

            4  but a long ad.

            5      Q.    But it's presented as an article, isn't it?

            6      A.    Yeah, it's presented as an article, a news

            7  item; but it apparently advertises the benefits of this

            8  German syrup in allaying various ills.

            9      Q.    And while it wasn't originally presented that

           10  way, if I were to show you the entire first page of the

           11  Arizona Sentinel and you would see, at the bottom, one

           12  or two-sentence descriptions of various residents of

           13  Yuma that came and went to visit relatives or go other

           14  places, would that be something you would expect to see

           15  in a newspaper in 1892?

           16      A.    Yes, quite common, from -- I just did some

           17  work on Hebron, Iowa, and if you knew who went to visit

           18  whom, who left town for a day.  The Miami Silver Belt

           19  documented Frank Snell going to Phoenix for one day,

           20  and that was the day that he decided to move to Phoenix

           21  and begin practicing law here in 1927.

           22            So it was common to go through these.  It was

           23  common to report that kind of activity, which seems

           24  mundane, you know; but that was important and had some

           25  news value and some entertainment value.
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            1      Q.    And the people that were generally described

            2  as moving from place to place and visiting their aunt

            3  here or there, taking a vacation, were those all

            4  notable people or famous people or politicians or

            5  otherwise newsworthy people?

            6      A.    Sometimes, but sometimes it was the neighbor.

            7  There was a mix of who was, you know, notable people

            8  and just common, regular working folks.

            9      Q.    So you've looked at this article entitled

           10  A Long Journey, about the Day brothers?

           11      A.    Yes.

           12      Q.    And what is your opinion, based upon your

           13  knowledge of historical records and newspapers of that

           14  vintage, about this article?

           15      A.    Well, it obviously could be factual, but it's

           16  also very entertaining to read.  I could imagine those

           17  who were working their hard lives away would read

           18  something like that and that would seem adventuresome

           19  and exciting, so...

           20      Q.    And what was the fur trade like in 1892?

           21      A.    It certainly wasn't as vigorous and important

           22  and central to the economy of the region as it was,

           23  say, in the 1820s and '30s, and there was a little more

           24  economic diversification in Arizona by 1892.  There was

           25  some other activities going on.  So in many ways it's
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            1  kind of like an outlier.  I would use maybe that term

            2  to describe it.

            3      Q.    And based upon the way this article reads, is

            4  it safe to say that the content of the article, in

            5  terms of the, I'll use the word, facts that are

            6  included in the article, the source of those facts

            7  comes from Mr. Day himself?

            8      A.    Yeah, Mr. Day apparently talking to one of

            9  the journalists and writers.

           10      Q.    So he's the one that gives the information

           11  about leaving September 1st, 1891, correct?

           12      A.    I would assume that.  I would assume that

           13  fact.

           14      Q.    And he's the one that describes that he has

           15  this lucrative fur trading business, or at least came

           16  down the river on more than one occasion, according to

           17  him --

           18      A.    Yes.

           19      Q.    -- for fur trading, correct?

           20      A.    Yes.

           21      Q.    And he's the one that said he traveled on the

           22  Verde River to the Salt, to the Gila, down to Yuma; is

           23  that correct?

           24      A.    That is correct, from my reading.

           25      Q.    And he's also the one that said it was a trip
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            1  of over 800 miles?

            2      A.    That's correct.

            3      Q.    Do you think all of those facts are

            4  accurate?

            5      A.    Well, at least starting with the distance, I

            6  think that is inaccurate.

            7      Q.    All right.  But, obviously, the Arizona

            8  Sentinel, not to impugn a Yuma newspaper, but obviously

            9  the Arizona Sentinel didn't check the facts on at least

           10  that part?

           11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mark that, would you,

           12  Jody?

           13  BY MS. CAMPBELL:

           14      Q.    But they obviously didn't check the facts on

           15  what Mr. Day told them; is that correct?

           16      A.    Yeah, that's correct.

           17      Q.    And have you ever been able to locate any

           18  other written historical records that indicate that

           19  anyone used the Verde River -- I'm not even going to

           20  say from Camp Verde to Yuma. -- let's just say from

           21  Camp Verde to Fort McDowell or any part of the Verde

           22  River for travel or trade?

           23      A.    I have not seen anything of that nature in

           24  the records that I have reviewed.

           25      Q.    Did you ever see anybody refer to it as a
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            1  highway of commerce?

            2      A.    I have not, no.

            3      Q.    And based upon your review of the records,

            4  was it a highway of commerce?

            5      A.    No.

            6      Q.    I'll make that easier for you so we don't

            7  have to use buzz words like highway of commerce.

            8      A.    Okay.

            9      Q.    Have you ever seen any record of anybody

           10  trading, doing any kind of commerce or travel on the

           11  Verde River?

           12      A.    No, I have not.

           13      Q.    And based on your review of the historical

           14  record, the statements you've just made, is that the

           15  basis -- I'm going to go back to the first page of your

           16  report for a moment.

           17      A.    Yes, okay.

           18      Q.    And I'm going to read the last sentence of

           19  the first paragraph.

           20            "However, after reviewing the complete

           21  historical record, it is my opinion that none of the

           22  five segments of the Verde is navigable in its ordinary

           23  and natural condition prior to the State of Arizona's

           24  admission to the United States on February 14th, 1912."

           25            Do you see that sentence?
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            1      A.    I see that sentence.

            2      Q.    Is that sentence based upon the information

            3  you just told me, in terms of your review of the

            4  historical records?

            5      A.    Yes.

            6      Q.    You're not a geologist?

            7      A.    I'm not a geologist.

            8      Q.    You're not a geomorphologist, yes?

            9      A.    I'm not a geomorphologist.

           10      Q.    Are you an attorney?

           11      A.    I am not an attorney.

           12      Q.    So is that statement making any scientific

           13  opinion?

           14      A.    It is not.

           15      Q.    Is it making a legal opinion?

           16      A.    It's not.

           17      Q.    Why not?

           18      A.    Because I'm not an attorney.

           19                 MR. HELM:  Or a judge.

           20                 MS. CAMPBELL:  No, he's not that either.

           21                 I have no further questions.

           22                 Can the witness take a break, though?

           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, we certainly

           24  appreciate, Cynthia, the way you've teed this up.

           25  Who's first?
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            1                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I do

            2  have some questions for the witness, but I believe with

            3  our witnesses the other side preferred that the folks

            4  on this side of the room go first, so if you guys have

            5  some questions.

            6                 MR. HOOD:  I'm happy to go.  I've got

            7  one very short line.

            8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, we're going to

            9  take Mr. Hood's very short line, and then we will take

           10  a break.

           11                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

           12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Does that work?

           13                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, that's fine.

           14                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, since we're

           15  going to take a short one, I'll just move my stuff

           16  over.

           17                 THE WITNESS:  I just got a new phone

           18  this morning.

           19                 MS. HERNBRODE:  You can't figure out how

           20  to turn it off?

           21                 THE WITNESS:  I can't figure how to turn

           22  it off, yeah.

           23                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I understand.

           24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Hood.

           25                 MR. HOOD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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            1                    CROSS-EXAMINATION

            2  BY MR. HOOD:

            3      Q.    Dr. August, how are you this afternoon?

            4      A.    Fine, thank you.

            5      Q.    I just want to follow up on the Day brothers

            6  very briefly.

            7            Ms. Campbell asked you to assume a few

            8  different figures in terms of the number of miles

            9  and so forth, and it was sort of hypothetical in

           10  nature.

           11      A.    Yes, yes, of course.

           12      Q.    I want you to assume that Mr. Burtell has

           13  used GIS and has calculated the actual distance.

           14      A.    Wow.

           15      Q.    And that Ms. Campbell is correct; that

           16  800 miles is not only an overstatement, but it's a

           17  gross overstatement.

           18      A.    Okay.

           19      Q.    And that it's actually approximately

           20  363 miles.

           21      A.    All right.

           22      Q.    And so if we were going to -- and,

           23  furthermore, that Mr. Burtell has taken great care to

           24  go through the calendar and determine that it's

           25  actually a 209-day trip.


                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440

                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ
�

                        VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015
                                                                      2427


            1      A.    Oh, more than 180.

            2      Q.    Yeah.  So let's do that math.

            3            363 divided by 209, and that ends up at about

            4  just over 1.7 miles per day, if my calculator is

            5  accurate.  And so that's even less -- you're actually

            6  making less progress per day than under Ms. Campbell's

            7  hypotheticals.

            8      A.    Okay, that, what you just stated, seems

            9  accurate to me.

           10      Q.    Okay.  And so does that call into question to

           11  you that even if the story is correct, that they had

           12  gone that distance, if it takes you 209 days and

           13  1.7 miles a day, does that call into question, for you,

           14  whether this is a reliable highway for commerce?

           15      A.    It calls that into question.  I can say yes

           16  to that.

           17                 MR. HOOD:  Okay.  Thank you,

           18  Dr. August.

           19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you very much.

           20                 We'll take a break now for 15 minutes.

           21                 (A recess was taken from 2:27 p.m. to

           22  2:46 p.m.)

           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Are we ready?

           24                 Joy, please begin.

           25                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Thank you.
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            1                    CROSS-EXAMINATION

            2  BY MS. HERNBRODE:

            3      Q.    Good afternoon, Dr. August.

            4      A.    Good afternoon.

            5      Q.    We haven't met formally.

            6      A.    No.

            7      Q.    But I'm Joy Hernbrode.

            8      A.    Joy, okay.

            9      Q.    You can call me Joy.

           10      A.    Joy, thank you.

           11      Q.    Ms. Hernbrode is just --

           12      A.    Jack.

           13                 (An off-the-record discussion ensued.)

           14  BY MS. HERNBRODE:

           15      Q.    I think we've established that you're going

           16  to call me Joy and I'm going to call you Jack.

           17      A.    Correct.

           18      Q.    All right.  I'm going to start with your CV a

           19  little bit.  Is it fair to say that much of your

           20  writings focus on the political history of Arizona post

           21  about the 1920s and the history of various water

           22  conflicts?

           23      A.    Yes.

           24      Q.    Is that because that's where your main

           25  interest lies?
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            1      A.    I'm interested in all of it, but I like some

            2  of the topics that -- in the 20th century, yes.

            3      Q.    Are there any good books out there you could

            4  recommend on territorial political history of Arizona?

            5      A.    Sure.  I would start with Volume 2 of Jay J.

            6  Wagoner's Arizona history; I think Thomas Farish of

            7  1918; McClintock's, about the same time; Thomas

            8  Sheridan, his most recent revision of the Arizona

            9  history.  While I like Marshall Trimble, I wouldn't

           10  recommend Marsh for kind of any serious kind of

           11  scholarly work.  And then there's a host of kind of

           12  articles in the Arizona History and other scholarly

           13  works that cover the naming of Arizona, to all types of

           14  political and political developments in Arizona.

           15      Q.    Would you call your current report here

           16  comprehensive, or did you have sort of a limited focus?

           17      A.    I had a very limited focus.

           18      Q.    And I think you said that your limited focus

           19  was the Verde in its ordinary and natural condition,

           20  which I think you said was about 1866, correct?

           21      A.    1866, 1870, you know, yes, beginning of

           22  development.

           23      Q.    There's no firm --

           24      A.    No firm --

           25      Q.    -- date there?
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            1      A.    No firm date.

            2      Q.    Right.

            3            Would it be common for a historian to include

            4  a list of works cited in their report?

            5      A.    Yes, but I used the just footnotes to cite.

            6  And the idea of comprehensive bibliographies in terms

            7  of academic and scholarly publications in history is --

            8  it's so erratic, it's kind of receding into history,

            9  that many editors -- and I think it may have to do with

           10  costs.  Those extensive bibliographies that kind of

           11  characterize my book on Hayden and others in my recent

           12  works, they don't have bibliographies, and they just

           13  rely on your end notes for sources cited.  But that may

           14  be a stylistic thing.

           15      Q.    Okay.  Are all the documents you relied on

           16  listed in your report?

           17      A.    No, not necessarily, but they were some of

           18  the most obvious, since it was so brief and I became

           19  part of this family rather recently, so...

           20      Q.    Did you review the Land Department's report?

           21      A.    I've reviewed it in part.  I haven't had

           22  time, but I will after this.  I'll have some time.

           23      Q.    Mr. Fuller's latest PowerPoint?

           24      A.    I've reviewed it.  I have a copy of it and

           25  was able to take a look at it.  But to review it
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            1  comprehensively like I would like to do, I have not had

            2  the time.

            3      Q.    Were you here when Mr. Fuller was testifying?

            4      A.    No, not at this one.  I didn't catch him.  I

            5  may have caught a half a day, but not very much.  But

            6  I've seen him testify in the past on another

            7  watercourse.

            8      Q.    And were you provided with transcripts of

            9  Mr. Fuller's testimony?

           10      A.    Not yet.

           11      Q.    Did you rely on any other reports from

           12  experts in this case?

           13      A.    Not for this report, no, not -- and, again,

           14  I'm catching up and trying to review things as I go

           15  along here.

           16      Q.    Okay.  So you didn't rely on Dr. Littlefield?

           17      A.    No, no.  But I'm familiar with

           18  Dr. Littlefield's work and his area of expertise with

           19  surveying and the history of surveying and that; but I

           20  have not seen his work in this regard, and I think the

           21  point was that I provide some other material besides

           22  that, just to add to the record for the Commission.

           23      Q.    And you must have looked at at least portions

           24  of Mr. Burtell's report to get the segments at least?

           25      A.    Yeah.  Yeah, the segments.  I think it was I
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            1  read 20 pages and then just very quickly reviewed the

            2  end note material, including the Joseph Pratt Allyn

            3  book that he used.  And so I guess I was most

            4  interested not in the technical work that other people

            5  are providing, but I was interested in some of his

            6  historical references and just to see how he would use

            7  those.

            8      Q.    So given those answers, I guess I'm a little

            9  confused when you say you reviewed the complete

           10  historic record.  The complete historic record of what,

           11  I guess is the question?

           12      A.    The historical record of what I was charged

           13  with reviewing for this Segments 4 and 5.  If I had,

           14  and I will have, some more months, then it will really

           15  truly be comprehensive, and I can even venture to do

           16  some work in Segments 1, 2, and 3.

           17      Q.    Did you look at any evidence that's in the

           18  record from the 1870 and prior period?

           19      A.    No evidence in this record, no.

           20      Q.    So I think what you're saying is that you

           21  relied a lot on your expertise in this area, stuff that

           22  you've looked at over the course of your career?

           23      A.    Oh, that's correct.  Yeah.  I was familiar

           24  with the secondary sources, where the primary sources

           25  are located, and I looked for any accounts of boating
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            1  or trade up and down the river, but particularly with

            2  Segments 4 and 5.

            3      Q.    And it looks to be like you primarily relied

            4  upon books, though a few newspaper accounts were also

            5  included?

            6      A.    That's right.  That explains the brevity and

            7  the kind of contracted time frame.  But, believe me, I

            8  do the long form usually.  I mean the books are long.

            9      Q.    And I take it then that you believe that

           10  those sources are reliable?

           11      A.    They are, they're reliable.

           12      Q.    Even though they were, in some cases,

           13  secondary sources?

           14      A.    Secondary sources in that field, in the

           15  borderlands field, are really quite, in my opinion,

           16  reliable.

           17      Q.    And newspaper reports, reliable?

           18      A.    You have to read those very carefully,

           19  critically, and analytically, particularly from around

           20  the turn of the century.  And even in my work on

           21  Senator Hayden, for example, in 1912, when he

           22  arrested -- it's a little bit after the time frame, but

           23  when he arrested two train robbers in 1910, the

           24  verbiage was over the top on how exciting it was and

           25  all that.  It was much more mundane.
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            1      Q.    They tend to make things sound a little more

            2  exciting than they actually were?

            3      A.    Yeah.  That's a function of the time.

            4      Q.    So when you opine that none of the five

            5  segments of the Verde River were navigable, would it be

            6  perhaps more correct to state that you found, from the

            7  historical records you looked at, that the Verde River

            8  was not navigated?

            9      A.    It was not navigated.

           10      Q.    Okay.  Would you agree that there are lots of

           11  reasons that someone might not use a river to travel

           12  on?

           13      A.    There might be a lot of reasons, sure.

           14      Q.    I believe some that Mr. Randall, who

           15  testified here previously, mentioned, you didn't have

           16  the technology to build a boat?

           17      A.    I remember that testimony.

           18      Q.    Would you agree with that?

           19      A.    That his people, for example, are you saying,

           20  the Apache people?

           21      Q.    Yes.

           22      A.    If Mr. Randall said it, I would consider the

           23  source and I would, at first blush, I would agree with

           24  him.

           25      Q.    The river doesn't go where you want it to go?
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            1      A.    It doesn't go where I -- I don't --

            2      Q.    I believe Mr. Randall testified his people

            3  traded with the Hopi.  The Verde doesn't go to Hopi,

            4  does it?

            5      A.    No.  No, it does not.

            6      Q.    So that would be a good reason not to use the

            7  river?

            8      A.    That would be a reason not to use it, why it

            9  would be excluded, yes.

           10      Q.    The river doesn't take a direct route?

           11      A.    It does not.

           12      Q.    And that would be a reason not to use the

           13  river?

           14      A.    I don't think about that.  I don't see, if it

           15  were navigable, if it were in kind of a slight

           16  reverse C, like it is, I don't think that would

           17  preclude someone moving from Point A to Point B on that

           18  river.

           19      Q.    So you would disagree with Mr. Randall on

           20  that particular point?

           21      A.    On that particular point, yeah, I would

           22  respectfully disagree.

           23      Q.    Some other reasons, you've got a horse and

           24  the horse doesn't want to get on a boat?

           25      A.    That might be a reason.
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            1      Q.    You're tracking people who don't use boats?

            2      A.    In my report and --

            3      Q.    Well --

            4      A.    Yeah.

            5      Q.    -- would that be a reason not to use a boat?

            6      A.    Oh.

            7      Q.    If your purpose there were to be to track

            8  some people who were not using a boat, would that be a

            9  good reason not to use a boat?

           10      A.    You would not use a boat, no.

           11      Q.    Would it be a good reason not to use a boat

           12  if the boat would mean you arrive at a predictable

           13  place at a predictable time and you're being tracked by

           14  some people who were trying to kill you?

           15      A.    I agree with that statement.

           16      Q.    Would it be a reason not to use a boat if you

           17  need to go upstream?

           18      A.    Yes, that would be a reason not to use it.

           19      Q.    It's a little more difficult to go upstream

           20  than down?

           21      A.    Correct.

           22      Q.    Would it be a reason not to use a boat if the

           23  country is fairly open and easy to navigate on foot or

           24  on horseback?

           25      A.    Correct.
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            1      Q.    And would it be a good reason not to use a

            2  boat if you're exploring and need to look at multiple

            3  watersheds?

            4      A.    Correct.

            5      Q.    Okay.  I'm going to draw a little bit on,

            6  hopefully, your expertise as a western historian.

            7      A.    Okay.

            8      Q.    What kind of boats were used for trade and

            9  travel purposes around the time of Arizona statehood?

           10            I'll give you some examples, if you don't

           11  want to come up with one.

           12      A.    Well, maybe Lingenfelter, you know, I would

           13  cite that source, and there were paddle wheels, there

           14  were steamers on the Colorado, and that's

           15  well-documented and celebrated.  I think there were

           16  canoes.

           17      Q.    Kayaks?

           18      A.    Kayaks, I would suspect.  I don't know.

           19      Q.    Flatboats of various types?

           20      A.    Flatboats would be something that's part of

           21  the American travel lexicon, yes.

           22      Q.    Home-built boats?

           23      A.    Home-built boats, I would agree that there

           24  might be some home-built boats.

           25      Q.    Mail-order boats?
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            1      A.    Mail-order boats from Sears.

            2      Q.    Canvas canoes?

            3      A.    I'm assuming canvas canoes would be possible,

            4  would be in the landscape.

            5      Q.    Dugout canoes?

            6      A.    Dugout canoes.

            7      Q.    Rubber boats?

            8      A.    I don't know about rubber boats.  I'm not a

            9  boat expert, but if they were here and they were

           10  invented and useful in 1912, I suspect there would be

           11  some in Arizona.

           12      Q.    I believe it was Ives' expedition crossing

           13  the Colorado had a rubber boat.

           14      A.    Did he have rubber boats?  I did not know

           15  that.

           16      Q.    I could be wrong about the expedition.  It

           17  was one of the early --

           18      A.    Early 1850s?

           19      Q.    Yeah.

           20      A.    Okay.

           21      Q.    Would any of those small boats be

           22  particularly useful for hauling a horse?

           23      A.    No, they would not.

           24      Q.    Do you know the navigability requirements of

           25  any of those boats?
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            1      A.    I do not.

            2      Q.    So you would defer to Mr. Fuller for that

            3  information?

            4      A.    Yes, I would.

            5      Q.    Have you seen the video testimony of Mr. Brad

            6  Dimock?

            7      A.    I have not.  I'm sure I will.

            8      Q.    What's your definition of commerce?

            9      A.    Commerce.  The selling and purchasing of

           10  goods, just very briefly.

           11      Q.    I think on the Gila you said something along

           12  the lines of in commerce, if you can float a log down

           13  and somehow conduct commerce, float down it, that would

           14  be navigable.  Does that sound about, right?

           15      A.    I think I said something like that back then,

           16  yeah.

           17      Q.    Do you disagree with that statement now?

           18      A.    No, not necessarily.

           19      Q.    So, again, you were looking for actual use of

           20  the river?

           21      A.    I was.

           22      Q.    You didn't really look at whether it could be

           23  used, whether the river was deep enough, wide enough,

           24  and obstacles-free enough to support commerce?

           25      A.    No, I did not look at any of that kind of
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            1  material.  I think other experts have addressed that,

            2  those.

            3      Q.    I notice your report doesn't include any

            4  specific descriptions of the Verde by the historical

            5  figures you discuss.  They mention the Verde, but they

            6  don't really describe it; is that true?

            7      A.    That's correct.  They saw it, they knew it

            8  was there, and I would venture from Camp Verde to where

            9  it meets the Salt, and that was fairly well-known by

           10  1780.

           11      Q.    But you don't -- none of the figures you

           12  cited specifically described the Verde; they didn't say

           13  we met the Verde and it was --

           14      A.    Yes.

           15      Q.    -- 50 feet wide and 4 feet deep or whatever?

           16      A.    That's right, and I was looking for that

           17  specifically.

           18      Q.    So how did you determine whether the river

           19  was susceptible for transportation or commerce?

           20      A.    I'm not an attorney, and susceptible, I think

           21  in this instant, is a legal term that will be

           22  determined by the attorneys and the Commission.  So I

           23  don't think I should or can talk about the legal

           24  definition of susceptibility.

           25      Q.    Well, I believe that you state, at least on
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            1  Page 7 of your report, that Kino didn't think the Verde

            2  was susceptible to transportation or commerce?

            3      A.    Yeah, but he wouldn't even go there, he

            4  didn't even go to the Verde; and I think from their --

            5  from the rest of that report, it was too far away and

            6  was not viewed to or susceptible to navigation not in

            7  the legal term, just that why are we going to go there.

            8  We know it's there, we know there's water there, and

            9  that was it.  But to use it as some kind of a

           10  commercial transportation route, that wasn't even in

           11  question.

           12      Q.    I believe in your direct this afternoon, you

           13  talked about the fact that Kino didn't even actually

           14  get very close to the river; he kind of looked at it

           15  from pretty high up?

           16      A.    He looked at it from pretty high up.

           17      Q.    And it was on the wrong side of the Gila for

           18  them to be really interested in?

           19      A.    Yes.  Yeah, the Gila seems to be an important

           20  barrier, consciously or not, for the Spaniards.  They

           21  had hopes of establishing some kind of colony/mission

           22  north of the Gila, but it just never worked out.  And

           23  the only way they reached the Hopis, more often than

           24  not, was from the Santa Fe base and not from Sonora.

           25      Q.    And I think you said you don't have an
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            1  opinion on the segmentation?

            2      A.    Yeah, I don't.

            3      Q.    You cited to Mr. Burtell's segmentation.  I

            4  assume you don't know how, if at all, it varies from

            5  the segmentation that the Land Department did?

            6      A.    No.  I'm assuming that -- I assumed that

            7  Mr. Burtell was using the State Land Department's,

            8  without having -- and, again, I can't wait to read all

            9  of them.

           10      Q.    What's your boating experience?

           11      A.    Zero.

           12      Q.    Really?

           13      A.    None.

           14      Q.    Okay.

           15                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We really appreciate

           16  that, Jack.

           17                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I was hoping for --

           18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You have no idea.

           19                 THE WITNESS:  You know, my buddies would

           20  go up to Apache Lake or something, but I never -- you

           21  know, I didn't have time or something like that, so...

           22  BY MS. HERNBRODE:

           23      Q.    You are aware that thousands of people boat

           24  the Verde every year, though?

           25      A.    I'm aware, from the testimony I heard here,
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            1  up around Clarkdale, close to where I live, that that's

            2  an activity that takes place, yes.

            3      Q.    I notice there are no photographs in your

            4  report as well.  Did you look for photographs or other

            5  early evidence of what the Verde might have looked

            6  like?

            7      A.    I honestly did not have time, but I will, as

            8  this proceeds.  I do like imagery and illustrations to

            9  clarify and assist in the narrative, yes; but I have

           10  not used any up to this point.

           11      Q.    And, likely, any photographs would have

           12  fallen after that 1870s date?

           13      A.    Well, let's see, photography is invented in

           14  1837.  I think there's some de Guerra types in the

           15  Arizona Territory.  So I would be very interested.  I'm

           16  very interested in that field, and so I look forward to

           17  uncovering anything that I might find.

           18      Q.    If I tell you that lining your boat involves

           19  walking your boat with a rope tied on to it around an

           20  obstacle, not pulling it upstream, that's a different

           21  term --

           22      A.    Oh, okay.

           23      Q.    -- do you have any reason to disagree with

           24  that?

           25      A.    I have no reason to disagree with what you
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            1  said.

            2      Q.    You talked for almost three pages about

            3  Phoenix's use of water from the Verde.  It's

            4  interesting history.

            5      A.    Right.

            6      Q.    But how does that apply to navigability?

            7      A.    Well, I think it has to do with how they --

            8  Phoenix's interest in those segments of the river.

            9  Phoenix has an abiding interest in Segments 4 and 5,

           10  and so that was one of the reasons to take a look at

           11  this.

           12      Q.    You were trying to explain why your client

           13  was here at this hearing, but not necessarily to convey

           14  anything about the navigability of the river?

           15      A.    I think that was it; and, also, to look to

           16  see if there was any history of navigation that I could

           17  uncover over the course of my career in looking at this

           18  reach, and pretty critically and analytically, as well

           19  as any material I could find.

           20      Q.    And I think Phoenix's interest started in

           21  about 1907; is that correct?

           22      A.    Phoenix?

           23      Q.    Phoenix's interest in the Verde?

           24      A.    Yes, right around there.

           25      Q.    But its predecessors or the people who lived
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            1  in the Phoenix area were taking water before that?

            2      A.    That is correct.  They were concerned.

            3      Q.    I think we tend to assume that the Phoenix

            4  Metro area has always been sort of the dominant

            5  metropolis we have today, but that wasn't true for a

            6  lot of Arizona's territorial and preterritorial period,

            7  was it?

            8      A.    It was not.  In fact, Phoenix, I think the

            9  census of 1920, if I'm not mistaken, is the first

           10  census in which Phoenix has a larger population than

           11  Tucson.  And, also, Yuma and the Bisbee area, they

           12  were -- politicians, for example, if that's a

           13  barometer, they had better go and talk to the editor of

           14  the Bisbee News or something in order to get their

           15  endorsement.

           16            So they don't play the role that they did

           17  100 years ago, but, yes, Phoenix was slower to overtake

           18  Tucson.  And the rivalry continues to exist, whether

           19  it's over population or lifestyle or whether Phoenix

           20  was being settled by Anglo-Americans from the East and

           21  Tucson's history goes south to north, you know, the

           22  different places.

           23      Q.    Or who is going to get their roads repaired?

           24      A.    That's true.  I agree.

           25      Q.    For a lot of the time Prescott was actually
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            1  more important than Phoenix?

            2      A.    Oh, it was a Territorial Capitol, and we

            3  still think we're -- no, it's -- yeah, we're -- no, it

            4  was very important and has found its niche, I think, in

            5  the pantheon of 21st century micropolis in Arizona.

            6      Q.    I noticed that when you talked about the

            7  prehistoric people here, particularly in the Phoenix

            8  area, you called them the Hohokam.

            9      A.    Yes.

           10      Q.    Other people have called them the Hohokam.

           11      A.    Hohokam.

           12      Q.    Or the Huhukam.

           13      A.    Uh-huh, sure.

           14      Q.    All the same people, right?

           15      A.    All the same people, that's correct.

           16      Q.    Sort of depends on what your cultural

           17  background is, how you use that phrase?

           18      A.    Boy, I never -- I have never thought of that.

           19  I've always heard the term Hohokam, even from

           20  archaeologists I know and zooarchaeologists as well.  I

           21  have some friends at ASU.  And so they've used the term

           22  Hohokam.  But the third one I haven't heard, so thank

           23  you.

           24      Q.    That would be the tribal.

           25      A.    The tribal reference?
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            1      Q.    Yes, yes.

            2      A.    Yeah.  Not the Aztecs, but the Meshika.

            3  Okay, I got it.

            4      Q.    Is it fair to say that the question of

            5  whether the Hohokam became what we used to call the

            6  Pima is a matter for scholarly debate, but not one

            7  which the O'odham people themselves debate?

            8      A.    I think that's a -- the last I've discerned

            9  and heard of that issue, that's correct.

           10      Q.    They feel pretty strongly they were descended

           11  from those people?

           12      A.    Yes.

           13      Q.    And the Hopi as well?

           14      A.    I have not heard that about the Hopi.  They

           15  speak the Uto-Aztecan language.  That kind of links

           16  them down with people on the southern part of the

           17  Colorado River straits.

           18      Q.    And you haven't seen anything in the

           19  literature you've reviewed about Hohokam use of boats,

           20  but that doesn't mean there is evidence you haven't

           21  seen?

           22      A.    I haven't seen anything, and I relied on the

           23  classic works of Emil Haury, Doyle, and, you know,

           24  those people that are the recognized experts.

           25      Q.    In prehistoric times the culture along the
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            1  lower Verde was the Hohokam, and in the Verde Valley it

            2  was the Sinagua?

            3      A.    I think that's correct.

            4      Q.    Where was the dividing point between the two

            5  cultures; do you know?

            6      A.    I do not.

            7      Q.    Both cultures practiced irrigation?

            8      A.    Yes.

            9      Q.    Were the Hohokam canals more extensive than

           10  the Sinagua canals?

           11      A.    That seems to be what the research indicates,

           12  that they were really quite extensive.

           13      Q.    The Sinagua were more into terrace farming?

           14      A.    Terrace farming, that's correct.

           15      Q.    And were the Hohokam canals on the Verde

           16  system less extensive than those on the Salt or the

           17  Gila?

           18      A.    From the lower Verde report, which, again, is

           19  exhaustive, and I don't know how many previous nights

           20  I've been reading through that, but they were less.  I

           21  think there were 26 sites and less extensive, but still

           22  a vital civilization during the height.

           23      Q.    When you say the lower Verde report, what are

           24  you referring to?

           25      A.    It's called the Lower -- it's called
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            1  Vanishing Verde, The Lower Verde Report.  It's got a

            2  very long title, but it's cited here, and you can see

            3  it online, and it's like I don't know how many volumes.

            4      Q.    Would that be Vanishing River?

            5      A.    Vanishing River, yeah, it's the Vanishing

            6  River.

            7            And the interdisciplinary and

            8  multidisciplinary nature of the report is impressive.

            9  I don't see -- it was funded by the Bureau of

           10  Reclamation.  That's how it got done.

           11      Q.    Do you know if that report is in evidence as

           12  Exhibit X017-120?

           13      A.    I found out about that today.

           14      Q.    Okay.  When Mr. Randall testified about the

           15  earliest people in the Verde Valley, he was likely

           16  talking about the Sinagua, then, and not the Hohokam?

           17      A.    I would think so, yes, from his discussion.

           18      Q.    And I believe you said scholars don't agree

           19  about why the Sinagua and the Hohokam cultures

           20  declined?

           21      A.    I think that's a fair statement, yes.

           22      Q.    If the Hohokam had built boats, what do you

           23  think they would have been made of?

           24      A.    I can't speculate about that.  I really don't

           25  know.
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            1      Q.    Reeds?

            2      A.    Perhaps.

            3      Q.    Logs?

            4      A.    Perhaps.

            5      Q.    Do you know if the Hohokam used bundles of

            6  reeds for their diversion dams?

            7      A.    Yes, I think that's in evidence.

            8      Q.    So do you think you could tell, if you dug up

            9  a bundle of reeds, whether it had been part of a dam or

           10  part of a boat?

           11      A.    I couldn't tell that.  I would leave that to

           12  archaeologists.

           13      Q.    Have you read the draft report on the

           14  archeological testing for the Sky Harbor Sky Train

           15  that's been partially funded by your client?

           16      A.    No, I have not.

           17      Q.    Okay.  You testified previously on the Gila?

           18      A.    Uh-huh.  A long time ago, yes.  I forget.

           19      Q.    2005, I believe.

           20            Are you aware of the prehistoric canoe that

           21  was reported in a canal in that report and I believe in

           22  the Salt report?

           23      A.    I am not aware of that canoe.

           24      Q.    Did I hear you say you thought Mr. Randall

           25  testified about the Yavapai?
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            1      A.    He testified a little bit about the

            2  relationship and the difference in language, languages.

            3  So he testified a bit about that, yes.

            4      Q.    But his primary testimony, his focus was his

            5  culture --

            6      A.    His culture.

            7      Q.    -- which would be Apache?

            8      A.    Yes.

            9      Q.    You relied on Mr. Bolton's work for

           10  information about Father Kino?

           11      A.    And others, but, yeah, that's kind of the

           12  classic cite; but there are other people that have

           13  written about Father Kino, of course.

           14      Q.    Did you rely on him for any other parts of

           15  your report?

           16      A.    Certainly.  He's kind of this constant

           17  eminence in the field of borderlands history, and I

           18  think I've read almost everything he's ever written.

           19  I've even read the bio -- I think a historian has a

           20  biography written on him, but he has a biography

           21  written by John Francis Bannon.  So a major figure in

           22  the field, yes, and I've read most of his, if not all

           23  of his work.

           24      Q.    The only place I saw it cited was in the

           25  reference to Kino.
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            1      A.    Yes.

            2      Q.    Are there other places that you --

            3      A.    Oh, he wrote Coronado:  Knight of Pueblo and

            4  Plains.  He wrote the big Coronado book.  He's written

            5  shorter pieces on Kino, kind of a synthesis, rather

            6  than the Rim of Christendom, to make it more

            7  accessible.  And he's written on a variety of other

            8  topics from presidios to even on some of the

            9  individuals that were mentioned, like Espejo and

           10  Farfan.  He's covered -- he covered the territory,

           11  really invented the field, in a way.

           12      Q.    I notice you seem to speak Spanish fairly

           13  fluently.  Do you read it?

           14      A.    Yes.

           15      Q.    During the period of time that the Spanish

           16  were exploring, were horses commonly available

           17  throughout Arizona?

           18      A.    Yes.  The Spanish introduced or reintroduced

           19  the horse to this continent in around, it looks as

           20  though, the earliest, 1570.  Then some of them get

           21  away, you know, and then bred.  So we have a few, but

           22  not many, wild horses in Arizona and then through the

           23  plains.  And they were quickly acquired by the Comanche

           24  people, for example, and used as a dimension of their

           25  war tactics.  Other groups didn't; used them as food.
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            1      Q.    Because I thought you said, when we were

            2  talking about the trappers, that sometimes they lost

            3  their horses or had to eat their horses.

            4      A.    Yes.

            5      Q.    And it didn't seem like they had a ready

            6  source for replacing their horses.

            7      A.    Their horses, for the most part, up in what

            8  we're talking about, from Taos and Santa Fe, they had

            9  ready supplies of horses and ranches and where their

           10  embarkation point or disembarkation point was at.

           11      Q.    But if they ate their horse in Arizona --

           12      A.    They would be in big trouble.

           13      Q.    -- or misplaced their horse because the

           14  Apache ran off with it --

           15      A.    That's correct, and that happened, and then

           16  you were a pedestrian.

           17      Q.    And so if the Spanish had gotten to a river

           18  that they could put a canoe on and they've got their

           19  horse there or they've got the canoe, would they just

           20  turn that horse loose and go on down the river, or does

           21  it make sense to keep ahold of the beast of burden you

           22  have right here?

           23      A.    I think 99 to 100 percent of the time, I

           24  think they would keep the horse.  It was a valuable

           25  asset.


                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440

                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ
�

                        VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015
                                                                      2454


            1      Q.    And, generally, Arizona's located up or

            2  downstream from Mexico?

            3      A.    Generally, it's located upstream; but we do

            4  have some watercourses that flow from Mexico to the

            5  United States.  I think the Santa Cruz starts in the

            6  U.S., goes underneath, and then circles back, yeah.

            7      Q.    And if you're exploring an area you know is

            8  arid and you want to explore across multiple

            9  watersheds, would it be easier to ride a horse or use a

           10  boat?

           11      A.    Ride a horse.

           12      Q.    How many Spanish explorers do you discuss in

           13  your report?  Because I had counted five, and then I

           14  heard Ms. Campbell mention ten, and it's entirely

           15  possible that I can't count that much.

           16      A.    And there are several others I could have

           17  mentioned; Father Segesser, Father Pfefferkorn.  I

           18  think I mentioned Sedelmayr only because I think I had

           19  to be selective and brief, and I wanted to use the most

           20  representative of those who may have had contact or

           21  went beyond the Gila River at some point.  But there

           22  were others, many others; many of them with German

           23  names, and some of the military people, like Alejandro

           24  O'Reilly and Hugo O'Conor.  It's kind of a

           25  multinational frontier that are in the service of
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            1  Spain.  But I didn't mention them.

            2      Q.    Okay.  And we're getting into dangerous

            3  ground here.  I should tell you now that I had to take

            4  American Sign Language in college as my second language

            5  because my pronunciation of all languages is so bad.

            6      A.    Okay.

            7      Q.    So with that in mind, please bear with me.

            8      A.    Okay.

            9      Q.    The first Spaniard you talked about came with

           10  Farfan as his biographer or his diarist, I guess?

           11      A.    Oh, there was a diarist with Farfan.  Is that

           12  what you're saying?

           13      Q.    Yeah, yeah.  He was the diarist for --

           14      A.    Diego de Luján?

           15      Q.    Es --

           16      A.    Or Espejo?

           17      Q.    Yes.

           18      A.    Espejo.

           19      Q.    Espejo?

           20      A.    Yeah.

           21      Q.    Does that sound right?

           22      A.    Yeah.  Mirror.

           23      Q.    Okay.  And what was Espejo doing in Arizona?

           24      A.    He was -- technically, he was illegal,

           25  illegal in Arizona.  He was the person who agreed to
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            1  save two Franciscan priests who were left behind by a

            2  previous expedition.  Everyone left them, and they left

            3  them up there, and so the Franciscan Bishop, the head

            4  Franciscan in Durango, was outraged and wanted them

            5  returned.

            6            And so he was on a rescue expedition in 1583,

            7  and he took advantage of his situation and went

            8  exploring, because of the persistent rumors of myth of

            9  gold, Seven Cities of Cibola, Estrecho de Anián, what's

           10  called Gran Quivira.  That was another myth.  There's a

           11  variety of them.  Some of them are passageways to the

           12  Orient and some of them are, in fact, supposedly

           13  treasures.

           14            So he went looking for them, and through

           15  contact with the Hopis and others as he headed west, he

           16  learned of what might be precious minerals and, thus,

           17  he ends up traversing in 1583.

           18      Q.    Where did he end up finding the guys he was

           19  looking for?

           20      A.    He ended up around Jerome and traded for rugs

           21  and a few things and then went back and subsequently

           22  became obscure, and then unfortunately for him,

           23  Oñate -- he wanted to go back and colonize, but Oñate a

           24  few years later got the contract to colonize and become

           25  Captain General of New Mexico.  But that was his
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            1  overall ambition, so...

            2      Q.    So he didn't find the two gentlemen he was

            3  sent to look for?

            4      A.    They were dead.

            5      Q.    Okay.

            6      A.    There was three altogether, actually.

            7      Q.    And where did he start from?

            8      A.    He started from Santa Bárbara, which is, I

            9  guess, today in Chihuahua, and it became a big silver

           10  mining frontier, kind of a wild west, like the

           11  Tombstone of the central corridor of the Spanish

           12  advance from south to north.  And so he started there.

           13  That was where they took off, and you race up the

           14  Rio Grande Valley, and then he turned left.

           15      Q.    And did he use any rivers on his journey?

           16      A.    He did not.  He did not use any rivers.  And

           17  it was pretty well-documented by the diarist, and he

           18  subsequently, again, got in trouble and was rebuked.

           19      Q.    How many people did he have with him?

           20      A.    I think eight or nine.

           21      Q.    So a relatively small --

           22      A.    Small, small.

           23      Q.    -- Spanish expedition?

           24      A.    Yes, a small expedition.

           25      Q.    Any cattle?
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            1      A.    No cattle on this one, no.

            2      Q.    And how long did he spend on the Verde?

            3      A.    I think he crossed the Verde and may have

            4  spent a matter of weeks, you know, and then came -- a

            5  matter of weeks.

            6      Q.    And you didn't find any specific description

            7  of the river from him?

            8      A.    No, there's no description of the river,

            9  other than there were rivers that they crossed, and

           10  so...

           11            But that was it.

           12      Q.    Did you read his primary account?

           13      A.    Yes, I've read it in the past, yeah.

           14      Q.    A while ago?

           15      A.    Yeah.  But I also take a look at the English

           16  translation recently, because it was the most -- the

           17  handiest.

           18      Q.    And I think the next explorer you talked

           19  about was Oñate?

           20      A.    Juan de Oñate after -- yeah, Juan de Oñate is

           21  the founder of what is now New Mexico, and he was the

           22  first -- he got the contract in 1598 to colonize and

           23  govern and advance the frontier.  And he was given a

           24  good contract, but, again, you know, he wasn't paid.

           25  He financed it.


                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440

                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ
�

                        VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015
                                                                      2459


            1      Q.    So he was looking for settlement sites?

            2      A.    Yes, he went up to settle.  So it's a much

            3  larger force.  There are civilians, which is different

            4  than the previous expeditions up there.

            5            And so the site they went to is actually

            6  north of Santa Fe, north, oh, about 30 miles toward

            7  Taos, if you go on the road today, and it's called the

            8  San Juan Pueblo, and they called it Gaypa, G-A-Y-P-A.

            9  And then it was relocated in 1690 because he didn't

           10  fulfill his contract, according to the King, and the

           11  King put his own guy there and it became a royal

           12  province.

           13      Q.    And so how many people, approximately, did he

           14  have with him?

           15      A.    Probably -- he had about 100 mixed; more

           16  military men, 50 to 100 military; and cattle.

           17      Q.    How long did he stay on the Verde?

           18      A.    He didn't stay on the Verde at all.  He went

           19  in 1604.  He crossed it looking for the Sea of -- the

           20  South Sea, which is really a reference to the Pacific

           21  Ocean, because of communication from the natives to the

           22  west.

           23            And so after Farfan came back, his first --

           24  the first guy he wanted to take a look at and was

           25  unsuccessful, by 1604 he's getting kind of desperate,
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            1  because there was no gold or silver, mineral, and New

            2  Mexico was -- I think today is the 44th state that was

            3  poor in natural resources.  And so he went to try to

            4  save his charge, and was unsuccessful, but he did try

            5  to get to the South Sea, as they called it, and he got

            6  to the Colorado River and saw it.

            7      Q.    Do you know where, approximately, he crossed

            8  the Verde?

            9      A.    Often the passageway was along the Gila.

           10  They went south and used the Gila, because there's

           11  water, so they --

           12      Q.    Where did he cross the Verde, though?

           13      A.    Oh, he crossed the Verde close to where

           14  Clarkdale would be, between Camp Verde and where

           15  Clarkdale is.

           16      Q.    And did he leave any records about what he

           17  saw when he crossed the Verde?

           18      A.    No.  It was just an obstacle to travel, so he

           19  crossed.

           20      Q.    And then we have Kino, who only saw the river

           21  sort of from far away?

           22      A.    Yeah.  Yeah, I think that's --

           23      Q.    And then Nentvig?

           24      A.    Nentvig, yes.  Yeah, one of the later

           25  Jesuits.
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            1      Q.    And what was his purpose in Arizona?

            2      A.    He was there to consolidate all the

            3  information.  He was a missionary, but many of these

            4  missionaries wore several hats, like Kino, and he

            5  produced a pretty scholarly volume.

            6            And I'll look up Rudo Ensayo and it is a real

            7  solid laundry list of the natural resources, the

            8  mountain ranges, the people, the vegetation, the

            9  animals, and what was there.  It's what Americans did

           10  in the 19th century, and if you read William

           11  Geotzmann's Exploration and Empire, which won the

           12  Pulitzer Prize in '67 -- and he didn't even get tenure

           13  at Yale; geez. -- but that's a great account of

           14  America's scientific dimension to study.

           15            So he was an early-day kind of scientist, in

           16  a way, and evaluated what was there.

           17      Q.    Sort of an early version of the great surveys

           18  of the American West?

           19      A.    There you go.  Yeah.  Agreed.

           20      Q.    So how long did he spend on the Verde?

           21      A.    No time on the Verde.

           22      Q.    Okay.  So we don't have a description from

           23  him of the Verde yet?

           24      A.    No.  That it was there, and he relied on

           25  previous descriptions of it.
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            1      Q.    Which basically said there's this river?

            2      A.    There's this river.

            3      Q.    All right.  And then -- oh, boy -- Sedelmayr?

            4      A.    Sedelmayr, yeah.

            5      Q.    Okay.

            6      A.    The Father of the Papago, according to John

            7  Francis Bannon, but now that term is not used.  Papago

            8  actually is kind of, I think, bean-eaters, Papábotas.

            9  But, you know, their name has changed.  But he did a

           10  lot of work among those people and was a very astute,

           11  religious Jesuit.

           12      Q.    So his focus was really down around Tucson?

           13      A.    Yes, and that's about as far as -- I think I

           14  said before, that's about as far as, I think, they got

           15  advancing the frontier.

           16      Q.    Okay.  So that's five.

           17            The other five folks that I failed to count,

           18  did any of them spend time on the Verde?

           19      A.    No, none of them did.

           20      Q.    And even those who did, they're sort of

           21  pictures of a river at a particular point in time; they

           22  didn't settle on the Verde; they didn't spend a lot of

           23  time there?

           24      A.    That's correct.

           25      Q.    Did the early Spanish bring ships up the
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            1  Colorado?

            2      A.    There was seafaring expeditions, yes.

            3      Q.    What years?

            4      A.    The 1580s was when they realized that that

            5  was a significant watercourse.  But in terms of

            6  establishing a settlement there, it wasn't until 1781.

            7  Father Garcés, after he had led the expedition in 1776,

            8  colonizing what is Monterey and San Francisco, they

            9  lent people from Tucson, and they went overland and all

           10  that, and then they came back and tried to make a

           11  settlement, but the Yumans, they massacred them in

           12  1781.  So there was an attempt later on in the Spanish

           13  period.

           14      Q.    And they actually sailed oceangoing vessels

           15  up the Colorado?

           16      A.    They tried, yes, with some success but not

           17  very much.

           18      Q.    Is it possible that a navigable river existed

           19  in the area explored by the Spanish and they chose, for

           20  some reason, not to boat it?

           21      A.    I can't answer that one.  I'm trying to

           22  think.  Is it possible?

           23      Q.    Well, I think you said that if you've got a

           24  horse --

           25      A.    Yeah.
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            1      Q.    -- you're not going to turn him loose.

            2      A.    Yeah.

            3      Q.    You're not going to put him in a canoe or a

            4  flatboat.

            5      A.    Yeah, it just doesn't seem that they did.

            6      Q.    Okay.  You quote Manje on Page 7 of your

            7  report.

            8      A.    Manje, yeah, his name is Manje.

            9      Q.    Manje, thank you.

           10            In that quote, the small stream that he's

           11  referring to is the White and Black Rivers, not the

           12  Verde, correct?

           13            Can you turn to Page 7 of your report?

           14      A.    Well, okay, yeah.  Yeah, I'm thinking.

           15      Q.    Can you turn to Page 7?  It's not

           16  horrifically clear, but I think he's talking about the

           17  headwaters of the Salt.

           18      A.    "This Salado River runs from east to west and

           19  to the south of the Verde River and they merge, as I

           20  have said.  To the very end and to the most easterly

           21  point of this Pimería there are also two rivers called,

           22  more properly, arroyos or small streams."

           23            That's what the sentence says in Spanish and

           24  in the translation, so I can't speculate if it was the

           25  White and the Red River.  I don't think you could see
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            1  it from the top of the White and the Black River; I

            2  don't think you could see it from Estrella Mountain.

            3      Q.    So do you think the small stream he's talking

            4  about is the Verde?

            5      A.    No, I think -- no.

            6            "Of the Verde River and they merge, as I have

            7  said."

            8            No, not talking -- those two small streams

            9  are not the Verde.

           10      Q.    Okay.  Did any of the Spanish observers cited

           11  in your report make any statements about the

           12  navigability of the Verde?

           13            I understand that you've taken from their

           14  lack of statements --

           15      A.    Yeah.

           16      Q.    -- an implication, but did they say anything?

           17      A.    No, they did not asssertively say anything.

           18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Joy, can we take a

           19  break here?

           20                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I would love to.

           21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.

           22                 Fifteen.

           23                 (A recess was taken from 3:30 p.m. to

           24  3:45 p.m.)

           25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's have it.
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            1  BY MS. HERNBRODE:

            2      Q.    All right.  You talk a lot about the lack of

            3  accurate maps of the Verde in your report.

            4      A.    Yes.

            5      Q.    Was the technology available at that time,

            6  did that make it a little bit difficult to have an

            7  accurate map?

            8      A.    Sure.  Cartographers of the 17th and

            9  18th Century also had to have, maybe, an artistic flare

           10  or another ability to get perspective and meaning.  So

           11  there's a lack of technology, it's an accurate

           12  statement.  There was a lack of technology, correct.

           13      Q.    You didn't have the aerial overflights, so if

           14  you didn't see it yourself, you were pretty much

           15  guessing?

           16      A.    That's correct.

           17      Q.    Was there any other reason other than the

           18  lack of accurate maps that you conclude the Spanish

           19  felt the Verde was nonnavigable?

           20      A.    Were there other reasons?

           21      Q.    Yes.

           22      A.    I think so.  I think that's just one point

           23  that I found striking to the map, the map section.  You

           24  know, and I'm, frankly, pretty puzzled by it.  I was

           25  very surprised that some of the maps, even in the late
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            1  19th Century, after 1850, let's say, that they were off

            2  until they -- they finally got it right, but that took

            3  time.

            4      Q.    And you have actually looked at the maps

            5  created by the various Spanish explorers?

            6      A.    Yes, and they're available in a variety of

            7  texts and others, other sources.  And today, I think,

            8  you know, with digitizing, they're becoming more

            9  available to the general public.

           10      Q.    Have you looked at them recently?

           11      A.    Not recently; but after this proceeding I'm

           12  going to look at every one of them carefully, other

           13  than these that I looked at from the Rumsey collection.

           14      Q.    You should probably quit angling to come back

           15  to this hearing.

           16      A.    Oh, not this one.  No, I just know this is

           17  going to go on, so...

           18      Q.    Do you recall if those maps showed a single

           19  or multiple channels of the Verde?

           20      A.    No, I don't.  I don't recall.

           21      Q.    Do you recall if they showed any marshes?

           22      A.    No.

           23      Q.    And you didn't include copies of those maps

           24  in your report?

           25      A.    No, no visuals for this.
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            1      Q.    Would it be fair to say that none of the

            2  accounts you're aware of of the Spanish talked about

            3  the Verde in any detail or described using boats on the

            4  river?

            5      A.    That's correct.

            6      Q.    All right.  Let's move on to mountain men.

            7      A.    Yeah, Taos Trappers, yeah.

            8      Q.    You referenced David Weber's Taos Trappers,

            9  correct?

           10      A.    Yes.

           11      Q.    Did you look at anything else from Mr. Weber?

           12      A.    Yes.  I looked at his works, The Spanish in

           13  North America and The Mexican Frontier in the

           14  Southwest.  He has two big volumes that are large

           15  syntheses of the period.  I think that grew out of his

           16  doctoral dissertation at the University of New Mexico.

           17      Q.    And The Taos Trapper doesn't talk a lot about

           18  trappers who were in Arizona, does it?

           19      A.    Not too much.

           20      Q.    It's primarily focused on, really, the

           21  aspects of trade that were happening in New Mexico?

           22      A.    That's correct.

           23      Q.    What accounts of trappers did you look at

           24  from folks who were operating in Arizona?  It sounds

           25  like you looked at the Pattie account.
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            1      A.    Pattie, Ewing Young.  Tom Sheridan has done a

            2  nice job of synthesizing that, that period, and so I

            3  relied on Dr. Sheridan's Arizona:  A History, which is,

            4  I think, recognized generally as the authoritative

            5  source; and he relies on that and other accounts as

            6  well.

            7      Q.    Did you look at, I believe, Kit Carson left

            8  some records?

            9      A.    Yeah, I've looked at Kit Carson's work, and

           10  there's been some biographies on Kit Carson, and I've

           11  seen that before, and I'm actually looking at it in

           12  another proceeding.

           13      Q.    Kit didn't actually write stuff himself, did

           14  he?

           15      A.    No.

           16      Q.    He had ghostwrites?

           17      A.    Many people had ghostwrites, yes, including

           18  Pattie.

           19      Q.    And did he keep notes?

           20      A.    He was not known as a notorious notetaker,

           21  because he moved constantly.  He appears in the Navajo

           22  frontier in 1868 burning peach trees.  I mean he is

           23  kind of a utility person in furthering the westward

           24  expansion.

           25      Q.    And for Ewing Young, he left some
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            1  correspondence, but not really a diary either, correct?

            2      A.    No, no diary, no.

            3      Q.    But Mr. Dye, who traveled with him, kept a

            4  diary?

            5      A.    Evidently, yes.  I've heard about that, yes,

            6  but I have not looked at it.  I've not looked at that

            7  source.

            8      Q.    Okay.  The beaver trappers operating in

            9  Arizona generally came from Taos or Santa Fe, correct?

           10      A.    Yeah, immediately, yes.

           11      Q.    And that's over the Continental Divide from

           12  the Verde?

           13      A.    Correct.

           14      Q.    So there's no river that runs between the

           15  two?

           16      A.    No, there's not.

           17      Q.    And even if there were, it would have been a

           18  little harder to disguise where they were going if they

           19  were taking a water route, correct?

           20      A.    Yes, and oftentimes that was necessary to

           21  disguise where they were going.  They sometimes took

           22  off north or northeast to disguise where they were

           23  going.

           24      Q.    Were trappers and mountain men operating in

           25  the American West generally literate?
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            1      A.    No, that would be the exception to the rule.

            2      Q.    We don't have a lot of accounts from trappers

            3  operating anywhere in the west?

            4      A.    That's correct.  There's a paucity of

            5  material.

            6      Q.    There's a fair amount of material for

            7  trappers who were part of the big operations operating

            8  out of St. Louis and places like that?

            9      A.    Yes, and even Astoria in Oregon, there's some

           10  good work on that, but that didn't seem relevant here.

           11      Q.    Taos didn't have that kind of one big company

           12  that controlled everybody and really kept track of

           13  things?

           14      A.    No.  In many ways, Taos kind of reflects the

           15  essence of American expansion, which was individual

           16  freedom and initiative.

           17      Q.    I think you said in the 1820s through 1848 or

           18  so, it wasn't legal for Arizonans to trap in Arizona?

           19      A.    Americans, you mean?

           20      Q.    Yes.

           21      A.    Yes, with some exceptions, like saving the

           22  Governor's wife and her daughter and things of that

           23  nature, but -- and more often than not, you know, they

           24  were skirting the law.  They were viewed with

           25  suspicion, yes.
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            1      Q.    You could sometimes get a license if you took

            2  a Spanish or Mexican citizen with you?

            3      A.    That's correct, yes.

            4      Q.    But most of them didn't bother to do that?

            5      A.    Of course not.  No, they did not.

            6      Q.    Were trappers generally protective of their

            7  methods and trapping locations?

            8      A.    Yes, they were, like miners.

            9      Q.    Particularly if they could be prosecuted by

           10  Spanish or Mexican authorities for being there?

           11      A.    Correct.

           12      Q.    Have you reviewed the Spanish or Mexican

           13  records to see if they list any other trapping

           14  expeditions on the Verde?

           15      A.    For this proceeding, no, but that would be

           16  something I would certainly do in the future.

           17      Q.    You think it would be a good idea to look at

           18  those records?

           19      A.    Oh, yeah.  I kind of can't wait.

           20      Q.    So the first trapper who left us at least a

           21  widely distributed account is James Ohio Pattie?

           22      A.    Yes.

           23      Q.    And he does record a couple of times where he

           24  uses a canoe on the Gila and on the Colorado?

           25      A.    I believe that's in there.  I wonder --
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            1  again, it's a source that I questioned, given the

            2  exaggeration, so I would question that.

            3      Q.    You question that he used a canoe to trap?

            4      A.    Yes, and a variety of other things that he

            5  asserts in that book.

            6      Q.    Okay.  Well, did other trappers in the West

            7  commonly use a canoe?

            8      A.    Depending on where they were, but I think in

            9  the West, in this region, no.

           10      Q.    Do you have any expertise in trapping?

           11      A.    No, I don't.  Oh, God.

           12      Q.    Is Pattie's account a day-by-day account of

           13  what happened every day?

           14      A.    Pretty much not.  It's impressionistic, and,

           15  again, the audience was the East Coast urban areas and

           16  to generate money; and Timothy Flint, who wrote it, was

           17  a skillful writer.

           18      Q.    And the other sources you mentioned, they

           19  don't record the sort of day-by-day events --

           20      A.    No.

           21      Q.    -- of a trapping expedition?

           22      A.    But it would be great to have that material.

           23      Q.    Do you recall Pattie saying on the Colorado

           24  they made boats, they made dugout canoes?

           25      A.    I don't recall that, but I would have to
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            1  review the material again.

            2      Q.    Okay.  Would it help you if I told you they

            3  made dugout canoes after their horses were stolen?

            4  Does that help you place that in the story?

            5      A.    That would help me place it, that would help

            6  me place it in the story, yes.

            7      Q.    Would you agree that, likely, there were

            8  hundreds of trappers operating in Arizona?

            9      A.    Hundreds, I wouldn't agree with that.

           10      Q.    How many?

           11      A.    20 to 30, my guest guesstimate.

           12      Q.    Would you agree that trapping was dangerous?

           13      A.    I would agree that trapping was dangerous.

           14      Q.    You could end up being killed by other

           15  trappers?

           16      A.    Other trappers, indigenous groups that were

           17  resentful.

           18      Q.    The wildlife?

           19      A.    The wildlife could.  Well, perhaps, yes, the

           20  wildlife.  I know the Piipaash people.  Yeah, there

           21  were some tribes that didn't want the Anglos here, and

           22  wildlife could do it as well, yes.

           23      Q.    Bears?

           24      A.    Bears.

           25      Q.    Mountain lions?
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            1      A.    Mountain lions.  Yikes.

            2      Q.    Oh, my.

            3            Your take on it is because Pattie didn't

            4  specifically say he used a canoe on the Verde, that no

            5  one in his party did?

            6      A.    I'm not saying that.  There's just no

            7  evidence that I've seen that anyone else used a canoe,

            8  and I was looking for it.

            9      Q.    He doesn't say he did?

           10      A.    He doesn't say, yeah.

           11      Q.    But you don't believe Pattie's memoir is

           12  particularly accurate?

           13      A.    Not particularly accurate is a good way to

           14  put it.  I think it's impressionistic.

           15      Q.    Okay.  And how about the accounts left by

           16  Carson and Young and Dye?

           17      A.    I think they're in the same category; that

           18  there's some truth or factual information that

           19  generated a good story and a fanciful retelling of

           20  events.

           21      Q.    Would it be more likely for them to

           22  exaggerate things like Indian encounters?  I guess

           23  today we might call them -- we might say that they sort

           24  of exaggerate their adrenaline junky activities.

           25      A.    I agree with that.
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            1      Q.    Okay.  So they're less likely to exaggerate

            2  day-to-day activities?

            3      A.    I can't say that, but that's something I

            4  would have to do some research, further research on, to

            5  make a statement like that.

            6      Q.    Okay.

            7      A.    Yeah.

            8      Q.    But certainly the encounters with a bear or

            9  with a hostile tribe or something like that, those may

           10  be certainly blown up?

           11      A.    I think that's a good assumption.  I think

           12  it's an accurate assumption.

           13      Q.    Or if you rescued the Governor's daughter --

           14      A.    Yeah.

           15      Q.    -- rather than some poor --

           16      A.    Yeah.

           17      Q.    -- lass?

           18      A.    Yeah.

           19      Q.    I would like to talk a little bit about some

           20  later trappers on the Verde, and you talked about them

           21  in your direct a little bit.  We'll start with the Day

           22  brothers in 1891 and 1892.

           23      A.    Okay.

           24      Q.    And, Debi, if you could pull up No. 3, which

           25  is X001-18.
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            1            This is the easiest-to-read version of this

            2  event.  The newspaper is a little difficult.

            3            Does it indicate they trapped the entire

            4  Verde in a boat that they built?

            5      A.    Does it indicate they trapped the entire

            6  Verde.

            7      Q.    Well, from Camp Verde down to the confluence

            8  with the Salt.

            9      A.    That was my reading of it, yes.

           10      Q.    In a boat that they had built themselves?

           11      A.    Yes.

           12      Q.    And then how did they get back upriver when

           13  they were finished?

           14      A.    I believe they took a train.  Am I not

           15  mistaken?

           16      Q.    Yeah, right down there at the bottom.

           17      A.    Yeah, yeah.

           18      Q.    And they didn't record any difficulty on any

           19  of the rivers they talked about?

           20      A.    Yes.  It's a rather brief description.

           21      Q.    Okay.  And you weren't here when Mr. Fuller

           22  testified about the Verde, so you didn't hear him say

           23  that he thought the 800-mile figure seemed fairly high,

           24  correct?

           25      A.    No, I was not here for that, no.
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            1      Q.    The Day brothers didn't have a GPS?

            2      A.    They did not.

            3      Q.    Do you know if J.K. had family in Phoenix?

            4      A.    I do not.

            5      Q.    Does trapping take a little time?

            6      A.    Trapping might take some time, yes, it does.

            7      Q.    Do you know that Mr. Day actually became one

            8  of our first wildlife officers in Arizona?

            9      A.    I did not know that.

           10      Q.    Do you think any part of this account is made

           11  up?

           12      A.    This is the first time this morning I read

           13  it, and I would like to really review it and come to a

           14  conclusion that would be accurate, for me.

           15      Q.    Well, right.  I understand that the distance

           16  traveled is off.

           17      A.    That's -- yes.

           18      Q.    Is it possible that they traveled up some

           19  tributaries and back down trapping, and so added that

           20  into their distance?

           21      A.    Well, it doesn't say that there, so I can't

           22  speak to that.

           23      Q.    Is it possible, though?

           24      A.    Yes.  Yeah, it is.

           25      Q.    Is it possible that without a GPS, they had a
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            1  little hard time accurately estimating how far they

            2  traveled?

            3      A.    That's a fair assumption, yes.

            4      Q.    And is it possible that the boosterism of the

            5  newspaper in Yuma thought 800 miles sounded like a

            6  better figure than whatever the Day brothers reported?

            7      A.    If it's 800 miles to Yuma, I don't know if

            8  that's very inviting.  But I was just thinking about

            9  it.

           10      Q.    I guess it depends on your perspective.

           11      A.    Yeah, because I think I may have to take a

           12  long trip.

           13      Q.    Careful, I was born there.

           14      A.    No, my brother lives there.

           15      Q.    Does any of this article strike you as the

           16  kind of community boosterism that you would expect a

           17  newspaper to exaggerate?

           18      A.    Yes, it does.  You know, I think it's a

           19  colorful.  Is it feel-good?  Maybe feel-good.  I would

           20  still have to really take a look at it line by line,

           21  but I think boosterism is one aspect of it.

           22      Q.    Some of the other newspaper articles that we

           23  looked at in other cases sort of emphasize the rapids

           24  and the excitingness of the trip and things like that.

           25  This doesn't do that?
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            1      A.    No.  It talks about the color, the beaver,

            2  patience, remuneration.  I mean that's --

            3      Q.    Five trips?

            4      A.    Five trips, it talks about that.  I can't

            5  speak to that.  I haven't seen any evidence of five

            6  trips, but that's what that says.

            7      Q.    And you think that might be boosterism?

            8      A.    It certainly could be.  It could be

            9  boosterism, yes.

           10      Q.    Okay.  Let's then talk about a gentleman

           11  named Fogal and his friend, who did a trapping trip in

           12  1931.

           13            Debi, could you bring up 4?

           14      A.    Okay.

           15      Q.    And they traveled from Clarkdale to Fort

           16  McDowell using a flat-bottom boat.  Have you seen this?

           17      A.    I have not seen it.  This is the first time.

           18      Q.    Actually, it sort of falls off the bottom of

           19  the screen a little bit there.  I'll give you a moment

           20  to read it.

           21      A.    Okay.

           22            I guess my only question of what I read there

           23  is it's 1931, and I haven't -- I didn't consider that.

           24      Q.    I understand you haven't looked at it, but I

           25  mean these are a pair of guys who were doing the same
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            1  kind of activities that we're talking about --

            2      A.    Correct.

            3      Q.    -- on the same river.

            4      A.    Okay.  Agreed.

            5      Q.    A river that might be a little more difficult

            6  to navigate, in fact, by 1931?

            7      A.    That's a good assumption.

            8      Q.    So in 1931, were newspapers prone to the same

            9  kind of boosterism?

           10      A.    I think there is dialing back by 1931,

           11  especially, during The Depression, I'm sure.  This is a

           12  feel-good story and an interesting story.

           13      Q.    So if the Day brothers could trap on the

           14  Verde using a boat and Fogal and his friend could trap

           15  on the Verde using a boat and lots of people use a boat

           16  on the Verde today, why couldn't other trappers do it?

           17      A.    Well, as I said earlier, I have not seen any

           18  evidence during the period under discussion of that.

           19      Q.    You haven't seen anybody say "I used a boat

           20  on the Verde"?

           21      A.    I have not seen that, either in Spanish or in

           22  English.

           23      Q.    You also didn't hear anybody say "I couldn't

           24  use a boat on the Verde"?

           25      A.    I have not heard that either.
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            1      Q.    The Verde's been known by a bunch of

            2  different names?

            3      A.    Yes.

            4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Green.

            5  BY MS. HERNBRODE:

            6      Q.    What names?

            7      A.    Oh, boy.  I would have to go back, but it's

            8  here in this report.

            9      Q.    You named a couple.  The San Francisco,

           10  the --

           11      A.    San Francisco.  The --

           12      Q.    Rio Azul?

           13      A.    Rio Azul, Blau Fluss.  A couple, yes.

           14      Q.    So if you were looking for historic

           15  information about the Verde, you should probably look

           16  for all of those names?

           17      A.    One would do that, yes.

           18      Q.    Does the Verde flow through relatively rugged

           19  terrain?

           20      A.    In Segments 4 and 5, I would say moderate

           21  compared to some of the other, you know, segments of

           22  the river.

           23      Q.    Above that, much more rugged?

           24      A.    Yes, I would say that.

           25      Q.    And is the area around the Verde, even today,
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            1  relatively unpopulated?

            2      A.    Comparatively to other areas in Arizona.

            3      Q.    There weren't a lot of settlers and explorers

            4  in the area?

            5      A.    Not too many.

            6      Q.    Are you aware of U.S. Supreme Court cases

            7  that say that just because a river is unexplored or

            8  unused, that it's not necessarily nonnavigable?

            9      A.    I have heard that referenced in this

           10  proceeding.

           11      Q.    Do you know what the Euro-American population

           12  along the Verde was between the 1840s and 1880s?

           13      A.    The Euro-American, 1840, 1880s.  I would

           14  suspect -- let me think about it.

           15            No more than 1,000, I think, individuals.

           16      Q.    And did the Apache aggressively resist

           17  incursions into the Verde watershed up to the 1800s, up

           18  through the 1800s?

           19      A.    Yeah, up to the middle part of the

           20  19th Century, and before that, much more -- well, quite

           21  vigorously, depending on what you read.

           22      Q.    Are you familiar with what's been called the

           23  Oatman Massacre on the Gila River?

           24      A.    Yes.  Olive Oatman, yes, I'm familiar with

           25  it.  Haven't scrutinized it lately.
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            1      Q.    Do you know what year that was?

            2      A.    1857?  I mean I picked that out.  When was

            3  it?

            4      Q.    I think 1851.

            5      A.    '51.  Close, yeah.

            6      Q.    That sound okay?

            7      A.    Yeah, that sounds about right, yeah.

            8      Q.    Can you tell us a little bit about what

            9  happened there?

           10      A.    From my recollection, the group the Mojaves,

           11  I believe it was the Mojave Tribe, murdered the family,

           12  and they kept Olive, and there's a famous picture of

           13  her with tattoos from her mouth to her jaw.  But I did

           14  not do any research into that for this proceeding.

           15      Q.    Killed off the family?

           16      A.    Yeah.

           17      Q.    Took the two sisters --

           18      A.    Yeah.

           19      Q.    -- captive?

           20      A.    Correct.

           21      Q.    And they were traded around a little bit?

           22      A.    They were traded around a little bit, yes.

           23      Q.    And I believe, was the Mojave a Pai Tribe?

           24      A.    Pai Tribe, yes.

           25      Q.    Okay.  So related to the Yavapai?
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            1      A.    Yavapai, yeah.

            2      Q.    So it wasn't just the Apache people and it

            3  wasn't just in the 1860s that the native people in

            4  Arizona were resisting settlement of their territories?

            5      A.    No.  No, there was active resistance, yes.

            6      Q.    Do you know when the railroads appeared in

            7  the Verde Valley?

            8      A.    Are you talking about the Prescott Stage from

            9  Prescott to Ash Fork?

           10      Q.    I believe that was the first one.

           11      A.    Yeah, that was the first one.  It's in the

           12  1880s.

           13      Q.    Were mapmakers, either the military or the

           14  Spanish mapmakers or the military mapmakers, trained in

           15  assessing navigability?

           16      A.    No.

           17      Q.    They didn't apply The Daniel Ball test?

           18      A.    They did not know about it, no.

           19      Q.    Okay.  And you didn't look at the work of

           20  federal surveyors for your report?

           21      A.    Not this time, for this, yeah.

           22      Q.    Okay.

           23      A.    But I think, was that covered by

           24  Dr. Littlefield?

           25      Q.    Dr. Littlefield.
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            1      A.    Yes.  Yes, so I didn't want to be redundant.

            2      Q.    Why were the Fort McDowell and Fort Verde

            3  posts established?

            4      A.    For protection, military protection, of the

            5  increasing civilian population in this territory.

            6      Q.    The native peoples were fairly successfully

            7  resisting our incursion into the territory?

            8      A.    That's correct, up until 1865, certainly, and

            9  thus the establishment of several -- that had been

           10  discussed throughout the territory, particularly

           11  Central Arizona.

           12      Q.    Now, Ms. Summerhayes came to Arizona in 1874;

           13  is that correct?

           14      A.    That's correct.

           15      Q.    Okay.  So she was -- her husband was

           16  stationed at Fort McDowell in 1877, does that sound

           17  about right?

           18      A.    Right around there.  She spent some time at

           19  Fort Apache and then they came down.

           20      Q.    Were they ever stationed at Fort Verde, or

           21  did they just pass through?

           22      A.    They were stationed there for a time, about a

           23  year, from my recollection in reading the book.

           24      Q.    And how long were they stationed at Fort

           25  McDowell?
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            1      A.    Oh, Fort McDowell?  I think about one year,

            2  if I'm not mistaken.  I would have to go back and take

            3  a look at the account.

            4      Q.    They moved around a lot?

            5      A.    They moved around, yeah.  They moved to Fort

            6  Yuma and around.

            7      Q.    Okay.  So I thought you said you weren't

            8  going to testify about stuff after 1866, and I know I

            9  went to law school to avoid math, but 1877 is well

           10  after that.

           11      A.    Oh, I understand.  Sure.  It was

           12  transportation, rugged transportation, so that jumped

           13  out, yes.

           14      Q.    So she wasn't there for the 1883 trip by

           15  Willcox and Andrews in a canvas skiff from Fort

           16  McDowell to Barnum's Pier on the Salt River Canal?

           17      A.    She was not there.

           18      Q.    She was not there when Major Spaulding and

           19  Captain Hatfield departed for Phoenix in 1888?

           20      A.    No, she was not.  Didn't know about it.

           21      Q.    Didn't get to wave at the Day brothers going

           22  by in 1891?

           23      A.    No, she didn't.

           24      Q.    Didn't see the lumber intended to float on

           25  the Verde in 1894?
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            1      A.    She did not.

            2      Q.    And she certainly missed the 1931 trip of

            3  Fogal and his friend?

            4      A.    Doubtlessly.

            5      Q.    Okay.  When were the roads built by the

            6  military?  You talked about military roads this

            7  morning, or this afternoon, I guess.

            8      A.    1865 to 1870.  Stoneman Road, 1870, and then

            9  the Stoneman Grade also began in 1870.

           10      Q.    And that road went?  Refresh me.

           11      A.    The first one, the Stoneman Road, went from

           12  Fort Whipple to Fort McDowell; and Stoneman Grade went

           13  from, roughly, Fort McDowell to what's now called, I

           14  think, Picketpost at the base of Picketpost Mountain in

           15  Superior; and then from there, from Picketpost, it went

           16  up that grade.  It was called Stoneman Grade.  It was

           17  very difficult.  You still see remnants of it.

           18      Q.    Did Ms. Summerhayes travel by boat on the

           19  Colorado?

           20      A.    I think she did, yes.

           21      Q.    Did she describe that as a pleasant

           22  experience?

           23      A.    She described it as not a very pleasant

           24  experience.

           25      Q.    Pretty horrifying?
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            1      A.    Pretty horrifying in the summer, yes.

            2      Q.    And she noted a lot of details about how she

            3  got to Fort McDowell.  Did she record details of how

            4  other military people traveled in the area?

            5      A.    That was an autobiographical account.

            6      Q.    Did she say anywhere affirmatively that the

            7  Verde was not used for navigation?

            8      A.    She did not say affirmatively that the Verde

            9  wasn't used for navigation.

           10      Q.    So when you say on Page 14 of your report

           11  that military commanders never used the Verde, you mean

           12  they didn't use the Verde while transporting

           13  Ms. Summerhayes at least?

           14      A.    Not specifically that.  I think that's -- the

           15  records that I've seen, they have not navigated -- they

           16  were not navigating the Verde, from what I've seen.

           17  And Ms. Summerhayes, again, that was just an example of

           18  the difficulty of traveling through Arizona, whether it

           19  was 1860 or whatever her account was, 1874.

           20      Q.    She's the only one that you talk about in

           21  your military section, her and Smith?

           22      A.    Smith, yes.

           23      Q.    Old Y.T.

           24      A.    Old Y.T.

           25      Q.    Did she mention, in her passages about Fort


                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440

                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ
�

                        VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015
                                                                      2490


            1  Verde, the boat that was located there?

            2      A.    Did she mention?  Did I mention or did she

            3  mention?

            4      Q.    Did she mention?

            5      A.    She did not mention it.

            6      Q.    Does Ms. Summerhayes talk about swimming in

            7  the Verde?

            8      A.    In that account, I don't believe she talks

            9  about swimming.  I'm not really sure, though.

           10      Q.    In her book, at all?

           11      A.    In her book.  In her book, yeah.

           12      Q.    Let's pull up 6, which is X017-99, which is

           13  Page 207 of Vanished Arizona.

           14      A.    So does she talk about swimming there?  If

           15  she does, I had forgotten.

           16      Q.    Last paragraph, about halfway down.

           17            She talks about teaching somebody else to

           18  swim there.

           19      A.    Okay, yeah.  I had forgotten that anecdote.

           20      Q.    So, clearly, there were places on the Verde

           21  that were deep enough that you had to swim in the area

           22  of Fort McDowell?

           23      A.    One could infer that.

           24      Q.    And then you talk about John Y.T. Smith, and

           25  Mr. Smith established a hay camp along the Salt to
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            1  supply hay to Fort McDowell?

            2      A.    Yes.

            3      Q.    And Fort McDowell is upstream from the Salt

            4  River, where he established his hay camp?

            5      A.    Yes.

            6      Q.    Hay is a pretty bulky kind of thing to

            7  transport?

            8      A.    Yes.

            9      Q.    It doesn't do well if it gets wet?

           10      A.    It does not.

           11      Q.    In your opinion, is the Colorado River

           12  navigable?

           13      A.    I believe it's been found navigable by the

           14  courts, and so --

           15      Q.    And you wouldn't disagree with the courts?

           16      A.    I'm not going to disagree with the courts,

           17  no.

           18      Q.    How about the Mississippi?

           19      A.    I think I would agree.

           20      Q.    Do roads run along either one of these

           21  rivers?

           22      A.    Yes.

           23      Q.    On Page 13 of your report, you state that

           24  "Fort McDowell could not raise sufficient crops to

           25  sustain the men, their families, and their livestock so
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            1  innovative entrepreneurs began to branch out."

            2            And there's no citation for that; but then

            3  when you testified, you talked about the fact that the

            4  military was sort of pressured into seeking civilian

            5  contractors rather than raising the food for

            6  themselves.

            7      A.    Yeah.

            8      Q.    Is that what you were talking about in that

            9  sentence?

           10      A.    Yeah, that there was protests from the local

           11  population that the military should be fighting the

           12  Indians, and so there was an adjustment about

           13  the canal.  Well, the canal was dug by order of General

           14  McDowell and then -- basically, to try to sustain the

           15  military operation there, and then there were protests,

           16  and it was parcelled out to private sector individuals.

           17      Q.    So it wasn't really they couldn't raise

           18  sufficient crops; it's just it was politically

           19  expedient not to raise sufficient crops?

           20      A.    Yeah, they had other issues that they wanted

           21  to address, and so that was the path of least

           22  resistance for that outpost.

           23      Q.    Do you know who Dr. Edgar Mearns is?

           24      A.    I think he was associated with the Fort

           25  McDowell.
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            1      Q.    He was actually stationed at Fort Verde.

            2      A.    Fort Verde?  Okay.

            3      Q.    Between 1884 and 1888?

            4      A.    I remember reading something about him, yes.

            5      Q.    Was he the post surgeon and a naturalist?

            6      A.    I think, yes.

            7      Q.    Is that a common overlap at that time?

            8      A.    Yes.  Yeah, there were individuals posted

            9  that were like that.  I can think of one in Southern

           10  Arizona at Fort Lowell, but I can't think of his name

           11  right now.  And, again, I didn't look at that post as

           12  opposed to Fort McDowell.

           13      Q.    And, in fact, many of the great naturalists

           14  of the 1800s were doctors?

           15      A.    Correct.

           16      Q.    Vandeveer Hayden, for instance, who ran --

           17      A.    Yes.

           18      Q.    -- one of the Great Surveys?

           19      A.    Yes.

           20      Q.    Was there a similar doctor or naturalist at

           21  Fort McDowell?

           22      A.    I'm not aware.  I don't know.

           23      Q.    Did you look at the records for the Fort?

           24      A.    I did not look at the records for the Fort

           25  specifically for this proceeding.
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            1      Q.    I would like to talk a little bit about the

            2  infamous two guys in a boat photo --

            3      A.    Okay.

            4      Q.    -- that I think you still have up there.

            5      A.    Yeah, sure.

            6      Q.    X035-167, Page 110.

            7            Do you have any reason to disagree with other

            8  experts' opinions of the location of this photo?

            9      A.    I don't have any reason to disagree with the

           10  location.

           11      Q.    Do you have any doubts about the date on this

           12  photo, at least the approximate date of this photo.

           13      A.    I think the approximate date.  It looks like

           14  the late 19th Century.

           15      Q.    I see from your CV, you have some exposure to

           16  the Colorado River through Grand Canyon?

           17      A.    Some.

           18      Q.    Are you familiar with the boating history of

           19  Grand Canyon?

           20      A.    I am not familiar with that dimension of its

           21  history.

           22      Q.    You know who John Wesley Powell was?

           23      A.    I do.

           24      Q.    Do you know what kind of boats he used in

           25  Grand Canyon?
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            1      A.    I saw images of them in this proceeding, yes.

            2      Q.    But you don't know their cargo capacity or

            3  draft?

            4      A.    I don't know those things.

            5      Q.    You would say those would be a boat that

            6  would be available for commercial purposes at the time

            7  of Arizona's statehood, as well --

            8      A.    Yes.

            9      Q.    -- as the ones we talked about earlier --

           10      A.    Yes.

           11      Q.    -- the canoes and flatboats and things like

           12  that?

           13      A.    Yes.  I would think so, yes.

           14      Q.    I'm trying to keep from us overlapping,

           15  because I'm getting dirty looks over here.

           16      A.    Okay.  I'm sorry.

           17      Q.    Would you characterize Mr. Powell's use of

           18  the river as a commercial use?

           19      A.    No, I would characterize it as a scientific

           20  survey.

           21      Q.    He was being paid a salary to boat down the

           22  river, was he not?

           23      A.    Is that commerce along the river?  That's for

           24  you -- I think for the attorneys to decide.  I mean I

           25  really can't --
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            1      Q.    You don't have an opinion?

            2      A.    I don't have an opinion on that, no.

            3      Q.    Okay.

            4            Do you know who the Kolb brothers were?

            5      A.    Yes, photographers in the canyon, yes.

            6      Q.    Are you familiar with the boats they used in

            7  Grand Canyon?

            8      A.    I'm not familiar with the boats they used.

            9      Q.    Okay.  Do you have a standard for

           10  navigability?

           11      A.    I do not.

           12      Q.    I would like to talk a little bit about the

           13  historical records of boating we have for the Verde,

           14  and I know you didn't include them because they

           15  occurred after the dates you were focused on.

           16      A.    Yes.

           17      Q.    And I think we've already talked about the

           18  Day brothers in Segments 2 through 5 and Fogal and his

           19  friend in those same segments.

           20            Let's look at the record we have for Willcox

           21  and Andrews in Segment 5, which is No. 8, and it is

           22  X017-122.

           23      A.    Okay, I've read it.

           24      Q.    Okay.  These guys didn't seem to have --

           25  didn't report any difficulties in their journey?
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            1      A.    It appears not.

            2      Q.    Okay.  And then I'm not going to bring back

            3  up the infamous photo of the guys in the boat, but they

            4  apparently used a boat on the Verde?

            5      A.    Apparently.  They're there.

            6      Q.    And then we have Major Spaulding and Captain

            7  Hatfield in a canoe in 1888, also in Segment 5.

            8            This is X017-123, and it's 10, please, Debi.

            9            I'll give you a minute to read this.

           10      A.    I'm going to have to get up.

           11      Q.    And there's a copy, actually, in the

           12  notebooks there next to you.

           13      A.    Oh, good.  Yeah.

           14      Q.    I'll find the page --

           15      A.    What page, yeah?

           16      Q.    -- or the tab --

           17      A.    Tab.

           18      Q.    -- for you will be 6.

           19      A.    6?  Okay.  One, two, three?

           20      Q.    Yes.

           21      A.    Okay.  "Major Spaulding's Death"?

           22      Q.    Yes.

           23      A.    Oh, the death.

           24            I have heard about this account before, but

           25  this is the first time I've read it here.
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            1      Q.    And he was the Commandant at Fort McDowell?

            2      A.    Yes.

            3      Q.    What does that mean?

            4      A.    He was the --

            5      Q.    Guy in charge?

            6      A.    Top officer, yes.

            7      Q.    Okay.  And he was apparently using a boat.

            8  Do we know whether this was a pleasure or a business

            9  trip?

           10      A.    Let me take another quick look.

           11            It looked as though they were shooting as

           12  they came, so it looks as though they were -- it was a

           13  pleasure trip.

           14      Q.    Have you never done anything fun on a

           15  business trip?

           16      A.    Yes, I've done something fun on a business

           17  trip.

           18      Q.    So it's possible they could have been

           19  traveling for military purposes and incidentally

           20  shooting along the way, or it's possible they could

           21  have been on a frolic?

           22      A.    Either/or.

           23      Q.    Okay.  And he died because his gun misfired

           24  going over an irrigation diversion?

           25      A.    That's correct.
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            1      Q.    Not because he drowned on the Verde or

            2  because the --

            3      A.    No.

            4      Q.    -- rapids were too big or anything like that?

            5      A.    It was a tragic event, yes.

            6      Q.    Okay.  Do you know who Dr. Ralph Palmer was?

            7      A.    No, I don't.

            8      Q.    He was the author of a book called Doctor on

            9  Horseback.  Have you read that?

           10      A.    No, I haven't.

           11      Q.    We have an account from Dr. Palmer, and

           12  that's is X017-97, page 29.

           13            It's No. 12, Debi.

           14      A.    Okay.

           15      Q.    So starting with the first full paragraph

           16  there.

           17      A.    "Sunday morning"?  Okay.  Oops, I'm sorry.

           18            Okay.  Thank you.

           19      Q.    Let me see if I can make it a little bigger.

           20      A.    Yeah, geez.

           21      Q.    Does that help?

           22      A.    Yeah, that helps a lot.  Thank you.

           23            Okay.

           24      Q.    He doesn't talk about, at least in this

           25  paragraph of this, like the boat was -- having a boat
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            1  was an unusual event, does he?

            2      A.    No, there's no reference to it being unique.

            3      Q.    Although, it does seem a little unique that

            4  you have a horse that takes the boat trailer back?

            5      A.    Yes.

            6      Q.    All right.  I would also like to look at

            7  X017-121, which is 13, Debi.

            8            Can you just blow up the text there so it's

            9  on the screen?

           10      A.    Okay, I've read it.

           11      Q.    So this is outside of your area.  This is --

           12      A.    Yeah.

           13      Q.    -- up on the top part of the Verde.

           14      A.    It's fun learning.

           15      Q.    And it's 1917.

           16      A.    Yes.

           17      Q.    But it actually shows a picture of the boat

           18  that was used on the Verde.

           19      A.    Okay.

           20      Q.    There it is.

           21            Do you have any reason to doubt this account?

           22      A.    I don't doubt that account, no.

           23      Q.    Okay.  And then looks look at X017-126.

           24            So 14, Debi.

           25            You may have remembered this account from my
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            1  discussion of it with Dr. Littlefield.

            2      A.    Yes, I think I do.

            3      Q.    So these guys also used the Verde for

            4  boating?

            5      A.    Apparently, yes.

            6      Q.    Okay.  Don't these accounts contradict your

            7  conclusion that the Verde wasn't boatable?

            8      A.    I don't necessarily think so.  I think these

            9  accounts, they're comparatively small in number, and I

           10  think it's up to the Commission and the attorneys to

           11  place these accounts in context and discuss what

           12  susceptible means and natural, and I forgot the other

           13  one.  I feel like Governor Perry.

           14      Q.    It's been a long day.

           15      A.    I forgot the third one.

           16      Q.    Governor Perry is not the third part of your

           17  test.

           18      A.    I know.

           19            The other term that's -- the legal term

           20  that's your charge and the Commission's charge to deal

           21  with, yes.

           22      Q.    Okay.  Is it your opinion that since the

           23  Verde was used for irrigation, it could not have been

           24  used for irrigation or --

           25            Let me try that again.
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            1      A.    I know, I'm with you.  Sorry.

            2      Q.    It's been a long day or a long week.

            3            Is it your opinion that since the Verde was

            4  used for irrigation, it could not have been used for

            5  navigation?

            6      A.    No.

            7      Q.    Those are not mutually exclusive?

            8      A.    They are not mutually exclusive.

            9      Q.    Okay.

           10                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Luckily for you, that

           11  concludes my cross-examination.  Thank you so much.

           12                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

           13                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I believe you have

           14  another tormenter.

           15                 THE WITNESS:  Okay, tormenter.

           16                 MR. HELM:  That is cruel.

           17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, are you ready

           18  to proceed?

           19                 MR. HELM:  I am.

           20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Jody?  Jack?

           21                 Go ahead, John.

           22

           23                    CROSS-EXAMINATION

           24  BY MR. HELM:

           25      Q.    Hello, Dr. August.  I think we've done this
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            1  before, and nice to see you again.

            2      A.    Yeah, we did it before.

            3      Q.    I'm going to go as fast as I can so we can

            4  get out of here, which means somebody is already

            5  glaring at me.

            6      A.    I know, yes.  I'm being disciplined.

            7      Q.    I have some general questions and then I have

            8  some questions that were generated by your testimony

            9  here.

           10            The first question I have is you don't claim

           11  to be an expert in determining stream or river

           12  navigability for the purpose of the standards that are

           13  set forth by the federal judiciary, right?

           14      A.    I do not.

           15      Q.    Okay.  And I regrettably have to ask you

           16  these questions, and I think the word you were looking

           17  for just a minute ago was ordinary?

           18      A.    That was the other word, yes.

           19      Q.    And I would like to know your definition of

           20  ordinary.

           21      A.    Common.

           22            You know, I think it's a legal term that's up

           23  to this group to determine, so...

           24      Q.    Oh, I understand that.  But you used it in

           25  your report, and so I want to know how you used it, and
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            1  so we need to know your definition.

            2      A.    Well, for Segments 5, 4 and 5, it was the

            3  period from the Hohokam up to the beginnings of

            4  diversions.  So that was really as I was thinking

            5  ordinary, without any human interaction or involvement

            6  with the river.

            7      Q.    Okay.  And then could you give me your

            8  definition of natural?

            9      A.    Similar.  The natural flow of the river.

           10      Q.    So are they basically the same thing?

           11      A.    To me.

           12      Q.    To you, natural and ordinary all run

           13  together, so to speak?

           14      A.    For the purposes of this hearing, I think

           15  they are mutually reinforcing terms; and, again, that

           16  falls, I think, within the legal framework of these

           17  proceedings.

           18      Q.    Okay.  For your work in this matter, did you

           19  read any of the cases that have been generated as a

           20  result of the Commission's work?

           21      A.    No, I haven't.  I'm familiar with Winkleman

           22  and I'm familiar with PPL, but, you know, I -- and I

           23  know the upshot and, you know, I know what is being

           24  looked at by this Commission.

           25      Q.    So you haven't -- have you read Winkleman?
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            1      A.    A long time ago.

            2      Q.    And you've read PPL?

            3      A.    I glanced over it.

            4      Q.    You don't claim to understand what those two

            5  things say?

            6      A.    I have a general knowledge of what those two

            7  things say.

            8      Q.    Do you realize that Winkleman makes a

            9  distinction between natural and ordinary?

           10      A.    I did not know that, no.

           11      Q.    So you didn't make any distinction between

           12  natural and ordinary?

           13      A.    No.  I just looked at the historical record.

           14      Q.    And, particularly, you didn't make the

           15  distinction that Winkleman did?

           16      A.    I did not, no.

           17      Q.    Do you have what I would call a list of

           18  elements that you need to kind of check off to

           19  determine whether a river is navigable or it's not

           20  navigable, as a historian dealing with those issues?

           21      A.    I do not have a list to check that out, no.

           22      Q.    So I can't ask you to tell me all the

           23  elements that you used to decide that the Verde River

           24  was not navigable?

           25      A.    There's no checklist.  I just looked at the
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            1  historical record and really reviewed human interaction

            2  and the various cultures that came across it and

            3  considered it, and that was my charge.

            4      Q.    As part of that historical work, did you read

            5  anything, look at any treatises or written materials of

            6  any kind that dealt with the Verde River as a

            7  multiple-channel river?

            8      A.    I have not looked at the science and

            9  hydrology of the river.

           10      Q.    In the writings you read, you didn't see some

           11  guy say, and, by golly, that's a braided river?

           12      A.    I did not see that term, no.

           13      Q.    Now, I believe you mentioned that you looked

           14  at the Verde in terms of trade and travel?

           15      A.    I tried to look at it with that prism from

           16  the historical record that I looked at.

           17      Q.    And in doing so to determine navigability,

           18  did you use those terms together; in other words, did

           19  it require both trade and travel to be navigable?

           20      A.    To me, no, it didn't require both.

           21      Q.    Okay.  So if you had stumbled across the Day

           22  brothers' trip and they weren't trapping beaver, that

           23  might have been enough to make it navigable because

           24  they just went down it in a boat, from your

           25  perspective?
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            1      A.    That's for this Commission to say.  I mean I

            2  know that happened, and I know that there are a handful

            3  of accounts from newspapers that discuss that.

            4      Q.    Well, but what I'm trying -- you have to

            5  understand what I'm trying to do here --

            6      A.    Fine, uh-huh.

            7      Q.    -- is I'm trying to find out what prism you

            8  applied to make a determination of whether the Verde

            9  was navigable.

           10            And so as part of your prism, did it require

           11  both trade and travel together?

           12      A.    No, it did not.

           13      Q.    Did it have to be a commercial enterprise?

           14      A.    It did not.

           15      Q.    Did it have to be both upstream and

           16  downstream?

           17      A.    It did not.

           18      Q.    Simple navigation would be good enough --

           19      A.    Simple navigation.

           20      Q.    -- for you?

           21      A.    For me, yes.  I was looking at the absence.

           22  There seemed to be an absence of accounts that I could

           23  find in my short time.

           24      Q.    And you were looking for specific historical

           25  accounts of somebody going down the river in a boat?
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            1      A.    Yes.  Yes.

            2      Q.    You weren't making any judgments about the

            3  susceptibility of that river to support boat travel?

            4      A.    Correct.

            5      Q.    I'm on a roll.

            6      A.    Uh-oh, the yellow pad.

            7      Q.    Hey, I got through the first two pages

            8  already.

            9      A.    Okay, good.

           10      Q.    If I understand your testimony, you don't

           11  have any opinions on the navigability of what I'll call

           12  Segments 1, 2, and 3 as those are defined by the State?

           13      A.    I do not, really.  No, I don't.

           14      Q.    Do you recall, when you read Winkleman, that

           15  Winkleman had a discussion about when the Commission or

           16  the people making a determination on navigability

           17  should look at the river to determine its ordinary and

           18  natural condition?

           19      A.    Yes, and my understanding from having read it

           20  a while ago, was that the Commission hadn't really

           21  looked carefully enough at the period before, roughly,

           22  1870, we could push it back to 1866, and from the time

           23  of Hohokam and pre-Columbian settlement.

           24      Q.    So what the Commission was basically -- or

           25  what the Court was basically saying, as you understand
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            1  it, was you want to look at that period after the

            2  Hohokams have stopped using the river for irrigation

            3  and things like that and before the civilization

            4  arrived in the form of some Anglos that were showing

            5  up?

            6      A.    And diversions, I think diversions.

            7      Q.    All the diversions?

            8      A.    Yes.

            9      Q.    They were trying to eliminate the diversions

           10  that the Hohokam had done; fair enough?

           11      A.    Fair enough.

           12      Q.    All right.  When you're talking about the

           13  Spanish explorers and stuff that were wandering around

           14  Arizona in the 1500s and stuff like that --

           15      A.    Yes.

           16      Q.    -- were they still wandering around when the

           17  Hohokams or other like tribes were diverting water from

           18  the rivers?

           19      A.    The Spaniards were not here when the Hohokam

           20  disappeared, for lack of a better term; but they were

           21  here when other groups, and they encountered Apaches,

           22  Pai people, Yavapais, Apaches, Navajos.

           23      Q.    Some of those were still irrigating, is my

           24  only question?

           25      A.    Yeah, there were some that were irrigating, a
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            1  little, yes; not much, not extensively.

            2      Q.    Okay.  I know you had a discussion with your

            3  counsel and Mr. Hood regarding whether the distance

            4  that was traveled by the Day brothers was 800 miles or

            5  200 miles, right?

            6      A.    (Witness nodded.)

            7      Q.    And I believe the conclusions that the

            8  counsel came up with was it wasn't 800 miles?

            9      A.    That's correct.

           10      Q.    First of all, do you at least have some

           11  familiarity with trapping?

           12            And I'll warn you I have trapped before.

           13      A.    I have never trapped, so...

           14            I have not trapped, no.

           15      Q.    Okay.  Well, have you read about trappers?

           16      A.    I've read about trappers, yes.

           17      Q.    Have you heard the word trap line?

           18      A.    I've heard the word trap line.

           19      Q.    Okay.  And normally when a trapper, who is in

           20  the business of trapping, goes out to do his thing, he

           21  lays a trap line, doesn't he?

           22      A.    Yes.

           23      Q.    He doesn't just go out and put one trap out

           24  and sit there and watch it and see if the beaver will

           25  come up and get in it, right?
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            1      A.    Correct.

            2      Q.    He puts out a series of traps, and he doesn't

            3  wait at the one trap to see when it's going to get a

            4  result, right?

            5      A.    Correct.

            6      Q.    So normally trappers go out and they go

            7  downriver or upriver, but they move out onto the river

            8  and they lay a series of traps for some distance

            9  downriver, right?

           10      A.    Correct, uh-huh.

           11      Q.    And then they either wait downriver for

           12  whatever they've deemed an appropriate period of time

           13  before going back and checking the traps, or they might

           14  say, "Well, I've got to wait until this evening to go

           15  out and check the traps again, to give them a chance to

           16  be successful, so I'll go back to camp and have some

           17  lunch and then I'll go back and check the traps,"

           18  right?

           19      A.    I understand, yes.

           20      Q.    So it seems to me that if I'm a trapper, as

           21  opposed to a person just traveling down a river, I go

           22  down it once and put my traps down, right?

           23      A.    Okay.

           24      Q.    Now, if I wait down there, I still have to go

           25  back one more time over the same distance, don't I?
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            1      A.    Correct.

            2      Q.    Because I've got to go check the traps?

            3      A.    All right.

            4      Q.    All right.  I'm now back at camp, and let's

            5  say I was a lucky trapper.  Every one of them had a

            6  beaver in it, right?  So I didn't have to go down and

            7  check them several times.  I just went back to the

            8  camp.  When I got back to the camp, what did I have to

            9  do?

           10            Didn't I have to skin the beaver?

           11      A.    Correct.

           12      Q.    I mean, you're not aware of any trappers that

           13  just threw carcasses in the canoe and headed downriver

           14  again, did you?

           15      A.    I'm not aware of any trappers in the history.

           16      Q.    Okay.  So they skinned them, and they

           17  probably even had to stretch them or dry them in some

           18  fashion, and then they put them in their boat and they

           19  went on down to the next spot they were going to trap,

           20  right?

           21      A.    That sounds like a supposition, yes.

           22      Q.    Seem like a reasonable approach?

           23      A.    Seems like a reasonable supposition.

           24      Q.    All right.  So that means that they either

           25  went three or four times up and down the same stretch
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            1  of river to cover it, right?

            2      A.    Well, I have no expertise in this, but you

            3  do.

            4      Q.    How's your math?

            5      A.    Not very good.

            6      Q.    Is it good enough to go four times 200?

            7      A.    Yeah, I can deal with that.

            8      Q.    Could we get 800 out of that if we did that?

            9      A.    If you multiplied four times 200, I agree,

           10  it's 800.

           11      Q.    And could we get 600 if we used a shorter one

           12  that went three times?

           13      A.    Correct.  Yeah.

           14      Q.    And so is there at least the possibility, in

           15  your mind, that when the Day brothers were saying it

           16  took 800 miles to do it, that they might have been

           17  telling that newspaper guy that, yeah, we have to do

           18  laps; you don't just hop in the boat and trap on one

           19  straight line down the river?

           20      A.    I think that's reading into the article,

           21  but...

           22      Q.    Sure.

           23      A.    But that wasn't what I read, so...

           24      Q.    All I'm saying is they went trapping?

           25      A.    Then went trapping, yeah.
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            1      Q.    All right.  Trapping is not a straight line

            2  trip down to Yuma from the Verde?

            3      A.    Okay.

            4      Q.    Okay.  So there's at least the possibility

            5  that it took longer than what the GPS would show as

            6  200 miles?

            7      A.    Okay.  I agree with your supposition.

            8      Q.    Another question on trapping.  Has the

            9  commerce of trapping --

           10      A.    Okay.

           11      Q.    -- where, you know, some guy goes out in the

           12  1600s or whatever and catches a bunch of beaver and

           13  brings it into town and sells it, has that type of

           14  commerce been held sufficient to establish navigability

           15  of any of the rivers and streams in the United States?

           16      A.    I don't know.  I can't answer that here.

           17      Q.    You haven't done --

           18      A.    I haven't done any research on that to give

           19  an educated answer.

           20      Q.    You heard Mr. Randall --

           21      A.    Yes.

           22      Q.    -- testify the other day that the Apaches

           23  didn't use the river?

           24      A.    I heard him say inasmuch.  Yes, he said that.

           25      Q.    And he had a reason for that, didn't he?
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            1      A.    (Witness nodded.)

            2      Q.    And wasn't that reason because the river was

            3  a very windy river?

            4      A.    I think that was his explanation.

            5      Q.    And it was quicker to just go across the land

            6  than it was to take a boat and just go up and down the

            7  meanders to get to the same place?

            8      A.    I think that was his testimony, yes.

            9      Q.    Would that make some sense to you in terms of

           10  why Apaches may not have used the river?

           11      A.    That makes sense.

           12      Q.    You talked about Mr. Smith and his hay

           13  operation.

           14      A.    Yes.

           15      Q.    Could one of the reasons that Mr. Smith had

           16  his hay operation up on the Salt be that there was a

           17  lot of wild hay down there?

           18                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  Jim, do you want to take

           19  a break?

           20                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Yes, I want to

           21  take a break.

           22                 THE WITNESS:  Well, I'll answer after.

           23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, we're going to

           24  break for a day.

           25                 THE WITNESS:  A day?
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            1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Today.

            2                 (A recess was taken from 4:48 p.m. to

            3  4:55 p.m.)

            4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John, are we ready to

            5  go back on the record?

            6                 MR. HELM:  Ready.

            7                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Jack, you're up.

            8                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

            9  BY MR. HELM:

           10      Q.    You had an answer?

           11      A.    Yes.

           12            I think the answer to your question is

           13  Galleta hay.  It was kind of a wild hay.  Is that what

           14  you were asking?

           15      Q.    Yes.

           16      A.    Yes, it's pretty well-documented in numerous

           17  accounts.

           18      Q.    Yeah.  So he went down there because he could

           19  get a lot of free hay?

           20      A.    There's free hay, yes.

           21      Q.    In his operation, that was the motivation?

           22      A.    Yes, he was smart.

           23      Q.    Okay, now, in your report I seem to recall

           24  coming across your commentaries on the maps, and you

           25  said that the first fairly accurate one was 1880, and
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            1  the first really accurate one was 1889, I believe?

            2      A.    That's what I said.

            3      Q.    Is that right?

            4      A.    That's what I said.

            5      Q.    Now, by the time you got around to 1889,

            6  there were significant diversions going on on the Verde

            7  River, wasn't there?

            8      A.    There were.

            9      Q.    And you talked about the early maps as being

           10  made when you believed the Verde would have been in its

           11  natural and ordinary condition when the Spanish were

           12  running around here and that sort of stuff.

           13            Did you see anything on any of those maps

           14  that you reviewed that were commentary on the condition

           15  of the Verde River in those times, as opposed to just

           16  having a fanciful line drawn on it with some squiggles

           17  on it?

           18      A.    It was the latter; it was the lack of

           19  knowledge of the geography was what was striking.

           20      Q.    Could one of the reasons that the early

           21  Spanish and other people didn't go wandering up the

           22  Verde have been that the Apache Tribe that lived up

           23  there was a reasonably formidable tribal?

           24      A.    That's correct.  That was certainly one of

           25  the factors.  There's others.
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            1      Q.    And they would have known about that because

            2  they would have talked to other tribes as they

            3  matriculated north out of Mexico?

            4      A.    That is correct, and that's why some of the

            5  presidios were at Tubac and then later moved to Tucson,

            6  yeah.

            7      Q.    And that's why we ended up with a lot of

            8  Forts up there too, wasn't it?

            9      A.    That's correct.

           10      Q.    One of the other reasons that a river might

           11  not be used for transportation is because it didn't go

           12  anywhere anybody wanted to go, correct?

           13      A.    That would be a reasonable assumption, yes.

           14      Q.    And the Verde started up in -- sorry,

           15  anybody -- the middle of nowhere?

           16      A.    Okay.

           17      Q.    And at the early part of the time, it came

           18  down to the middle of nowhere, didn't it?

           19      A.    That's correct.

           20      Q.    Phoenix was not Phoenix?

           21      A.    There was --

           22      Q.    There was a guy cutting hay.

           23      A.    That's correct.

           24      Q.    And so there probably wasn't a lot of demand

           25  for transportation between the Verde Valley and the hay
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            1  cutter?

            2      A.    Yes, other than military purposes.

            3      Q.    And if I understand your testimony right

            4  about the maps that the Spanish did, they didn't make

            5  any commentary on any of them, no matter where they

            6  were, on whether the river they were noting was

            7  navigable or not?

            8      A.    There's no language to that nature, that

            9  speaks to that.

           10      Q.    And the best that you could get in navigation

           11  from the Spanish maybe was the drawing of a ship in a

           12  bay off of some ocean?

           13      A.    Yes, and that's on the Colorado, yes.

           14      Q.    For the most part, in terms of the Spanish

           15  travels, they were going north and south, weren't they?

           16      A.    North/south.  South to north, yes.

           17      Q.    Yeah, south to north.  And so they would be

           18  going upstream most of the time?

           19      A.    That's a fair assumption, yes.

           20      Q.    Did I understand you correctly that you

           21  aren't aware of the ancient canoe that Frank Cushing

           22  discovered?

           23      A.    I'm not aware of it, so...

           24      Q.    What did the Hohokam trade?

           25      A.    Shells, basketry.
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            1      Q.    Massive goods or --

            2      A.    Not massive goods.  Goods that they could

            3  carry, whether individually or --

            4      Q.    Something that could --

            5      A.    -- something on the back.

            6      Q.    -- fit in my equivalent of a backpack, or

            7  whatever their equivalent was, and off I could go?

            8      A.    That's accurate.

            9      Q.    They didn't have what I would call a need to

           10  move an ore boat down the Verde River?

           11      A.    There was no evidence of that, that I know

           12  of.

           13                 MR. HELM:  Just one thing to check.

           14                 Forget it.  I have to put the thing in.

           15  I'll pass.  I'm done.

           16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Technology will do that

           17  to you.

           18                 MR. HELM:  It does it to us old guys.

           19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Technology blesses us

           20  all.

           21                 MR. HELM:  Periodically.

           22                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, Monday, March 30,

           23  at 9:00 a.m., here in this room, we will have the Rich

           24  Burtell show; is that correct?

           25                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, actually, you'll
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            1  have the redirect of the Jack August show.

            2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We've got redirect.

            3  Thank you.  Appreciate that, Cynthia.

            4                 MS. CAMPBELL:  No problem.

            5                 THE WITNESS:  Hopefully a brief show.

            6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, so that means you

            7  have to come back on the 30th.

            8                 THE WITNESS:  I'll be around.

            9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, great.  Anything

           10  else we need to take up before you acing out of here?

           11                 It's good to see everybody.  We'll look

           12  forward to seeing you next time.

           13                 (The proceedings adjourned at 5:02 p.m.)

           14

           15

           16

           17

           18

           19

           20

           21

           22

           23

           24

           25


                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440

                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ
�

                        VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015
                                                                      2522


            1  STATE OF ARIZONA    )
               COUNTY OF MARICOPA  )
            2

            3            BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings
               were taken before me; that the foregoing pages are
            4  a full, true, and accurate record of the proceedings,
               all done to the best of my skill and ability; that
            5  the proceedings were taken down by me in shorthand
               and thereafter reduced to print under my direction.
            6
                         I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to
            7  any of the parties hereto, nor am I in any way
               interested in the outcome hereof.
            8
                         I CERTIFY that I have complied with the
            9  ethical obligations set forth in ACJA 7-206(F)(3)
               and ACJA 7-206 (J)(1)(g)(1) and (2).  Dated at
           10  Phoenix, Arizona, this 13th day of March, 2015.

           11

           12
                       _______________________________________
           13                 JODY L. LENSCHOW, RMR, CRR
                                  Certified Reporter
           14                    Arizona CR No. 50192

           15
                         I CERTIFY that Coash & Coash, Inc., has
           16  complied with the ethical obligations set forth in
               ACJA 7-206 (J)(1)(g)(1) through (6).
           17

           18

           19

           20

           21

           22

           23
                       _______________________________________
           24                   COASH & COASH, INC.
                                Registered Reporting Firm
           25                   Arizona RRF No. R1036


                  COASH & COASH, INC.                   602-258-1440

                  www.coashandcoash.com                 Phoenix, AZ





VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2348


 1                        BEFORE THE
 2      ARIZONA NAVIGABLE STREAM ADJUDICATION COMMISSION
 3
 4  IN THE MATTER OF THE NAVIGABILITY  )
    OF THE VERDE RIVER FROM ITS        ) NO. 04-009-NAV
 5  HEADWATERS AT SULLIVAN LAKE TO     )
    THE CONFLUENCE WITH THE SALT       ) ADMINISTRATIVE
 6  RIVER, YAVAPAI, GILA AND MARICOPA  ) HEARING
    COUNTIES, ARIZONA.                 )
 7  ___________________________________)
 8
 9
10  At:       Phoenix, Arizona
11  Date:     February 25, 2015
12  Filed:    March 17, 2015
13
14           REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS
15                        VOLUME 11
16               Pages 2348 through 2522, Inclusive
17
18
19
20
21                           COASH & COASH, INC.
                 Court Reporting, Video & Videoconferencing
22                 1802 N. 7th Street, Phoenix, AZ  85006
                   602-258-1440      mh@coashandcoash.com
23
                           Prepared by:
24                         Jody L. Lenschow, RMR, CRR
                           Certificate No. 50192
25


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2349


 1                   INDEX TO EXAMINATIONS
 2  WITNESS                                           PAGE
 3
    JACK L. AUGUST, JR.
 4
       CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MS. CAMPBELL   2353
 5     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. HOOD                  2426
       CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. HERNBRODE             2428
 6     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. HELM                  2502
 7
 8
 9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2350


 1                 BE IT REMEMBERED that the above-entitled
 2  and numbered matter came on regularly to be heard
 3  before the Arizona Navigable Stream Adjudication
 4  Commission, at Squire Patton Boggs (US), LLP, 1 East
 5  Washington Street, Suite 2700, Phoenix, Arizona,
 6  commencing at 12:35 p.m. on the 25th day of February,
 7  2015.
 8
    BEFORE:   WADE NOBLE, Chairman
 9            JIM HORTON, Commissioner
              BILL ALLEN, Commissioner
10
    COMMISSION STAFF:
11
         Mr. George Mehnert, Director,
12       Legal Assistant, Research Analyst
13
    APPEARANCES:
14
    For the Commission:
15
         SQUIRE PATTON BOGGS (US) LLP
16       By Mr. Fred E. Breedlove, III, Esq.
         1 East Washington Street
17       Suite 2700
         Phoenix, Arizona 85004
18       (602) 528-4000
         fred.breedlove@squirepb.com
19
20
    For Freeport Minerals Corporation:
21
         FENNEMORE CRAIG, PC
22       By Mr. Sean T. Hood, Esq.
         2394 East Camelback Road
23       Suite 600
         Phoenix, Arizona 85016
24       (602) 916-5475
         shood@fclaw.com
25


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2351


 1  APPEARANCES CONTINUED:
 2
 3  For the Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and
    Power District and Salt River Valley Water Users'
 4  Association:
 5       SALMON LEWIS & WELDON, PLC
         By Mr. Mark A. McGinnis, Esq.
 6       By Mr. R. Jeffrey Heilman
         2850 East Camelback Road
 7       Suite 200
         Phoenix, Arizona 85016
 8       (602) 801-9066
         mam@slwplc.com
 9       rjh@slwplc.com
10
11
    For Fort McDowell Yavapai Nation:
12
         FORT MCDOWELL YAVAPAI NATION
13       By Mr. Thomas Moriarty
         Acting General Counsel
14       By Dr. Carole Coe Klopatek
         Director of Government Relations
15       P.O. Box 17779
         Fountain Hills, Arizona  85269-7779
16       (480) 789-7000
         tmoriarty@ftmcdowell.org
17       cklopatek@ftmcdowell.org
18
19
    For Arizona State Land Department:
20
         ARIZONA ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFICE
21       By Ms. Joy Hernbrode, Esq.
         By Mr. Edwin W. Slade, III
22       Assistant Attorneys General
         1275 West Washington
23       Phoenix, Arizona  85007
         (602) 542-7785
24       NaturalResources@azag.gov
25


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2352


 1  APPEARANCES CONTINUED:
 2
    For Maricopa County:
 3
         HELM, LIVESAY & WORTHINGTON, LTD
 4       By Mr. John Helm, Esq.
         1619 East Guadalupe Road
 5       Suite 1
         Tempe, Arizona  85283
 6       (480) 345-9500
         helm.john@hlwaz.com
 7
 8
    For Yavapai-Apache Nation:
 9
         MONTGOMERY & INTERPRETER, PLC
10       By Ms. Susan B. Montgomery
         By Ms. Robyn L. Interpreter
11       4835 E. Cactus Road
         Suite 210
12       Scottsdale, Arizona 85254
         (480) 513-6825
13       smontgomery@milawaz.com
         rinterpreter@milawaz.com
14
15
    For Defenders of Wildlife, et al.:
16
         ARIZONA CENTER FOR LAW IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST
17       By Ms. Joy E. Herr-Cardillo
         2205 E. Speedway Boulevard
18       Tucson, Arizona  85719
         520-529-1798
19       jherrcardillo@aclpi.org
20
21  For the City of Phoenix:
22       CITY OF PHOENIX LAW DEPARTMENT
         By Ms. Cynthia S. Campbell
23       200 W. Washington Street
         Suite 1300
24       Phoenix, Arizona  85003-1611
         602-262-6761
25       cynthia.campbell@phoenix.gov


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2353


 1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  George, would you call
 2  the roll, please.
 3                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Allen.
 4                 COMMISSIONER ALLEN:  Here.
 5                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Commissioner Horton.
 6                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Here.
 7                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  Chairman Noble.
 8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  I am here.
 9                 DIRECTOR MEHNERT:  We have a quorum.
10                 Jim Henness will not be here today.  And
11  our attorney, Fred Breedlove, is here, and I am here
12  also.
13                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Ms. Campbell, please
14  proceed.
15                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.
16
17               CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION
18  BY MS. CAMPBELL:
19      Q.    Dr. August, yesterday, when we left off, we
20  were talking about Father Kino.  Do you recall that?
21      A.    I believe I do.  Yes, I do.
22      Q.    Did Father Kino have any particular skills as
23  a cartographer?
24      A.    Yes, he did.
25      Q.    That being a mapmaker, correct?
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 1      A.    A mapmaker, yes.
 2      Q.    And where did he acquire skills as a
 3  mapmaker?
 4      A.    In Italy and Germany, in his education when
 5  he was a younger man, so roughly from 15 to age 20,
 6  when he was in Europe.
 7      Q.    And during his exploration for the Spanish in
 8  the Southwest borderlands, was it common or customary
 9  for him to map where he had been?
10      A.    Yes, it was common, and it became kind of a
11  routine.  And it was important that Spanish, whether
12  they're Jesuit priests or civilian explorers or the
13  military, like, say, Juan Bautista de Anza, who comes
14  on the scene a little bit later, that they noted where
15  ojos or parajes, they call them.  Ojos is O-J-O-S and
16  parajes is P-A-R-A-J-E-S.  Ojos literally means eyes
17  and parajes means stops.  But that implied where small
18  watercourses or water spots or tanks were, and that was
19  important in the mapping process.
20      Q.    Why is that?
21      A.    Well, because of the aridity and hospital
22  environment that was the arid north of New Spain and
23  what is now the arid Southwest.
24      Q.    So they would map those areas to show where
25  they could water animals?
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 1      A.    Water animals, men, women, when they were
 2  colonizing.  It was important to know if it was a day
 3  away, a half day away.  That's why water was important,
 4  and it was important to locate watercourses and rivers.
 5  And Kino wasn't the only one that did that, of course.
 6  I mean it was throughout the Spanish colonial effort.
 7      Q.    Now, tell me again, because my Spanish is
 8  very poor, what was the term you just used?
 9      A.    Ojos, like eyes of water, ojos or eyes; and
10  then parajes means stop.  But that was also a place
11  they could stop, and it implied that there would be
12  water there.  So that was a common practice and useful
13  for getting the record.  They were always -- they were,
14  you know, acquiring knowledge of La Tierra Incógnita,
15  the unknown land.
16      Q.    Would a cartographer like Father Kino
17  differentiate between one of the stopping points that
18  you just described and a river that was usable by boat?
19      A.    He would.  He would do that.
20      Q.    Did Father Kino actually map the Verde River?
21      A.    No, he did not.
22      Q.    Did he rely on other people's maps regarding
23  the Verde River?
24      A.    No, he didn't.  He really did not approach
25  it.  The rim of settlement, the Gila seemed to have


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2356


 1  been where the rim of Christendom kind of halted, and
 2  they would travel north, and there was a concerted
 3  effort after Kino's time to send missionaries to the
 4  Hopi.  That was where they first tried in 1629 from
 5  Santa Fe, and they had missions there from 1630 to
 6  about 1680, when the great Pueblo Revolt took place.
 7            And if you ever go to Hopi and go to First
 8  Mesa, Awatobi is where the missionaries were martyred,
 9  I'll put it that way, and that's when the Spanish were
10  kicked out of New Mexico for about 12 years.
11      Q.    If Kino didn't map the Verde, how do you know
12  that he actually ever saw it?
13      A.    Allegedly, and I think I cited here and other
14  places that I've written, I think -- well, I don't know
15  what page here.
16      Q.    Maybe Page 6?
17      A.    Maybe Page 6.
18            Yes.  Manje noted that they, from -- it looks
19  as though they were in the Estrella Mountains out by
20  Buckeye, and from that vantage point they looked out
21  and they saw the confluence of the Gila and -- or the
22  Salt and the Verde and then subsequently flowing into
23  the Gila and what is now, I guess, 38 miles of drainage
24  through that reach of the Salt and -- yeah, Salt into
25  the Gila.
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 1      Q.    So this quotation which you have on Page 6 of
 2  your report, he actually calls out the Verde
 3  specifically?
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    Does he mention anywhere in his reports that
 6  the Verde is suitable for travel or trade?
 7      A.    He does not.
 8      Q.    Does he mention any reference to boating the
 9  Verde?
10      A.    No.  No, he did not.
11      Q.    But does he mention a usefulness of the
12  river?
13      A.    Well, I think it's implied from Manje's
14  report here and that there was potential.  I mean they
15  saw that there were rivers and there was water, and the
16  larger goal was to establish a missionary outpost north
17  of the Gila into other territories that would advance
18  Christianity and save souls.
19            Ultimately, another practical matter of this
20  was that once the detribalized Indian, let's say, they
21  called then Genízaros, G-E-N-I-Z-A-R-O-S, which roughly
22  meant a person of reason, they could become like a
23  taxpaying citizens of the Spanish empire.  So there was
24  an economic value to Christianizing, missionizing, and
25  trying to acculturate these people.  And some groups
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 1  were much more willing than others.
 2      Q.    When you say that he noted there was a
 3  potential to the river, was it a potential to travel
 4  the river?
 5      A.    No, just the fact that there was water, and
 6  perhaps it could sustain Spanish towns and a colonial
 7  effort and a missionary effort; but that's as far as it
 8  got with Kino.
 9      Q.    How did Kino travel; what mode of
10  transportation did he use?
11      A.    Horse.  He was an incredible horseman,
12  sometimes 30 miles a day.  He would go from what was
13  called the doctrina, D-O-C-T-R-I-N-A, was the major
14  church, and then there would be visitas maybe about a
15  day's visit and smaller outposts where Indians in the
16  outlying areas would come and congregate and he would
17  baptize and convert and teach and a lot of agriculture,
18  agricultural essence.
19      Q.    Okay.  And who was the first person to call
20  the Verde River Verde?
21      A.    It looks as though -- I think I have it here.
22  Was it Father Velarde or --
23      Q.    It appears on Page 7 that way, yes.
24      A.    7?  Yeah.
25            Green, yes, and it appears that it was Father
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 1  Luis Velarde, who was Kino's successor.
 2      Q.    And what time frame was that?
 3      A.    About 1716, when he wrote what was called a
 4  relacionará, kind of a report on the area, and it had
 5  been known by a variety of names and continued to shift
 6  even later; but he called it the Verde for the first
 7  time.
 8      Q.    And was that time frame of 1716, was that
 9  prior to modern or white man diversions of the Verde
10  River?
11      A.    Yes.  Yes, it was.
12      Q.    How did Velarde travel?
13      A.    By horseback.
14      Q.    Was Velarde looking for mineral deposits?
15      A.    That was always on, whether a priest or
16  military or civilian, that was always a consideration
17  by the Spanish Empire and for the King, because the
18  King would get a fifth of any minerals that were
19  discovered, and if it was a treasure, he would get
20  half, according to the rules.
21      Q.    And, in fact, yesterday we talk about Espejo.
22  Didn't he make it all the way to Jerome?
23      A.    Yes, he did.  And among other things he
24  brought back were rugs, and he called the Yavapais that
25  he met there, he called them the Querechos,
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 1  Q-U-E-R-E-C-H-O-S.  They went through a -- Spaniards
 2  called them different names over time, and ultimately
 3  the first person that called them Yabipai --
 4  Y-A-B-I-P-A-I, I think that's how it's spelled. -- was
 5  Father Garcés in 1776.  That's an easy one to remember,
 6  1776, when he got up there.  We'll double back and talk
 7  about that.  But they had contact and made me think of
 8  Mr. Randall's testimony.
 9      Q.    So did Espejo get those rugs from the
10  Yavapai?
11      A.    Yes.  Yeah, he was commonly known as a rug
12  trader, kind of -- it was just kind of a joking what he
13  came back with, because he did note, though, that there
14  were mines there and that the natives did, in fact,
15  mine and have some -- adapted them for adornment and
16  things like that.
17      Q.    So, actually, Espejo did travel or trade
18  along the Verde, didn't he?
19      A.    Yes, along the Verde, yes.
20      Q.    Did he travel on the Verde?
21      A.    He crossed the Verde.
22      Q.    What do you mean by --
23      A.    Forded.
24      Q.    -- crossed?
25      A.    I think he forded the Verde.  It appears that
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 1  he did, if you get to Jerome.
 2      Q.    Just crossing from one side to the other?
 3      A.    One side to the other, or roughly the Jerome
 4  area.
 5      Q.    And if Espejo or any of his subsequent
 6  explorers would have been able to move ore down the
 7  Verde, would they have moved ore down the Verde?
 8      A.    Yes, they would.  I would assume so, yes.  It
 9  would be easier.
10      Q.    Would that be because -- well, no, I'm
11  actually asking the question of would they, would they
12  acquire the ore and want to take it back to a more
13  populated area, a Spanish stronghold?
14      A.    Sure.  That would be something they would
15  want to do, yes, at that point in history.
16      Q.    Who was the first person to publish a map
17  that used the name Verde to describe the Verde River?
18      A.    That would be Father Juan Bautista Nentvig.
19      Q.    What year was that?
20      A.    1764.
21      Q.    And in making his observations about the
22  Verde River, did he rely on the observations of other
23  explorers?
24      A.    Yes, that was common practice to accumulate
25  knowledge from their predecessors, update, insert their
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 1  observations and explorations, and advance
 2  understanding the geology, topography, and
 3  characteristics of the areas that they were exploring.
 4      Q.    And was Father Nentvig also well-educated?
 5      A.    He was well-educated as well, and he was a
 6  Jesuit.
 7      Q.    And would he have had cartography skills?
 8      A.    Yes, he would have had cartography skills.
 9      Q.    In fact, didn't he map, draw a map of the
10  Verde River?
11      A.    Yes, a map, he drew a map, and its
12  surrounding area.
13      Q.    And what kind of written record did Nentvig
14  leave?
15      A.    He left a very widely known and celebrated
16  record called the Rudo Ensayo.  And, in fact, back in
17  the day it was hard to get ahold of it.  Now I think
18  you can get it online and translated.
19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Dr. Jack.
20                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Could you spell Rudo
22  Ensayo?
23                 THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  Yes.  R-U-D-O,
24  E-N-S-A-Y-O.
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  What does Rudo mean?
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 1  Is it route?
 2                 THE WITNESS:  Could mean a couple
 3  things.  I will have to double-check on that one, yeah.
 4  BY MS. CAMPBELL:
 5      Q.    What was the purpose of Nentvig's book or
 6  publication?
 7      A.    It was really to gather and kind of
 8  consolidate the knowledge of the region, the Gila, the
 9  Pimería Alta area, and even then, I guess, ethnobotany.
10  I don't know if that term was invented yet, but the
11  flora, the fauna, where things were located; things
12  meaning mountain ranges, rivers, plateaus, all of that,
13  so that there could be a knowledge base for further
14  exploration.  And, in fact, they wanted to colonize or
15  move forward with a mission frontier as well.
16      Q.    Now, I think you've already said that Nentvig
17  drew a map of the Verde within that book.
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    Did he also map out or describe the Salt
20  River?
21      A.    Yes, he did.
22      Q.    Did he describe the Gila River?
23      A.    Yes, he did.
24      Q.    Did he describe any of those rivers as usable
25  for boating or travel or trade?
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 1      A.    No, he did not use those terms or refer to
 2  that in any way.
 3      Q.    What mode of transportation did Father
 4  Nentvig use?
 5      A.    Like his predecessors, horse, equine.
 6      Q.    So, so far all the Spanish explorers that
 7  you've described traveled overland instead of using the
 8  various Arizona rivers, including the Verde; is that
 9  correct?
10      A.    That is correct.
11      Q.    But did the explorers follow the course of
12  the Verde River?
13      A.    They could have.
14      Q.    Would Espejo have followed it getting to
15  Jerome?
16      A.    Yes, he would have.
17      Q.    Why would they follow the course of the Verde
18  River if they weren't going to travel on it?
19      A.    Well, one, to water their horses and
20  themselves.  It was also obvious that many of the
21  Indian or Native American villages or settlements, if
22  you want call them that, were nearby, and they were
23  interested in acquiring that knowledge and seeing if
24  they were hostile or friendly or could provide them
25  with information.
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 1      Q.    In all of their accounts, did the Spanish
 2  explorers describe, in any general sense or specific
 3  sense, their travel conditions?
 4      A.    Yes.  Yeah.
 5      Q.    They described the landscape?
 6      A.    They described the landscape, yes.
 7      Q.    Did any of them mention the existence of an
 8  established road?
 9      A.    Indian trails, and oftentimes, just as they
10  used some of the Native American housing, they
11  oftentimes would use well-worn, I wouldn't call them
12  roads, but trails.
13      Q.    Did the Spanish build roads in the vicinity
14  of the Verde River?
15      A.    No, they didn't.
16      Q.    If you could take a look at Page 8 of your
17  report.
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    And the first sentence of the only full
20  paragraph on that page says "In spite of the Spaniards
21  traversing what is now central Arizona, they largely
22  ignored the Verde."
23            What do you mean by ignore?
24      A.    They didn't utilize it, really, for any other
25  purpose than crossing it.
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 1      Q.    So who produced the first American map of the
 2  Verde River?
 3      A.    Well, it looks as though it was plagiarized,
 4  and it was Zebulon Pike and that expedition, which came
 5  across, I think, 1804 to 1806, and I guess it was
 6  published in 1810.  But it was surprising, because he
 7  had never visited the Verde watershed, by the way.  He
 8  was north of this area.  And it looks as though from
 9  accounts that Alexander Von Humboldt, who was kind of
10  a -- was a geologist and kind of well-connected in
11  Europe, received permission from the King of Spain to
12  come over and do things, look at Latin America, because
13  the King was interested in, again, minerals,
14  bullionism, gold, silver, the precious metals, that he
15  thought maybe allowing him some access would further
16  his aims.
17      Q.    And was Alexander Von Humboldt a geologist
18  and naturalist?
19      A.    Yes, he was.
20      Q.    Did he take any time to describe the features
21  of the area, the rivers, the landscape?
22      A.    Not really.  You know, he just drew a map,
23  and he based that on, really, secondary sources as well
24  too, from knowledge in the Spanish Empire.
25      Q.    So in your report you identify by name ten
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 1  Spanish explorers, including Von Humboldt, who actually
 2  was German, correct?
 3      A.    Yes, correct.
 4      Q.    Was this an exhaustive list of every Spanish
 5  explorer who traveled within Central Arizona, including
 6  the area of the Verde River?
 7      A.    As far as the historical record from the
 8  works of Bannon, Bolton, Farish, Thomas Sheridan and
 9  others, these are the vanguard.  But there could have
10  been others that went off exploring on their own, but
11  they were illegal, and that did happen on occasion in
12  the Spanish period.
13      Q.    And if they were illegal, they wouldn't have
14  any official reports that they would have reported back
15  to Mexico or to Spain?
16      A.    Yes.  They would be in jail.
17      Q.    But the ones that we talked about, they all
18  issued official reports or maps or other documentation
19  of exactly where they went, when they went, and what
20  they saw?
21      A.    That's correct.
22      Q.    And were they expected to map important
23  features like a navigable river?
24      A.    They would.  Well, whether they call it
25  navigable or not, they would note rivers, and that was
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 1  an important part of their job, if you will.
 2      Q.    If they noted the river, would they note its
 3  ability to be boated?
 4      A.    I think they would, and certainly what became
 5  the Colorado River was duly noted as what would be
 6  navigable.
 7      Q.    But none of the other rivers in Arizona were
 8  noted as --
 9      A.    No.
10      Q.    -- useful for boating or otherwise navigable?
11      A.    No.
12      Q.    So in all the accounts that you've looked at
13  of Spanish explorers from the period of -- what would
14  be the total period?
15      A.    Boy.  Well, if we want to use Espejo as a
16  jumping off place, from 1583 to the Mexican Revolution
17  of 1821, when this region becomes part of Mexico.  How
18  long is that?  It's quite a while.
19      Q.    That's over 200 years.
20      A.    200 years.
21      Q.    No one ever mentioned anything about
22  traveling on the Verde?
23      A.    No.
24      Q.    Nobody ever mentioned the susceptibility of
25  use of the Verde for travel or trade?
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 1      A.    There's no language like that that I've come
 2  across.
 3      Q.    When did the first Anglos encounter the Verde
 4  River?
 5      A.    Well, it's pretty well-documented throughout
 6  these hearings.  The early 1820s.
 7      Q.    And who were those people?
 8      A.    They were -- a lot of them had southern
 9  roots, strangely enough, but they were Anglo-Americans,
10  James Ohio Pattie and his father.  His mother died and
11  then they left Kentucky, and I think a way to solve
12  their grief for a while, and they made it to the
13  rendezvous area, the one in Taos, New Mexico, and so
14  many people like them were there and they came out as
15  part of the fur trade.
16      Q.    And was Kit Carson another one of those
17  people?
18      A.    Kit Carson, yes.  And what happens with Kit
19  Carson and others is after the fur trade mania, as it
20  were, they became guides for military expeditions
21  subsequent to the fur trade period, because they knew
22  the lay of the land and they knew how to ford a river,
23  they knew where the places you could cross rivers in
24  the arid interior.
25      Q.    When you say they knew places where they
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 1  could ford the river in the arid interior, are you
 2  referring to the fact that rivers were really large and
 3  they had a difficult time fording them, or are you more
 4  referring to the fact that that's where, actually,
 5  water could be found?
 6      A.    That's where water could be found.
 7            But after 1848, particularly with the gold
 8  rush and with the invasion of Mexico with Stephen Watts
 9  Kearny, he kind of co-opted poor Kit Carson, who had
10  been away from his wife in Taos for two years and he's
11  heading home and he's heading home from California, and
12  he gets co-opted, I think around Socorro, and the
13  military takes him and he's going to guide them on the
14  best route, and he went south.  He took them south of
15  even the Salt River to get around.  That was the most
16  expeditious way to get to California and prosecute the
17  war.
18            So these fur traders, to get back to your
19  original question, these fur traders came to these
20  regions.  They had not been exploited yet, and so they
21  came down and throughout the 1820s, and there's a
22  couple very colorful characters.
23      Q.    Were these particular Anglos known generally
24  as mountain men?
25      A.    That's the common term, and historians still
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 1  use it.
 2      Q.    And why were they known as mountain men?
 3      A.    That's a good question.  I think because they
 4  made their living in the mountains, away from
 5  civilization.  And when you think of mountain men, I
 6  think of oftentimes those that trapped in the Rocky
 7  Mountains to the north; but these guys like Joaquin
 8  Jóven, Ewing Young, who married a woman from Santa Fe,
 9  and the Patties.
10            The Patties were going to be kicked out, but
11  what happened was Governor Narbona's daughter was
12  kidnapped by some Comanches, and they were heading
13  east, and James Pattie went out and saved her and
14  brought her back, and so Narbona let that particular
15  expedition go in, because the Mexican government was
16  not -- I'm not going to say overly happy with these
17  invading Americans coming into their sovereign
18  territory.  So it was problematic, but they
19  nevertheless prosecuted the expansion of American
20  influence into this region.
21      Q.    What was these people -- the mountain men,
22  what was their purpose of being in Arizona or on the
23  Verde River specifically?
24      A.    Well, I guess we can start with fashion in
25  both the states and in Europe and that beaver fur was
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 1  fashionable and desired and so there was a market, a
 2  significant market in the 1820s and '30s.  I think it
 3  really changed for the worse in 1848, when silk becomes
 4  the cloth of choice or the garb of choice, and so it
 5  kind of undermined that market, but that's a little bit
 6  later.
 7            But they ended up mining, I guess we can use
 8  the term mining, mining these beaver pelts throughout
 9  the Salt River watershed, up the Verde, and throughout
10  the region.
11      Q.    Didn't Pattie specifically go up the Verde?
12      A.    Yes, he went up the Verde.
13      Q.    So these guys, these mountain men, were
14  specifically following the Verde River?  They were in
15  and around, near, all over the Verde River?
16      A.    Yes, they were, they followed it up; and not
17  just Pattie, but others as well too.
18      Q.    Did they ever travel on the Verde River?
19      A.    Did they use it to travel --
20      Q.    Yes.
21      A.    -- on it?
22            Not from any account that I have discerned.
23  You know, I'm trying to look for accounts of where,
24  well, we did this and then sailed up or down the Verde
25  River, and particularly the reach, reaches or
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 1  Segments 4 and 5; but I have not discovered that.
 2            And even James Ohio Pattie's account, which
 3  he didn't write and he didn't take any notes.  He told
 4  it to an editor named Timothy Flint in Cincinnati, who
 5  previously had written the first great account of life
 6  in the Missouri -- or Mississippi Valley and the Ohio
 7  Valleys in 1826.  Pattie gets back about 1830, after
 8  being in jail in California.  His father died in jail,
 9  Sylvester, who was part of this mission.  But they get
10  arrested, finally, as trespassers, and he makes it back
11  and tells his story, and it's pretty exaggerated, very
12  colorful adjectives and animals that may or may not
13  have existed.  But it was entertainment and it was
14  great story, so he spun a tale.
15      Q.    So did the mountain -- but would -- I'm
16  sorry.  Back up for a second.
17      A.    Sure.
18      Q.    Would any commentary or details of any
19  account of mountain men have been spun a story or been
20  fanciful?
21      A.    In James Ohio Pattie's case, that's what
22  happened.  How much is true, you know, I think it was
23  based on fact, like a lot of literature and today
24  movies.
25      Q.    And I asked you the question about them
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 1  traveling the Verde.  Did they actually move their
 2  goods, that is, beaver pelts, on the river?
 3      A.    No.  They used, oftentimes, mules and other
 4  pack animals, but mules, and they were pretty sturdy,
 5  and that's what got them to market up to Santa Fe.  And
 6  then a couple of them, they had a market in Missouri,
 7  the Santa Fe Trail trade, and so that was the route
 8  they would get to Santa Fe or Taos and then head back
 9  on the Santa Fe Trail, which really was started about
10  1804, so its heyday is 1804 to 1848.
11      Q.    So you're saying that Pattie and other
12  mountain men would have gone back to Santa Fe or
13  St. Louis, but I think you've also said that Pattie
14  ended up in California?
15      A.    Yes, he was.  He went across the Colorado to
16  California, again, looking for riches, whether it was
17  more beaver pelt; but, also, you know, they were aware
18  of signs of precious metals.  And so they were arrested
19  and put in prison and Sylvester died.
20      Q.    Is there any record that they floated down
21  the Verde, Salt, or the Gila on their way to
22  California?
23      A.    There's no record of that.
24      Q.    But they did travel on the Colorado?
25      A.    They crossed the Colorado.
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 1      Q.    Prior to their arrival in Arizona, generally
 2  speaking, were these men, is there record of these men
 3  being trappers in other states in the Midwest?
 4      A.    Yes, they moved west and many of them had
 5  practiced that craft and others in the past, yes, in
 6  the riparian areas of the United States, yes.
 7      Q.    And, in fact, wasn't Kit Carson born in
 8  Missouri near the Mississippi River?
 9      A.    Yes, he was.
10      Q.    Did he travel up and down the Mississippi
11  River?
12      A.    He did, as a young man.
13      Q.    So would you describe the mountain men as
14  skilled boaters?
15      A.    They certainly could be.
16      Q.    Did they use boats to navigate rivers in
17  other parts of the country?
18      A.    I would say yes.
19      Q.    Did they have skills as boat builders?
20      A.    I'm certain that would be a skill set, given
21  the lifestyle they chose and the economic activity they
22  chose to undertake.
23      Q.    What do you mean when you say the lifestyle
24  they chose?
25      A.    Well, you're by yourself.  A lot of them were
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 1  by themselves most of the year and then they would meet
 2  at some predetermined point.  I think the great
 3  rendezvous of 1832 was just a madhouse, and they had
 4  not seen civilization, so there was three days of
 5  drinking.  Maybe they spent their entire year's,
 6  whatever they had made during that year, in a five-day
 7  period.  It was kind of a debauchery.  But I think the
 8  1832 rendezvous was well-known among western historians
 9  as the big one, and then after that they become less
10  vigorous.
11      Q.    So do you think they would have been familiar
12  with the various types of boats that could navigate
13  rivers where beaver were otherwise trapped?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    Last December one of the State's witnesses, I
16  believe it was Mr. Farmer, said that a good mountain
17  man would definitely use the Verde River for boating.
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    Were you actually here for that testimony?
20      A.    No.  As I said, I'm a latecomer to these
21  proceedings on the Verde.
22      Q.    So you take my word for it?
23      A.    If you say so, Cynthia, I accept that.
24      Q.    So if I'm wrong, then what you're about to
25  say might not be correct?
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 1      A.    Okay.  Yes.
 2      Q.    Okay.  Based on the historic record you've
 3  reviewed, is that an accurate opinion regarding what
 4  men known as mountain men in Arizona actually did in
 5  the 1800s, that is, navigated the Verde River?
 6      A.    I have seen no record of that in my work and
 7  evaluation of the material.
 8      Q.    In fact, how did the mountain men of the
 9  early 1800s travel?
10      A.    By foot, by pack mule, by horse.
11      Q.    And, in fact, it was a pretty big deal when
12  their horses would be stolen by the Indians, wasn't it?
13      A.    It was bad, and they even noted, yes, it was
14  a big deal when they were stolen by the Indians.  And
15  at some point they had to eat their dogs and their
16  horses, blah, you know, unfortunately, when things got
17  bad.  So that was not uncommon.
18      Q.    On Page 10 of your report, you discuss Ewing
19  Young and his expedition to the Salt River in 1828.  Do
20  you see that?
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    And I think you also stated that he pioneered
23  a grueling overland trail up and down the Verde River
24  and west to California across the Mohave Desert?
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    What do you mean by grueling overland trail?
 2      A.    Well, it was grueling meaning it was very
 3  difficult to travel, and in some places he followed
 4  Indian trails and other places he cut his own way; but
 5  he knew where he was going.  He was very skilled.  And
 6  he ended up spending a lot of time in California and
 7  the Pacific Northwest afterwards.
 8            So he was quite a roamer of all of them.  He
 9  really, during this period, traveled much of the
10  unknown West to many.  At that point many Americans
11  didn't really know what was out there.  It wasn't until
12  maybe Fremont, a few people later, in some of the
13  military surveys of the 1850s, we really started to get
14  a handle on that.  And I think that, you know, he was a
15  pioneer of sorts.
16      Q.    So would somebody who liked to travel around
17  as much as Young did, would he prefer to build a
18  grueling overland road along the Verde instead of
19  boating it?
20      A.    I think the answer would be yes.
21      Q.    And is there any record that he ever traveled
22  on the Verde River in any kind of craft?
23      A.    There's no record of Ewing Young doing that.
24      Q.    How, in fact, did they travel on this
25  overland road?
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 1      A.    By horse, and oftentimes walking their horse
 2  behind them and traversing mountains and whatever, but
 3  usually by horse.
 4      Q.    Okay.  We previously talked a little about
 5  Spanish mapmakers who mapped the Verde.  Were those
 6  maps consistent with maps of the Verde you might find
 7  today?
 8      A.    No, they weren't.
 9      Q.    Why not?
10      A.    They never really -- I think they saw the
11  Verde from where Camp Verde is today.  This is what
12  I've been able to discern from the mapmaking.  But they
13  never really saw where it -- where the headwaters were,
14  and so they were a little bit confused, the Spaniards
15  were.  And this confusion even lasts into the American
16  period and the Arizona territorial period, even with
17  Rand McNally, which back in the day was the standard.
18            So some of the early maps of at first what
19  was New Mexico territory from 1850 to 1863, after the
20  compromise of 1850, kind of creates -- organizes this
21  territory.  And then after 1863, for a variety of
22  reasons, Arizona Territory is separated and almost went
23  north/south instead of the way it is today.
24            And there were attempts to map the territory,
25  but it was surprisingly inaccurate sometimes.
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 1      Q.    But wasn't it possible, based upon what
 2  you've seen, that they could have walked up the Verde
 3  to its headwaters?
 4      A.    If they wanted to, I think they would.  I
 5  mean it's a bit of a mystery that they didn't follow up
 6  all the way to the headwaters.
 7      Q.    Is it possible that one of the reasons they
 8  didn't accurately map the Verde was because they had no
 9  reason to use it, to see it as a highway for commerce?
10      A.    I think that would be one reason, yes.
11      Q.    Are there others?
12      A.    I think the others would be a lack of
13  interest.  And then there's always the Indian
14  resistance issue.  You know, if you didn't know if they
15  were friend or foe or traders or hostiles, that played
16  a factor.  But if it were a highway of commerce or a
17  way to travel, certainly someone, Spanish, Mexican, or
18  later American, would have naturally, I think, gone to
19  the headwaters.
20      Q.    But of the maps that you've seen from the
21  Spanish explorers, specifically, did they generally
22  depict the area of the lower Verde, what we've
23  described as Segments 4 and 5?
24      A.    Yeah.  Yes.
25      Q.    And were the maps always consistent with
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 1  their use of the nomenclature or the names that they
 2  called the various waterways that they observed?
 3      A.    No.  It changed over time, you know, as we --
 4  I think it's pretty well-documented in previous
 5  proceedings and these that the names shifted.  I think
 6  the German one, Blau.  What's blue; what do they call
 7  it?
 8      Q.    Blau.
 9      A.    Blau, thank you.
10            So some of these, The Rio de la Asunción.  So
11  ultimately they settled on Verde and Salt and Gila, the
12  main three.
13      Q.    So after the Spanish explorers and after the
14  mountain men, what was the next group of people that
15  attempted to come into the Verde area and map it?
16      A.    It would be the Americans, I mean.  Yeah,
17  American.
18      Q.    Any particular group of Americans?
19      A.    Well, first the military, and then later, you
20  know, miners coming across and looking for precious
21  metals.
22      Q.    And were these maps, these original maps,
23  made by the military, say, for example, were they made
24  at a time before the Verde was being diverted by
25  settlement?
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 1      A.    Yes.
 2      Q.    And, in fact, weren't all the Spanish maps
 3  and all the Spanish exploration and the mountain men
 4  and the military arrival, wasn't that all before the
 5  Verde was it diverted in any meaningful way?
 6      A.    Yes.  I was reading even on the upper
 7  segments, the brief from 2006, and it looks as though
 8  those from Perkinsville down to Camp Verde, even though
 9  this isn't really part of what I looked at, but they
10  diverted around 1865, I believe.  And the first
11  diversions in Segments 4 and 5 come with the
12  establishment of Fort McDowell, what became Fort
13  McDowell, and that's in 1866.
14      Q.    So if I were to tell you that the Court of
15  Appeals has called that era the time when the Verde was
16  in its natural condition, would you agree with me that
17  the records of the Spanish explorers, the maps they
18  produced, as well as the mountain men accounts and the
19  military accounts, were all observations of the Verde
20  River in its natural condition?
21      A.    I would say yes.
22      Q.    Why was it important for the military to draw
23  accurate maps of rivers?
24      A.    Well, one, for defense purposes; also, as
25  routes for transportation.  Transportation was a major
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 1  consideration for the military where they're
 2  prosecuting, whether General Crook, in both his
 3  iterations in Arizona, the first one in the early 1870s
 4  and then he has to come back in the 1880s with the
 5  Geronimo situation, but transportation was important;
 6  and so how do you get from Point A to Point B to secure
 7  the region for the increasing numbers of settlers.  And
 8  so transportation was a consideration.
 9            Also, in the 1850s, what's going on in the
10  country, there was a great deal of sectionalism North
11  and South, and both sides before the Civil War wanted
12  to get to the California gold fields, and what's the
13  best way; the southern route along the 34th parallel
14  or -- yeah, 35th and then the 32nd parallel along the
15  South.
16            And so you see Jefferson Davis was Secretary
17  of War at the time.  You even have camels, the camel
18  experiment, which I think suggests that it was kind of
19  hard to travel and maybe they could get along better
20  than horses and other types of transportation.
21            So getting across Arizona became important
22  because of the significance of the California strike in
23  1848 and the rapid population growth and bringing that
24  into the American system and way of government.
25  California becomes an immediate state, and New Mexico
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 1  and Arizona went through a very long territorial
 2  period.
 3      Q.    So are you saying that it would have been
 4  very important for the military to track down any river
 5  that could be used for transportation purposes?
 6      A.    Like the Spanish before them and the
 7  explorers, whether they were ecclesiastically oriented
 8  or militarily oriented or civilian, the American
 9  military also needed a transportation route.  So
10  nothing really changed other than political
11  sovereignty.
12      Q.    And during this period when the military was
13  making maps, was there a common misperception or
14  inaccuracy with the maps that they produced?
15      A.    Yes, and it had to do with the Verde and
16  really getting it right in Central Arizona, around
17  Sedona, Jerome, north and west of Camp Verde.
18      Q.    So what was the common mistake that they were
19  making?
20      A.    I'll start with the last one.  They thought
21  the river started up by the San Francisco Peaks, and
22  sometimes the river was called the San Francisco River
23  by a variety of people and sovereigns.  And so that was
24  one, and that was probably the most common.
25            And others, it started -- I forget which one,
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 1  but Little Beaver Creek.  There was some very
 2  mysterious watercourses on some of these maps.
 3            And, by the way, these maps, all of them
 4  except one was part of the Rumsey collection, which was
 5  the largest -- out of the largest collection of maps in
 6  the world, historic maps.  And he recently donated
 7  those to Stanford University's archives, I think in
 8  about 2009.  And they're available digitally and
 9  online, and it's actually pretty fascinating stuff to
10  take a look at.
11      Q.    So, actually, on Page 11 of your report, you
12  point out -- and my question is, is this accurate?  You
13  mention that there were maps in 1857, 1864, and 1866
14  that made the same mistake about the main stream of the
15  Verde butting up to the San Francisco Peaks; is that
16  correct?
17      A.    That's correct.
18      Q.    So, now, what was the first -- who produced
19  the first well-known military map of the Verde River?
20      A.    Well-known military, are you talking about
21  the New Mexico map, the Department of Military?  Is
22  that the one you're talking about?
23      Q.    Actually, I'm talking about 1861.
24      A.    Yes, the Ives and Whipple expedition, sure.
25  And it actually labels the area along the western
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 1  boundary of the Verde as unexplored, which, again, kind
 2  of defies logic, in hindsight.
 3      Q.    And who were Ives and Whipple?
 4      A.    They were military surveyors and trying to
 5  survey the route across Northern Arizona, which
 6  ultimately became the railroad built between 1880 --
 7  about 1881.  But then the Civil War gets in the way,
 8  and they're looking for a transportation route across
 9  that.  Later, after the war in the 1880s, we have that
10  built.
11      Q.    So in 1861, were they scouting for a railroad
12  route?
13      A.    No, not that early.  They were looking for a
14  way to get the military across and transportation
15  across Northern Arizona.
16      Q.    So it had nothing to do -- their expedition
17  had nothing to do with railroads?
18      A.    No, it didn't.  That kind of interest came
19  later.  But that was important because of the
20  acquisition of the new territory, and they were
21  exploring this new territory that had been taken after
22  the signing of the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo in 1848.
23      Q.    I'm going to back up for a second.
24      A.    Okay.
25      Q.    When we talk about the military, what kind of
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 1  materials or reference documents exist that cover the
 2  military in the period of -- in Arizona from 1861 up
 3  until, say, statehood?
 4      A.    There's a lot of records in the National
 5  Archives, and you see the lives of people like General
 6  Stoneman and other individuals, and they're all there.
 7  It's really quite fascinating.  I've been there a lot
 8  on another matter.  And so one of the major themes in
 9  those records is transportation.  Stoneman's Road and
10  then Stoneman's Grade east of the valley here up toward
11  where Miami and Globe are, those were major
12  preoccupations, and that's a snapshot of 1870, roughly.
13      Q.    So, generally speaking, what kinds of
14  information would be included in those military
15  records?
16      A.    Boy.  Similar to the Spaniards, in that they
17  observed who the people were, where things were, what
18  routes to take, who got paid, how much -- how many
19  munitions do we need, where are we going to get our
20  food, who is going to supply us, all these rather
21  mundane, seemingly mundane, issues, but critically
22  important.
23      Q.    And were there references to how all of their
24  goods and services were transported?
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    When did the U.S. military first come to
 2  Arizona?
 3      A.    They first came through in the war with
 4  Mexico in 1846, '47, and 1848.
 5      Q.    And where did they come from?
 6      A.    The East.  They came from the East to
 7  Santa Fe and then Santa Fe across Arizona and hopefully
 8  to secure California from the Mexicans at that time.
 9      Q.    And later, when the military was interested
10  in setting up encampments or installations in Arizona,
11  where did they come from?
12      A.    They came -- many of them came from
13  California, and there's wonderful accounts in a couple
14  of fine books by Andrew Masich and Constance Altshuler.
15  She wrote four books on the military and military posts
16  in Arizona, and many of them come from California.
17            In fact, the first district, military
18  district, was headquartered at a place called Fort
19  Drum, which is near San Pedro today, if you want to
20  have a place for that, and they were responsible then.
21  Then military strategy shifted and we had more boots on
22  the ground, as it were, after 1870.
23      Q.    Did the military establish posts or
24  encampments along the Verde River?
25      A.    Yes.
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 1      Q.    Where?
 2      A.    One at Camp Verde and one down at Fort
 3  McDowell.
 4      Q.    And was Fort Whipple also somewhere in the
 5  vicinity of the river?
 6      A.    A little, yeah, a ways away, but, yeah, Fort
 7  Whipple, Prescott, where I live, yes.
 8      Q.    Did the military use the Verde River to move
 9  people or material in establishing the posts along the
10  Verde?
11      A.    They did not.
12      Q.    Yet they established the posts on the Verde,
13  correct?
14      A.    That's correct.
15      Q.    Why?
16      A.    I think strategic needs, water, diversion of
17  the water for use, growing crops.
18      Q.    Did the military do any large-scale diversion
19  for irrigation prior to 1860?
20      A.    They did not.
21      Q.    So if the military wasn't using the Verde to
22  move its supplies or its people, what mode of
23  transportation did they use?
24      A.    They used, at first, pretty cumbersome
25  wagons, horses, pack animals.  Later they used lighter
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 1  craft, ambulances they called them, and that was an
 2  innovation by General Crook to help facilitate
 3  efficiency in moving men and material to places where
 4  they were needed.
 5      Q.    You're mentioning that they changed some
 6  modes of transportation, their overland transportation,
 7  for efficiency sake.  Was efficiency in transportation,
 8  ease in transportation something that the military was
 9  concerned about?
10      A.    Constantly.  They were concerned about
11  transportation repeatedly, continuously during the
12  period that, say, 1865 to 1890, which effectively ends
13  the Native American issues in Arizona.
14      Q.    So from the point when they established Camp
15  Verde and Camp McDowell, which became Fort McDowell,
16  correct --
17      A.    Yes.
18      Q.    -- were they always -- were they having
19  difficulty moving materials and supplies specifically
20  to those locations?
21      A.    Yes.  There were many accounts and examples
22  of how difficult it was to traverse Central Arizona
23  from west to east and up to later Fort Apache.  It went
24  through several names.  And then they established Fort
25  Reno for a little while.  And they had trouble
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 1  fortifying and manning some of these posts.
 2      Q.    And in all of those accounts about their
 3  efforts to improve their transportation needs, is there
 4  any account where they attempted to use the Verde River
 5  for purposes of transportation?
 6      A.    There's not, in the military, no.
 7      Q.    I think you may have mentioned, but I'll
 8  follow back.  Did the military build roads to move
 9  their provisions?
10      A.    Yes, they did.
11      Q.    And was it easy to construct the roads?
12      A.    No, it was not easy to construct the roads.
13      Q.    How do you know that?
14      A.    Through various accounts in the National
15  Archives, and I think Bourke's work, John G. Bourke.
16  There are various histories.  I think Jay J. Wagoner,
17  W-A-G-O-N-E-R, his book on Territorial Arizona, Thomas
18  Sheridan's book, really covers the difficulties in
19  moving from Point A to Point B and carving out overland
20  roads.
21      Q.    Was there a road built between Fort McDowell
22  and Camp Verde?
23      A.    Was there a road built.
24      Q.    Was there a road they used?
25      A.    There was a road they used, yes, and that
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 1  would be maybe Crook's Trail.  They used a lot of
 2  different roads.  They cut the Stoneman Road in 1870,
 3  which went from Fort Whipple over to Fort McDowell.
 4      Q.    Yet doesn't the Verde River run right between
 5  Camp Verde and Fort McDowell?
 6      A.    Yes, it does.
 7      Q.    In fact, both installations are right on the
 8  Verde, correct?
 9      A.    They are.
10                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Cynthia.
11                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.
12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  May we take a break?
13                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Absolutely.  That would
14  be wonderful.
15                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
16                 (A recess was taken from 1:30 p.m. to
17  1:46 p.m.)
18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's reconvene,
19  Cynthia.
20  BY MS. CAMPBELL:
21      Q.    All right.  So we're talking about the
22  military and their travels and their installations in
23  Arizona, correct?
24      A.    Right.  Correct.
25      Q.    And I think you've already testified about
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 1  the difficulties that transportation posed to the
 2  military throughout Arizona, but also on the Verde,
 3  correct?
 4      A.    Correct.
 5      Q.    Is it accurate to say that many of the
 6  installations throughout Arizona, including maybe one
 7  or two on the Verde, actually closed or ended because
 8  of transportation difficulties?
 9      A.    Well, are you speaking specifically about
10  Fort McDowell?
11      Q.    No.
12            Do you recall during this hearing seeing a
13  photograph of two guys in a boat that appeared to be in
14  military uniforms?
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    Can I show you?
17      A.    Yeah.
18                 MS. CAMPBELL:  And I don't have the
19  exhibit number on this.  It was part of Mr. Fuller's
20  PowerPoint presentation.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  It shall be known as
22  the two guys in a boat in the military.
23                 MS. CAMPBELL:  The two guys in a boat.
24  Sorry about that.
25                 THE WITNESS:  Yes.
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 1                 MS. CAMPBELL:  It is part of Jon
 2  Fuller's PowerPoint presentation, which has been
 3  submitted by the State as evidence.
 4                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.
 5                 MS. HERNBRODE:  X030 -- oh, no, sorry.
 6                 MS. CAMPBELL:  It wasn't part of your
 7  initial.  It was a little later.
 8                 THE WITNESS:  I see.
 9  BY MS. CAMPBELL:
10      Q.    So you see the photograph?
11      A.    I see them, yes.
12      Q.    Okay.
13      A.    Is one guy wearing sunglasses?  I mean --
14      Q.    I hope not.  I don't know.
15      A.    Must be my eyes.  I have to take a closer
16  look at him.  I mean, I'm not saying that to be funny,
17  but God.
18      Q.    And do you see up in, I think, it's the top
19  right portion -- I can't remember if it's the right or
20  left. -- where it says "Segment 2"?
21      A.    It says "Segment 2" on the top left side.
22      Q.    Is that actually part of the photograph that
23  was taken?
24      A.    No.  "Segment 2"?
25      Q.    Yes.
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 1      A.    It was not part of the photograph, no.
 2      Q.    Okay.  So it's actually been written on
 3  there?
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    All right.  And isn't your testimony
 6  primarily dealing with Segments 4 and 5?
 7      A.    Correct.
 8      Q.    But for a moment let's look at this picture.
 9      A.    Okay.
10      Q.    Okay?  Let's assume --
11                 MS. HERNBRODE:  For the --
12                 MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry.
13                 MS. HERNBRODE:  For the record, it's
14  X035-167.
15                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.
16                 MS. HERNBRODE:  And I don't have a slide
17  number yet.
18  BY MS. CAMPBELL:
19      Q.    What's the page on the bottom there, Jack?
20      A.    110, Page 110.
21                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Thank you.
22  BY MS. CAMPBELL:
23      Q.    So Page 110 of that exhibit.
24      A.    That exhibit, okay.
25      Q.    Let's assume for a moment that the two men in
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 1  that boat in that photograph -- is there a date on that
 2  photograph?
 3      A.    It says "Fort Verde Soldiers in boat on
 4  Verde, circa 1885," and the source, Fort Verde Historic
 5  Park.
 6      Q.    But does it say anywhere on there where on
 7  the Verde that picture was taken?
 8      A.    It does not say anything like that.
 9      Q.    Other than --
10      A.    Other than the "Segment 2."
11      Q.    Okay.  So for a moment we'll say there's two
12  guys in military uniform in a boat on what's been
13  identified as the Verde River, correct?
14      A.    That's correct.
15      Q.    Okay.  Assuming that for a moment, then is it
16  safe to say that the military had access of some sort
17  to boats?
18      A.    They apparently -- well, one can infer, yes,
19  it looks as though they have access to boats.
20      Q.    Did they use boats on the Verde River to move
21  any type of supply or good or person?
22      A.    I have not seen any evidence of that.
23      Q.    Are there actual records exist that talk
24  about how they moved persons, munitions, material, or
25  any other supplies?
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 1      A.    Yes, there's a great deal of material
 2  describing how the military moved within Arizona during
 3  the period before 1870, yes, and in 1885 too.
 4      Q.    But even though they had access to boats and
 5  they had two installations directly on the Verde River,
 6  there's no record that they ever attempted or actually
 7  used the Verde River for travel or trade?
 8      A.    None that I have seen.
 9      Q.    Did the arrival of the military predate
10  modern settlement of the Verde Valley or lower Verde?
11      A.    Yes.
12      Q.    So is it safe to say that the arrival and the
13  establishment of the military installations predated
14  diversions of the Verde by the settlers, who arrived
15  later?
16      A.    Yes, because the settlers followed the
17  military.  And, really, until -- and the military is
18  basically the biggest moneymaker for the residents of
19  the Territory of Arizona until the Thieving 13th
20  Legislature of 1885, when they had to replace federal
21  spending in the territory, and so the insane asylum,
22  the U of A, Arizona State college, those were the new
23  federal stipends to replace the military spending.  And
24  that was kind of -- they built a bridge over the Gila
25  to nowhere, and Yuma got to keep the territorial
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 1  prison, and Prescott held on to the Capitol for a few
 2  more years.
 3            But 1885 is kind of a signal event.  I just
 4  happened to notice that it says 1885.  But that's when
 5  the military starts really winding down, military
 6  spending in Arizona, in that earlier iteration.
 7      Q.    I think you just said that the settlers that
 8  did eventually come into the Verde Valley and down the
 9  Verde River followed the military, correct?
10      A.    Yeah, that's a generalization that I think is
11  accurate; that because there was a market for certain
12  supplies, whether it's pigs.  Pigs were big at Fort
13  McDowell, by the way, more than cattle.  And so there
14  was a need for food, for a variety of goods.  There
15  were women that had different kinds of needs than the
16  military men they were married to, you know, their
17  husbands.
18            So there were a variety of markets that
19  opened up because the military was there; and so,
20  therefore, people moved and tried to provide those
21  goods and services.
22      Q.    And in addition to the other records that
23  we've already talked about, including the military
24  records, did you locate a record of an early settler
25  who traveled to Arizona and settled in or around, I


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2399


 1  believe it might have been, Camp Verde or Fort
 2  McDowell?
 3      A.    Well, there's many.  I mean I'm not sure.
 4      Q.    Martha Summerhaven?
 5      A.    Oh, Martha Summerhayes, yes.
 6      Q.    Summerhayes.
 7      A.    Oh, that's it, yes.
 8            She wrote a still-famous book.  It's called
 9  Vanished Arizona.  It was published in 1908.  It was a
10  reflection on her years as a military wife.  She bore a
11  child up at Fort Apache, and there's very touching
12  accounts of how the Apache women came and helped her
13  and made her a little board for the infant.
14            But, ultimately, her husband, Jack
15  Summerhayes, is stationed at Camp Verde, and so there's
16  some various accounts.  And it's really good reading.
17  In fact, Frederic Remington wrote her a letter after it
18  was published in 1908.  It was a national bestseller
19  after Owen Wister's.  It was a western-themed book, and
20  so Owen Wister made the bestseller in 1902 with The
21  Virginian, and this was the next piece of kind of
22  western literature about the American West that became
23  a bestseller.  And it was reissued in 1913, and it's
24  still a great read.  I recommend it to everybody, if
25  you have any interest in your history.
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 1            But she provided a very compelling account.
 2  Beautiful writer, probably a good editor, one that I
 3  need.  You know, I need a good editor.  Everyone does.
 4            And she describes, I selected a few -- I had
 5  to be selective. -- a few lines of what it might be
 6  like to travel across Arizona en route to Camp Verde.
 7      Q.    And, in fact, I believe in your report, on
 8  Page 14, you're saying she traveled from Fort Yuma to
 9  Fort Whipple to Camp Verde to Fort Apache and then Fort
10  McDowell, correct?
11      A.    Correct.  Yeah, all over.
12      Q.    And did she ever travel on river during --
13      A.    She did not.
14      Q.    And, in fact, she described her overland
15  travels, didn't she?
16      A.    She did.
17      Q.    And would she describe those as preferable to
18  river travel?
19      A.    No.  How she mentioned water is they had to
20  go from water source to water source and then they
21  would camp out.  It was really very, very tough, and
22  I'm sure Mrs. Summerhayes, her account's accurate.
23      Q.    And, in fact, her accounts state that
24  sometimes the travel was so difficult they would have
25  to get out and pick their way down rocky areas,
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 1  correct?
 2      A.    Correct, yeah.  Yes.
 3            I've been looking for a chance to use the
 4  word declivity, but I have not found it yet.  But yeah.
 5  So yeah.
 6      Q.    Sorry.  I just took it away.
 7            When the settlers did come, did they have a
 8  reason to use the Verde if it were a viable mode of
 9  transportation?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    Did people settle in and around Camp Verde?
12      A.    They did, yes.
13      Q.    And did they have any dealings with the
14  Indian Reservation at Fort McDowell or any other
15  settlers in the area of Rio Verde?
16      A.    Yes.
17            Did you mean, in your last question, was it
18  Camp Verde up on Segment 3, I'm assuming, or did you
19  mean Fort McDowell?
20      Q.    I meant from Camp Verde to Fort McDowell.
21      A.    Oh.  Yes.  Okay, yes.  Okay.
22      Q.    So would they have had a reason to float down
23  the river to move goods or move people?
24      A.    There would be -- that would be easier than
25  traveling overland.  My assumption is that, yes.
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 1      Q.    What transportation needs did the settlers
 2  have?
 3      A.    Needs?
 4      Q.    Yes.
 5      A.    They needed to get from -- depending on what
 6  year you hit on the map, they needed to get from
 7  Point A to Point B.  I mean, you know, Phoenix doesn't
 8  really come into existence until, you know, 1870, late
 9  1860s.  And so I think by 1875, I think Fort McDowell
10  and Phoenix may have had a lively exchange of goods and
11  services and people, thanks to the construction of the
12  Fort McDowell Road, which I've seen on one map in the
13  Verde study, the lower Verde study, on the map it's --
14  the only one I've seen, it says Hay Camp Road.
15      Q.    We'll get there.
16      A.    Yeah, okay.
17      Q.    All right.  So that's going to take us to who
18  was John Y.T. Smith?
19      A.    John Y.T. Smith is one of the earlier
20  settlers, if not the earliest settler, in what is now
21  Phoenix.  The Y.T. stands for he had a Territorial
22  Legislature, the Tenth, add Y.T. officially to his
23  name.  He had a legal action in the Territorial
24  Legislature because there were so many John Smiths, he
25  wanted to distinguish himself, so Y.T. means Yours
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 1  Truly.  And that's really what it means, and it's in
 2  the record.  It's kind of funny.
 3            And up in Prescott there's a guy named
 4  Yelling Terry that we call Y.T., but so I'm fond of
 5  Y.T.
 6            But he was really a very entrepreneurial guy,
 7  and even in Senator Hayden's early correspondence, when
 8  he's a kid, they were worried about competing with John
 9  Smith because he was such a good entrepreneur with the
10  Hayden Mill later on.  So he's a major figure in the
11  early Anglo-American history of this region.
12      Q.    When he first came to Arizona, did he come as
13  a member of the military?
14      A.    Yes, he did.
15      Q.    And where was he stationed?
16      A.    He was stationed at Camp McDowell, Fort
17  McDowell.
18      Q.    And what was his job?
19      A.    Well, he was kind of the transportation boss,
20  and then he became the camp sutler.  That word goes out
21  of existence about that time, and he became the trader,
22  the post trader.
23      Q.    What does sutler mean?
24      A.    I don't know.  I've never really -- but they
25  called him the sutler.  He was kind of responsible for
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 1  the inflow and outflow of goods and buying things, so
 2  maybe --
 3      Q.    Does sutler maybe mean trader?
 4      A.    Yeah, trader, yeah; and it went out of
 5  existence.  And then later he was -- when he mustered
 6  out, he began -- got a contract with the military, as
 7  many people did.
 8      Q.    So as a master of transportation, is it safe
 9  to say that he was well-acquainted with travel and
10  trade?
11      A.    Yes, he was.
12      Q.    And when did he come to Arizona?
13      A.    Looks like 1866, if I'm not mistaken.
14      Q.    I think in your report you say 1865, but --
15      A.    Right, okay, 1865, yes.  That makes sense,
16  one year earlier, a few months.  Yeah, with the
17  14th U.S. Regimen, yes.
18      Q.    And after he came to Arizona and served as
19  the master of transportation, camp sutler, camp trader,
20  did he leave the military?
21      A.    Yes, he did.
22      Q.    And what did he do?
23      A.    He went south and west and developed a hay
24  camp to supply the needs for Fort McDowell.
25      Q.    So he maintained a relationship with the
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 1  military even though he wasn't in the military?
 2      A.    Yes.  He was a good networker for his time.
 3      Q.    In fact, didn't he have a contract with the
 4  military to supply hay for their --
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    -- livestock?
 7      A.    Yes.  Yes, he did.
 8      Q.    And how did he go about supplying that hay?
 9      A.    Well, let's go back a little bit.
10  Originally, General McDowell wanted a diversion so that
11  the Camp, the Fort, the Camp/the Fort, could grow its
12  own crops, and they had a little garden.  Well, the
13  local citizenry protested.  They said they should be
14  out fighting Indians and not growing gardens, and so
15  very beginning quickly that went to the private sector.
16  That's, I think, not uncommon.
17            And so that was contracted out, and so he
18  became one of the first contractors.  And what he did
19  is he happened to know Jack Swilling and some of these
20  miners up in Wickenburg, some of whom were questionable
21  people.  Swilling was a drunkard and a morphine addict,
22  among other things, but nevertheless, a confederate
23  deserter, among other things, but he also had the
24  vision to divert waters from the Salt River.  And,
25  thus, we have the birth of -- the rebirth of Phoenix
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 1  from the Hohokam civilization, as we like to say.
 2      Q.    And where did -- so did Smith establish his
 3  own place for diversion?
 4      A.    Yes, he had, at first, yeah, and he diverted
 5  over at about 40th and, I would say, let's say,
 6  Van Buren, roughly, pretty close to here, near where
 7  the modern airport is.  Yeah, over there.
 8      Q.    Just east of here?
 9      A.    Just east of here.  And then there are a
10  couple of more straws are put into the river
11  downstream, but very quickly it gets going and the hay
12  camp, and then he and his partners really started the
13  Fort McDowell Road, and that's how they delivered the
14  hay to the camp and then it became a thoroughfare.
15      Q.    And just backing up a second, so he was able
16  to establish a hay camp here near the Salt River?
17      A.    Yes, he did, just north.
18      Q.    And you mentioned Jack Swilling.  Did that
19  involve diverting the Salt River for purposes of
20  growing hay at his hay camp?
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    But he didn't divert on the Verde, did he?
23      A.    No, he did not.
24      Q.    Did he use the Verde to come down to his hay
25  camp at the Salt?
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 1      A.    No.  No, he did not.
 2      Q.    Did he use the Salt and then the Verde to go
 3  up to Fort McDowell?
 4      A.    No, he did not go upstream.
 5      Q.    But, clearly, he was going between his hay
 6  camp here in what is now Phoenix --
 7      A.    Uh-huh.  Yes.
 8      Q.    -- and Fort McDowell?
 9      A.    Yes, he was.
10      Q.    And I think, did you say, he built a road for
11  that purpose?
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    Did he build the road at his own cost?
14      A.    No, he had partners, and there are a group of
15  investors, some sweat equity, others put some money in,
16  Darrell Duppa.  Most of these people came from mining
17  adventurers, mining efforts in the Wickenburg area
18  after that strike.
19      Q.    But the military didn't build that road, did
20  they?
21      A.    The military did not build the road.
22      Q.    The territorial government didn't build that
23  road, did they?
24      A.    No.  No, counties early on built roads.
25      Q.    And did the county build that road?
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 1      A.    The county did not build that road.
 2      Q.    During this hearing, have you heard a
 3  description of the term lining?
 4      A.    Yes.  That's a new -- I'm learning, learning
 5  a lot of things.
 6      Q.    Well, based on what you've heard, do you have
 7  an understanding of what that term means?
 8      A.    Yes.  Yes, I do.
 9      Q.    And can you describe what your understanding
10  of that term is?
11      A.    My understanding is putting a rope or line to
12  a watercraft and pulling it from a land-based footing
13  from Point A to Point B.
14      Q.    So the craft stays in the water or in the
15  riverbed at least?
16      A.    That's my understanding.
17      Q.    And the person pulling it is on land?
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    Is that your understanding?
20      A.    That's my understanding.
21      Q.    Well, let's assume for a moment that that's
22  what we're talking about.
23            Based on your understanding of that term,
24  would it have been useful to John Y.T. Smith to line
25  his goods or supplies up and down the Salt and Verde
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 1  Rivers, because his hay camp was located right on the
 2  Salt, wasn't it?
 3      A.    Yes, it was.
 4      Q.    And Fort McDowell is right on the Verde,
 5  correct?
 6      A.    Yes.
 7      Q.    Would it have been useful for him to line a
 8  watercraft of any kind up and down the river for
 9  purposes of moving his hay?
10      A.    In my opinion, yes, it would be advantageous.
11  You could do it, if he thought of it.
12      Q.    Is there any historic record that Smith ever
13  lined either the Salt or Verde Rivers, whether that was
14  an attempt or an actual success?
15      A.    There's no record that I've been able to
16  uncover or discover.
17      Q.    I think you've referenced the Stoneman Road
18  before.  Is the Stoneman Road in the vicinity of the
19  Verde River?
20      A.    It goes to Fort McDowell.  It's in the
21  vicinity, and there's still, I think, a remnant of it
22  in the McDowell Mountains, and there's a little local
23  nonprofit organization that has preserved the last
24  remnant of the Stoneman Road around all the development
25  that's going on out there.  So it did go to Fort
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 1  McDowell.
 2      Q.    Who built that?
 3      A.    The military.
 4      Q.    And was it easy for them to build that road?
 5      A.    It was difficult to build that road, but it
 6  saved several miles from the way they formerly went,
 7  the trail that was previously used.  So it was, again,
 8  a matter of streamlining, efficiency, and to conduct
 9  the approach to fighting the recalcitrant Indians.
10      Q.    Was it expensive to build the road?
11      A.    It was expensive, yes.  I don't have the
12  figure in my head.  I used to.
13      Q.    You used to know how much it cost to build
14  the Stoneman Road?
15      A.    Yeah, I did.  I saw it.
16      Q.    And during your time in this hearing, have
17  you heard a conversation about the Day brothers?
18      A.    Yes, I have.
19      Q.    I'm going to show you what's previously been
20  marked as the State's Exhibit X001-18.
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    Which is --
23      A.    I have it here, with "German Syrup."  Is that
24  the one?  Yeah.
25      Q.    Oh, okay, that is.  That, in fact, is.
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 1            This is the Arizona Sentinel, dated
 2  April 2nd, 1892.  Is that consistent with what you're
 3  seeing?
 4      A.    That's what I see, yes.
 5      Q.    Okay.  And if anybody wants a copy, I have
 6  extra copies.
 7            But I'm going to say the copy you're
 8  holding -- actually, I do have some other copies.  I've
 9  taken the liberty of blowing it up a little better to
10  read, on the first page of this two-page, and then the
11  second page I left more to scale as to what the State
12  used so you can see the date at the top.  Is that --
13      A.    Yes.
14      Q.    -- what you're seeing?
15      A.    I see that, yes.
16                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Cynthia, for the rest of
17  us, our exhibit actually has a blown-up page as the
18  second page of it, so...
19                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Not this one, but...
20                 MS. HERNBRODE:  All right.
21                 MS. CAMPBELL:  I know I used the copier
22  this morning to do this, but okay.  All right.
23  BY MS. CAMPBELL:
24      Q.    So have you heard testimony about this
25  account of the Day brothers?
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 1      A.    Yes, a couple times, and I've seen reference
 2  to it a couple of other times, yes.
 3      Q.    Okay.  And since this has been testified
 4  about so many times, I'm going to -- if you don't mind,
 5  I'm going to maybe summarize it, and you tell me if
 6  that's your understanding of what you've seen in this
 7  exhibit.
 8      A.    Oh, okay.
 9      Q.    That according to this, on September 1st,
10  1891, these two brothers left Camp Verde in a small
11  boat and they traveled to Yuma, arriving in Yuma on
12  March 27th of the following year, that being 1892.
13            Am I right so far?
14      A.    Yeah.  I reviewed it just before I walked in
15  here.
16      Q.    Okay.  And that they also mentioned that
17  they've been trapping and that they brought a large
18  quantity of fur, assuming to Yuma; that I think that's
19  what the reference is; and that they did it by
20  traveling on the Verde, through the Rio Salado or Salt
21  River, and then they came down the Gila and found
22  themselves at Yuma, their boat floating upon the waters
23  of the great Colorado of the west.
24            Is that also --
25      A.    That's in there, yes.  That's part of that.
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 1      Q.    And, actually, the original exhibit that the
 2  State has in the record is cut off, but --
 3                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Oh.
 4  BY MS. CAMPBELL:
 5      Q.    Yeah, at the words "fifth one."
 6            But I did find the other original reference.
 7  But that -- well, the last sentence that you see on
 8  this --
 9      A.    "Fifth one," yeah.
10      Q.    Right, says "The distance traveled by the
11  Messrs. Day by river is a trip over 800 miles, and is
12  the fifth one," and I believe the rest of the sentence
13  goes on to say that it's the fifth one they've done, or
14  something to that effect.  Let me see.
15            "The fifth one made by J.K. Day."  And I
16  think you're going to have to take that very last four
17  words --
18      A.    Okay.
19      Q.    -- on me.
20      A.    J.K. Day.
21      Q.    Because I actually looked it up myself and
22  found it.
23      A.    Okay, J.K. Day.
24      Q.    Okay.
25                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  For the record, it is
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 1  correct in the --
 2                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Is it?
 3                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  It's in the file, so
 4  there must have been something wrong with the copy you
 5  were looking at.
 6                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  It's the one
 7  that's on the website, so...
 8                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  That's the one I'm
 9  looking at right now, so...
10                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, okay.  I didn't see
11  the end of it.  So...
12  BY MS. CAMPBELL:
13      Q.    So this is from April of 1892, correct?
14      A.    Correct.
15      Q.    So it took these guys six months, 180 days,
16  if you're counting, to get from Camp Verde to Yuma; is
17  that correct?
18      A.    I'm not a mathematician, but, yes, that seems
19  correct.
20      Q.    Approximately?
21      A.    Approximately.
22      Q.    So they say they traveled 800 miles.
23      A.    Okay.
24      Q.    Are you a cartographer?
25      A.    Oh, no.
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 1      Q.    Do you know the exact distance, if you're
 2  going down the Verde River and down the Salt River and
 3  down the Gila River to Yuma, that it would be between
 4  Camp Verde and Yuma?
 5      A.    I don't know that distance.  I can't
 6  calculate it.
 7      Q.    Do you know if it's a trip over 800 miles?
 8      A.    That seems, I mean, someone uneducated in
 9  this field, that field, that seems high.
10      Q.    Okay.  And, in fact, if I were to tell you
11  that the State has introduced exhibits which indicates
12  that the distance between Perkinsville on the Verde and
13  the confluence of the Verde and the Salt is 153.5
14  miles, would that make more sense to you?
15      A.    That makes sense, yes.
16      Q.    Okay.  And Perkinsville is actually upstream
17  of Camp Verde, is it not?
18      A.    It is.
19      Q.    So the distance between Camp Verde and the
20  confluence with the Salt River is less than 153 miles?
21      A.    Okay.  Yes.
22      Q.    And if I were to tell you that the distance
23  on the Gila River between the New Mexico border and
24  Yuma was 649 miles, would that sound about right to
25  you?
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 1      A.    That sounds in the ballpark, yes.
 2      Q.    You would take my word for it?
 3      A.    I take your word for that.
 4      Q.    Okay.  So is it fair to say that the distance
 5  that the Day brothers claim they traveled, a trip they
 6  say of over 800 miles, was far less than 800 miles?
 7      A.    Yes.
 8      Q.    But, probably, if you're traveling for six
 9  months, it probably feels like you've gone 800 miles,
10  right?
11      A.    Easily, yes.
12      Q.    All right.  Let's take a look at that.  Let's
13  say for just one moment that the Day brothers actually
14  traveled 600 miles.
15      A.    Okay.
16      Q.    We don't actually -- you don't actually know
17  the distance, do you?
18      A.    I don't know the distance sitting here.
19      Q.    And I don't either.
20      A.    I don't.
21      Q.    But let's just say for the moment it's
22  600 miles.
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    At 180 days.
25            If I were to tell you, because you don't have
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 1  the calculator, but I do --
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    -- that that is 3.3 miles a day for 180 days,
 4  does that seem like a long time to you, I mean a good
 5  clip on a river that's navigable, to travel 3.3 miles a
 6  day?
 7      A.    No, it doesn't seem --
 8      Q.    In fact, you could probably walk 3.3 miles a
 9  day, couldn't you?
10      A.    I did it this morning.
11      Q.    You did?
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    And if there were two people, you could
14  probably pull a canoe 3.3 miles a day?
15      A.    Okay.
16      Q.    Is that correct?
17      A.    That would be correct.
18      Q.    Now, 600 miles probably still seems a little
19  large, so let's say for a moment that it was 500 miles
20  total, divided by 180 days.  So now you're less than 3
21  miles a day.  Does that sound right?
22      A.    That sounds right, the calculation.
23      Q.    Now, based upon the types of transportation
24  that would have occurred in 1892, were people doing
25  business, were people conducting business where they
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 1  traveled on a river less than 3 miles a day and took
 2  six months to move their goods from one point to
 3  another?  Does that sound reasonable to you?
 4      A.    That doesn't sound reasonable.
 5      Q.    And, in fact, let me ask you a question.
 6  Step back for a moment and talk about the Arizona
 7  Sentinel in April of 1892.
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    What types of articles were written in the
10  newspaper in 1892?
11      A.    Well, I think the news of the day.  The Yuma,
12  this is actually a fairly vigorous, well-regarded
13  newspaper at the time, and Yuma was a comparatively
14  large settlement in 1892.  And they had all types of
15  things, from the Republican League, so it covered
16  local, national matters, as well as, I think, local
17  issues of interest or entertainment.  I mean I think
18  there's entertainment value and people enjoyed that,
19  and I think it's a form of entertainment as well as
20  news, yes.
21      Q.    So in 1892, a newspaper like the Arizona
22  Sentinel might not only be publishing newsworthy items,
23  but also entertainment value items?
24      A.    Sure.  I think it's common.
25      Q.    And, in fact, two columns away from this
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 1  there's an interesting little article about German
 2  syrup being used for a cold on the lungs?
 3      A.    Yes.  It looks more like kind of an ad, yes,
 4  but a long ad.
 5      Q.    But it's presented as an article, isn't it?
 6      A.    Yeah, it's presented as an article, a news
 7  item; but it apparently advertises the benefits of this
 8  German syrup in allaying various ills.
 9      Q.    And while it wasn't originally presented that
10  way, if I were to show you the entire first page of the
11  Arizona Sentinel and you would see, at the bottom, one
12  or two-sentence descriptions of various residents of
13  Yuma that came and went to visit relatives or go other
14  places, would that be something you would expect to see
15  in a newspaper in 1892?
16      A.    Yes, quite common, from -- I just did some
17  work on Hebron, Iowa, and if you knew who went to visit
18  whom, who left town for a day.  The Miami Silver Belt
19  documented Frank Snell going to Phoenix for one day,
20  and that was the day that he decided to move to Phoenix
21  and begin practicing law here in 1927.
22            So it was common to go through these.  It was
23  common to report that kind of activity, which seems
24  mundane, you know; but that was important and had some
25  news value and some entertainment value.
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 1      Q.    And the people that were generally described
 2  as moving from place to place and visiting their aunt
 3  here or there, taking a vacation, were those all
 4  notable people or famous people or politicians or
 5  otherwise newsworthy people?
 6      A.    Sometimes, but sometimes it was the neighbor.
 7  There was a mix of who was, you know, notable people
 8  and just common, regular working folks.
 9      Q.    So you've looked at this article entitled
10  A Long Journey, about the Day brothers?
11      A.    Yes.
12      Q.    And what is your opinion, based upon your
13  knowledge of historical records and newspapers of that
14  vintage, about this article?
15      A.    Well, it obviously could be factual, but it's
16  also very entertaining to read.  I could imagine those
17  who were working their hard lives away would read
18  something like that and that would seem adventuresome
19  and exciting, so...
20      Q.    And what was the fur trade like in 1892?
21      A.    It certainly wasn't as vigorous and important
22  and central to the economy of the region as it was,
23  say, in the 1820s and '30s, and there was a little more
24  economic diversification in Arizona by 1892.  There was
25  some other activities going on.  So in many ways it's
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 1  kind of like an outlier.  I would use maybe that term
 2  to describe it.
 3      Q.    And based upon the way this article reads, is
 4  it safe to say that the content of the article, in
 5  terms of the, I'll use the word, facts that are
 6  included in the article, the source of those facts
 7  comes from Mr. Day himself?
 8      A.    Yeah, Mr. Day apparently talking to one of
 9  the journalists and writers.
10      Q.    So he's the one that gives the information
11  about leaving September 1st, 1891, correct?
12      A.    I would assume that.  I would assume that
13  fact.
14      Q.    And he's the one that describes that he has
15  this lucrative fur trading business, or at least came
16  down the river on more than one occasion, according to
17  him --
18      A.    Yes.
19      Q.    -- for fur trading, correct?
20      A.    Yes.
21      Q.    And he's the one that said he traveled on the
22  Verde River to the Salt, to the Gila, down to Yuma; is
23  that correct?
24      A.    That is correct, from my reading.
25      Q.    And he's also the one that said it was a trip
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 1  of over 800 miles?
 2      A.    That's correct.
 3      Q.    Do you think all of those facts are
 4  accurate?
 5      A.    Well, at least starting with the distance, I
 6  think that is inaccurate.
 7      Q.    All right.  But, obviously, the Arizona
 8  Sentinel, not to impugn a Yuma newspaper, but obviously
 9  the Arizona Sentinel didn't check the facts on at least
10  that part?
11                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mark that, would you,
12  Jody?
13  BY MS. CAMPBELL:
14      Q.    But they obviously didn't check the facts on
15  what Mr. Day told them; is that correct?
16      A.    Yeah, that's correct.
17      Q.    And have you ever been able to locate any
18  other written historical records that indicate that
19  anyone used the Verde River -- I'm not even going to
20  say from Camp Verde to Yuma. -- let's just say from
21  Camp Verde to Fort McDowell or any part of the Verde
22  River for travel or trade?
23      A.    I have not seen anything of that nature in
24  the records that I have reviewed.
25      Q.    Did you ever see anybody refer to it as a
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 1  highway of commerce?
 2      A.    I have not, no.
 3      Q.    And based upon your review of the records,
 4  was it a highway of commerce?
 5      A.    No.
 6      Q.    I'll make that easier for you so we don't
 7  have to use buzz words like highway of commerce.
 8      A.    Okay.
 9      Q.    Have you ever seen any record of anybody
10  trading, doing any kind of commerce or travel on the
11  Verde River?
12      A.    No, I have not.
13      Q.    And based on your review of the historical
14  record, the statements you've just made, is that the
15  basis -- I'm going to go back to the first page of your
16  report for a moment.
17      A.    Yes, okay.
18      Q.    And I'm going to read the last sentence of
19  the first paragraph.
20            "However, after reviewing the complete
21  historical record, it is my opinion that none of the
22  five segments of the Verde is navigable in its ordinary
23  and natural condition prior to the State of Arizona's
24  admission to the United States on February 14th, 1912."
25            Do you see that sentence?
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 1      A.    I see that sentence.
 2      Q.    Is that sentence based upon the information
 3  you just told me, in terms of your review of the
 4  historical records?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    You're not a geologist?
 7      A.    I'm not a geologist.
 8      Q.    You're not a geomorphologist, yes?
 9      A.    I'm not a geomorphologist.
10      Q.    Are you an attorney?
11      A.    I am not an attorney.
12      Q.    So is that statement making any scientific
13  opinion?
14      A.    It is not.
15      Q.    Is it making a legal opinion?
16      A.    It's not.
17      Q.    Why not?
18      A.    Because I'm not an attorney.
19                 MR. HELM:  Or a judge.
20                 MS. CAMPBELL:  No, he's not that either.
21                 I have no further questions.
22                 Can the witness take a break, though?
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Well, we certainly
24  appreciate, Cynthia, the way you've teed this up.
25  Who's first?
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 1                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I do
 2  have some questions for the witness, but I believe with
 3  our witnesses the other side preferred that the folks
 4  on this side of the room go first, so if you guys have
 5  some questions.
 6                 MR. HOOD:  I'm happy to go.  I've got
 7  one very short line.
 8                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, we're going to
 9  take Mr. Hood's very short line, and then we will take
10  a break.
11                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.
12                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Does that work?
13                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, that's fine.
14                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, since we're
15  going to take a short one, I'll just move my stuff
16  over.
17                 THE WITNESS:  I just got a new phone
18  this morning.
19                 MS. HERNBRODE:  You can't figure out how
20  to turn it off?
21                 THE WITNESS:  I can't figure how to turn
22  it off, yeah.
23                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I understand.
24                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Hood.
25                 MR. HOOD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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 1                    CROSS-EXAMINATION
 2  BY MR. HOOD:
 3      Q.    Dr. August, how are you this afternoon?
 4      A.    Fine, thank you.
 5      Q.    I just want to follow up on the Day brothers
 6  very briefly.
 7            Ms. Campbell asked you to assume a few
 8  different figures in terms of the number of miles
 9  and so forth, and it was sort of hypothetical in
10  nature.
11      A.    Yes, yes, of course.
12      Q.    I want you to assume that Mr. Burtell has
13  used GIS and has calculated the actual distance.
14      A.    Wow.
15      Q.    And that Ms. Campbell is correct; that
16  800 miles is not only an overstatement, but it's a
17  gross overstatement.
18      A.    Okay.
19      Q.    And that it's actually approximately
20  363 miles.
21      A.    All right.
22      Q.    And so if we were going to -- and,
23  furthermore, that Mr. Burtell has taken great care to
24  go through the calendar and determine that it's
25  actually a 209-day trip.
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 1      A.    Oh, more than 180.
 2      Q.    Yeah.  So let's do that math.
 3            363 divided by 209, and that ends up at about
 4  just over 1.7 miles per day, if my calculator is
 5  accurate.  And so that's even less -- you're actually
 6  making less progress per day than under Ms. Campbell's
 7  hypotheticals.
 8      A.    Okay, that, what you just stated, seems
 9  accurate to me.
10      Q.    Okay.  And so does that call into question to
11  you that even if the story is correct, that they had
12  gone that distance, if it takes you 209 days and
13  1.7 miles a day, does that call into question, for you,
14  whether this is a reliable highway for commerce?
15      A.    It calls that into question.  I can say yes
16  to that.
17                 MR. HOOD:  Okay.  Thank you,
18  Dr. August.
19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you very much.
20                 We'll take a break now for 15 minutes.
21                 (A recess was taken from 2:27 p.m. to
22  2:46 p.m.)
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Are we ready?
24                 Joy, please begin.
25                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Thank you.
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 1                    CROSS-EXAMINATION
 2  BY MS. HERNBRODE:
 3      Q.    Good afternoon, Dr. August.
 4      A.    Good afternoon.
 5      Q.    We haven't met formally.
 6      A.    No.
 7      Q.    But I'm Joy Hernbrode.
 8      A.    Joy, okay.
 9      Q.    You can call me Joy.
10      A.    Joy, thank you.
11      Q.    Ms. Hernbrode is just --
12      A.    Jack.
13                 (An off-the-record discussion ensued.)
14  BY MS. HERNBRODE:
15      Q.    I think we've established that you're going
16  to call me Joy and I'm going to call you Jack.
17      A.    Correct.
18      Q.    All right.  I'm going to start with your CV a
19  little bit.  Is it fair to say that much of your
20  writings focus on the political history of Arizona post
21  about the 1920s and the history of various water
22  conflicts?
23      A.    Yes.
24      Q.    Is that because that's where your main
25  interest lies?
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 1      A.    I'm interested in all of it, but I like some
 2  of the topics that -- in the 20th century, yes.
 3      Q.    Are there any good books out there you could
 4  recommend on territorial political history of Arizona?
 5      A.    Sure.  I would start with Volume 2 of Jay J.
 6  Wagoner's Arizona history; I think Thomas Farish of
 7  1918; McClintock's, about the same time; Thomas
 8  Sheridan, his most recent revision of the Arizona
 9  history.  While I like Marshall Trimble, I wouldn't
10  recommend Marsh for kind of any serious kind of
11  scholarly work.  And then there's a host of kind of
12  articles in the Arizona History and other scholarly
13  works that cover the naming of Arizona, to all types of
14  political and political developments in Arizona.
15      Q.    Would you call your current report here
16  comprehensive, or did you have sort of a limited focus?
17      A.    I had a very limited focus.
18      Q.    And I think you said that your limited focus
19  was the Verde in its ordinary and natural condition,
20  which I think you said was about 1866, correct?
21      A.    1866, 1870, you know, yes, beginning of
22  development.
23      Q.    There's no firm --
24      A.    No firm --
25      Q.    -- date there?


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2430


 1      A.    No firm date.
 2      Q.    Right.
 3            Would it be common for a historian to include
 4  a list of works cited in their report?
 5      A.    Yes, but I used the just footnotes to cite.
 6  And the idea of comprehensive bibliographies in terms
 7  of academic and scholarly publications in history is --
 8  it's so erratic, it's kind of receding into history,
 9  that many editors -- and I think it may have to do with
10  costs.  Those extensive bibliographies that kind of
11  characterize my book on Hayden and others in my recent
12  works, they don't have bibliographies, and they just
13  rely on your end notes for sources cited.  But that may
14  be a stylistic thing.
15      Q.    Okay.  Are all the documents you relied on
16  listed in your report?
17      A.    No, not necessarily, but they were some of
18  the most obvious, since it was so brief and I became
19  part of this family rather recently, so...
20      Q.    Did you review the Land Department's report?
21      A.    I've reviewed it in part.  I haven't had
22  time, but I will after this.  I'll have some time.
23      Q.    Mr. Fuller's latest PowerPoint?
24      A.    I've reviewed it.  I have a copy of it and
25  was able to take a look at it.  But to review it
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 1  comprehensively like I would like to do, I have not had
 2  the time.
 3      Q.    Were you here when Mr. Fuller was testifying?
 4      A.    No, not at this one.  I didn't catch him.  I
 5  may have caught a half a day, but not very much.  But
 6  I've seen him testify in the past on another
 7  watercourse.
 8      Q.    And were you provided with transcripts of
 9  Mr. Fuller's testimony?
10      A.    Not yet.
11      Q.    Did you rely on any other reports from
12  experts in this case?
13      A.    Not for this report, no, not -- and, again,
14  I'm catching up and trying to review things as I go
15  along here.
16      Q.    Okay.  So you didn't rely on Dr. Littlefield?
17      A.    No, no.  But I'm familiar with
18  Dr. Littlefield's work and his area of expertise with
19  surveying and the history of surveying and that; but I
20  have not seen his work in this regard, and I think the
21  point was that I provide some other material besides
22  that, just to add to the record for the Commission.
23      Q.    And you must have looked at at least portions
24  of Mr. Burtell's report to get the segments at least?
25      A.    Yeah.  Yeah, the segments.  I think it was I
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 1  read 20 pages and then just very quickly reviewed the
 2  end note material, including the Joseph Pratt Allyn
 3  book that he used.  And so I guess I was most
 4  interested not in the technical work that other people
 5  are providing, but I was interested in some of his
 6  historical references and just to see how he would use
 7  those.
 8      Q.    So given those answers, I guess I'm a little
 9  confused when you say you reviewed the complete
10  historic record.  The complete historic record of what,
11  I guess is the question?
12      A.    The historical record of what I was charged
13  with reviewing for this Segments 4 and 5.  If I had,
14  and I will have, some more months, then it will really
15  truly be comprehensive, and I can even venture to do
16  some work in Segments 1, 2, and 3.
17      Q.    Did you look at any evidence that's in the
18  record from the 1870 and prior period?
19      A.    No evidence in this record, no.
20      Q.    So I think what you're saying is that you
21  relied a lot on your expertise in this area, stuff that
22  you've looked at over the course of your career?
23      A.    Oh, that's correct.  Yeah.  I was familiar
24  with the secondary sources, where the primary sources
25  are located, and I looked for any accounts of boating
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 1  or trade up and down the river, but particularly with
 2  Segments 4 and 5.
 3      Q.    And it looks to be like you primarily relied
 4  upon books, though a few newspaper accounts were also
 5  included?
 6      A.    That's right.  That explains the brevity and
 7  the kind of contracted time frame.  But, believe me, I
 8  do the long form usually.  I mean the books are long.
 9      Q.    And I take it then that you believe that
10  those sources are reliable?
11      A.    They are, they're reliable.
12      Q.    Even though they were, in some cases,
13  secondary sources?
14      A.    Secondary sources in that field, in the
15  borderlands field, are really quite, in my opinion,
16  reliable.
17      Q.    And newspaper reports, reliable?
18      A.    You have to read those very carefully,
19  critically, and analytically, particularly from around
20  the turn of the century.  And even in my work on
21  Senator Hayden, for example, in 1912, when he
22  arrested -- it's a little bit after the time frame, but
23  when he arrested two train robbers in 1910, the
24  verbiage was over the top on how exciting it was and
25  all that.  It was much more mundane.
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 1      Q.    They tend to make things sound a little more
 2  exciting than they actually were?
 3      A.    Yeah.  That's a function of the time.
 4      Q.    So when you opine that none of the five
 5  segments of the Verde River were navigable, would it be
 6  perhaps more correct to state that you found, from the
 7  historical records you looked at, that the Verde River
 8  was not navigated?
 9      A.    It was not navigated.
10      Q.    Okay.  Would you agree that there are lots of
11  reasons that someone might not use a river to travel
12  on?
13      A.    There might be a lot of reasons, sure.
14      Q.    I believe some that Mr. Randall, who
15  testified here previously, mentioned, you didn't have
16  the technology to build a boat?
17      A.    I remember that testimony.
18      Q.    Would you agree with that?
19      A.    That his people, for example, are you saying,
20  the Apache people?
21      Q.    Yes.
22      A.    If Mr. Randall said it, I would consider the
23  source and I would, at first blush, I would agree with
24  him.
25      Q.    The river doesn't go where you want it to go?
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 1      A.    It doesn't go where I -- I don't --
 2      Q.    I believe Mr. Randall testified his people
 3  traded with the Hopi.  The Verde doesn't go to Hopi,
 4  does it?
 5      A.    No.  No, it does not.
 6      Q.    So that would be a good reason not to use the
 7  river?
 8      A.    That would be a reason not to use it, why it
 9  would be excluded, yes.
10      Q.    The river doesn't take a direct route?
11      A.    It does not.
12      Q.    And that would be a reason not to use the
13  river?
14      A.    I don't think about that.  I don't see, if it
15  were navigable, if it were in kind of a slight
16  reverse C, like it is, I don't think that would
17  preclude someone moving from Point A to Point B on that
18  river.
19      Q.    So you would disagree with Mr. Randall on
20  that particular point?
21      A.    On that particular point, yeah, I would
22  respectfully disagree.
23      Q.    Some other reasons, you've got a horse and
24  the horse doesn't want to get on a boat?
25      A.    That might be a reason.
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 1      Q.    You're tracking people who don't use boats?
 2      A.    In my report and --
 3      Q.    Well --
 4      A.    Yeah.
 5      Q.    -- would that be a reason not to use a boat?
 6      A.    Oh.
 7      Q.    If your purpose there were to be to track
 8  some people who were not using a boat, would that be a
 9  good reason not to use a boat?
10      A.    You would not use a boat, no.
11      Q.    Would it be a good reason not to use a boat
12  if the boat would mean you arrive at a predictable
13  place at a predictable time and you're being tracked by
14  some people who were trying to kill you?
15      A.    I agree with that statement.
16      Q.    Would it be a reason not to use a boat if you
17  need to go upstream?
18      A.    Yes, that would be a reason not to use it.
19      Q.    It's a little more difficult to go upstream
20  than down?
21      A.    Correct.
22      Q.    Would it be a reason not to use a boat if the
23  country is fairly open and easy to navigate on foot or
24  on horseback?
25      A.    Correct.
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 1      Q.    And would it be a good reason not to use a
 2  boat if you're exploring and need to look at multiple
 3  watersheds?
 4      A.    Correct.
 5      Q.    Okay.  I'm going to draw a little bit on,
 6  hopefully, your expertise as a western historian.
 7      A.    Okay.
 8      Q.    What kind of boats were used for trade and
 9  travel purposes around the time of Arizona statehood?
10            I'll give you some examples, if you don't
11  want to come up with one.
12      A.    Well, maybe Lingenfelter, you know, I would
13  cite that source, and there were paddle wheels, there
14  were steamers on the Colorado, and that's
15  well-documented and celebrated.  I think there were
16  canoes.
17      Q.    Kayaks?
18      A.    Kayaks, I would suspect.  I don't know.
19      Q.    Flatboats of various types?
20      A.    Flatboats would be something that's part of
21  the American travel lexicon, yes.
22      Q.    Home-built boats?
23      A.    Home-built boats, I would agree that there
24  might be some home-built boats.
25      Q.    Mail-order boats?
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 1      A.    Mail-order boats from Sears.
 2      Q.    Canvas canoes?
 3      A.    I'm assuming canvas canoes would be possible,
 4  would be in the landscape.
 5      Q.    Dugout canoes?
 6      A.    Dugout canoes.
 7      Q.    Rubber boats?
 8      A.    I don't know about rubber boats.  I'm not a
 9  boat expert, but if they were here and they were
10  invented and useful in 1912, I suspect there would be
11  some in Arizona.
12      Q.    I believe it was Ives' expedition crossing
13  the Colorado had a rubber boat.
14      A.    Did he have rubber boats?  I did not know
15  that.
16      Q.    I could be wrong about the expedition.  It
17  was one of the early --
18      A.    Early 1850s?
19      Q.    Yeah.
20      A.    Okay.
21      Q.    Would any of those small boats be
22  particularly useful for hauling a horse?
23      A.    No, they would not.
24      Q.    Do you know the navigability requirements of
25  any of those boats?
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 1      A.    I do not.
 2      Q.    So you would defer to Mr. Fuller for that
 3  information?
 4      A.    Yes, I would.
 5      Q.    Have you seen the video testimony of Mr. Brad
 6  Dimock?
 7      A.    I have not.  I'm sure I will.
 8      Q.    What's your definition of commerce?
 9      A.    Commerce.  The selling and purchasing of
10  goods, just very briefly.
11      Q.    I think on the Gila you said something along
12  the lines of in commerce, if you can float a log down
13  and somehow conduct commerce, float down it, that would
14  be navigable.  Does that sound about, right?
15      A.    I think I said something like that back then,
16  yeah.
17      Q.    Do you disagree with that statement now?
18      A.    No, not necessarily.
19      Q.    So, again, you were looking for actual use of
20  the river?
21      A.    I was.
22      Q.    You didn't really look at whether it could be
23  used, whether the river was deep enough, wide enough,
24  and obstacles-free enough to support commerce?
25      A.    No, I did not look at any of that kind of
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 1  material.  I think other experts have addressed that,
 2  those.
 3      Q.    I notice your report doesn't include any
 4  specific descriptions of the Verde by the historical
 5  figures you discuss.  They mention the Verde, but they
 6  don't really describe it; is that true?
 7      A.    That's correct.  They saw it, they knew it
 8  was there, and I would venture from Camp Verde to where
 9  it meets the Salt, and that was fairly well-known by
10  1780.
11      Q.    But you don't -- none of the figures you
12  cited specifically described the Verde; they didn't say
13  we met the Verde and it was --
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    -- 50 feet wide and 4 feet deep or whatever?
16      A.    That's right, and I was looking for that
17  specifically.
18      Q.    So how did you determine whether the river
19  was susceptible for transportation or commerce?
20      A.    I'm not an attorney, and susceptible, I think
21  in this instant, is a legal term that will be
22  determined by the attorneys and the Commission.  So I
23  don't think I should or can talk about the legal
24  definition of susceptibility.
25      Q.    Well, I believe that you state, at least on
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 1  Page 7 of your report, that Kino didn't think the Verde
 2  was susceptible to transportation or commerce?
 3      A.    Yeah, but he wouldn't even go there, he
 4  didn't even go to the Verde; and I think from their --
 5  from the rest of that report, it was too far away and
 6  was not viewed to or susceptible to navigation not in
 7  the legal term, just that why are we going to go there.
 8  We know it's there, we know there's water there, and
 9  that was it.  But to use it as some kind of a
10  commercial transportation route, that wasn't even in
11  question.
12      Q.    I believe in your direct this afternoon, you
13  talked about the fact that Kino didn't even actually
14  get very close to the river; he kind of looked at it
15  from pretty high up?
16      A.    He looked at it from pretty high up.
17      Q.    And it was on the wrong side of the Gila for
18  them to be really interested in?
19      A.    Yes.  Yeah, the Gila seems to be an important
20  barrier, consciously or not, for the Spaniards.  They
21  had hopes of establishing some kind of colony/mission
22  north of the Gila, but it just never worked out.  And
23  the only way they reached the Hopis, more often than
24  not, was from the Santa Fe base and not from Sonora.
25      Q.    And I think you said you don't have an


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2442


 1  opinion on the segmentation?
 2      A.    Yeah, I don't.
 3      Q.    You cited to Mr. Burtell's segmentation.  I
 4  assume you don't know how, if at all, it varies from
 5  the segmentation that the Land Department did?
 6      A.    No.  I'm assuming that -- I assumed that
 7  Mr. Burtell was using the State Land Department's,
 8  without having -- and, again, I can't wait to read all
 9  of them.
10      Q.    What's your boating experience?
11      A.    Zero.
12      Q.    Really?
13      A.    None.
14      Q.    Okay.
15                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We really appreciate
16  that, Jack.
17                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I was hoping for --
18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  You have no idea.
19                 THE WITNESS:  You know, my buddies would
20  go up to Apache Lake or something, but I never -- you
21  know, I didn't have time or something like that, so...
22  BY MS. HERNBRODE:
23      Q.    You are aware that thousands of people boat
24  the Verde every year, though?
25      A.    I'm aware, from the testimony I heard here,
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 1  up around Clarkdale, close to where I live, that that's
 2  an activity that takes place, yes.
 3      Q.    I notice there are no photographs in your
 4  report as well.  Did you look for photographs or other
 5  early evidence of what the Verde might have looked
 6  like?
 7      A.    I honestly did not have time, but I will, as
 8  this proceeds.  I do like imagery and illustrations to
 9  clarify and assist in the narrative, yes; but I have
10  not used any up to this point.
11      Q.    And, likely, any photographs would have
12  fallen after that 1870s date?
13      A.    Well, let's see, photography is invented in
14  1837.  I think there's some de Guerra types in the
15  Arizona Territory.  So I would be very interested.  I'm
16  very interested in that field, and so I look forward to
17  uncovering anything that I might find.
18      Q.    If I tell you that lining your boat involves
19  walking your boat with a rope tied on to it around an
20  obstacle, not pulling it upstream, that's a different
21  term --
22      A.    Oh, okay.
23      Q.    -- do you have any reason to disagree with
24  that?
25      A.    I have no reason to disagree with what you
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 1  said.
 2      Q.    You talked for almost three pages about
 3  Phoenix's use of water from the Verde.  It's
 4  interesting history.
 5      A.    Right.
 6      Q.    But how does that apply to navigability?
 7      A.    Well, I think it has to do with how they --
 8  Phoenix's interest in those segments of the river.
 9  Phoenix has an abiding interest in Segments 4 and 5,
10  and so that was one of the reasons to take a look at
11  this.
12      Q.    You were trying to explain why your client
13  was here at this hearing, but not necessarily to convey
14  anything about the navigability of the river?
15      A.    I think that was it; and, also, to look to
16  see if there was any history of navigation that I could
17  uncover over the course of my career in looking at this
18  reach, and pretty critically and analytically, as well
19  as any material I could find.
20      Q.    And I think Phoenix's interest started in
21  about 1907; is that correct?
22      A.    Phoenix?
23      Q.    Phoenix's interest in the Verde?
24      A.    Yes, right around there.
25      Q.    But its predecessors or the people who lived
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 1  in the Phoenix area were taking water before that?
 2      A.    That is correct.  They were concerned.
 3      Q.    I think we tend to assume that the Phoenix
 4  Metro area has always been sort of the dominant
 5  metropolis we have today, but that wasn't true for a
 6  lot of Arizona's territorial and preterritorial period,
 7  was it?
 8      A.    It was not.  In fact, Phoenix, I think the
 9  census of 1920, if I'm not mistaken, is the first
10  census in which Phoenix has a larger population than
11  Tucson.  And, also, Yuma and the Bisbee area, they
12  were -- politicians, for example, if that's a
13  barometer, they had better go and talk to the editor of
14  the Bisbee News or something in order to get their
15  endorsement.
16            So they don't play the role that they did
17  100 years ago, but, yes, Phoenix was slower to overtake
18  Tucson.  And the rivalry continues to exist, whether
19  it's over population or lifestyle or whether Phoenix
20  was being settled by Anglo-Americans from the East and
21  Tucson's history goes south to north, you know, the
22  different places.
23      Q.    Or who is going to get their roads repaired?
24      A.    That's true.  I agree.
25      Q.    For a lot of the time Prescott was actually


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2446


 1  more important than Phoenix?
 2      A.    Oh, it was a Territorial Capitol, and we
 3  still think we're -- no, it's -- yeah, we're -- no, it
 4  was very important and has found its niche, I think, in
 5  the pantheon of 21st century micropolis in Arizona.
 6      Q.    I noticed that when you talked about the
 7  prehistoric people here, particularly in the Phoenix
 8  area, you called them the Hohokam.
 9      A.    Yes.
10      Q.    Other people have called them the Hohokam.
11      A.    Hohokam.
12      Q.    Or the Huhukam.
13      A.    Uh-huh, sure.
14      Q.    All the same people, right?
15      A.    All the same people, that's correct.
16      Q.    Sort of depends on what your cultural
17  background is, how you use that phrase?
18      A.    Boy, I never -- I have never thought of that.
19  I've always heard the term Hohokam, even from
20  archaeologists I know and zooarchaeologists as well.  I
21  have some friends at ASU.  And so they've used the term
22  Hohokam.  But the third one I haven't heard, so thank
23  you.
24      Q.    That would be the tribal.
25      A.    The tribal reference?
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 1      Q.    Yes, yes.
 2      A.    Yeah.  Not the Aztecs, but the Meshika.
 3  Okay, I got it.
 4      Q.    Is it fair to say that the question of
 5  whether the Hohokam became what we used to call the
 6  Pima is a matter for scholarly debate, but not one
 7  which the O'odham people themselves debate?
 8      A.    I think that's a -- the last I've discerned
 9  and heard of that issue, that's correct.
10      Q.    They feel pretty strongly they were descended
11  from those people?
12      A.    Yes.
13      Q.    And the Hopi as well?
14      A.    I have not heard that about the Hopi.  They
15  speak the Uto-Aztecan language.  That kind of links
16  them down with people on the southern part of the
17  Colorado River straits.
18      Q.    And you haven't seen anything in the
19  literature you've reviewed about Hohokam use of boats,
20  but that doesn't mean there is evidence you haven't
21  seen?
22      A.    I haven't seen anything, and I relied on the
23  classic works of Emil Haury, Doyle, and, you know,
24  those people that are the recognized experts.
25      Q.    In prehistoric times the culture along the
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 1  lower Verde was the Hohokam, and in the Verde Valley it
 2  was the Sinagua?
 3      A.    I think that's correct.
 4      Q.    Where was the dividing point between the two
 5  cultures; do you know?
 6      A.    I do not.
 7      Q.    Both cultures practiced irrigation?
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    Were the Hohokam canals more extensive than
10  the Sinagua canals?
11      A.    That seems to be what the research indicates,
12  that they were really quite extensive.
13      Q.    The Sinagua were more into terrace farming?
14      A.    Terrace farming, that's correct.
15      Q.    And were the Hohokam canals on the Verde
16  system less extensive than those on the Salt or the
17  Gila?
18      A.    From the lower Verde report, which, again, is
19  exhaustive, and I don't know how many previous nights
20  I've been reading through that, but they were less.  I
21  think there were 26 sites and less extensive, but still
22  a vital civilization during the height.
23      Q.    When you say the lower Verde report, what are
24  you referring to?
25      A.    It's called the Lower -- it's called
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 1  Vanishing Verde, The Lower Verde Report.  It's got a
 2  very long title, but it's cited here, and you can see
 3  it online, and it's like I don't know how many volumes.
 4      Q.    Would that be Vanishing River?
 5      A.    Vanishing River, yeah, it's the Vanishing
 6  River.
 7            And the interdisciplinary and
 8  multidisciplinary nature of the report is impressive.
 9  I don't see -- it was funded by the Bureau of
10  Reclamation.  That's how it got done.
11      Q.    Do you know if that report is in evidence as
12  Exhibit X017-120?
13      A.    I found out about that today.
14      Q.    Okay.  When Mr. Randall testified about the
15  earliest people in the Verde Valley, he was likely
16  talking about the Sinagua, then, and not the Hohokam?
17      A.    I would think so, yes, from his discussion.
18      Q.    And I believe you said scholars don't agree
19  about why the Sinagua and the Hohokam cultures
20  declined?
21      A.    I think that's a fair statement, yes.
22      Q.    If the Hohokam had built boats, what do you
23  think they would have been made of?
24      A.    I can't speculate about that.  I really don't
25  know.
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 1      Q.    Reeds?
 2      A.    Perhaps.
 3      Q.    Logs?
 4      A.    Perhaps.
 5      Q.    Do you know if the Hohokam used bundles of
 6  reeds for their diversion dams?
 7      A.    Yes, I think that's in evidence.
 8      Q.    So do you think you could tell, if you dug up
 9  a bundle of reeds, whether it had been part of a dam or
10  part of a boat?
11      A.    I couldn't tell that.  I would leave that to
12  archaeologists.
13      Q.    Have you read the draft report on the
14  archeological testing for the Sky Harbor Sky Train
15  that's been partially funded by your client?
16      A.    No, I have not.
17      Q.    Okay.  You testified previously on the Gila?
18      A.    Uh-huh.  A long time ago, yes.  I forget.
19      Q.    2005, I believe.
20            Are you aware of the prehistoric canoe that
21  was reported in a canal in that report and I believe in
22  the Salt report?
23      A.    I am not aware of that canoe.
24      Q.    Did I hear you say you thought Mr. Randall
25  testified about the Yavapai?
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 1      A.    He testified a little bit about the
 2  relationship and the difference in language, languages.
 3  So he testified a bit about that, yes.
 4      Q.    But his primary testimony, his focus was his
 5  culture --
 6      A.    His culture.
 7      Q.    -- which would be Apache?
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    You relied on Mr. Bolton's work for
10  information about Father Kino?
11      A.    And others, but, yeah, that's kind of the
12  classic cite; but there are other people that have
13  written about Father Kino, of course.
14      Q.    Did you rely on him for any other parts of
15  your report?
16      A.    Certainly.  He's kind of this constant
17  eminence in the field of borderlands history, and I
18  think I've read almost everything he's ever written.
19  I've even read the bio -- I think a historian has a
20  biography written on him, but he has a biography
21  written by John Francis Bannon.  So a major figure in
22  the field, yes, and I've read most of his, if not all
23  of his work.
24      Q.    The only place I saw it cited was in the
25  reference to Kino.
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 1      A.    Yes.
 2      Q.    Are there other places that you --
 3      A.    Oh, he wrote Coronado:  Knight of Pueblo and
 4  Plains.  He wrote the big Coronado book.  He's written
 5  shorter pieces on Kino, kind of a synthesis, rather
 6  than the Rim of Christendom, to make it more
 7  accessible.  And he's written on a variety of other
 8  topics from presidios to even on some of the
 9  individuals that were mentioned, like Espejo and
10  Farfan.  He's covered -- he covered the territory,
11  really invented the field, in a way.
12      Q.    I notice you seem to speak Spanish fairly
13  fluently.  Do you read it?
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    During the period of time that the Spanish
16  were exploring, were horses commonly available
17  throughout Arizona?
18      A.    Yes.  The Spanish introduced or reintroduced
19  the horse to this continent in around, it looks as
20  though, the earliest, 1570.  Then some of them get
21  away, you know, and then bred.  So we have a few, but
22  not many, wild horses in Arizona and then through the
23  plains.  And they were quickly acquired by the Comanche
24  people, for example, and used as a dimension of their
25  war tactics.  Other groups didn't; used them as food.
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 1      Q.    Because I thought you said, when we were
 2  talking about the trappers, that sometimes they lost
 3  their horses or had to eat their horses.
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    And it didn't seem like they had a ready
 6  source for replacing their horses.
 7      A.    Their horses, for the most part, up in what
 8  we're talking about, from Taos and Santa Fe, they had
 9  ready supplies of horses and ranches and where their
10  embarkation point or disembarkation point was at.
11      Q.    But if they ate their horse in Arizona --
12      A.    They would be in big trouble.
13      Q.    -- or misplaced their horse because the
14  Apache ran off with it --
15      A.    That's correct, and that happened, and then
16  you were a pedestrian.
17      Q.    And so if the Spanish had gotten to a river
18  that they could put a canoe on and they've got their
19  horse there or they've got the canoe, would they just
20  turn that horse loose and go on down the river, or does
21  it make sense to keep ahold of the beast of burden you
22  have right here?
23      A.    I think 99 to 100 percent of the time, I
24  think they would keep the horse.  It was a valuable
25  asset.
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 1      Q.    And, generally, Arizona's located up or
 2  downstream from Mexico?
 3      A.    Generally, it's located upstream; but we do
 4  have some watercourses that flow from Mexico to the
 5  United States.  I think the Santa Cruz starts in the
 6  U.S., goes underneath, and then circles back, yeah.
 7      Q.    And if you're exploring an area you know is
 8  arid and you want to explore across multiple
 9  watersheds, would it be easier to ride a horse or use a
10  boat?
11      A.    Ride a horse.
12      Q.    How many Spanish explorers do you discuss in
13  your report?  Because I had counted five, and then I
14  heard Ms. Campbell mention ten, and it's entirely
15  possible that I can't count that much.
16      A.    And there are several others I could have
17  mentioned; Father Segesser, Father Pfefferkorn.  I
18  think I mentioned Sedelmayr only because I think I had
19  to be selective and brief, and I wanted to use the most
20  representative of those who may have had contact or
21  went beyond the Gila River at some point.  But there
22  were others, many others; many of them with German
23  names, and some of the military people, like Alejandro
24  O'Reilly and Hugo O'Conor.  It's kind of a
25  multinational frontier that are in the service of
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 1  Spain.  But I didn't mention them.
 2      Q.    Okay.  And we're getting into dangerous
 3  ground here.  I should tell you now that I had to take
 4  American Sign Language in college as my second language
 5  because my pronunciation of all languages is so bad.
 6      A.    Okay.
 7      Q.    So with that in mind, please bear with me.
 8      A.    Okay.
 9      Q.    The first Spaniard you talked about came with
10  Farfan as his biographer or his diarist, I guess?
11      A.    Oh, there was a diarist with Farfan.  Is that
12  what you're saying?
13      Q.    Yeah, yeah.  He was the diarist for --
14      A.    Diego de Luján?
15      Q.    Es --
16      A.    Or Espejo?
17      Q.    Yes.
18      A.    Espejo.
19      Q.    Espejo?
20      A.    Yeah.
21      Q.    Does that sound right?
22      A.    Yeah.  Mirror.
23      Q.    Okay.  And what was Espejo doing in Arizona?
24      A.    He was -- technically, he was illegal,
25  illegal in Arizona.  He was the person who agreed to
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 1  save two Franciscan priests who were left behind by a
 2  previous expedition.  Everyone left them, and they left
 3  them up there, and so the Franciscan Bishop, the head
 4  Franciscan in Durango, was outraged and wanted them
 5  returned.
 6            And so he was on a rescue expedition in 1583,
 7  and he took advantage of his situation and went
 8  exploring, because of the persistent rumors of myth of
 9  gold, Seven Cities of Cibola, Estrecho de Anián, what's
10  called Gran Quivira.  That was another myth.  There's a
11  variety of them.  Some of them are passageways to the
12  Orient and some of them are, in fact, supposedly
13  treasures.
14            So he went looking for them, and through
15  contact with the Hopis and others as he headed west, he
16  learned of what might be precious minerals and, thus,
17  he ends up traversing in 1583.
18      Q.    Where did he end up finding the guys he was
19  looking for?
20      A.    He ended up around Jerome and traded for rugs
21  and a few things and then went back and subsequently
22  became obscure, and then unfortunately for him,
23  Oñate -- he wanted to go back and colonize, but Oñate a
24  few years later got the contract to colonize and become
25  Captain General of New Mexico.  But that was his
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 1  overall ambition, so...
 2      Q.    So he didn't find the two gentlemen he was
 3  sent to look for?
 4      A.    They were dead.
 5      Q.    Okay.
 6      A.    There was three altogether, actually.
 7      Q.    And where did he start from?
 8      A.    He started from Santa Bárbara, which is, I
 9  guess, today in Chihuahua, and it became a big silver
10  mining frontier, kind of a wild west, like the
11  Tombstone of the central corridor of the Spanish
12  advance from south to north.  And so he started there.
13  That was where they took off, and you race up the
14  Rio Grande Valley, and then he turned left.
15      Q.    And did he use any rivers on his journey?
16      A.    He did not.  He did not use any rivers.  And
17  it was pretty well-documented by the diarist, and he
18  subsequently, again, got in trouble and was rebuked.
19      Q.    How many people did he have with him?
20      A.    I think eight or nine.
21      Q.    So a relatively small --
22      A.    Small, small.
23      Q.    -- Spanish expedition?
24      A.    Yes, a small expedition.
25      Q.    Any cattle?
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 1      A.    No cattle on this one, no.
 2      Q.    And how long did he spend on the Verde?
 3      A.    I think he crossed the Verde and may have
 4  spent a matter of weeks, you know, and then came -- a
 5  matter of weeks.
 6      Q.    And you didn't find any specific description
 7  of the river from him?
 8      A.    No, there's no description of the river,
 9  other than there were rivers that they crossed, and
10  so...
11            But that was it.
12      Q.    Did you read his primary account?
13      A.    Yes, I've read it in the past, yeah.
14      Q.    A while ago?
15      A.    Yeah.  But I also take a look at the English
16  translation recently, because it was the most -- the
17  handiest.
18      Q.    And I think the next explorer you talked
19  about was Oñate?
20      A.    Juan de Oñate after -- yeah, Juan de Oñate is
21  the founder of what is now New Mexico, and he was the
22  first -- he got the contract in 1598 to colonize and
23  govern and advance the frontier.  And he was given a
24  good contract, but, again, you know, he wasn't paid.
25  He financed it.
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 1      Q.    So he was looking for settlement sites?
 2      A.    Yes, he went up to settle.  So it's a much
 3  larger force.  There are civilians, which is different
 4  than the previous expeditions up there.
 5            And so the site they went to is actually
 6  north of Santa Fe, north, oh, about 30 miles toward
 7  Taos, if you go on the road today, and it's called the
 8  San Juan Pueblo, and they called it Gaypa, G-A-Y-P-A.
 9  And then it was relocated in 1690 because he didn't
10  fulfill his contract, according to the King, and the
11  King put his own guy there and it became a royal
12  province.
13      Q.    And so how many people, approximately, did he
14  have with him?
15      A.    Probably -- he had about 100 mixed; more
16  military men, 50 to 100 military; and cattle.
17      Q.    How long did he stay on the Verde?
18      A.    He didn't stay on the Verde at all.  He went
19  in 1604.  He crossed it looking for the Sea of -- the
20  South Sea, which is really a reference to the Pacific
21  Ocean, because of communication from the natives to the
22  west.
23            And so after Farfan came back, his first --
24  the first guy he wanted to take a look at and was
25  unsuccessful, by 1604 he's getting kind of desperate,
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 1  because there was no gold or silver, mineral, and New
 2  Mexico was -- I think today is the 44th state that was
 3  poor in natural resources.  And so he went to try to
 4  save his charge, and was unsuccessful, but he did try
 5  to get to the South Sea, as they called it, and he got
 6  to the Colorado River and saw it.
 7      Q.    Do you know where, approximately, he crossed
 8  the Verde?
 9      A.    Often the passageway was along the Gila.
10  They went south and used the Gila, because there's
11  water, so they --
12      Q.    Where did he cross the Verde, though?
13      A.    Oh, he crossed the Verde close to where
14  Clarkdale would be, between Camp Verde and where
15  Clarkdale is.
16      Q.    And did he leave any records about what he
17  saw when he crossed the Verde?
18      A.    No.  It was just an obstacle to travel, so he
19  crossed.
20      Q.    And then we have Kino, who only saw the river
21  sort of from far away?
22      A.    Yeah.  Yeah, I think that's --
23      Q.    And then Nentvig?
24      A.    Nentvig, yes.  Yeah, one of the later
25  Jesuits.
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 1      Q.    And what was his purpose in Arizona?
 2      A.    He was there to consolidate all the
 3  information.  He was a missionary, but many of these
 4  missionaries wore several hats, like Kino, and he
 5  produced a pretty scholarly volume.
 6            And I'll look up Rudo Ensayo and it is a real
 7  solid laundry list of the natural resources, the
 8  mountain ranges, the people, the vegetation, the
 9  animals, and what was there.  It's what Americans did
10  in the 19th century, and if you read William
11  Geotzmann's Exploration and Empire, which won the
12  Pulitzer Prize in '67 -- and he didn't even get tenure
13  at Yale; geez. -- but that's a great account of
14  America's scientific dimension to study.
15            So he was an early-day kind of scientist, in
16  a way, and evaluated what was there.
17      Q.    Sort of an early version of the great surveys
18  of the American West?
19      A.    There you go.  Yeah.  Agreed.
20      Q.    So how long did he spend on the Verde?
21      A.    No time on the Verde.
22      Q.    Okay.  So we don't have a description from
23  him of the Verde yet?
24      A.    No.  That it was there, and he relied on
25  previous descriptions of it.
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 1      Q.    Which basically said there's this river?
 2      A.    There's this river.
 3      Q.    All right.  And then -- oh, boy -- Sedelmayr?
 4      A.    Sedelmayr, yeah.
 5      Q.    Okay.
 6      A.    The Father of the Papago, according to John
 7  Francis Bannon, but now that term is not used.  Papago
 8  actually is kind of, I think, bean-eaters, Papábotas.
 9  But, you know, their name has changed.  But he did a
10  lot of work among those people and was a very astute,
11  religious Jesuit.
12      Q.    So his focus was really down around Tucson?
13      A.    Yes, and that's about as far as -- I think I
14  said before, that's about as far as, I think, they got
15  advancing the frontier.
16      Q.    Okay.  So that's five.
17            The other five folks that I failed to count,
18  did any of them spend time on the Verde?
19      A.    No, none of them did.
20      Q.    And even those who did, they're sort of
21  pictures of a river at a particular point in time; they
22  didn't settle on the Verde; they didn't spend a lot of
23  time there?
24      A.    That's correct.
25      Q.    Did the early Spanish bring ships up the
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 1  Colorado?
 2      A.    There was seafaring expeditions, yes.
 3      Q.    What years?
 4      A.    The 1580s was when they realized that that
 5  was a significant watercourse.  But in terms of
 6  establishing a settlement there, it wasn't until 1781.
 7  Father Garcés, after he had led the expedition in 1776,
 8  colonizing what is Monterey and San Francisco, they
 9  lent people from Tucson, and they went overland and all
10  that, and then they came back and tried to make a
11  settlement, but the Yumans, they massacred them in
12  1781.  So there was an attempt later on in the Spanish
13  period.
14      Q.    And they actually sailed oceangoing vessels
15  up the Colorado?
16      A.    They tried, yes, with some success but not
17  very much.
18      Q.    Is it possible that a navigable river existed
19  in the area explored by the Spanish and they chose, for
20  some reason, not to boat it?
21      A.    I can't answer that one.  I'm trying to
22  think.  Is it possible?
23      Q.    Well, I think you said that if you've got a
24  horse --
25      A.    Yeah.
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 1      Q.    -- you're not going to turn him loose.
 2      A.    Yeah.
 3      Q.    You're not going to put him in a canoe or a
 4  flatboat.
 5      A.    Yeah, it just doesn't seem that they did.
 6      Q.    Okay.  You quote Manje on Page 7 of your
 7  report.
 8      A.    Manje, yeah, his name is Manje.
 9      Q.    Manje, thank you.
10            In that quote, the small stream that he's
11  referring to is the White and Black Rivers, not the
12  Verde, correct?
13            Can you turn to Page 7 of your report?
14      A.    Well, okay, yeah.  Yeah, I'm thinking.
15      Q.    Can you turn to Page 7?  It's not
16  horrifically clear, but I think he's talking about the
17  headwaters of the Salt.
18      A.    "This Salado River runs from east to west and
19  to the south of the Verde River and they merge, as I
20  have said.  To the very end and to the most easterly
21  point of this Pimería there are also two rivers called,
22  more properly, arroyos or small streams."
23            That's what the sentence says in Spanish and
24  in the translation, so I can't speculate if it was the
25  White and the Red River.  I don't think you could see
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 1  it from the top of the White and the Black River; I
 2  don't think you could see it from Estrella Mountain.
 3      Q.    So do you think the small stream he's talking
 4  about is the Verde?
 5      A.    No, I think -- no.
 6            "Of the Verde River and they merge, as I have
 7  said."
 8            No, not talking -- those two small streams
 9  are not the Verde.
10      Q.    Okay.  Did any of the Spanish observers cited
11  in your report make any statements about the
12  navigability of the Verde?
13            I understand that you've taken from their
14  lack of statements --
15      A.    Yeah.
16      Q.    -- an implication, but did they say anything?
17      A.    No, they did not asssertively say anything.
18                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Joy, can we take a
19  break here?
20                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I would love to.
21                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Thank you.
22                 Fifteen.
23                 (A recess was taken from 3:30 p.m. to
24  3:45 p.m.)
25                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Let's have it.
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 1  BY MS. HERNBRODE:
 2      Q.    All right.  You talk a lot about the lack of
 3  accurate maps of the Verde in your report.
 4      A.    Yes.
 5      Q.    Was the technology available at that time,
 6  did that make it a little bit difficult to have an
 7  accurate map?
 8      A.    Sure.  Cartographers of the 17th and
 9  18th Century also had to have, maybe, an artistic flare
10  or another ability to get perspective and meaning.  So
11  there's a lack of technology, it's an accurate
12  statement.  There was a lack of technology, correct.
13      Q.    You didn't have the aerial overflights, so if
14  you didn't see it yourself, you were pretty much
15  guessing?
16      A.    That's correct.
17      Q.    Was there any other reason other than the
18  lack of accurate maps that you conclude the Spanish
19  felt the Verde was nonnavigable?
20      A.    Were there other reasons?
21      Q.    Yes.
22      A.    I think so.  I think that's just one point
23  that I found striking to the map, the map section.  You
24  know, and I'm, frankly, pretty puzzled by it.  I was
25  very surprised that some of the maps, even in the late
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 1  19th Century, after 1850, let's say, that they were off
 2  until they -- they finally got it right, but that took
 3  time.
 4      Q.    And you have actually looked at the maps
 5  created by the various Spanish explorers?
 6      A.    Yes, and they're available in a variety of
 7  texts and others, other sources.  And today, I think,
 8  you know, with digitizing, they're becoming more
 9  available to the general public.
10      Q.    Have you looked at them recently?
11      A.    Not recently; but after this proceeding I'm
12  going to look at every one of them carefully, other
13  than these that I looked at from the Rumsey collection.
14      Q.    You should probably quit angling to come back
15  to this hearing.
16      A.    Oh, not this one.  No, I just know this is
17  going to go on, so...
18      Q.    Do you recall if those maps showed a single
19  or multiple channels of the Verde?
20      A.    No, I don't.  I don't recall.
21      Q.    Do you recall if they showed any marshes?
22      A.    No.
23      Q.    And you didn't include copies of those maps
24  in your report?
25      A.    No, no visuals for this.
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 1      Q.    Would it be fair to say that none of the
 2  accounts you're aware of of the Spanish talked about
 3  the Verde in any detail or described using boats on the
 4  river?
 5      A.    That's correct.
 6      Q.    All right.  Let's move on to mountain men.
 7      A.    Yeah, Taos Trappers, yeah.
 8      Q.    You referenced David Weber's Taos Trappers,
 9  correct?
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    Did you look at anything else from Mr. Weber?
12      A.    Yes.  I looked at his works, The Spanish in
13  North America and The Mexican Frontier in the
14  Southwest.  He has two big volumes that are large
15  syntheses of the period.  I think that grew out of his
16  doctoral dissertation at the University of New Mexico.
17      Q.    And The Taos Trapper doesn't talk a lot about
18  trappers who were in Arizona, does it?
19      A.    Not too much.
20      Q.    It's primarily focused on, really, the
21  aspects of trade that were happening in New Mexico?
22      A.    That's correct.
23      Q.    What accounts of trappers did you look at
24  from folks who were operating in Arizona?  It sounds
25  like you looked at the Pattie account.
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 1      A.    Pattie, Ewing Young.  Tom Sheridan has done a
 2  nice job of synthesizing that, that period, and so I
 3  relied on Dr. Sheridan's Arizona:  A History, which is,
 4  I think, recognized generally as the authoritative
 5  source; and he relies on that and other accounts as
 6  well.
 7      Q.    Did you look at, I believe, Kit Carson left
 8  some records?
 9      A.    Yeah, I've looked at Kit Carson's work, and
10  there's been some biographies on Kit Carson, and I've
11  seen that before, and I'm actually looking at it in
12  another proceeding.
13      Q.    Kit didn't actually write stuff himself, did
14  he?
15      A.    No.
16      Q.    He had ghostwrites?
17      A.    Many people had ghostwrites, yes, including
18  Pattie.
19      Q.    And did he keep notes?
20      A.    He was not known as a notorious notetaker,
21  because he moved constantly.  He appears in the Navajo
22  frontier in 1868 burning peach trees.  I mean he is
23  kind of a utility person in furthering the westward
24  expansion.
25      Q.    And for Ewing Young, he left some
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 1  correspondence, but not really a diary either, correct?
 2      A.    No, no diary, no.
 3      Q.    But Mr. Dye, who traveled with him, kept a
 4  diary?
 5      A.    Evidently, yes.  I've heard about that, yes,
 6  but I have not looked at it.  I've not looked at that
 7  source.
 8      Q.    Okay.  The beaver trappers operating in
 9  Arizona generally came from Taos or Santa Fe, correct?
10      A.    Yeah, immediately, yes.
11      Q.    And that's over the Continental Divide from
12  the Verde?
13      A.    Correct.
14      Q.    So there's no river that runs between the
15  two?
16      A.    No, there's not.
17      Q.    And even if there were, it would have been a
18  little harder to disguise where they were going if they
19  were taking a water route, correct?
20      A.    Yes, and oftentimes that was necessary to
21  disguise where they were going.  They sometimes took
22  off north or northeast to disguise where they were
23  going.
24      Q.    Were trappers and mountain men operating in
25  the American West generally literate?
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 1      A.    No, that would be the exception to the rule.
 2      Q.    We don't have a lot of accounts from trappers
 3  operating anywhere in the west?
 4      A.    That's correct.  There's a paucity of
 5  material.
 6      Q.    There's a fair amount of material for
 7  trappers who were part of the big operations operating
 8  out of St. Louis and places like that?
 9      A.    Yes, and even Astoria in Oregon, there's some
10  good work on that, but that didn't seem relevant here.
11      Q.    Taos didn't have that kind of one big company
12  that controlled everybody and really kept track of
13  things?
14      A.    No.  In many ways, Taos kind of reflects the
15  essence of American expansion, which was individual
16  freedom and initiative.
17      Q.    I think you said in the 1820s through 1848 or
18  so, it wasn't legal for Arizonans to trap in Arizona?
19      A.    Americans, you mean?
20      Q.    Yes.
21      A.    Yes, with some exceptions, like saving the
22  Governor's wife and her daughter and things of that
23  nature, but -- and more often than not, you know, they
24  were skirting the law.  They were viewed with
25  suspicion, yes.
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 1      Q.    You could sometimes get a license if you took
 2  a Spanish or Mexican citizen with you?
 3      A.    That's correct, yes.
 4      Q.    But most of them didn't bother to do that?
 5      A.    Of course not.  No, they did not.
 6      Q.    Were trappers generally protective of their
 7  methods and trapping locations?
 8      A.    Yes, they were, like miners.
 9      Q.    Particularly if they could be prosecuted by
10  Spanish or Mexican authorities for being there?
11      A.    Correct.
12      Q.    Have you reviewed the Spanish or Mexican
13  records to see if they list any other trapping
14  expeditions on the Verde?
15      A.    For this proceeding, no, but that would be
16  something I would certainly do in the future.
17      Q.    You think it would be a good idea to look at
18  those records?
19      A.    Oh, yeah.  I kind of can't wait.
20      Q.    So the first trapper who left us at least a
21  widely distributed account is James Ohio Pattie?
22      A.    Yes.
23      Q.    And he does record a couple of times where he
24  uses a canoe on the Gila and on the Colorado?
25      A.    I believe that's in there.  I wonder --
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 1  again, it's a source that I questioned, given the
 2  exaggeration, so I would question that.
 3      Q.    You question that he used a canoe to trap?
 4      A.    Yes, and a variety of other things that he
 5  asserts in that book.
 6      Q.    Okay.  Well, did other trappers in the West
 7  commonly use a canoe?
 8      A.    Depending on where they were, but I think in
 9  the West, in this region, no.
10      Q.    Do you have any expertise in trapping?
11      A.    No, I don't.  Oh, God.
12      Q.    Is Pattie's account a day-by-day account of
13  what happened every day?
14      A.    Pretty much not.  It's impressionistic, and,
15  again, the audience was the East Coast urban areas and
16  to generate money; and Timothy Flint, who wrote it, was
17  a skillful writer.
18      Q.    And the other sources you mentioned, they
19  don't record the sort of day-by-day events --
20      A.    No.
21      Q.    -- of a trapping expedition?
22      A.    But it would be great to have that material.
23      Q.    Do you recall Pattie saying on the Colorado
24  they made boats, they made dugout canoes?
25      A.    I don't recall that, but I would have to
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 1  review the material again.
 2      Q.    Okay.  Would it help you if I told you they
 3  made dugout canoes after their horses were stolen?
 4  Does that help you place that in the story?
 5      A.    That would help me place it, that would help
 6  me place it in the story, yes.
 7      Q.    Would you agree that, likely, there were
 8  hundreds of trappers operating in Arizona?
 9      A.    Hundreds, I wouldn't agree with that.
10      Q.    How many?
11      A.    20 to 30, my guest guesstimate.
12      Q.    Would you agree that trapping was dangerous?
13      A.    I would agree that trapping was dangerous.
14      Q.    You could end up being killed by other
15  trappers?
16      A.    Other trappers, indigenous groups that were
17  resentful.
18      Q.    The wildlife?
19      A.    The wildlife could.  Well, perhaps, yes, the
20  wildlife.  I know the Piipaash people.  Yeah, there
21  were some tribes that didn't want the Anglos here, and
22  wildlife could do it as well, yes.
23      Q.    Bears?
24      A.    Bears.
25      Q.    Mountain lions?
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 1      A.    Mountain lions.  Yikes.
 2      Q.    Oh, my.
 3            Your take on it is because Pattie didn't
 4  specifically say he used a canoe on the Verde, that no
 5  one in his party did?
 6      A.    I'm not saying that.  There's just no
 7  evidence that I've seen that anyone else used a canoe,
 8  and I was looking for it.
 9      Q.    He doesn't say he did?
10      A.    He doesn't say, yeah.
11      Q.    But you don't believe Pattie's memoir is
12  particularly accurate?
13      A.    Not particularly accurate is a good way to
14  put it.  I think it's impressionistic.
15      Q.    Okay.  And how about the accounts left by
16  Carson and Young and Dye?
17      A.    I think they're in the same category; that
18  there's some truth or factual information that
19  generated a good story and a fanciful retelling of
20  events.
21      Q.    Would it be more likely for them to
22  exaggerate things like Indian encounters?  I guess
23  today we might call them -- we might say that they sort
24  of exaggerate their adrenaline junky activities.
25      A.    I agree with that.
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 1      Q.    Okay.  So they're less likely to exaggerate
 2  day-to-day activities?
 3      A.    I can't say that, but that's something I
 4  would have to do some research, further research on, to
 5  make a statement like that.
 6      Q.    Okay.
 7      A.    Yeah.
 8      Q.    But certainly the encounters with a bear or
 9  with a hostile tribe or something like that, those may
10  be certainly blown up?
11      A.    I think that's a good assumption.  I think
12  it's an accurate assumption.
13      Q.    Or if you rescued the Governor's daughter --
14      A.    Yeah.
15      Q.    -- rather than some poor --
16      A.    Yeah.
17      Q.    -- lass?
18      A.    Yeah.
19      Q.    I would like to talk a little bit about some
20  later trappers on the Verde, and you talked about them
21  in your direct a little bit.  We'll start with the Day
22  brothers in 1891 and 1892.
23      A.    Okay.
24      Q.    And, Debi, if you could pull up No. 3, which
25  is X001-18.
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 1            This is the easiest-to-read version of this
 2  event.  The newspaper is a little difficult.
 3            Does it indicate they trapped the entire
 4  Verde in a boat that they built?
 5      A.    Does it indicate they trapped the entire
 6  Verde.
 7      Q.    Well, from Camp Verde down to the confluence
 8  with the Salt.
 9      A.    That was my reading of it, yes.
10      Q.    In a boat that they had built themselves?
11      A.    Yes.
12      Q.    And then how did they get back upriver when
13  they were finished?
14      A.    I believe they took a train.  Am I not
15  mistaken?
16      Q.    Yeah, right down there at the bottom.
17      A.    Yeah, yeah.
18      Q.    And they didn't record any difficulty on any
19  of the rivers they talked about?
20      A.    Yes.  It's a rather brief description.
21      Q.    Okay.  And you weren't here when Mr. Fuller
22  testified about the Verde, so you didn't hear him say
23  that he thought the 800-mile figure seemed fairly high,
24  correct?
25      A.    No, I was not here for that, no.
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 1      Q.    The Day brothers didn't have a GPS?
 2      A.    They did not.
 3      Q.    Do you know if J.K. had family in Phoenix?
 4      A.    I do not.
 5      Q.    Does trapping take a little time?
 6      A.    Trapping might take some time, yes, it does.
 7      Q.    Do you know that Mr. Day actually became one
 8  of our first wildlife officers in Arizona?
 9      A.    I did not know that.
10      Q.    Do you think any part of this account is made
11  up?
12      A.    This is the first time this morning I read
13  it, and I would like to really review it and come to a
14  conclusion that would be accurate, for me.
15      Q.    Well, right.  I understand that the distance
16  traveled is off.
17      A.    That's -- yes.
18      Q.    Is it possible that they traveled up some
19  tributaries and back down trapping, and so added that
20  into their distance?
21      A.    Well, it doesn't say that there, so I can't
22  speak to that.
23      Q.    Is it possible, though?
24      A.    Yes.  Yeah, it is.
25      Q.    Is it possible that without a GPS, they had a
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 1  little hard time accurately estimating how far they
 2  traveled?
 3      A.    That's a fair assumption, yes.
 4      Q.    And is it possible that the boosterism of the
 5  newspaper in Yuma thought 800 miles sounded like a
 6  better figure than whatever the Day brothers reported?
 7      A.    If it's 800 miles to Yuma, I don't know if
 8  that's very inviting.  But I was just thinking about
 9  it.
10      Q.    I guess it depends on your perspective.
11      A.    Yeah, because I think I may have to take a
12  long trip.
13      Q.    Careful, I was born there.
14      A.    No, my brother lives there.
15      Q.    Does any of this article strike you as the
16  kind of community boosterism that you would expect a
17  newspaper to exaggerate?
18      A.    Yes, it does.  You know, I think it's a
19  colorful.  Is it feel-good?  Maybe feel-good.  I would
20  still have to really take a look at it line by line,
21  but I think boosterism is one aspect of it.
22      Q.    Some of the other newspaper articles that we
23  looked at in other cases sort of emphasize the rapids
24  and the excitingness of the trip and things like that.
25  This doesn't do that?


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2480


 1      A.    No.  It talks about the color, the beaver,
 2  patience, remuneration.  I mean that's --
 3      Q.    Five trips?
 4      A.    Five trips, it talks about that.  I can't
 5  speak to that.  I haven't seen any evidence of five
 6  trips, but that's what that says.
 7      Q.    And you think that might be boosterism?
 8      A.    It certainly could be.  It could be
 9  boosterism, yes.
10      Q.    Okay.  Let's then talk about a gentleman
11  named Fogal and his friend, who did a trapping trip in
12  1931.
13            Debi, could you bring up 4?
14      A.    Okay.
15      Q.    And they traveled from Clarkdale to Fort
16  McDowell using a flat-bottom boat.  Have you seen this?
17      A.    I have not seen it.  This is the first time.
18      Q.    Actually, it sort of falls off the bottom of
19  the screen a little bit there.  I'll give you a moment
20  to read it.
21      A.    Okay.
22            I guess my only question of what I read there
23  is it's 1931, and I haven't -- I didn't consider that.
24      Q.    I understand you haven't looked at it, but I
25  mean these are a pair of guys who were doing the same
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 1  kind of activities that we're talking about --
 2      A.    Correct.
 3      Q.    -- on the same river.
 4      A.    Okay.  Agreed.
 5      Q.    A river that might be a little more difficult
 6  to navigate, in fact, by 1931?
 7      A.    That's a good assumption.
 8      Q.    So in 1931, were newspapers prone to the same
 9  kind of boosterism?
10      A.    I think there is dialing back by 1931,
11  especially, during The Depression, I'm sure.  This is a
12  feel-good story and an interesting story.
13      Q.    So if the Day brothers could trap on the
14  Verde using a boat and Fogal and his friend could trap
15  on the Verde using a boat and lots of people use a boat
16  on the Verde today, why couldn't other trappers do it?
17      A.    Well, as I said earlier, I have not seen any
18  evidence during the period under discussion of that.
19      Q.    You haven't seen anybody say "I used a boat
20  on the Verde"?
21      A.    I have not seen that, either in Spanish or in
22  English.
23      Q.    You also didn't hear anybody say "I couldn't
24  use a boat on the Verde"?
25      A.    I have not heard that either.
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 1      Q.    The Verde's been known by a bunch of
 2  different names?
 3      A.    Yes.
 4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Green.
 5  BY MS. HERNBRODE:
 6      Q.    What names?
 7      A.    Oh, boy.  I would have to go back, but it's
 8  here in this report.
 9      Q.    You named a couple.  The San Francisco,
10  the --
11      A.    San Francisco.  The --
12      Q.    Rio Azul?
13      A.    Rio Azul, Blau Fluss.  A couple, yes.
14      Q.    So if you were looking for historic
15  information about the Verde, you should probably look
16  for all of those names?
17      A.    One would do that, yes.
18      Q.    Does the Verde flow through relatively rugged
19  terrain?
20      A.    In Segments 4 and 5, I would say moderate
21  compared to some of the other, you know, segments of
22  the river.
23      Q.    Above that, much more rugged?
24      A.    Yes, I would say that.
25      Q.    And is the area around the Verde, even today,
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 1  relatively unpopulated?
 2      A.    Comparatively to other areas in Arizona.
 3      Q.    There weren't a lot of settlers and explorers
 4  in the area?
 5      A.    Not too many.
 6      Q.    Are you aware of U.S. Supreme Court cases
 7  that say that just because a river is unexplored or
 8  unused, that it's not necessarily nonnavigable?
 9      A.    I have heard that referenced in this
10  proceeding.
11      Q.    Do you know what the Euro-American population
12  along the Verde was between the 1840s and 1880s?
13      A.    The Euro-American, 1840, 1880s.  I would
14  suspect -- let me think about it.
15            No more than 1,000, I think, individuals.
16      Q.    And did the Apache aggressively resist
17  incursions into the Verde watershed up to the 1800s, up
18  through the 1800s?
19      A.    Yeah, up to the middle part of the
20  19th Century, and before that, much more -- well, quite
21  vigorously, depending on what you read.
22      Q.    Are you familiar with what's been called the
23  Oatman Massacre on the Gila River?
24      A.    Yes.  Olive Oatman, yes, I'm familiar with
25  it.  Haven't scrutinized it lately.
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 1      Q.    Do you know what year that was?
 2      A.    1857?  I mean I picked that out.  When was
 3  it?
 4      Q.    I think 1851.
 5      A.    '51.  Close, yeah.
 6      Q.    That sound okay?
 7      A.    Yeah, that sounds about right, yeah.
 8      Q.    Can you tell us a little bit about what
 9  happened there?
10      A.    From my recollection, the group the Mojaves,
11  I believe it was the Mojave Tribe, murdered the family,
12  and they kept Olive, and there's a famous picture of
13  her with tattoos from her mouth to her jaw.  But I did
14  not do any research into that for this proceeding.
15      Q.    Killed off the family?
16      A.    Yeah.
17      Q.    Took the two sisters --
18      A.    Yeah.
19      Q.    -- captive?
20      A.    Correct.
21      Q.    And they were traded around a little bit?
22      A.    They were traded around a little bit, yes.
23      Q.    And I believe, was the Mojave a Pai Tribe?
24      A.    Pai Tribe, yes.
25      Q.    Okay.  So related to the Yavapai?
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 1      A.    Yavapai, yeah.
 2      Q.    So it wasn't just the Apache people and it
 3  wasn't just in the 1860s that the native people in
 4  Arizona were resisting settlement of their territories?
 5      A.    No.  No, there was active resistance, yes.
 6      Q.    Do you know when the railroads appeared in
 7  the Verde Valley?
 8      A.    Are you talking about the Prescott Stage from
 9  Prescott to Ash Fork?
10      Q.    I believe that was the first one.
11      A.    Yeah, that was the first one.  It's in the
12  1880s.
13      Q.    Were mapmakers, either the military or the
14  Spanish mapmakers or the military mapmakers, trained in
15  assessing navigability?
16      A.    No.
17      Q.    They didn't apply The Daniel Ball test?
18      A.    They did not know about it, no.
19      Q.    Okay.  And you didn't look at the work of
20  federal surveyors for your report?
21      A.    Not this time, for this, yeah.
22      Q.    Okay.
23      A.    But I think, was that covered by
24  Dr. Littlefield?
25      Q.    Dr. Littlefield.
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 1      A.    Yes.  Yes, so I didn't want to be redundant.
 2      Q.    Why were the Fort McDowell and Fort Verde
 3  posts established?
 4      A.    For protection, military protection, of the
 5  increasing civilian population in this territory.
 6      Q.    The native peoples were fairly successfully
 7  resisting our incursion into the territory?
 8      A.    That's correct, up until 1865, certainly, and
 9  thus the establishment of several -- that had been
10  discussed throughout the territory, particularly
11  Central Arizona.
12      Q.    Now, Ms. Summerhayes came to Arizona in 1874;
13  is that correct?
14      A.    That's correct.
15      Q.    Okay.  So she was -- her husband was
16  stationed at Fort McDowell in 1877, does that sound
17  about right?
18      A.    Right around there.  She spent some time at
19  Fort Apache and then they came down.
20      Q.    Were they ever stationed at Fort Verde, or
21  did they just pass through?
22      A.    They were stationed there for a time, about a
23  year, from my recollection in reading the book.
24      Q.    And how long were they stationed at Fort
25  McDowell?
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 1      A.    Oh, Fort McDowell?  I think about one year,
 2  if I'm not mistaken.  I would have to go back and take
 3  a look at the account.
 4      Q.    They moved around a lot?
 5      A.    They moved around, yeah.  They moved to Fort
 6  Yuma and around.
 7      Q.    Okay.  So I thought you said you weren't
 8  going to testify about stuff after 1866, and I know I
 9  went to law school to avoid math, but 1877 is well
10  after that.
11      A.    Oh, I understand.  Sure.  It was
12  transportation, rugged transportation, so that jumped
13  out, yes.
14      Q.    So she wasn't there for the 1883 trip by
15  Willcox and Andrews in a canvas skiff from Fort
16  McDowell to Barnum's Pier on the Salt River Canal?
17      A.    She was not there.
18      Q.    She was not there when Major Spaulding and
19  Captain Hatfield departed for Phoenix in 1888?
20      A.    No, she was not.  Didn't know about it.
21      Q.    Didn't get to wave at the Day brothers going
22  by in 1891?
23      A.    No, she didn't.
24      Q.    Didn't see the lumber intended to float on
25  the Verde in 1894?
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 1      A.    She did not.
 2      Q.    And she certainly missed the 1931 trip of
 3  Fogal and his friend?
 4      A.    Doubtlessly.
 5      Q.    Okay.  When were the roads built by the
 6  military?  You talked about military roads this
 7  morning, or this afternoon, I guess.
 8      A.    1865 to 1870.  Stoneman Road, 1870, and then
 9  the Stoneman Grade also began in 1870.
10      Q.    And that road went?  Refresh me.
11      A.    The first one, the Stoneman Road, went from
12  Fort Whipple to Fort McDowell; and Stoneman Grade went
13  from, roughly, Fort McDowell to what's now called, I
14  think, Picketpost at the base of Picketpost Mountain in
15  Superior; and then from there, from Picketpost, it went
16  up that grade.  It was called Stoneman Grade.  It was
17  very difficult.  You still see remnants of it.
18      Q.    Did Ms. Summerhayes travel by boat on the
19  Colorado?
20      A.    I think she did, yes.
21      Q.    Did she describe that as a pleasant
22  experience?
23      A.    She described it as not a very pleasant
24  experience.
25      Q.    Pretty horrifying?
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 1      A.    Pretty horrifying in the summer, yes.
 2      Q.    And she noted a lot of details about how she
 3  got to Fort McDowell.  Did she record details of how
 4  other military people traveled in the area?
 5      A.    That was an autobiographical account.
 6      Q.    Did she say anywhere affirmatively that the
 7  Verde was not used for navigation?
 8      A.    She did not say affirmatively that the Verde
 9  wasn't used for navigation.
10      Q.    So when you say on Page 14 of your report
11  that military commanders never used the Verde, you mean
12  they didn't use the Verde while transporting
13  Ms. Summerhayes at least?
14      A.    Not specifically that.  I think that's -- the
15  records that I've seen, they have not navigated -- they
16  were not navigating the Verde, from what I've seen.
17  And Ms. Summerhayes, again, that was just an example of
18  the difficulty of traveling through Arizona, whether it
19  was 1860 or whatever her account was, 1874.
20      Q.    She's the only one that you talk about in
21  your military section, her and Smith?
22      A.    Smith, yes.
23      Q.    Old Y.T.
24      A.    Old Y.T.
25      Q.    Did she mention, in her passages about Fort
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 1  Verde, the boat that was located there?
 2      A.    Did she mention?  Did I mention or did she
 3  mention?
 4      Q.    Did she mention?
 5      A.    She did not mention it.
 6      Q.    Does Ms. Summerhayes talk about swimming in
 7  the Verde?
 8      A.    In that account, I don't believe she talks
 9  about swimming.  I'm not really sure, though.
10      Q.    In her book, at all?
11      A.    In her book.  In her book, yeah.
12      Q.    Let's pull up 6, which is X017-99, which is
13  Page 207 of Vanished Arizona.
14      A.    So does she talk about swimming there?  If
15  she does, I had forgotten.
16      Q.    Last paragraph, about halfway down.
17            She talks about teaching somebody else to
18  swim there.
19      A.    Okay, yeah.  I had forgotten that anecdote.
20      Q.    So, clearly, there were places on the Verde
21  that were deep enough that you had to swim in the area
22  of Fort McDowell?
23      A.    One could infer that.
24      Q.    And then you talk about John Y.T. Smith, and
25  Mr. Smith established a hay camp along the Salt to
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 1  supply hay to Fort McDowell?
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    And Fort McDowell is upstream from the Salt
 4  River, where he established his hay camp?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    Hay is a pretty bulky kind of thing to
 7  transport?
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    It doesn't do well if it gets wet?
10      A.    It does not.
11      Q.    In your opinion, is the Colorado River
12  navigable?
13      A.    I believe it's been found navigable by the
14  courts, and so --
15      Q.    And you wouldn't disagree with the courts?
16      A.    I'm not going to disagree with the courts,
17  no.
18      Q.    How about the Mississippi?
19      A.    I think I would agree.
20      Q.    Do roads run along either one of these
21  rivers?
22      A.    Yes.
23      Q.    On Page 13 of your report, you state that
24  "Fort McDowell could not raise sufficient crops to
25  sustain the men, their families, and their livestock so
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 1  innovative entrepreneurs began to branch out."
 2            And there's no citation for that; but then
 3  when you testified, you talked about the fact that the
 4  military was sort of pressured into seeking civilian
 5  contractors rather than raising the food for
 6  themselves.
 7      A.    Yeah.
 8      Q.    Is that what you were talking about in that
 9  sentence?
10      A.    Yeah, that there was protests from the local
11  population that the military should be fighting the
12  Indians, and so there was an adjustment about
13  the canal.  Well, the canal was dug by order of General
14  McDowell and then -- basically, to try to sustain the
15  military operation there, and then there were protests,
16  and it was parcelled out to private sector individuals.
17      Q.    So it wasn't really they couldn't raise
18  sufficient crops; it's just it was politically
19  expedient not to raise sufficient crops?
20      A.    Yeah, they had other issues that they wanted
21  to address, and so that was the path of least
22  resistance for that outpost.
23      Q.    Do you know who Dr. Edgar Mearns is?
24      A.    I think he was associated with the Fort
25  McDowell.
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 1      Q.    He was actually stationed at Fort Verde.
 2      A.    Fort Verde?  Okay.
 3      Q.    Between 1884 and 1888?
 4      A.    I remember reading something about him, yes.
 5      Q.    Was he the post surgeon and a naturalist?
 6      A.    I think, yes.
 7      Q.    Is that a common overlap at that time?
 8      A.    Yes.  Yeah, there were individuals posted
 9  that were like that.  I can think of one in Southern
10  Arizona at Fort Lowell, but I can't think of his name
11  right now.  And, again, I didn't look at that post as
12  opposed to Fort McDowell.
13      Q.    And, in fact, many of the great naturalists
14  of the 1800s were doctors?
15      A.    Correct.
16      Q.    Vandeveer Hayden, for instance, who ran --
17      A.    Yes.
18      Q.    -- one of the Great Surveys?
19      A.    Yes.
20      Q.    Was there a similar doctor or naturalist at
21  Fort McDowell?
22      A.    I'm not aware.  I don't know.
23      Q.    Did you look at the records for the Fort?
24      A.    I did not look at the records for the Fort
25  specifically for this proceeding.
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 1      Q.    I would like to talk a little bit about the
 2  infamous two guys in a boat photo --
 3      A.    Okay.
 4      Q.    -- that I think you still have up there.
 5      A.    Yeah, sure.
 6      Q.    X035-167, Page 110.
 7            Do you have any reason to disagree with other
 8  experts' opinions of the location of this photo?
 9      A.    I don't have any reason to disagree with the
10  location.
11      Q.    Do you have any doubts about the date on this
12  photo, at least the approximate date of this photo.
13      A.    I think the approximate date.  It looks like
14  the late 19th Century.
15      Q.    I see from your CV, you have some exposure to
16  the Colorado River through Grand Canyon?
17      A.    Some.
18      Q.    Are you familiar with the boating history of
19  Grand Canyon?
20      A.    I am not familiar with that dimension of its
21  history.
22      Q.    You know who John Wesley Powell was?
23      A.    I do.
24      Q.    Do you know what kind of boats he used in
25  Grand Canyon?
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 1      A.    I saw images of them in this proceeding, yes.
 2      Q.    But you don't know their cargo capacity or
 3  draft?
 4      A.    I don't know those things.
 5      Q.    You would say those would be a boat that
 6  would be available for commercial purposes at the time
 7  of Arizona's statehood, as well --
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    -- as the ones we talked about earlier --
10      A.    Yes.
11      Q.    -- the canoes and flatboats and things like
12  that?
13      A.    Yes.  I would think so, yes.
14      Q.    I'm trying to keep from us overlapping,
15  because I'm getting dirty looks over here.
16      A.    Okay.  I'm sorry.
17      Q.    Would you characterize Mr. Powell's use of
18  the river as a commercial use?
19      A.    No, I would characterize it as a scientific
20  survey.
21      Q.    He was being paid a salary to boat down the
22  river, was he not?
23      A.    Is that commerce along the river?  That's for
24  you -- I think for the attorneys to decide.  I mean I
25  really can't --
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 1      Q.    You don't have an opinion?
 2      A.    I don't have an opinion on that, no.
 3      Q.    Okay.
 4            Do you know who the Kolb brothers were?
 5      A.    Yes, photographers in the canyon, yes.
 6      Q.    Are you familiar with the boats they used in
 7  Grand Canyon?
 8      A.    I'm not familiar with the boats they used.
 9      Q.    Okay.  Do you have a standard for
10  navigability?
11      A.    I do not.
12      Q.    I would like to talk a little bit about the
13  historical records of boating we have for the Verde,
14  and I know you didn't include them because they
15  occurred after the dates you were focused on.
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    And I think we've already talked about the
18  Day brothers in Segments 2 through 5 and Fogal and his
19  friend in those same segments.
20            Let's look at the record we have for Willcox
21  and Andrews in Segment 5, which is No. 8, and it is
22  X017-122.
23      A.    Okay, I've read it.
24      Q.    Okay.  These guys didn't seem to have --
25  didn't report any difficulties in their journey?
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 1      A.    It appears not.
 2      Q.    Okay.  And then I'm not going to bring back
 3  up the infamous photo of the guys in the boat, but they
 4  apparently used a boat on the Verde?
 5      A.    Apparently.  They're there.
 6      Q.    And then we have Major Spaulding and Captain
 7  Hatfield in a canoe in 1888, also in Segment 5.
 8            This is X017-123, and it's 10, please, Debi.
 9            I'll give you a minute to read this.
10      A.    I'm going to have to get up.
11      Q.    And there's a copy, actually, in the
12  notebooks there next to you.
13      A.    Oh, good.  Yeah.
14      Q.    I'll find the page --
15      A.    What page, yeah?
16      Q.    -- or the tab --
17      A.    Tab.
18      Q.    -- for you will be 6.
19      A.    6?  Okay.  One, two, three?
20      Q.    Yes.
21      A.    Okay.  "Major Spaulding's Death"?
22      Q.    Yes.
23      A.    Oh, the death.
24            I have heard about this account before, but
25  this is the first time I've read it here.
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 1      Q.    And he was the Commandant at Fort McDowell?
 2      A.    Yes.
 3      Q.    What does that mean?
 4      A.    He was the --
 5      Q.    Guy in charge?
 6      A.    Top officer, yes.
 7      Q.    Okay.  And he was apparently using a boat.
 8  Do we know whether this was a pleasure or a business
 9  trip?
10      A.    Let me take another quick look.
11            It looked as though they were shooting as
12  they came, so it looks as though they were -- it was a
13  pleasure trip.
14      Q.    Have you never done anything fun on a
15  business trip?
16      A.    Yes, I've done something fun on a business
17  trip.
18      Q.    So it's possible they could have been
19  traveling for military purposes and incidentally
20  shooting along the way, or it's possible they could
21  have been on a frolic?
22      A.    Either/or.
23      Q.    Okay.  And he died because his gun misfired
24  going over an irrigation diversion?
25      A.    That's correct.
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 1      Q.    Not because he drowned on the Verde or
 2  because the --
 3      A.    No.
 4      Q.    -- rapids were too big or anything like that?
 5      A.    It was a tragic event, yes.
 6      Q.    Okay.  Do you know who Dr. Ralph Palmer was?
 7      A.    No, I don't.
 8      Q.    He was the author of a book called Doctor on
 9  Horseback.  Have you read that?
10      A.    No, I haven't.
11      Q.    We have an account from Dr. Palmer, and
12  that's is X017-97, page 29.
13            It's No. 12, Debi.
14      A.    Okay.
15      Q.    So starting with the first full paragraph
16  there.
17      A.    "Sunday morning"?  Okay.  Oops, I'm sorry.
18            Okay.  Thank you.
19      Q.    Let me see if I can make it a little bigger.
20      A.    Yeah, geez.
21      Q.    Does that help?
22      A.    Yeah, that helps a lot.  Thank you.
23            Okay.
24      Q.    He doesn't talk about, at least in this
25  paragraph of this, like the boat was -- having a boat
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 1  was an unusual event, does he?
 2      A.    No, there's no reference to it being unique.
 3      Q.    Although, it does seem a little unique that
 4  you have a horse that takes the boat trailer back?
 5      A.    Yes.
 6      Q.    All right.  I would also like to look at
 7  X017-121, which is 13, Debi.
 8            Can you just blow up the text there so it's
 9  on the screen?
10      A.    Okay, I've read it.
11      Q.    So this is outside of your area.  This is --
12      A.    Yeah.
13      Q.    -- up on the top part of the Verde.
14      A.    It's fun learning.
15      Q.    And it's 1917.
16      A.    Yes.
17      Q.    But it actually shows a picture of the boat
18  that was used on the Verde.
19      A.    Okay.
20      Q.    There it is.
21            Do you have any reason to doubt this account?
22      A.    I don't doubt that account, no.
23      Q.    Okay.  And then looks look at X017-126.
24            So 14, Debi.
25            You may have remembered this account from my
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 1  discussion of it with Dr. Littlefield.
 2      A.    Yes, I think I do.
 3      Q.    So these guys also used the Verde for
 4  boating?
 5      A.    Apparently, yes.
 6      Q.    Okay.  Don't these accounts contradict your
 7  conclusion that the Verde wasn't boatable?
 8      A.    I don't necessarily think so.  I think these
 9  accounts, they're comparatively small in number, and I
10  think it's up to the Commission and the attorneys to
11  place these accounts in context and discuss what
12  susceptible means and natural, and I forgot the other
13  one.  I feel like Governor Perry.
14      Q.    It's been a long day.
15      A.    I forgot the third one.
16      Q.    Governor Perry is not the third part of your
17  test.
18      A.    I know.
19            The other term that's -- the legal term
20  that's your charge and the Commission's charge to deal
21  with, yes.
22      Q.    Okay.  Is it your opinion that since the
23  Verde was used for irrigation, it could not have been
24  used for irrigation or --
25            Let me try that again.
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 1      A.    I know, I'm with you.  Sorry.
 2      Q.    It's been a long day or a long week.
 3            Is it your opinion that since the Verde was
 4  used for irrigation, it could not have been used for
 5  navigation?
 6      A.    No.
 7      Q.    Those are not mutually exclusive?
 8      A.    They are not mutually exclusive.
 9      Q.    Okay.
10                 MS. HERNBRODE:  Luckily for you, that
11  concludes my cross-examination.  Thank you so much.
12                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.
13                 MS. HERNBRODE:  I believe you have
14  another tormenter.
15                 THE WITNESS:  Okay, tormenter.
16                 MR. HELM:  That is cruel.
17                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Mr. Helm, are you ready
18  to proceed?
19                 MR. HELM:  I am.
20                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Jody?  Jack?
21                 Go ahead, John.
22
23                    CROSS-EXAMINATION
24  BY MR. HELM:
25      Q.    Hello, Dr. August.  I think we've done this
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 1  before, and nice to see you again.
 2      A.    Yeah, we did it before.
 3      Q.    I'm going to go as fast as I can so we can
 4  get out of here, which means somebody is already
 5  glaring at me.
 6      A.    I know, yes.  I'm being disciplined.
 7      Q.    I have some general questions and then I have
 8  some questions that were generated by your testimony
 9  here.
10            The first question I have is you don't claim
11  to be an expert in determining stream or river
12  navigability for the purpose of the standards that are
13  set forth by the federal judiciary, right?
14      A.    I do not.
15      Q.    Okay.  And I regrettably have to ask you
16  these questions, and I think the word you were looking
17  for just a minute ago was ordinary?
18      A.    That was the other word, yes.
19      Q.    And I would like to know your definition of
20  ordinary.
21      A.    Common.
22            You know, I think it's a legal term that's up
23  to this group to determine, so...
24      Q.    Oh, I understand that.  But you used it in
25  your report, and so I want to know how you used it, and
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 1  so we need to know your definition.
 2      A.    Well, for Segments 5, 4 and 5, it was the
 3  period from the Hohokam up to the beginnings of
 4  diversions.  So that was really as I was thinking
 5  ordinary, without any human interaction or involvement
 6  with the river.
 7      Q.    Okay.  And then could you give me your
 8  definition of natural?
 9      A.    Similar.  The natural flow of the river.
10      Q.    So are they basically the same thing?
11      A.    To me.
12      Q.    To you, natural and ordinary all run
13  together, so to speak?
14      A.    For the purposes of this hearing, I think
15  they are mutually reinforcing terms; and, again, that
16  falls, I think, within the legal framework of these
17  proceedings.
18      Q.    Okay.  For your work in this matter, did you
19  read any of the cases that have been generated as a
20  result of the Commission's work?
21      A.    No, I haven't.  I'm familiar with Winkleman
22  and I'm familiar with PPL, but, you know, I -- and I
23  know the upshot and, you know, I know what is being
24  looked at by this Commission.
25      Q.    So you haven't -- have you read Winkleman?
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 1      A.    A long time ago.
 2      Q.    And you've read PPL?
 3      A.    I glanced over it.
 4      Q.    You don't claim to understand what those two
 5  things say?
 6      A.    I have a general knowledge of what those two
 7  things say.
 8      Q.    Do you realize that Winkleman makes a
 9  distinction between natural and ordinary?
10      A.    I did not know that, no.
11      Q.    So you didn't make any distinction between
12  natural and ordinary?
13      A.    No.  I just looked at the historical record.
14      Q.    And, particularly, you didn't make the
15  distinction that Winkleman did?
16      A.    I did not, no.
17      Q.    Do you have what I would call a list of
18  elements that you need to kind of check off to
19  determine whether a river is navigable or it's not
20  navigable, as a historian dealing with those issues?
21      A.    I do not have a list to check that out, no.
22      Q.    So I can't ask you to tell me all the
23  elements that you used to decide that the Verde River
24  was not navigable?
25      A.    There's no checklist.  I just looked at the
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 1  historical record and really reviewed human interaction
 2  and the various cultures that came across it and
 3  considered it, and that was my charge.
 4      Q.    As part of that historical work, did you read
 5  anything, look at any treatises or written materials of
 6  any kind that dealt with the Verde River as a
 7  multiple-channel river?
 8      A.    I have not looked at the science and
 9  hydrology of the river.
10      Q.    In the writings you read, you didn't see some
11  guy say, and, by golly, that's a braided river?
12      A.    I did not see that term, no.
13      Q.    Now, I believe you mentioned that you looked
14  at the Verde in terms of trade and travel?
15      A.    I tried to look at it with that prism from
16  the historical record that I looked at.
17      Q.    And in doing so to determine navigability,
18  did you use those terms together; in other words, did
19  it require both trade and travel to be navigable?
20      A.    To me, no, it didn't require both.
21      Q.    Okay.  So if you had stumbled across the Day
22  brothers' trip and they weren't trapping beaver, that
23  might have been enough to make it navigable because
24  they just went down it in a boat, from your
25  perspective?
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 1      A.    That's for this Commission to say.  I mean I
 2  know that happened, and I know that there are a handful
 3  of accounts from newspapers that discuss that.
 4      Q.    Well, but what I'm trying -- you have to
 5  understand what I'm trying to do here --
 6      A.    Fine, uh-huh.
 7      Q.    -- is I'm trying to find out what prism you
 8  applied to make a determination of whether the Verde
 9  was navigable.
10            And so as part of your prism, did it require
11  both trade and travel together?
12      A.    No, it did not.
13      Q.    Did it have to be a commercial enterprise?
14      A.    It did not.
15      Q.    Did it have to be both upstream and
16  downstream?
17      A.    It did not.
18      Q.    Simple navigation would be good enough --
19      A.    Simple navigation.
20      Q.    -- for you?
21      A.    For me, yes.  I was looking at the absence.
22  There seemed to be an absence of accounts that I could
23  find in my short time.
24      Q.    And you were looking for specific historical
25  accounts of somebody going down the river in a boat?
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 1      A.    Yes.  Yes.
 2      Q.    You weren't making any judgments about the
 3  susceptibility of that river to support boat travel?
 4      A.    Correct.
 5      Q.    I'm on a roll.
 6      A.    Uh-oh, the yellow pad.
 7      Q.    Hey, I got through the first two pages
 8  already.
 9      A.    Okay, good.
10      Q.    If I understand your testimony, you don't
11  have any opinions on the navigability of what I'll call
12  Segments 1, 2, and 3 as those are defined by the State?
13      A.    I do not, really.  No, I don't.
14      Q.    Do you recall, when you read Winkleman, that
15  Winkleman had a discussion about when the Commission or
16  the people making a determination on navigability
17  should look at the river to determine its ordinary and
18  natural condition?
19      A.    Yes, and my understanding from having read it
20  a while ago, was that the Commission hadn't really
21  looked carefully enough at the period before, roughly,
22  1870, we could push it back to 1866, and from the time
23  of Hohokam and pre-Columbian settlement.
24      Q.    So what the Commission was basically -- or
25  what the Court was basically saying, as you understand
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 1  it, was you want to look at that period after the
 2  Hohokams have stopped using the river for irrigation
 3  and things like that and before the civilization
 4  arrived in the form of some Anglos that were showing
 5  up?
 6      A.    And diversions, I think diversions.
 7      Q.    All the diversions?
 8      A.    Yes.
 9      Q.    They were trying to eliminate the diversions
10  that the Hohokam had done; fair enough?
11      A.    Fair enough.
12      Q.    All right.  When you're talking about the
13  Spanish explorers and stuff that were wandering around
14  Arizona in the 1500s and stuff like that --
15      A.    Yes.
16      Q.    -- were they still wandering around when the
17  Hohokams or other like tribes were diverting water from
18  the rivers?
19      A.    The Spaniards were not here when the Hohokam
20  disappeared, for lack of a better term; but they were
21  here when other groups, and they encountered Apaches,
22  Pai people, Yavapais, Apaches, Navajos.
23      Q.    Some of those were still irrigating, is my
24  only question?
25      A.    Yeah, there were some that were irrigating, a
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 1  little, yes; not much, not extensively.
 2      Q.    Okay.  I know you had a discussion with your
 3  counsel and Mr. Hood regarding whether the distance
 4  that was traveled by the Day brothers was 800 miles or
 5  200 miles, right?
 6      A.    (Witness nodded.)
 7      Q.    And I believe the conclusions that the
 8  counsel came up with was it wasn't 800 miles?
 9      A.    That's correct.
10      Q.    First of all, do you at least have some
11  familiarity with trapping?
12            And I'll warn you I have trapped before.
13      A.    I have never trapped, so...
14            I have not trapped, no.
15      Q.    Okay.  Well, have you read about trappers?
16      A.    I've read about trappers, yes.
17      Q.    Have you heard the word trap line?
18      A.    I've heard the word trap line.
19      Q.    Okay.  And normally when a trapper, who is in
20  the business of trapping, goes out to do his thing, he
21  lays a trap line, doesn't he?
22      A.    Yes.
23      Q.    He doesn't just go out and put one trap out
24  and sit there and watch it and see if the beaver will
25  come up and get in it, right?
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 1      A.    Correct.
 2      Q.    He puts out a series of traps, and he doesn't
 3  wait at the one trap to see when it's going to get a
 4  result, right?
 5      A.    Correct.
 6      Q.    So normally trappers go out and they go
 7  downriver or upriver, but they move out onto the river
 8  and they lay a series of traps for some distance
 9  downriver, right?
10      A.    Correct, uh-huh.
11      Q.    And then they either wait downriver for
12  whatever they've deemed an appropriate period of time
13  before going back and checking the traps, or they might
14  say, "Well, I've got to wait until this evening to go
15  out and check the traps again, to give them a chance to
16  be successful, so I'll go back to camp and have some
17  lunch and then I'll go back and check the traps,"
18  right?
19      A.    I understand, yes.
20      Q.    So it seems to me that if I'm a trapper, as
21  opposed to a person just traveling down a river, I go
22  down it once and put my traps down, right?
23      A.    Okay.
24      Q.    Now, if I wait down there, I still have to go
25  back one more time over the same distance, don't I?
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 1      A.    Correct.
 2      Q.    Because I've got to go check the traps?
 3      A.    All right.
 4      Q.    All right.  I'm now back at camp, and let's
 5  say I was a lucky trapper.  Every one of them had a
 6  beaver in it, right?  So I didn't have to go down and
 7  check them several times.  I just went back to the
 8  camp.  When I got back to the camp, what did I have to
 9  do?
10            Didn't I have to skin the beaver?
11      A.    Correct.
12      Q.    I mean, you're not aware of any trappers that
13  just threw carcasses in the canoe and headed downriver
14  again, did you?
15      A.    I'm not aware of any trappers in the history.
16      Q.    Okay.  So they skinned them, and they
17  probably even had to stretch them or dry them in some
18  fashion, and then they put them in their boat and they
19  went on down to the next spot they were going to trap,
20  right?
21      A.    That sounds like a supposition, yes.
22      Q.    Seem like a reasonable approach?
23      A.    Seems like a reasonable supposition.
24      Q.    All right.  So that means that they either
25  went three or four times up and down the same stretch
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 1  of river to cover it, right?
 2      A.    Well, I have no expertise in this, but you
 3  do.
 4      Q.    How's your math?
 5      A.    Not very good.
 6      Q.    Is it good enough to go four times 200?
 7      A.    Yeah, I can deal with that.
 8      Q.    Could we get 800 out of that if we did that?
 9      A.    If you multiplied four times 200, I agree,
10  it's 800.
11      Q.    And could we get 600 if we used a shorter one
12  that went three times?
13      A.    Correct.  Yeah.
14      Q.    And so is there at least the possibility, in
15  your mind, that when the Day brothers were saying it
16  took 800 miles to do it, that they might have been
17  telling that newspaper guy that, yeah, we have to do
18  laps; you don't just hop in the boat and trap on one
19  straight line down the river?
20      A.    I think that's reading into the article,
21  but...
22      Q.    Sure.
23      A.    But that wasn't what I read, so...
24      Q.    All I'm saying is they went trapping?
25      A.    Then went trapping, yeah.
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 1      Q.    All right.  Trapping is not a straight line
 2  trip down to Yuma from the Verde?
 3      A.    Okay.
 4      Q.    Okay.  So there's at least the possibility
 5  that it took longer than what the GPS would show as
 6  200 miles?
 7      A.    Okay.  I agree with your supposition.
 8      Q.    Another question on trapping.  Has the
 9  commerce of trapping --
10      A.    Okay.
11      Q.    -- where, you know, some guy goes out in the
12  1600s or whatever and catches a bunch of beaver and
13  brings it into town and sells it, has that type of
14  commerce been held sufficient to establish navigability
15  of any of the rivers and streams in the United States?
16      A.    I don't know.  I can't answer that here.
17      Q.    You haven't done --
18      A.    I haven't done any research on that to give
19  an educated answer.
20      Q.    You heard Mr. Randall --
21      A.    Yes.
22      Q.    -- testify the other day that the Apaches
23  didn't use the river?
24      A.    I heard him say inasmuch.  Yes, he said that.
25      Q.    And he had a reason for that, didn't he?
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 1      A.    (Witness nodded.)
 2      Q.    And wasn't that reason because the river was
 3  a very windy river?
 4      A.    I think that was his explanation.
 5      Q.    And it was quicker to just go across the land
 6  than it was to take a boat and just go up and down the
 7  meanders to get to the same place?
 8      A.    I think that was his testimony, yes.
 9      Q.    Would that make some sense to you in terms of
10  why Apaches may not have used the river?
11      A.    That makes sense.
12      Q.    You talked about Mr. Smith and his hay
13  operation.
14      A.    Yes.
15      Q.    Could one of the reasons that Mr. Smith had
16  his hay operation up on the Salt be that there was a
17  lot of wild hay down there?
18                 MR. BREEDLOVE:  Jim, do you want to take
19  a break?
20                 COMMISSIONER HORTON:  Yes, I want to
21  take a break.
22                 THE WITNESS:  Well, I'll answer after.
23                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, we're going to
24  break for a day.
25                 THE WITNESS:  A day?
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 1                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Today.
 2                 (A recess was taken from 4:48 p.m. to
 3  4:55 p.m.)
 4                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  John, are we ready to
 5  go back on the record?
 6                 MR. HELM:  Ready.
 7                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Jack, you're up.
 8                 THE WITNESS:  Okay.
 9  BY MR. HELM:
10      Q.    You had an answer?
11      A.    Yes.
12            I think the answer to your question is
13  Galleta hay.  It was kind of a wild hay.  Is that what
14  you were asking?
15      Q.    Yes.
16      A.    Yes, it's pretty well-documented in numerous
17  accounts.
18      Q.    Yeah.  So he went down there because he could
19  get a lot of free hay?
20      A.    There's free hay, yes.
21      Q.    In his operation, that was the motivation?
22      A.    Yes, he was smart.
23      Q.    Okay, now, in your report I seem to recall
24  coming across your commentaries on the maps, and you
25  said that the first fairly accurate one was 1880, and
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 1  the first really accurate one was 1889, I believe?
 2      A.    That's what I said.
 3      Q.    Is that right?
 4      A.    That's what I said.
 5      Q.    Now, by the time you got around to 1889,
 6  there were significant diversions going on on the Verde
 7  River, wasn't there?
 8      A.    There were.
 9      Q.    And you talked about the early maps as being
10  made when you believed the Verde would have been in its
11  natural and ordinary condition when the Spanish were
12  running around here and that sort of stuff.
13            Did you see anything on any of those maps
14  that you reviewed that were commentary on the condition
15  of the Verde River in those times, as opposed to just
16  having a fanciful line drawn on it with some squiggles
17  on it?
18      A.    It was the latter; it was the lack of
19  knowledge of the geography was what was striking.
20      Q.    Could one of the reasons that the early
21  Spanish and other people didn't go wandering up the
22  Verde have been that the Apache Tribe that lived up
23  there was a reasonably formidable tribal?
24      A.    That's correct.  That was certainly one of
25  the factors.  There's others.
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 1      Q.    And they would have known about that because
 2  they would have talked to other tribes as they
 3  matriculated north out of Mexico?
 4      A.    That is correct, and that's why some of the
 5  presidios were at Tubac and then later moved to Tucson,
 6  yeah.
 7      Q.    And that's why we ended up with a lot of
 8  Forts up there too, wasn't it?
 9      A.    That's correct.
10      Q.    One of the other reasons that a river might
11  not be used for transportation is because it didn't go
12  anywhere anybody wanted to go, correct?
13      A.    That would be a reasonable assumption, yes.
14      Q.    And the Verde started up in -- sorry,
15  anybody -- the middle of nowhere?
16      A.    Okay.
17      Q.    And at the early part of the time, it came
18  down to the middle of nowhere, didn't it?
19      A.    That's correct.
20      Q.    Phoenix was not Phoenix?
21      A.    There was --
22      Q.    There was a guy cutting hay.
23      A.    That's correct.
24      Q.    And so there probably wasn't a lot of demand
25  for transportation between the Verde Valley and the hay
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 1  cutter?
 2      A.    Yes, other than military purposes.
 3      Q.    And if I understand your testimony right
 4  about the maps that the Spanish did, they didn't make
 5  any commentary on any of them, no matter where they
 6  were, on whether the river they were noting was
 7  navigable or not?
 8      A.    There's no language to that nature, that
 9  speaks to that.
10      Q.    And the best that you could get in navigation
11  from the Spanish maybe was the drawing of a ship in a
12  bay off of some ocean?
13      A.    Yes, and that's on the Colorado, yes.
14      Q.    For the most part, in terms of the Spanish
15  travels, they were going north and south, weren't they?
16      A.    North/south.  South to north, yes.
17      Q.    Yeah, south to north.  And so they would be
18  going upstream most of the time?
19      A.    That's a fair assumption, yes.
20      Q.    Did I understand you correctly that you
21  aren't aware of the ancient canoe that Frank Cushing
22  discovered?
23      A.    I'm not aware of it, so...
24      Q.    What did the Hohokam trade?
25      A.    Shells, basketry.


Coash & Coash, Inc.







VERDE RIVER     VOLUME 11     02/25/2015 Page 2520


 1      Q.    Massive goods or --
 2      A.    Not massive goods.  Goods that they could
 3  carry, whether individually or --
 4      Q.    Something that could --
 5      A.    -- something on the back.
 6      Q.    -- fit in my equivalent of a backpack, or
 7  whatever their equivalent was, and off I could go?
 8      A.    That's accurate.
 9      Q.    They didn't have what I would call a need to
10  move an ore boat down the Verde River?
11      A.    There was no evidence of that, that I know
12  of.
13                 MR. HELM:  Just one thing to check.
14                 Forget it.  I have to put the thing in.
15  I'll pass.  I'm done.
16                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Technology will do that
17  to you.
18                 MR. HELM:  It does it to us old guys.
19                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Technology blesses us
20  all.
21                 MR. HELM:  Periodically.
22                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, Monday, March 30,
23  at 9:00 a.m., here in this room, we will have the Rich
24  Burtell show; is that correct?
25                 MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, actually, you'll
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 1  have the redirect of the Jack August show.
 2                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  We've got redirect.
 3  Thank you.  Appreciate that, Cynthia.
 4                 MS. CAMPBELL:  No problem.
 5                 THE WITNESS:  Hopefully a brief show.
 6                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, so that means you
 7  have to come back on the 30th.
 8                 THE WITNESS:  I'll be around.
 9                 CHAIRMAN NOBLE:  Okay, great.  Anything
10  else we need to take up before you acing out of here?
11                 It's good to see everybody.  We'll look
12  forward to seeing you next time.
13                 (The proceedings adjourned at 5:02 p.m.)
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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 1  STATE OF ARIZONA    )
    COUNTY OF MARICOPA  )
 2
 3            BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings
    were taken before me; that the foregoing pages are
 4  a full, true, and accurate record of the proceedings,
    all done to the best of my skill and ability; that
 5  the proceedings were taken down by me in shorthand
    and thereafter reduced to print under my direction.
 6
              I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to
 7  any of the parties hereto, nor am I in any way
    interested in the outcome hereof.
 8
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12
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